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MY FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

In the midst of unprecedented challenges for our industry,
Bristow has a number of successes to celebrate. Bristow
improved over the previous year in areas critical to our
core values using a fiscal year 2017 Action Plan that (1)
achieved safety improvement, (2) reduced our operating and
capital expenditures, and (3) refinanced bank debt while
increasing liquidity. However, in terms of financial results,
these successes were not enough to avoid a fiscal year
2017 operating revenue decrease of 17% from fiscal year
2016 and an adjusted net loss of $74.5 million, or $2.13
per share, for fiscal year 2017. This is not an acceptable
financial result for either our management team or our
Board of Directors.

Our safety improvement efforts paid off in fiscal year 2017
with overall improvement in our air accident and injury

rate relative to fiscal year 2016. Our recordable injuries
declined most notably in our fixed-wing operations where
injuries were reduced by 50%. Two regions were particularly
impressive in terms of this improvement: Africa, where our
rotary and fixed-wing operations were completely Target Zero
for 10 months, and Asia Pacific, where our rotary operations
were fully Target Zero for the full fiscal year.

Our improvement in safety is particularly notable given the
grounding of the H225, which is now in its second year. Our
global teams responded to the grounding in fiscal year 2017
by proactively mobilizing alternative assets and personnel

to safely meet our clients’ needs. However, the continued
grounding of the H225 has had a negative impact on our

operational and financial results. We continue to seek a
way forward for a safe return to service of our H225s and
continue to explore all options in the optimization of our
global aircraft portfolio for our clients and shareholders.

We recognize the urgent need for further action as we
progress in fiscal year 2018. Although we expect some of the
aircraft that were off-contract in fiscal year 2017 to get back to
work in fiscal year 2018, we anticipate another down year in
our clients’ offshore spend. The fiscal year 2017 Action Plan
included successful actions that allowed us to survive and
maintain our leadership position, and many of these actions
will be further applied in the upcoming year, particularly
around safety, reliability and efficiency. We successfully

made a number of key moves in fiscal year 2017 to expand
covenant headroom and improve our liquidity runway for
fiscal year 2018 and beyond, and we must use this runway to
improve the business and win more revenue.

In fiscal year 2018, we are determined to significantly
reduce costs, recover costs from our OEMs, and optimize
around our core businesses, including fleet rationalization
by both geography and line of service. These moves are
intended to make us more safe, reliable, and efficient while
providing us with additional liquidity and financial flexibility.

The past year has been a particularly difficult one for all of
Bristow’s stakeholders. It has been a year of uncertainty — for
our industry, our company, and our future. | am extremely
proud of the way that our employees performed in the face
of these challenges and this uncertainty, and the way that
they remained focused on safety and our passengers.

On behalf of our employees around the globe, thank you for
your continued support of Bristow, particularly during these
difficult times.

Be safe,
Jonathan E. Baliff

President and Chief Executive Officer
Bristow Group Inc.
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BRISTOW GROUP INC.
ANNUAL REPORT (FORM 10-K)

INTRODUCTION

This Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed by Bristow Group Inc., which we refer to as Bristow Group or the Company.

CEINNT3

We use the pronouns “we”, “our” and “us” and the term “Bristow Group” to refer collectively to Bristow Group and its
consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates, unless the context indicates otherwise. We also own interests in other entities that we do
not consolidate for financial reporting purposes, which we refer to as unconsolidated affiliates, unless the context indicates
otherwise. Bristow Group, Bristow Aviation Holdings Limited (“Bristow Aviation™), our consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates,
and the unconsolidated affiliates are each separate corporations, limited liability companies or other legal entities, and our use of
the terms “we”, “our” and “us” does not suggest that we have abandoned their separate identities or the legal protections given to
them as separate legal entities. Our fiscal year ends March 31, and we refer to fiscal years based on the end of such period.

Therefore, the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017 is referred to as “fiscal year 2017”.

We are a Delaware corporation incorporated in 1969. Our executive offices are located at 2103 City West Blvd., 4™ Floor,
Houston, Texas 77042. Our telephone number is (713) 267-7600.

Our website address is http:/www.bristowgroup.com. We make our website content available for information purposes only.
It should not be relied upon for investment purposes, nor is it incorporated by reference in this Annual Report. All of our periodic
report filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) for fiscal periods ended on or after December 15, 2002 are made available, free of
charge, through our website, including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on
Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports. These reports are available through our website as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file or furnish such material to the SEC. In addition, the public may read and copy any materials we file
with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or on the SEC’s Internet website
located at http://www.sec.gov. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements are statements about our future business, strategy, operations,
capabilities and results; financial projections; plans and objectives of our management; expected actions by us and by third parties,
including our clients, competitors, vendors and regulators; and other matters. Some of the forward-looking statements can be

ERINRT3 EEINT3 EEINNT3 9 LEINT3

identified by the use of words such as “believes”, “belief”, “expects”, “plans”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “projects”, “estimates”,

CEINE3 CLINA3

“may”, “might”, “would”, “could” or other similar words; however, all statements in this Annual Report, other than statements of
historical fact or historical financial results, are forward-looking statements.

Our forward-looking statements reflect our views and assumptions on the date we are filing this Annual Report regarding
future events and operating performance. We believe they are reasonable, but they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors, many of which may be beyond our control, that may cause actual results to differ materially from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Accordingly, you should not put
undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

You should consider the following key factors when evaluating these forward-looking statements:
» the possibility of political instability, war or acts of terrorism in any of the countries where we operate;
*  fluctuations in worldwide prices of and demand for oil and natural gas;
» fluctuations in levels of oil and natural gas exploration, development and production activities;
*  fluctuations in the demand for our services;
» the existence of competitors;
» the existence of operating risks inherent in our business, including the possibility of declining safety performance;
» the possibility of changes in tax and other laws and regulations;

» the possibility that the major oil companies do not continue to expand internationally and offshore;
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» the possibility of significant changes in foreign exchange rates and controls, including as a result of Brexit;
» general economic conditions including the capital and credit markets;

» thepossibility that we may impair our long-lived assets, including goodwill, property and equipment and investments
in unconsolidated affiliates;

» the possibility that we may be unable to defer payment on certain aircraft into future fiscal years or take delivery of
certain aircraft later than initially scheduled,;

» the possibility that we may be unable to acquire additional aircraft due to limited availability or unable to exercise
aircraft purchase options;

» the possibility that we may be unable to dispose of older aircraft through sales into the aftermarket;
» the possibility that we or our suppliers may be unable to deliver new aircraft on time or on budget;

» the possibility that we may be unable to obtain financing, draw on our credit facilities or enter into definitive
agreements with respect to financings on terms that are favorable to us;

» the possibility that we may lack sufficient liquidity or access to additional financing sources to continue to pay a
quarterly dividend or finance contractual commitments;

» the possibility that we may be unable to maintain compliance with debt covenants;
» the possibility that segments of our fleet may be grounded for extended periods of time or indefinitely;
» the possibility that we may be unable to re-deploy our aircraft to regions with greater demand;

» the possibility that reductions in spending on aviation services by governmental agencies could lead to modifications
of search and rescue (“SAR”) contract terms or delays in receiving payments;

» the possibility that clients may reject our aircraft due to late delivery or unacceptable aircraft design or operability;
and

» the possibility that we do not achieve the anticipated benefits from the addition of new-technology aircraft to our
fleet.

The above description of risks and uncertainties is by no means all-inclusive, but is designed to highlight what we believe
are important factors to consider. For a more detailed description of risk factors, please see the risks and uncertainties described
under Item 1A. “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

All forward-looking statements in this Annual Report are qualified by these cautionary statements and are only made as of
the date of this Annual Report. We do not undertake any obligation, other than as required by law, to update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.



PART I

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are the leading global industrial aviation services provider based on the number of aircraft operated. We have a long
history in industrial aviation services through Bristow Helicopters Ltd. (“Bristow Helicopters™) and Offshore Logistics, Inc., which
were founded in 1955 and 19609, respectively. We have major transportation operations in the North Sea, Nigeria and the U.S. Gulf
of Mexico, and in most of the other major offshore energy producing regions of the world, including Australia, Brazil, Canada,
Russia and Trinidad. We provide private sector SAR services in Australia, Canada, Nigeria, Norway, Russia, Trinidad and the
United States. We provide public sector SAR services in the U.K. on behalf of the Maritime & Coastguard Agency. We also provide
regional fixed wing scheduled and charter services in the U.K., Nigeria and Australia through our consolidated affiliates, Eastern
Airways International Limited (“Eastern Airways”) and Capiteq Limited, operating under the name of Airnorth, respectively.
These operations support our primary industrial aviation services operations in those markets, creating a more integrated logistics
solution for our clients.

In fiscal year 2013, Bristow Helicopters was awarded a contract with the U.K. Department for Transport (the “DfT”) to
provide public sector SAR services for all of the U.K. (the “U.K. SAR contract”). The U.K. SAR contract has a phased-in transition
period that began in April 2015 and continues to July 2017 and a contract length of approximately ten years. We are currently
operational at ten bases as follows: Humberside and Inverness (April 2015), Caernarfon (July 2015), Lydd (August 2015), St.
Athan (October 2015), Prestwick and Newquay (January 2016), Lee-on-Solent (March 2017), and two previously awarded Gap
SAR bases of Sumburgh (June 2013) and Stornoway (July 2013). One Gap SAR base transitioned to the U.K. SAR contract on
March 31, 2017 and the remaining Gap SAR base is scheduled to transition to the U.K. SAR contract in July 2017.

During fiscal year 2017, we generated approximately 71% of our consolidated operating revenue from external clients from
oil and gas operations, approximately 15% from SAR operations and approximately 14% from fixed wing services that support
our global helicopter operations.

We conduct our business in one segment: Industrial Aviation Services. The Industrial Aviation Services segment operations
are conducted primarily through four regions:

*  Europe Caspian,
e Affrica,
e Americas, and

*  Asia Pacific.

We primarily provide industrial aviation services to a broad base of major integrated, national and independent offshore
energy companies. Our clients charter our helicopters primarily to transport personnel between onshore bases and offshore
production platforms, drilling rigs and other installations. To a lesser extent, our clients also charter our helicopters to transport
time-sensitive equipment to these offshore locations. These clients’ operating expenditures in the production sector are the principal
source of our revenue, while their exploration and development capital expenditures provide a lesser portion of our revenue. The
clients for SAR services include both the oil and gas industry, where our revenue is primarily dependent on our clients’ operating
expenditures, and governmental agencies, where our revenue is dependent on a country’s desire to privatize SAR and enter into
long-term contracts.

Helicopters are generally classified as small (four to eight passenger capacity), medium (12 to 16 passenger capacity) and
large (18 to 25 passenger capacity), each of which serves a different transportation need of the offshore energy industry. Medium
and large helicopters, which can fly in a wider variety of operating conditions, over longer distances, at higher speeds and carry
larger payloads than small helicopters, are most commonly used for crew changes on large offshore production facilities and
drilling rigs. With these enhanced capabilities, medium and large helicopters have historically been preferred in international
markets, where the offshore facilities tend to be larger, the drilling locations tend to be more remote, located in harsh environments
and the onshore infrastructure tends to be more limited. Additionally, local governmental regulations in certain international
markets require us to operate twin-engine medium and large aircraft in those markets. Global demand for medium and large
helicopters is driven by drilling, development and production activity levels in deepwater locations throughout the world, as the
medium and large aircraft are able to travel to these deepwater locations. Small helicopters are generally used for shorter routes
and to reach production facilities that cannot accommodate medium and large helicopters. Our small helicopters operate primarily
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over the shallow waters offshore in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and Nigeria. We are able to deploy our aircraft to the regions with
the greatest demand, subject to the satisfaction of local governmental regulations. SAR operations utilize medium and large aircraft
that are specially configured to conduct these types of operations in environments around the world. The commercial aircraft in
our consolidated fleet are our primary source of revenue. To normalize the consolidated operating revenue of our commercial
helicopter fleet for the different revenue productivity and cost, we developed a common weighted factor that combines large,
medium and small commercial helicopters into a combined standardized number of revenue producing commercial aircraft
assets. We call this measure Large AirCraft Equivalent (“LACE”). Our commercial large, medium and small helicopters, including
owned and leased helicopters, are weighted as 100%, 50%, and 25%, respectively, to arrive at a single LACE number, which
excludes training aircraft, fixed wing aircraft, unconsolidated affiliate aircraft, aircraft held for sale and aircraft construction in
process. We divide our operating revenue from commercial contracts relating to LACE aircraft, which excludes operating revenue
from affiliates and reimbursable revenue, by LACE to develop a LACE rate, which is a standardized rate.

The SAR market is continuing to evolve and we believe further outsourcing of public SAR services to the private sector
will continue in the future, although the timing of these opportunities is uncertain. The clients for our SAR services include both
the oil and gas industry and governmental agencies. We are pursuing other public and oil and gas SAR opportunities for multiple
aircraft in various jurisdictions around the globe and other non-SAR government aircraft logistics opportunities.

Our business has traditionally been significantly dependent upon the level of offshore oil and gas exploration, development
and production activity. We have begun diversification with recent investments into other new business growth areas within the
industrial aviation services to lessen the cyclical effects of a downturn in any one industry or economy. There are also additional
markets for aviation services beyond the offshore energy industry and SAR, including air medical, agricultural support, corporate
transportation, firefighting, military, police, tourism and traffic monitoring. The existence of these alternative markets enables us
to better manage our helicopter fleet by providing potential purchasers for older aircraft and for our excess aircraft during times
of reduced demand in the offshore energy industry. As part of an ongoing process to rationalize and simplify our global fleet of
commercial helicopters, during fiscal year 2014 we implemented a plan to reduce the number of aircraft types in our fleet to eight
model types in approximately five years and six model types in approximately ten years. During fiscal year 2014, we completed
our exit from five model types, in fiscal year 2015 we completed our exit from four model types while adding two model types
and in fiscal year 2016 we completed our exit from two model types. During fiscal year 2017, we added one model type resulting
in 12 model types in our fleet as of March 31, 2017. As we modernize our fleet, the introduction of new technology aircraft types
and other operating or market conditions may temporarily slow fleet type reduction.

In addition to our primary Industrial Aviation Services operations, we also operate a training unit, Bristow Academy. See
“— Bristow Academy” below for further discussion of these operations. Additionally, we have fixed wing operations in the U.K.,
Nigeria and Australia that create a more integrated logistics solution for our global clients and further diversify our business.

Most countries in which we operate limit foreign ownership of aviation companies. To comply with these regulations and
at the same time expand internationally, we have formed or acquired interests in a number of foreign aviation operators. These
investments typically combine a local ownership interest with our experience in providing industrial aviation services to the
offshore energy industry. These arrangements have allowed us to expand operations while diversifying the risks and reducing the
capital outlays associated with independent expansion. We lease some of our aircraft to a number of unconsolidated affiliates,
which in turn provide industrial aviation services to clients locally.



Since the beginning of fiscal year 2013, we have made strategic investments and acquisitions including investment in new
generations of aircraft that are in demand by our clients, and expanded or increased investments in new markets and industries.
These investments have included investments by consolidated affiliates in fixed-wing operators: Airnorth in Australia and Eastern
Airways in the U.K., both of which are consolidated in our financial statements, an equity method investment in Sky-Futures in
the U.K., the leading provider of unmanned aerial vehicles inspection data services for the oil and gas industry and an equity
method investment in Cougar Helicopters Inc. (“Cougar”) in Canada.

Also since the beginning of fiscal year 2013, we have raised $1.6 billion of capital with both public and private financings,
generated gross proceeds of $116.4 million through the divestiture of non-core businesses (including the sale of our 50% interest
in each of FBS Limited, FB Heliservices Limited and FB Leasing Limited, collectively referred to as the FB Entities, in fiscal
year 2014 and the sale of Helideck Certification Agency (“HCA”) in fiscal year 2015), generated proceeds of approximately $186.0
million through the sale of other aircraft and equipment to the helicopter aftermarket and received $912.1 million from the sale
and leaseback of 42 aircraft in fiscal years 2013 through 2017. Concurrently, we have invested approximately $2.3 billion in capital
expenditures to grow our business.

While we plan to continue to be disciplined concerning future capital commitments, we also intend to continue managing
our capital structure and liquidity position with additional external financings, as needed. Our strategy will involve funding our
short-term liquidity requirements with borrowings under our $400 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility™)
and funding our long-term capital needs with operating leases, bank debt, private and public debt and equity offerings.

We regularly engage in discussions with potential sellers and strategic partners regarding the possible purchase of assets,
pursuit of joint ventures or other expansion opportunities that increase our position in existing markets or facilitate expansion into
new markets. We may also divest portions of our business or assets to narrow our product lines and reduce our operational footprint
to reduce leverage and improve return on capital. These potential expansion opportunities and divestitures may consist of both
smaller transactions as well as larger transactions that could have a material impact on our financial position, cash flow and results
of operations. We cannot predict the likelihood of completing, or the timing of, any such transactions.

The oil and gas business environment experienced a significant downturn beginning during fiscal year 2015. Brent crude
oil prices declined from approximately $106 per barrel at July 1, 2014 to a low of approximately $26 per barrel in February 2016
with an increase to approximately $51 per barrel as of March 31, 2017. The decrease in oil prices was driven by increased global
supply and forecasts of reduced demand for crude oil resulting from weaker global economic growth in many regions of the world.
The oil price decline negatively impacted the cash flow of our clients and resulted in their implementation of measures to reduce
operational and capital costs in calendar years 2015 and 2016 compared to 2014 levels, negatively impacting activity during fiscal
years 2015, 2016 and 2017. These cost reductions have continued into calendar year 2017 and have impacted both the offshore
production and the offshore exploration activity of our clients, with offshore production activity being impacted to a lesser extent,
continuing to negatively impact activity during fiscal year 2017. Although the largest share of our revenue relates to oil and gas
production and our largest contract, the U.K. SAR contract, is not directly impacted by declining oil prices, the significant drop
in the price of crude oil resulted in the rescaling, delay or cancellation of planned offshore projects which has negatively impacted
our operations and could continue to negatively impact our operations in future periods. Although oil prices have recently increased
following the OPEC agreement in late 2016 to cut production and the oil price environment is beginning to show signs of stabilizing,
we are uncertain as to when a recovery in offshore spending will occur. An extended period of reduced crude oil prices and related
offshore spending may have a material impact on our financial position, cash flow and results of operations.



As of March 31, 2017, the aircraft in our fleet, the aircraft which we expect to take delivery of in the future and the aircraft
which we have the option to acquire were as follows:

Number of Aircraft

Unconsolidated
Consolidated Affiliates Affiliates @
Operating Aircraft
Aircraft On Under Maximum
Type /?i:vcl:'?}t :iiiiz?t Heéglfor order ¥ Option @ In Fleet I’Ca:lsgzléigte!r:
Large Helicopters:
9 — — 4 4 — 16
— — — 22 — — 16
16 11 — — — — 19
7 — — — — — 20
35 47 — 1 — 11 19
67 58 — 27 4 11
16 14 — — — 3 12
— — — — — 14 12
6 — 4 — — 15 13
— — 1 — — — 13
Sikorsky S-76 C/CHt....cooveieeieieiieiecieieeins 33 9 6 — — 27 12
SiKOrsky S-76D......ccoieiiniieieniieieceeie e 5 1 — 5 — — 12
60 24 11 5 — 59
Small Helicopters:
AS350BB...ciiiiiiiiiee e — — — — — 1 4
Bell 206B............... . — 1 — — — 2 4
Bell 2061 Series.......ccveverieecieneieieeeeieseeieneen — — 5 — — 6 6
Bell 407 ..o 22 — — — — — 6
BEK-L17 e — 3 — — — — 7
HIBS e — — — — — 3 6
22 4 5 — — 12
Training Aircraft:
Bell 206B............. - 1 9 — — — — 4
Robinson R44 — 8 — — — — 4
Sikorsky S-300CBi ....c.eoveeeiiirininincnceieniene 25 — 3 — — — 2
Fixed Wing ......coovvieriieieeeieeeeeeeee e 1 — — — — —
27 17 — — —
Fixed Wing @ ..o 30 19 1 — — 29
TOtal.ceeeeiee e 206 122 20 32 4 111

M For additional information, see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and

Capital Resources — Future Cash Requirements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
@ Represents aircraft which we have the option to acquire. Ifthe options are exercised, the agreements provide that aircraft would be delivered over fiscal
years 2019 through 2020. For additional information, see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Future Cash Requirements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
®  Includes 43 helicopters (primarily medium) and 22 fixed wing aircraft owned and managed by Lider, our unconsolidated affiliate in Brazil and 39
helicopters and seven fixed wing aircraft owned by Petroleum Air Services (“PAS”), our unconsolidated affiliated in Egypt.
@ Bristow Helicopters owns a 60% interest in Eastern Airways. Eastern Airways operates a total of 31 fixed wing aircraft in the Europe Caspian region
and provides technical support for three fixed wing aircraft in the Africa region. Additionally, Bristow Helicopters Australia owns a 100% interest in
Airnorth. Airnorth operates a total of 14 fixed wing aircraft, which are included in the Asia Pacific region.



The following table presents the distribution of our operating revenue for fiscal year 2017 and aircraft as of March 31, 2017
among our regions:

Aircraft in Consolidated Fleet(l)(z)
Operating Helicopters
Revenue for .
Fiscal Year . . Fixed Uncon.solldz&t)ed
2017 Small Medium  Large  Training Wing Total Affiliates Total
Europe Caspian...........ccoceeunene 53% — 16 78 — 31 125 — 125
AfTICa i 15% 14 28 5 — 5 52 46 98
AMETICAS ..o 16% 14 41 18 — — 73 65 138
Asia Pacific.......cocovenencnennne. 16% 3 10 24 — 14 51 — 51
Corporate and other ................. —% — — — 47 — 47 — 47
Total...ccoooiriiiiiiieeeeee 100% 31 95 125 47 50 348 111 459
M Includes 20 aircraft held for sale and 122 leased aircraft as follows:
Held for Sale Aircraft in Consolidated Fleet
Helicopters
Fixed
Small Medium Large Training Wing Total
Europe Caspian .........c..coceverenenieneniecieieeeeeennenne — 2 — — — 2
ATTICA .o 5 4 — — — 9
AINETICAS ..ottt — 5 — — — 5
AS1a PaCifiC ...couevininiiiincnecccccccece — — — — 1 1
Corporate and other...........cocevevenenccicieincnenenn — — — 3 — 3
TOtal oo 5 11 — 3 1 20
Leased Aircraft in Consolidated Fleet
Helicopters
Fixed
Small Medium Large Training Wing Total
Europe Caspian ........cccceeverveevenieeienieeieneeeeeeeennes — 6 39 — 13 58
ATICA v — 1 2 — 2 5
AIMETICAS -ttt 1 14 8 — — 23
ASia PaCIfiC ..eeueieieiiiiieeeee 3 3 9 — 4 19
Corporate and other............ccoecveeviecienieienieieeeenen, — — — 17 — 17
TOtal .ot 4 24 58 17 19 122
@ The average age of our commercial helicopter fleet, which excludes training aircraft, was approximately nine years as of March 31, 2017.
3)

The 111 aircraft operated by our unconsolidated affiliates do not include those aircraft leased from us.



Our current number of LACE is 174 and our historical LACE and LACE rate is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
LACE oottt ettt ettt st e e aa et e e baeerbeeabeeeabaeaaenaren 174 162 166 158 158
LACE Rate (in MILHONS) .....covevieeieieieeeceieeeteeeeeeeeee et $6.63 $885 $9.33 $934 $8.35

The following table presents the distribution of LACE helicopters owned and leased, and the percentage of LACE leased
as of March 31, 2017. The percentage of LACE leased is calculated by taking the total LACE for leased commercial helicopters
divided by the total LACE for all commercial helicopters we operate, including both owned and leased.

LACE Percentage

Owned Leased of LACE

Aircraft Aircraft Leased
EUrope Caspian .......ccccveeieieiiienieeiiesieecite e eieeseeebeesaesbeessseenaeessseensnesnseenees 43 42 49%
ATTICA vttt et as 17 3 13%
ATMNCTICAS ..ottt ettt et et e et e et e eteeeeteeeaaeeeteeeaveeeaeeeareeeaeeeaneeres 24 15 39%
ASIA PACIHTIC ....eiiiii it 19 11 38%
0] 7: ) PR 103 71 41%

Region Operations
Europe Caspian

Based on the number of aircraft operating, we are one of the largest providers of industrial aviation services in the North
Sea, where there are harsh weather conditions and geographically concentrated offshore facilities. As of March 31, 2017, we
operated our oil and gas operations in our Europe Caspian region from four bases in the U.K. and four bases in Norway. The
offshore facilities in the Northern North Sea and Norwegian North Sea are large and require frequent crew change flight services.
In the Southern North Sea, the facilities are generally smaller with some unmanned platforms requiring shuttle operations to up-
man in the morning and down-man in the evening. We deploy the majority of the large aircraft in our consolidated fleet in the
North Sea where our clients are primarily major integrated and independent offshore energy companies. Our North Sea operations
are subject to seasonality as drilling activity is lower during the winter months due to harsh weather and shorter days.

We provide commercial SAR services for a number of oil and gas companies operating in the Norwegian sector of the North
Sea. As discussed under “— Overview” above, in March 2013, we were awarded a contract to provide public sector SAR services
for all of the U.K. with ten bases, all of which were operational as of March 31, 2017.

Bristow Helicopters owns a 60% interest in Eastern Airways, a regional fixed wing operator based in the U.K. Eastern
Airways has approximately 650 employees and its operations focus on providing scheduled and charter services targeting U.K.
oil and gas transport. Eastern Airways operates 31 fixed wing aircraft and provides technical support for three fixed wing aircraft
operating in our Africa region. We believe our investment in Eastern Airways strengthens our ability to provide a complete suite
of point to point transportation services for existing European based passengers, expand industrial aviation services in certain
areas like the Shetland Islands and create a more integrated logistics solution for global clients.

Additionally, our Europe Caspian region includes operations in Turkmenistan. We operate one medium aircraft through our
51% interest in Turkmenistan Helicopters Limited, a Turkmenistan corporation that provides industrial aviation services to an
international offshore energy company from a single location.

Africa

As of March 31, 2017, most of the aircraft in our Africa region operated in Nigeria, where we are the largest provider of
industrial aviation services to the offshore energy industry. We deploy a combination of small, medium and large aircraft in Nigeria
and service a client base comprised mostly of major integrated offshore energy companies. We have five operational bases, with
the largest bases located in Escravos, Lagos, Port Harcourt and Eket. The marketplace for our services had historically been
concentrated predominantly in the oil rich swamp and shallow waters of the Niger Delta area. More recently we have been
undertaking work further offshore in support of deepwater exploration. Operations in Nigeria are subject to seasonality as the
Harmattan, a dry and dusty trade wind, blows between the end of November and the middle of March. At times when the heavy
amount of dust in the air severely limits visibility, our aircraft are unable to operate.

In October 2015, we began providing fixed wing services to provide end-to-end transportation services for principally oil
and gas industry customers and operate three fixed wing aircraft in support of this service.



We own a 25% interest in PAS, an Egyptian corporation which provides helicopter and fixed wing transportation to the
offshore energy industry. Additionally, spare fixed wing capacity is chartered to tourism operators. PAS operates 39 helicopters
and seven fixed wing aircraft from multiple locations. The remaining 75% interest in PAS is owned by the Egyptian General
Petroleum Corporation.

Americas

As of March 31, 2017, we operated from four operating facilities in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. We are one of the largest
suppliers of industrial aviation services in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. Our clients in this business unit are mostly independent and
major integrated offshore energy companies. The U.S. Gulf of Mexico is a major offshore energy producing region. The shallow
water platforms are typically unmanned and are serviced by small aircraft. The deepwater platforms are serviced by medium and
large aircraft. Among our strengths in this region, in addition to our operating facilities, are our advanced flight-following systems
and our widespread and strategically located offshore fuel stations. Operations in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico are subject to seasonality
as the months of December through March typically have more days of harsh weather conditions than the other months of the
year. Additionally, during the months of June through November, tropical storms and hurricanes may reduce activity as we are
unable to operate in the area of the storm.

As of March 31, 2017, we operated a SAR base at the South Lafourche Airport in Galliano, Louisiana. From this base, we
have two medium and one large aircraft that provide SAR and/or medical evacuation services to oil and gas operators.

We own a 40% economic interest in Cougar, the largest offshore energy and SAR helicopter service provider in Atlantic
Canada. Cougar has approximately 250 employees and its operations are primarily focused on serving the offshore oil and gas
industry off Canada’s Atlantic coast. We leased eight large helicopters and four shore-based facilities to Cougar as of March 31,
2017, including state-of-the-art helicopter passenger, maintenance and SAR facilities located in Newfoundland and Labrador.

We also own a 41.9% economic interest in Lider, the largest provider of helicopter and corporate aviation services in Brazil.
Lider has five primary operating units: helicopter service, maintenance, chartering, ground handling and aircraft sales, and provides
commercial SAR and medical evacuation services to the oil and gas industry. Lider’s fleet includes 43 rotor wing and 22 fixed
wing aircraft (including owned and managed aircraft). Lider’s management has introduced large helicopters into their operational
portfolio allowing them to gain competence and positioning them for the anticipated growth associated with Brazil’s pre-salt fields.
Lider also has a vast network of over 20 bases located strategically in Brazil including locations in Macae, Rio de Janiero, Sao
Tome, Urucu and Vitoria.

Additionally, we operate seven medium and one large aircraft in Trinidad from a base located at Trinidad’s Piarco International
Airport and three medium aircraft in Guyana from a base located at Ogle International Airport. Our clients in Trinidad and Guyana
are primarily engaged in offshore energy activities. We also provide rescue and recovery services for our clients in Trinidad and
Guyana.

Asia Pacific

As of March 31, 2017, we operated oil and gas operations in Australia from four bases located in Western Australia, three
bases in Victoria, one base in Northern Territory and one base in Queensland. Our operating bases are located in the vicinity of
the major offshore energy exploration and production fields in the North West Shelf, the Browse and Carnarvon basins of Western
Australia and the Bass Straits in Victoria. Our clients in Australia are primarily major integrated offshore energy companies. We
provide SAR and medical evacuation services to the oil and gas industry in Australia and engineering support to the Republic of
Singapore Air Force’s fleet of helicopters at their base in Oakey, Queensland. Operations in the Asia Pacific region during the
months of November through April may be impacted by cyclones that may reduce activity as we are unable to operate in the area
of the storm.

Bristow Helicopters Australia owns a 100% interest in Airnorth, a regional fixed wing operator based in Darwin, North
Territory, Australia. Airnorth has approximately 280 employees and its operations focus on providing both charter and scheduled
services targeting the energy and mining industries in Northern and Western Australia as well as international services to Dili,
Timor-Leste. Airnorth operates 14 fixed wing aircraft. We believe this investment strengthens our ability to provide point to point
transportation services for existing Australian based passengers, expand industrial aviation services in certain areas in Southeast
Asian markets and create a more integrated logistics solution for global clients.

Additionally, we operate seven large aircraft in Russia from three locations on Sakhalin Island, where we provide industrial
aviation services to international and domestic offshore energy companies and operate a local SAR service.



Bristow Academy

Bristow Academy is a leading provider of helicopter training services with over 25 years of operating history and training
facilities in Titusville, Florida and Carson City, Nevada. Bristow Academy trains students from around the world to become
helicopter pilots and is approved to provide helicopter flight training at the commercial pilot and flight instructor level by both
the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (the “FAA”) and the European Aviation Safety Authority (the “EASA”). Bristow Academy
operates 47 aircraft (including 27 owned, 17 leased aircraft and three held for sale) and employs approximately 80 people, including
approximately 20 primary flight instructors. A significant part of Bristow Academy’s operations include military training, which
generated approximately 33% of Bristow Academy’s operating revenue for fiscal year 2017.

Clients and Contracts

Our principal clients are major integrated, national and independent offshore energy companies and the U.K Department
for Transport. The following table presents our top ten clients in fiscal year 2017 and their percentage contribution to our consolidated
gross revenue during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 and includes any clients accounting for 10% or more of our consolidated
gross revenue during such fiscal years.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Client Name 2017 2016 2015

U.K. Department for TransSport ............cccevveecvereecieseerienieeeeeenseeeeennes 13.6% 10.3% 2.6%
CREVION ..ottt ettt et sae s e b e sra e b e essesbeesaenns 8.7% 11.4% 11.7%
B et 8.2% 6.5% 7.7%
COonOCOPHIILIPS ...ttt 7.3% 7.6% 9.3%
721707 1 OO RRUSUUSRURUUSUUSURSRS 5.3% 3.7% 4.7%
TAC W) s 4.6% 5.6% 7.7%
COUZAT @) oo 4.4% 3.6% 3.3%
EXXON MODIL....oiiiiiiiiieee e 4.1% 3.5% 3.6%
TaAlISIMAN L.uetieiiecie ettt s eeae e eaeeteeenaeeneeas 3.6% 2.3% 4.1%
ITIPEX vttt ettt ettt e ettt ettt eneenes 3.4% 4.7% 2.3%

63.2% 59.2% 57.0%

o IAC is the Integrated Aviation Consortium in the U.K. North Sea and comprises three major oil companies: BP, CNR International, and
TAQA.
@ As discussed above, we own a 40% economic interest in Cougar.

Our helicopter contracts are generally based on a two-tier rate structure consisting of a daily or monthly fixed fee plus
additional fees for each hour flown. We also provide services to clients on an “ad hoc” basis, which usually entails a shorter notice
period and shorter contract duration. Our charges for ad hoc services are generally based on an hourly rate, or a daily or monthly
fixed fee plus additional fees for each hour flown. Generally, our ad hoc services have a higher margin than our other helicopter
contracts due to supply and demand dynamics.

Generally, our oil and gas helicopter contracts are cancelable by the client with a notice period ranging from 30 to 180 days
and in some cases up to one year. In the Americas region, we generally enter into short-term contracts for twelve months or less.
Outside of the Americas, contracts are typically between two and five years in term. These long term contracts may also include
escalation provisions allowing annual rate increases, which may be based on a fixed dollar or percentage increase, an increase in
an agreed index or our actual substantiated increased costs, which we negotiate to pass along to clients. Cost reimbursements from
clients are recorded as reimbursable revenue with the related reimbursed cost recorded as reimbursable expense in our consolidated
statements of operations.

Generally, SAR services contracts include a monthly standing charge, which average approximately 85% of the total contract
revenue, and a monthly variable charge that covers flying, fuel and ancillary items, which average approximately 15% of the total
contract revenue. See further details on the U.K. SAR contract in “— Overview.”

Our fixed wing services are generally provided through scheduled charter service or regular public transport service. For
scheduled charter service, our contracts typically include variable rates based on the number of passengers, flights or flight hours.
These agreements may also include a monthly standing charge; however, this is much less common as compared to helicopter
contracts. We also provide charter services to clients on an “ad hoc” basis, which usually entails a shorter notice period and shorter
contract duration. Regular public transport service is provided through established daily or weekly flight schedules and is based
upon individual ticket sales to customers.
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Competition

The helicopter and fixed wing businesses are highly competitive throughout the world. We compete directly against multiple
providers in almost all of our operating regions. We have several significant competitors in the North Sea, Nigeria, the U.S. Gulf
of Mexico and Australia, and a number of smaller local competitors in other markets. Globally, we have seen a recent increase in
competitive pressure and new regulation that could impact our ability to win future work. Competition has intensified and new
competitors could enter our industry if they are willing to make a significant capital investment, have access to working capital,
onshore and offshore bases, personnel and operating experience. These requirements can be achieved with the appropriate level
of client support and commitment. In addition, while not the predominant practice, certain of our clients and potential clients in
the offshore energy industry perform their own industrial aviation services.

In most situations, clients charter aircraft on the basis of competitive bidding. On limited occasions, our clients renew or
extend existing contracts without employing a competitive bid process. Contracts are generally awarded based on a number of
factors, including price, quality of service, operational experience, record of safety, quality and type of equipment, client relationship
and professional reputation. Incumbent operators typically have a competitive advantage in the bidding process based on their
relationship with the client, knowledge of the site characteristics and existing facilities to support the operations. Because certain
of our clients in the offshore energy industry have the capability to perform their own industrial aviation services, our ability to
increase charter rates may be limited under certain circumstances.

Code of Business Integrity

We have adopted a Code of Business Integrity (our “Code”) that applies to Bristow Group Inc. and all of its subsidiaries,
affiliates and controlled joint ventures, including all directors, officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer) and employees thereof. Our Code covers topics including, but not limited to, anti-
corruption, conflicts of interest, insider trading, competition and fair dealing, discrimination and harassment, confidentiality,
compliance procedures and employee complaint procedures. Our Code is posted on our website, http://www.bristowgroup.com,
under the “About Us” and “Vision, Mission, Values” caption. We will disclose any amendment to the Code or waiver with respect
to our senior officers on our website or, alternatively, through the filing of a Form 8-K.

Safety, Industry Hazards and Insurance

Hazards such as severe weather and mechanical failures are inherent in the transportation industry and may result in the loss
of equipment and revenue. It is possible that personal injuries and fatalities may occur. We believe our air accident rate per 100,000
flight hours, which has historically been more than ten times lower than the reported global offshore energy production helicopter
average data, indicates that we have consistently performed better than the industry average with respect to safety. In fiscal year
2016, one Sikorsky S-76C+ and one Sikorsky S-76C++ aircraft operated by us were involved in accidents. In one of these accidents,
two of our crew members and four passengers were fatally injured. The second accident resulted in no significant injuries or
fatalities. During fiscal years 2017 and 2015, we had no accidents that resulted in fatalities.

Our well established global safety program called “Target Zero” focuses on improved safety performance. Our safety vision
is to have zero accidents, zero harm to people, and zero harm to the environment. The key components to achieving this are to
improve safety culture and individual behaviors, increase the level of safety reporting by the frontline employees, increase
accountability for addressing identified hazards by the operational managers and provide for independent oversight of the
operational safety programs. See discussion of Target Zero in “— Overview.”

We maintain hull and liability insurance which generally insures us against damage to our aircraft and the related liabilities
which may be incurred as a result. We also carry insurance for war risk, expropriation and confiscation of the aircraft we use in
certain of our international operations. Further, we carry various other liability and property insurance, including workers’
compensation, general liability, employers’ liability, auto liability, and property and casualty coverage. We believe that our insurance
program is adequate to cover any claims ultimately incurred related to property damage and liability events.
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Employees

As of March 31, 2017, we employed 4,374 employees. Many of our employees are represented under collective bargaining
agreements. Periodically, certain groups of our employees who are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement consider

entering into such an agreement. We believe that our relations with our employees are generally satisfactory.

The following table sets forth our main employee groups and status of the collective bargaining agreements:

Approximate Number of
Employees Covered
by Agreement as of

Employee Group Representatives Status of Agreement March 31, 2017
U.K. Pilots British Airline Pilots Association  Agreement expired in
(“BALPA”) March 2017. Currently in 400
negotiations.
U.K. Engineers and Staff Unite Agreement expired in
March 2017. Currently in 550
negotiations.
Bristow Norway Pilots Norsk Flygerforbund Agreement expired in
(“NALPA”); Parat Luftfart March 2017. Currently in 160
(“PARAT”) negotiations.
Bristow Norway Engineers Norsk Helikopteransattes Local agreement expired
Forbund (“NU of HE”)/BNTF in September 2016. 110
Currently in negotiations.
Nigeria Junior and Senior National Union of Air Transport ~ Agreements expire in
Staff Employees; Air Transport December 2017. 50
Services Senior Staff Association
of Nigeria
Nigeria Pilots and Engineers Nigerian Association of Airline We recognize this union
Pilots and Engineers for representation
purposes, but there is no 150
formal commitment to
negotiate remuneration.
North America Pilots Office and Professional Agreement expired April
Employees International Union 2015. Currently in 130
(“OPEIU”) negotiations.
Gulf of Mexico Mechanics OPEIU Agreement expired in
April 2017. Currently in 200
negotiations.
Australia Pilots Australian Federation of Air Agreement expires in 100
Pilots March 2019.
Australia Engineers and BDI Australian Licensed Aircraft Agreement for BDI
Tradesmen and Staff Engineers Association tradesmen and staff
(“ALAEA”), Australian expires in March 2017.
Manufacturing Union Agreement for Australia 170
(“AMWU”) and elected engineers expires in
employee representatives March 2018. Currently in
negotiations for BDI
agreement.
Trinidad Mechanics Fitters/Handlers Agreements expired in
May 2016. Currently in 30
negotiations.
Airnorth Pilots Aircrew Logistics Pilots Group Agreement expired in
June 2015. Currently 60
being rolled over on an
annual basis.
Airnorth Engineers Aircraft Logistics Engineers Agreement expired in
Group June 2016. Currently in 50

Lider, our unconsolidated affiliate in Brazil, employs approximately 1,380 employees and Cougar, our unconsolidated

affiliate in Canada, employs approximately 250 employees.
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Governmental Regulation
United States

As a commercial operator of aircraft, our U.S. operations are subject to regulations under the Federal Aviation Act of 1958,
as amended, and other laws. We carry persons and property in our helicopters under an Air Taxi Certificate granted by the FAA.
The FAA regulates our U.S. flight operations and, in this respect, exercises jurisdiction over personnel, aircraft, ground facilities
and certain technical aspects of our operations. The National Transportation Safety Board is authorized to investigate aircraft
accidents and to recommend improved safety standards. Our U.S. operations are also subject to the Federal Communications Act
of 1934 because we use radio facilities in our operations.

Under the Federal Aviation Act, it is unlawful to operate certain aircraft for hire within the U.S. unless such aircraft are
registered with the FAA and the FAA has issued an operating certificate to the operator. As a general rule, aircraft may be registered
under the Federal Aviation Act only if the aircraft are owned or controlled by one or more citizens of the U.S. and an operating
certificate may be granted only to a citizen of the U.S. For purposes of these requirements, a corporation is deemed to be a citizen
of the U.S. only if at least 75% of its voting interests are owned or controlled by U.S. citizens, the president of the company is a
U.S. citizen, two-thirds or more of the directors are U.S. citizens and the company is under the actual control of U.S. citizens. If
persons other than U.S. citizens should come to own or control more than 25% of our voting interest or if any of the other
requirements are not met, we have been advised that our aircraft may be subject to deregistration under the Federal Aviation Act,
and we may lose our ability to operate within the U.S. Deregistration of our aircraft for any reason, including foreign ownership
in excess of permitted levels, would have a material adverse effect on our ability to conduct certain operations within our Americas
region and Bristow Academy operations. Therefore, our organizational documents currently provide for the automatic suspension
of voting rights of shares of our outstanding voting capital stock owned or controlled by non-U.S. citizens, and our right to redeem
those shares, to the extent necessary to comply with these requirements. As of March 31, 2017, approximately 5,203,000 shares
of our common stock, par value $.01 per share (“Common Stock”), were held of record by persons with foreign addresses. These
shares represented approximately 15% of our total outstanding Common Stock as of March 31, 2017. Our foreign ownership may
fluctuate on each trading day because our Common Stock is publicly traded.

Also, we are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the “FCPA”), which generally prohibits us and our
intermediaries from making corrupt payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business.

Additionally, we are subject to the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”) that control the export and import of
defense-related articles, services and technical data. ITAR dictates that information and material pertaining to defense and military
related technologies may only be shared with U.S. persons or organizations unless authorization from the U.S. State Department
is received or a special exemption is used. We are also subject to the Export Administration Regulations (the “EAR”) that control
the export of commercial and “dual use” goods. U.S. persons or organizations may incur heavy fines if they violate ITAR or the
EAR.

United Kingdom

Our operations in the U.K. are subject to the Civil Aviation Act 1982 and other similar English and European Union (“E.U.”)
statutes and regulations. We carry persons and property in our aircraft pursuant to an operating license issued by the Civil Aviation
Authority (the “CAA”). The holder of an operating license must meet the ownership and control requirements of Council
Regulation 2407/92. To operate under this license, the company through which we conduct operations in the U.K., Bristow
Helicopters, must be owned directly or through majority ownership by E.U. nationals, and must at all times be effectively controlled
by them. To comply with these restrictions, we own only 49% of the ordinary shares of Bristow Aviation, the entity that owns
Bristow Helicopters. In addition, we have a put/call agreement with the other two stockholders of Bristow Aviation which grants
us the right to buy all of their Bristow Aviation ordinary shares (and grants them the right to require us to buy all of their shares).
Under English law, to maintain Bristow Helicopters’ operating license, we would be required to find a qualified E.U. owner to
acquire any of the Bristow Aviation shares that we have the right or obligation to acquire under the put/call agreement. In addition
to our equity investment in Bristow Aviation, we own deferred stock, essentially a subordinated class of stock with no voting
rights, and hold subordinated debt issued by Bristow Aviation.
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The CAA regulates our U.K. flight operations and exercises jurisdiction over personnel, aircraft, ground facilities and certain
technical aspects of those operations. The CAA often imposes improved safety standards. Under the Licensing of Air Carriers
Regulations 1992, it is unlawful to operate certain aircraft for hire within the U.K. unless such aircraft are approved by the CAA.
Changes in U.K. or E.U. statutes or regulations, administrative requirements or their interpretation may have a material adverse
effect on our business or financial condition or on our ability to continue operations in the U.K.

Also, we are subject to the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 (the “U.K. Bribery Act”), which creates criminal offenses for bribery and
failing to prevent bribery.

Additionally, we are subject to the U.K. and E.U. Dual-Use Export Regulations. Dual use goods are products and technologies
which have both civilian and military applications. U.K. and E.U. regulations may require export authorization for certain exports
of dual use items.

Nigeria

Our operations in Nigeria are subject to the Nigerian Content Development Act 2010, which requires that oil and gas contracts
be awarded to a company that is seen or perceived to have more “local content” than a “Foreign” competitor. Additionally, the
Nigerian Content Development Act allows the monitoring board to penalize companies that do not meet these local content
requirements up to 5% of the value of the contract.

Other

Our operations in other markets are subject to local governmental regulations that may limit foreign ownership of aviation
companies. Because of these local regulations, we conduct some of our operations through entities in which citizens of such
countries own a majority interest and we hold a noncontrolling interest, or under contracts which provide that we operate assets
for the local companies and conduct their flight operations. Such contracts are used for our operations in Russia and Turkmenistan.
Changes in local laws, regulations or administrative requirements or their interpretation may have a material adverse effect on our
business or financial condition or on our ability to continue operations in these areas.

Environmental

Our operations are subject to laws and regulations controlling the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise
relating to the protection of the environment. If we fail to comply with these environmental laws and regulations, administrative,
civil and criminal penalties may be imposed, and we may become subject to regulatory enforcement actions in the form of
injunctions and cease and desist orders. We may also be subject to civil claims arising out of a pollution event. These laws and
regulations may expose us to strict, joint and several liability for the conduct of or conditions caused by others or for our own acts
even though these actions were in compliance with all applicable laws at the time they were performed. To date, such laws and
regulations have not had a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Increased public awareness and concern over the environment may result in future changes in the regulation of the offshore
energy industry, which in turn could adversely affect us. The trend in environmental regulation is to place more restrictions and
limitations on activities that may affect the environment and there can be no assurance as to the effect of such regulation on our
operations or on the operations of our clients. We try to anticipate future regulatory requirements that might be imposed and plan
accordingly to remain in compliance with changing environmental laws and regulations and to minimize the cost of such
compliance. We do not believe that compliance with federal, state or local environmental laws and regulations will have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial position or results of operations. We cannot be certain that future events, such as changes
in existing laws, the promulgation of new laws, or the development or discovery of new facts or conditions will not cause us to
incur significant costs. Below is a discussion of the material U.S. environmental laws and regulations that relate to our business.
We believe that we are in substantial compliance with all of these environmental laws and regulations.
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Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, referred to as CERCLA or the
Superfund law, and related state laws and regulations, strict, joint and several liability can be imposed without regard to fault or
the legality of the original conduct on certain classes of persons that contributed to the release of a hazardous substance into the
environment. These persons include the owner and operator of a contaminated site where a hazardous substance release occurred
and any company that transported, disposed of or arranged for the transport or disposal of hazardous substances, even from inactive
operations or closed facilities that have been released into the environment. In addition, neighboring landowners or other third
parties may file claims for personal injury, property damage and recovery of response cost. We currently own, lease, or operate
properties and facilities that, in some cases, have been used for industrial activities for many years. Hazardous substances, wastes,
or hydrocarbons may have been released on or under the properties owned or leased by us, or on or under other locations where
such substances have been taken for disposal. In addition, some of these properties have been operated by third parties or by
previous owners whose treatment and disposal or release of hazardous substances, wastes, or hydrocarbons was not under our
control. These properties and the substances disposed or released on them may be subject to CERCLA and analogous state statutes.
Under such laws, we could be required to remove previously disposed substances and wastes, remediate contaminated property,
or perform remedial activities to prevent future contamination. These laws and regulations may also expose us to liability for our
acts that were in compliance with applicable laws at the time the acts were performed. We have been named as a potentially
responsible party in connection with certain sites. See further discussion under Item 3. “Legal Proceedings” included elsewhere
in this Annual Report.

In addition, since our operations generate wastes, including some hazardous wastes, we may be subject to the provisions of
the Resource, Conservation and Recovery Act, or RCRA, and analogous state laws that limit the approved methods of disposal
for some types of hazardous and nonhazardous wastes and require owners and operators of facilities that treat, store or dispose of
hazardous waste and to clean up releases of hazardous waste constituents into the environment associated with their operations.
Some wastes handled by us that currently are exempt from treatment as hazardous wastes may in the future be designated as
“hazardous wastes” under RCRA or other applicable statutes. If this were to occur, we would become subject to more rigorous
and costly operating and disposal requirements.

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act, and analogous state laws impose restrictions
and strict controls regarding the discharge of pollutants into state waters or waters of the U.S. The discharge of pollutants into
jurisdictional waters is prohibited unless the discharge is permitted by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, also referred
to as the EPA, or applicable state agencies. Some of our properties and operations require permits for discharges of wastewater
and/or stormwater, and we have a system in place for securing and maintaining these permits. In addition, the Oil Pollution Act
of 1990 imposes a variety of requirements on responsible parties related to the prevention of oil spills and liability for damages,
including natural resource damages, resulting from such spills in the waters of the U.S. A responsible party includes the owner or
operator of a facility. The Clean Water Act and analogous state laws provide for administrative, civil and criminal penalties for
unauthorized discharges and, together with the Oil Pollution Act, impose rigorous requirements for spill prevention and response
planning, as well as substantial potential liability for the cost of removal, remediation, and damages in connection with any
unauthorized discharges.

Some of our operations also result in emissions of regulated air pollutants. The Federal Clean Air Act and analogous state
laws require permits for facilities that have the potential to emit substances into the atmosphere that could adversely affect
environmental quality. Failure to obtain a permit or to comply with permit requirements could result in the imposition of substantial
administrative, civil and even criminal penalties.

Our facilities and operations are also governed by laws and regulations relating to worker health and workplace safety,
including the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, or OSHA. We believe that appropriate precautions are taken to protect
our employees and others from harmful exposure to potentially hazardous materials handled and managed at our facilities, and
that we operate in substantial compliance with all OSHA or similar regulations.

In addition, we could be affected by future laws or regulations imposed in response to concerns over climate change. Changes
in climate change concerns, or in the regulation of such concerns, including greenhouse gas emissions, could subject us to additional
costs and restrictions, including compliance costs and increased energy and raw materials costs.

Our operations outside of the U.S. are subject to similar foreign governmental controls relating to protection of the
environment. We believe that, to date, our operations outside of the U.S. have been in substantial compliance with existing
requirements of these foreign governmental bodies and that such compliance has not had a material adverse effect on our operations.
There is no assurance, however, that future expenditures to maintain compliance will not become material.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

If you hold our securities or are considering an investment in our securities, you should carefully consider the following
risks, together with the other information contained in this Annual Report.

Risks Relating to Our Clients and Contracts

The demand for our services is substantially dependent on the level of offshore oil and gas exploration, development and
production activity.

We provide helicopter and fixed wing services to companies engaged in offshore oil and gas exploration, development and
production activities. As a result, demand for our services, as well as our revenue and our profitability, are substantially dependent
on the worldwide levels of activity in offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production. These activity levels are
principally affected by trends in, and expectations regarding, oil and natural gas prices, as well as the capital expenditure budgets
of offshore energy companies. We cannot predict future exploration, development and production activity or oil and gas price
movements. Historically, the prices for oil and gas and activity levels have been volatile and are subject to factors beyond our
control, such as:

*  the supply of and demand for oil and gas and market expectations for such supply and demand;

»  actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oil producing countries to control prices or change
production levels;

*  general economic conditions, both worldwide and in particular regions;

*  governmental regulation;

*  the price and availability of alternative fuels;

»  weather conditions, including the impact of hurricanes and other weather-related phenomena;

* advances in exploration, development and production technology;

» the policies of various governments regarding exploration and development of their oil and gas reserves; and

* theworldwide political environment, including uncertainty or instability resulting from an escalation or additional outbreak
of armed hostilities or other crises in the Middle East, Nigeria or other geographic areas, or further acts of terrorism in
the U.K., U.S. or elsewhere.

Additionally, an increase in onshore fracking, which generally does not require use of our services, could have an adverse
effect on our operations. If onshore fracking were to meaningfully increase globally, and if it were to drive a meaningful increase
in the supply of hydrocarbons without an increase in global demand, it could potentially adversely impact oil and natural gas prices
and the level of activity in our offshore oil and gas markets and the demand for our industrial aviation services.

A focus by our clients on cost-saving measures rather than quality of service, which is how we differentiate ourselves from
competition, could reduce the demand for our services.

Historically, we had the ability to secure profitable contracts by providing superior quality as compared to our competitors.
However, offshore energy companies are continually seeking to implement measures aimed at greater cost savings, including
efforts to accept lesser quality services, otherwise improve cost efficiencies with respect to air transportation services, or to provide
other alternatives for transportation, such as boats. For example, these companies may reduce staffing levels on both old and new
installations by using new technology to permit unmanned installations, may reduce the frequency of transportation of employees
by increasing the length of shifts offshore, may change other aspects of how our services are scheduled and may consider other
alternatives to our services to achieve cost savings. In addition, these companies could initiate their own helicopter, airplane or
other transportation alternatives. The continued implementation of these kinds of measures could reduce the demand or pricing
for our services and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our industry is highly competitive and cyclical, with intense price competition.

The helicopter and fixed wing businesses are highly competitive throughout the world. Chartering of such aircraft is often
done on the basis of competitive bidding among those providers having the necessary equipment, operational experience and
resources. Factors that affect competition in our industry include price, quality of service, operational experience, record of safety,
quality and type of equipment, client relationship and professional reputation.

Our industry has historically been cyclical and is affected by the volatility of oil and gas price levels. There have been periods
of high demand for our services, followed by periods of low demand for our services. Changes in commodity prices can have a
significant effect on demand for our services, and periods of low activity intensify price competition in the industry and often
result in our aircraft being idle for long periods of time.

We have several significant competitors in the North Sea, Nigeria, the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, Australia, Canada and Brazil,
and a number of smaller local competitors in other markets. Certain of our clients have the capability to perform their own air
transportation operations or give business to our competitors should they elect to do so, which has a limiting effect on our rates.

As aresult of significant competition, we must continue to provide safe and efficient service and we must continue to evolve
our technology or we will lose market share, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations due to the loss of a significant number of our clients or termination of a significant number of our contracts.
See further discussion in Item 1. “Business — Competition” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

We depend on a small number of large offshore energy industry clients for a significant portion of our revenue.

We derive a significant amount of our revenue from a small number of offshore energy companies. Our loss of one of these
significant clients, if not offset by sales to new or other existing clients, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. See further discussion in Item 1. “Business — Clients and Contracts” included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Our contracts often can be terminated or downsized by our clients without penalty.

Many of our fixed-term contracts contain provisions permitting early termination by the client at their convenience, generally
without penalty, and with limited notice requirements. In addition, many of our contracts permit our clients to decrease the number
of aircraft under contract with a corresponding decrease in the fixed monthly payments without penalty. As a result, you should
not place undue reliance on the strength of our client contracts or the terms of those contracts.

Our U.K. SAR contract can be terminated and is subject to certain other rights of the U.K. Department for Transport.

The U.K. SAR contract allows the DfT to cancel the contract for any reason upon notice and payment of a specified
cancellation fee based on the number of bases reduced as a result of the exercise and the timing of the exercise. Additionally, the
U.K. SAR contract grants the DfT the option to require us to transfer to the DfT, at termination or expiration, either the lease or
the ownership of some or all of the helicopters that service the U.K. SAR contract. The DfT may alternatively require that we or
the owner, as the case may be, transfer the lease or ownership of the helicopters to any replacement service provider. If the DfT
wishes to transfer ownership it must pay a specified option exercise fee based on the value of the helicopters. If the DfT wishes
to transfer the lease it does not have to pay an option exercise fee. We currently lease the majority of the aircraft that service the
U.K. SAR contract. Although we are entitled to some compensation for termination or early expiration if we are not at fault,
termination or early expiration of the U.K. SAR contract would result in a significant loss of expected revenue. Additionally, we
do not have the right to transfer the ground facilities supporting the U.K. SAR contract to the replacement service provider. If
alternative long-term uses were not identified for these facilities, we could incur recurring fixed expenses for these recently
acquired, non-revenue producing assets if we were unable to sell them to a replacement contractor or other party in the event the
U.K. SAR contract is terminated.

Our clients may shift risk to us.

We give to and receive from our clients indemnities relating to damages caused or sustained by us in connection with our
operations. Our clients’ changing views on risk allocation together with deteriorating market conditions could force us to accept
greater risk to win new business, retain renewing business or could result in us losing business if we are not prepared to take such
risks. To the extent that we accept such additional risk, and seek to insure against it, if possible, our insurance premiums could
rise. If we cannot insure against such risks or otherwise choose not to do so, we could be exposed to catastrophic losses in the
event such risks are realized.
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We may not be able to obtain client contracts with acceptable terms covering some of our new helicopters, and some of our
new helicopters may replace existing helicopters already under contract, which could adversely affect the utilization of our
existing fleet.

We have ordered, and have options for, a substantial number of new helicopters. Many of our new helicopters may not be
covered by client contracts when they are delivered to us, and we cannot assure you as to when we will be able to utilize these
new helicopters or on what terms. To the extent our helicopters are covered by a client contract when they are delivered to us,
some of these contracts may be for a short term, requiring us to seek renewals more frequently. Alternatively, we expect that some
of our clients may request new helicopters in lieu of our existing helicopters, which could adversely affect the utilization of our
existing fleet.

Reductions in spending on industrial aviation services by government agencies could lead to modifications of SAR contract
terms or delays in receiving payments, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We were awarded a government contract to provide SAR services for all of the U.K. that commenced in April 2015. Any
reductions in the budgets of government agencies for spending on industrial aviation services, implementation of cost saving
measures by government agencies, imposed modifications of contract terms or delays in collecting receivables owed to us by our
government agency clients could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, there are inherent risks in contracting with government agencies. Applicable laws and regulations in the countries
in which we operate may enable our government agency clients to (i) terminate contracts for convenience, (ii) reduce, modify or
cancel contracts or subcontracts if requirements or budgetary constraints change, or (iii) terminate contracts or adjust their terms.

Our fixed operating expenses and long-term contracts with clients could adversely affect our business under certain
circumstances.

Our profitability is directly related to demand for our services. Because of the significant expenses related to aircraft financing
and leasing, crew wages and benefits, and insurance and maintenance programs, a substantial portion of our operating expenses
are fixed and must be paid even when aircraft are not actively servicing clients and thereby generating revenue. A decrease in our
revenue could therefore result in a disproportionate decrease in our earnings, as a substantial portion of our operating expense
would remain unchanged. Similarly, the discontinuation of any rebates, discounts or preferential financing terms offered to us by
manufacturers, lenders or lessors could have the effect of increasing our related expenses, and without a corresponding increase
in our revenue, could negatively impact our results of operations.

Certain of our long-term aircraft services contracts contain price escalation terms and conditions. Although supplier costs,
fuel costs, labor costs, insurance costs, and other cost increases are typically passed through to our clients through rate increases
where possible, these escalations may not be sufficient to enable us to recoup increased costs in full and we may not be able to
realize the full benefit of contract price escalations during a market downturn. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
estimate costs accurately or recover increased costs by passing these costs on to our clients. We may not be successful in identifying
or securing cost escalations for other costs that may escalate during the applicable client contract term. In the event that we are
unable to fully recover material costs that escalate during the terms of our client contracts, the profitability of our client contracts
and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and negatively affected.

Additionally, cost increases related to our airline scheduled service cannot be passed on to previously purchased air passenger
tickets but may be passed on partially or wholly to future purchased tickets if the rates remain competitive to other competing
airlines.

Risks Relating to Our Business
In order to support our business, we may require additional capital in the future that may not be available to us.

Our business is capital intensive, and to the extent we do not generate sufficient cash from operations, we will need to raise
additional funds through bank debt, public or private debt, or equity financings to execute our growth strategy. Adequate sources
of capital funding may not be available when needed, or may not be available on favorable terms. If we raise additional funds by
issuing equity or certain types of convertible debt securities, dilution to the holdings of existing stockholders may result. Further,
if we raise additional debt financing, we will incur additional interest expense and the terms of such debt may be at less favorable
rates than existing debt and could require the pledge of assets as security or subject us to financial and/or operating covenants that
affect our ability to conduct our business. If funding is insufficient at any time in the future, we may be unable to acquire additional
aircraft, take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations. See discussion of our capital commitments in Item 7. “Management’s Discussion
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and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Future Cash Requirements”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The vote by the United Kingdom to leave the European Union could adversely affect us.

In a referendum held on June 23, 2016, voters in the U.K. approved the exit of the U.K. (“Brexit”) from the E.U. On March
29, 2017, the U.K. government commenced the exit process under Article 50 of the Treaty of the European Union by notifying
the European Council of the U.K.’s intention to leave the E.U. This notification starts a two-year time period for the U.K. and the
remaining E.U. Member States to negotiate a withdrawal agreement.

For fiscal years 2017 and 2016, approximately 36% and 34%, respectively, of our revenue was derived from contracts with
customers in the U.K., and approximately 16% of our revenue in both periods was derived from contracts with customers in other
European markets.

The consequences of Brexit, together with what may be protracted negotiations around the terms of Brexit, could introduce
significant uncertainties into global financial markets and adversely impact the regions in which we and our clients operate. In
the long term, Brexit could also create uncertainty with respect to the legal and regulatory requirements to which we and our
customers in the U.K. are subject and lead to divergent national laws and regulations as the U.K. government determines which
E.U. laws to modify or replace. Brexit also exacerbates the potential for additional referendums within the U.K., such as in Scotland,
which could lead to a breakup of the U.K, creating further legal and regulatory uncertainty.

The Brexit vote has resulted in a significant decline in the value of British pound sterling and volatility in exchange rates is
expected to continue as the terms of Brexit are negotiated. If the British pound sterling remains weak or continues to weaken,
revenue under contracts denominated in British pound sterling will translate into fewer U.S. dollars. For fiscal year 2017, revenue
denominated in British pound sterling represented 34% of our revenue. The uncertainties surrounding Brexit and risks associated
with the commencement of Brexit could have a material adverse effect on our current business and future growth.

We may undertake one or more significant corporate transactions that may not achieve their intended results, may adversely
affect our financial condition and our results of operations or result in unforeseeable risks to our business.

We continuously evaluate the acquisition or disposition of operating businesses and assets and may in the future undertake
one or more significant transactions. Any such transaction could be material to our business and could take any number of forms,
including mergers, joint ventures and the purchase of equity interests. The consideration for such acquisitive transactions may
include, among other things, cash, common stock or equity interests in us or our subsidiaries, or a contribution of equipment to
obtain equity interests, and in conjunction with a transaction we might incur additional indebtedness. We also routinely evaluate
the benefits of disposing of certain of our assets.

These transactions may present significant risks such as insufficient revenue to offset liabilities assumed, potential loss of
significant revenue and income streams, increased or unexpected expenses, inadequate return of capital, regulatory or compliance
issues, the triggering of certain covenants in our debt agreements (including accelerated repayment) and unidentified issues not
discovered in due diligence. In addition, such transactions could distract management from current operations. As a result of the
risks inherent in such transactions, we cannot guarantee that any such transaction will ultimately result in the realization of its
anticipated benefits or that it will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we were to complete such an acquisition, disposition, investment or other strategic transaction, we may require additional debt
or equity financing that could result in a significant increase in our amount of debt and our debt service obligations or the number
of outstanding shares of our Common Stock, thereby diluting holders of our Common Stock outstanding prior to such acquisition.

Our operations involve a degree of inherent risk that may not be covered by our insurance and may increase our operating
costs.

The operation of helicopters and fixed wing aircraft inherently involves a degree of risk. Hazards such as harsh weather and
marine conditions, mechanical failures, facility fires and spare parts damage, pandemic outbreaks, crashes and collisions are
inherent in our business and may result in personal injury, loss of life, damage to property and equipment, suspension or reduction
of operations, reduced number of flight hours and the grounding of such aircraft or insufficient ground facilities or spare parts to
support operations. In addition to any loss of property or life, our revenue, profitability and margins could be materially affected
by an accident or asset damage.
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We, or third parties operating our aircraft, may experience accidents or damage to our assets in the future. These risks could
endanger the safety of both our own and our clients’ personnel, equipment, cargo and other property, as well as the environment.
If any of these events were to occur with equipment or other assets that we need to operate or lease to third parties, we could
experience loss of revenue, termination of charter contracts, higher insurance rates, and damage to our reputation and client
relationships. In addition, to the extent an accident occurs with aircraft we operate or to assets supporting operations, we could be
held liable for resulting damages. For example, on August 12, 2015, a Sikorsky S-76C+ operated by us was involved in an accident
in which two of our crew members and four passengers were fatally injured. There were six other passengers on board who suffered
injuries in the accident. Also, on February 3, 2016, a Sikorsky S-76C++ operated by us was involved in a controlled water landing
with minor injuries reported for the nine passengers and two crew on board the aircraft. Following standard practice and out of
an abundance of caution, we temporarily suspended operation of the 16 Sikorsky S-76C model aircraft we had operating in Nigeria.
In March 2014, one of our hangars in Nigeria experienced a fire, which resulted in damage to the hangar, two helicopters and a
substantial portion of the inventory spare parts. Although the hangar, helicopters and inventory were covered by insurance, we
incurred deductible and additional insurance premiums as a result of this fire. The lack of sufficient insurance for this incident or
the occurrence of another such incident or accident could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial condition.

Certain models of aircraft that we operate have also experienced accidents while operated by third parties. Most recently,
on April 29, 2016, an incident occurred with an Airbus Helicopters EC225LP (also known as a H225) model helicopter operated
by another helicopter company, which resulted in the loss of life for eleven passengers and two crew members in Norway. This
incident resulted in the civil aviation authorities in the U.K. and Norway issuing safety directives that required the operators to
suspend commercial operations of the affected aircraft pending determination of the root cause. Our H225 fleet of 27 aircraft
remains grounded globally as a result of this incident. If other operators experience accidents with aircraft models that we operate
or lease, obligating us to take such aircraft out of service until the cause of the accident is rectified, we could lose revenue and
clients. In addition, safety issues experienced by a particular model of aircraft could result in clients refusing to use that particular
aircraft model or a regulatory body grounding that particular aircraft model. The value of the aircraft model might also be
permanently reduced in the market if the model were to be considered less desirable for future service and the inventory for such
aircraft may be impaired.

We attempt to protect ourselves against financial losses and damage by carrying insurance, including hull and liability,
general liability, workers’ compensation, and property and casualty insurance. Our insurance coverage is subject to deductibles
and maximum coverage amounts, and we do not carry insurance against all types of losses, including business interruption. We
cannot assure you that our existing coverage will be sufficient to protect against all losses, that we will be able to maintain our
existing coverage in the future or that the premiums will not increase substantially. In addition, future terrorist activity, risks of
war, accidents or other events could increase our insurance premiums. The loss of our liability insurance coverage, inadequate
coverage from our liability insurance or substantial increases in future premiums could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to maintain standards of acceptable safety performance may have an adverse impact on our ability to attract and retain
clients and could adversely impact our reputation, operations and financial performance.

Our clients consider safety and reliability as the two primary attributes when selecting a provider of air transportation services.
If we fail to maintain standards of safety and reliability that are satisfactory to our clients, our ability to retain current clients and
attract new clients may be adversely affected. Accidents or disasters could impact client or passenger confidence in a particular
fleet type, us or the air transportation services industry as a whole and could lead to a reduction in client contracts, particularly if
such accidents or disasters were due to a safety fault in a type of aircraft used in our fleet. In addition, the loss of aircraft as a result
of accidents could cause significant adverse publicity and the interruption of air services to our clients, which could adversely
impact our reputation, operations and financial results. Our aircraft have been involved in accidents in the past, some of which
have included loss of life and property damage. We may experience similar accidents in the future.

Our diversification efforts into other industrial aviation services such as fixed wing, search and rescue, and unmanned aerial
vehicle services may prove unsuccessful.

Our business has traditionally been significantly dependent upon the level of offshore oil and gas exploration, development
and production activity. Although the company has begun diversification efforts with the award for the provision of search and
rescue services in the U.K. and investments in Eastern Airways, Airnorth and Sky-Futures, the effect of the downturn in the oil
and gas industry has nevertheless negatively impacted our financial results and could continue to negatively impact our financial
results in future periods. While diversification into other industrial aviation services is intended to grow the business and offset
the cyclical nature of the underlying oil and gas business, we cannot be certain that diversification benefits associated with those
lines of business will be realized.
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Our operations in certain regions of the world are subject to additional risks.

Operations in certain regions are subject to various risks inherent in conducting business in international locations, including:

political, social and economic instability, including risks of war, general strikes and civil disturbances;

physical and economic retribution directed at U.S. and foreign companies and personnel;

» governmental actions that restrict payments or the movement of funds or result in the deprivation of contract rights;
¢ violations of our Code;

* adverse tax consequences;

» fluctuations in currency exchange rates, hard currency shortages and controls on currency exchange that affect demand
for our services and our profitability;

*  potential noncompliance with a wide variety of laws and regulations, such as the FCPA, and similar non-U.S. laws and
regulations, including the U.K. Bribery Act and Brazil’s Clean Companies Act (the “BCCA”);

*  the taking of property without fair compensation; and

» the lack of well-developed legal systems in some countries that could make it difficult for us to enforce our contractual
rights.

Historically, there has been continuing political and social unrest in Nigeria, where we derived 15%, 14% and 18% of our
gross revenue during fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015, respectively. In 2015, there was a change in the leadership in Nigeria. The
current leadership is facing numerous challenges which, if not addressed, may cause political or social unrest and result in a lack
of demand for our services in Nigeria and safety risks for our operations and our people. In addition, the passage of the Nigerian
Petroleum Industry Bill could lead to further uncertainty in demand in the region. Future unrest or legislation in Nigeria or our
other operating regions could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations in those regions. We
cannot predict whether any of these events will continue to occur in Nigeria or occur elsewhere in the future.

We also have a joint venture operating in Sakhalin that may be negatively impacted by any further civil unrest within, war
related to, or sanctions against Russia.

We are highly dependent upon the level of activity in the North Sea and to a lesser extent the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, which are
mature exploration and production regions.

In fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, approximately 58% of our gross revenue in each of these fiscal years was derived from
industrial aviation services provided to oil and gas clients operating in the North Sea and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. The North Sea
and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico are mature exploration and production regions that have undergone substantial seismic survey and
exploration activity for many years. Because a large number of oil and gas properties in these regions have already been drilled,
additional prospects of sufficient size and quality could be more difficult to identify. The ability of our clients to produce sufficient
quantities to support the costs of exploration in different basins could impact the level of future activity in these regions. Generally,
the production from these drilled oil and gas properties is declining. In the future, production may decline to the point that such
properties are no longer economic to operate, in which case, our services with respect to such properties will no longer be needed.
Oil and gas companies may not identify sufficient additional drilling sites to replace those that become depleted. In addition, the
U.S. government’s exercise of authority under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, as amended, to restrict the availability of
offshore oil and gas leases together with the U.K. government’s exercise of authority could adversely impact exploration and
production activity in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and the U.K. North Sea, respectively.

Ifactivity in oil and gas exploration, development and production in either the U.S. Gulf of Mexico or the North Sea materially
declines, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. We cannot predict
the levels of activity in these areas.
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We are exposed to credit risk.

We are exposed to credit risk on our financial investments, which depends on the ability of our counterparties to fulfill their
obligations to us. We manage creditrisk by entering into arrangements with established counterparties and through the establishment
of credit policies and limits, which are applied in the selection of counterparties.

Credit risk on financial instruments arises from the potential for counterparties to default on their contractual obligations
and is limited to those contracts on which we would incur a loss in replacing the instrument. We monitor our concentration risk
with counterparties on an ongoing basis. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure for
financial assets.

Credit risk arises on our trade receivables from the unexpected loss in cash and earnings when a client cannot meet its
obligation to us or when the value of any security provided declines. To mitigate trade credit risk, we have developed credit policies
that include the review, approval and monitoring of new clients, annual credit evaluations and credit limits. There can be no
assurance that our risk mitigation strategies will be effective and that credit risk will not adversely affect our financial condition
and results of operations.

In addition, the majority of our customers are engaged in oil and gas production, exploration and development. For fiscal
year 2017, we generated approximately 71% of our consolidated operating revenue from external clients from oil and gas operations.
This concentration could impact our overall exposure to credit risk because changes in economic and industry conditions that
adversely affect the oil and gas industry could affect the credit worthiness of many of our customers. We generally do not require
letters of credit or other collateral to support our trade receivables. Accordingly, a continued or additional downturn in the economic
condition of the oil and gas industry could adversely impact our ability to collect our receivables and thus impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to dispose of aircraft through sales into the aftermarket could adversely affect us.

The management of our global aircraft fleet involves a careful evaluation of the expected demand for our services across
global markets, including the type of aircraft needed to meet this demand. As offshore oil and gas drilling and production globally
moves to deeper water, more medium and large aircraft and newer technology aircraft may be required. During a downturn in the
oil and gas industry or as older aircraft models come off of current contracts and are replaced by new aircraft, our management
evaluates our future needs for these aircraft models and ultimately the ability to recover our remaining investments in these aircraft
through sales into the aftermarket. We depreciate our aircraft over their expected useful life to the expected salvage value to be
received for the aircraft at the end of that life. However, depending on the market for aircraft, we may record gains or losses on
aircraft sales. In certain instances where a cash return can be made on newer aircraft in excess of the expected return available
through the provision of our services, we may sell newer aircraft. The number of aircraft sales and the amount of gains and losses
recorded on these sales can be unpredictable. In May 2016, a global competitor filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection and
announced its intention to reject leases resulting in the return of approximately 90 leased helicopters to lessors. This significant
return of aircraft into an already oversupplied market could undermine our ability to dispose of our aircraft and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in effective tax rates, taxation of our foreign subsidiaries or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our tax
returns could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by changes in tax laws, both domestically and internationally, or
the interpretation or application thereof. From time to time, the U.S. Congress and foreign, state and local governments consider
legislation that could increase our effective tax rate or the effective tax rates of our consolidated affiliates. We cannot determine
whether, or in what form, legislation will ultimately be enacted or what the impact of any such legislation could have on our
profitability. If these or other changes to tax laws are enacted, our profitability could be negatively impacted.

Our future effective tax rates could also be adversely affected by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and
liabilities, changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, the ultimate repatriation of earnings from
foreign subsidiaries to the U.S., or by changes in tax treaties, regulations, accounting principles or interpretations thereof in one
or more countries in which we operate. In addition, we are subject to the potential examination of our income tax returns by the
Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities where we file tax returns. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes
resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. There can be no assurance that
such examinations will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If our goodwill, intangible assets or investments in unconsolidated affiliates become impaired we may be required to record a
significant charge to earnings.

We acquire other companies and intangible assets, and make investments in unconsolidated affiliates, and may not realize
all of the economic benefit from those acquisitions or investments, which could cause an impairment of goodwill, intangibles or
investments in unconsolidated affiliates. We review our intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. We test goodwill for impairment at least annually. Factors that may be a change
in circumstances, indicating that the carrying value of our goodwill, intangible assets or investments in unconsolidated affiliates
may not be recoverable, include a decline in our stock price and market capitalization, reduced future cash flow estimates, and
slower growth rates in the industry in which we operate. For example, in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we recognized losses of $8.7
million and $49.7 million, respectively, associated with the impairment of goodwill and other intangibles as a result of the market
downturn. We may be required to record significant additional charges in our consolidated financial statements during the period
in which any impairment of our goodwill, intangible assets or investments in unconsolidated affiliates is determined, which could
adversely affect our results of operations.

Foreign exchange risks and controls may affect our financial position and results of operations.

Through our operations outside the U.S., we are exposed to foreign currency fluctuations and exchange rate risks. As a
result, a strong U.S. dollar may increase the local cost of our services that are provided under U.S. dollar-denominated contracts,
which may reduce the demand for our services in foreign countries.

Because we maintain our financial statements in U.S. dollars, our financial results are vulnerable to fluctuations in the
exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies, such as the British pound sterling, Australian dollar, euro, Norwegian
kroner and Nigerian naira. In preparing our financial statements, we must convert all non-U.S. dollar results to U.S. dollars. The
effect of foreign currency translation impacts our results of operations as a result of the translation of non-U.S. dollar results and
is reflected as a component of stockholders’ investment, while the revaluation of certain monetary foreign currency transactions
is credited or charged to income and reflected in other income (expense), net. Additionally, our earnings from unconsolidated
affiliates, net of losses, are affected by the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on the reported results of our
unconsolidated affiliates, primarily the impact of changes in the Brazilian real and the U.S. dollar exchange rate on results for our
affiliate in Brazil. Changes in exchange rates could cause significant changes in our financial position and results of operations
in the future.

We operate in countries with foreign exchange controls including Brazil, Egypt, Nigeria, Russia and Turkmenistan. These
controls may limit our ability to repatriate funds from our international operations and unconsolidated affiliates or otherwise
convert local currencies into U.S. dollars. These limitations could adversely affect our ability to access cash from these operations.

See further discussion of foreign exchange risks and controls under Item 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Our dependence on a small number of helicopter manufacturers and lessors poses a significant risk to our business and
prospects, including when we seek to grow our business.

We contract with a small number of manufacturers and lessors for most of our aircraft expansion, replacement and leasing
needs. If any of the manufacturers face production delays due to, for example, natural disasters, labor strikes or availability of
skilled labor, we may experience a significant delay in the delivery of previously ordered aircraft. During these periods, we may
not be able to obtain orders for additional aircraft with acceptable pricing, delivery dates or other terms. Also, we have operating
leases for many of our helicopters. The number of companies that provide leasing for helicopters is limited. If any of these leasing
companies face financial setbacks, we may experience delays or restrictions in our ability to lease aircraft. Delivery delays or our
inability to obtain acceptable aircraft orders or lease aircraft could adversely affect our revenue and profitability and could jeopardize
our ability to meet the demands of our clients and grow our business. Additionally, lack of availability of new aircraft resulting
from a backlog in orders could result in an increase in prices for certain types of new and used helicopters.

If any of the helicopter manufacturers we contract with, the government bodies that regulate them or other parties identify
safety issues with helicopter models we currently operate or that we intend to acquire, we may be required to suspend flight
operations, as was done with the S-76C and H225 aircraft. If we are forced to suspend operations of helicopter models, our business,
financial condition and results of operations during any period in which flight operations are suspended could be affected.
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A shortfall in availability of aircraft components and parts required for maintenance and repairs of our helicopter and fixed
wing aircraft and supplier cost increases could adversely affect us.

In connection with the required maintenance and repairs performed on our aircraft in order for them to stay fully operational
and available for use in our operations, we rely on a few key vendors for the supply and overhaul of components fitted to our
aircraft. These vendors have historically worked at or near full capacity supporting the aircraft production lines and the maintenance
requirements of various government and civilian aircraft operators that may also operate at or near capacity in certain industries,
including operators such as us who support the energy industry. Such conditions can result in backlogs in manufacturing schedules
and some parts being in limited supply from time to time, which could have an adverse impact upon our ability to maintain and
repair our aircraft. To the extent that these suppliers also supply parts for aircraft used by governments in military operations, parts
delivery for our aircraft may be delayed. Our inability to perform timely maintenance and repairs can result in our aircraft being
underutilized, which could have an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition. Furthermore, our operations
in remote locations, where delivery of these components and parts could take a significant period of time, may also impact our
ability to maintain and repair our aircraft. While every effort is made to mitigate such impact, this may pose a risk to our operating
results. Additionally, supplier cost increases for critical aircraft components and parts also pose a risk to our operating results.
Cost increases for contracted services are passed through to our clients through rate increases where possible, including as a
component of contract escalation charges. However, as certain of our contracts are long-term in nature, cost increases may not be
adjusted in our contract rates until the contracts are up for renewal.

Additionally, operation of a global fleet of aircraft requires us to carry spare parts inventory across our global operations to
perform scheduled and unscheduled maintenance activity. Changes in the aircraft model types of our fleet or the timing of exits
from model types can result in inventory levels in excess of those required to support the fleet over the remaining life of the fleet.
Additionally, other parts may become obsolete or dormant given changes in use of parts on aircraft and maintenance needs. These
fleet changes or other external factors can result in impairment of inventory balances where we expect that excess, dormant or
obsolete inventory will not recover its carrying value through sales to third parties or disposal.

Our future growth depends significantly on the level of international oil and gas activity and our ability to operate outside of
the North Sea and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico.

Our future growth will depend significantly on our ability to expand into markets outside of the North Sea and the U.S. Gulf
of Mexico. Expansion of our business depends on our ability to operate in these other regions.

Expansion of our business outside of the North Sea and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico may be adversely affected by:
* local regulations restricting foreign ownership of helicopter operators;

* requirements to award contracts to local operators; and

* the number and location of new drilling concessions granted by foreign governments.

We cannot predict the restrictions or requirements that may be imposed in the countries in which we operate. If we are unable
to continue to operate or retain contracts in markets outside of the North Sea and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, our operations outside
of the North Sea and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico may not grow, and our future business, financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected.

Our failure to attract and retain qualified personnel could have an adverse effect on us.

Loss of the services of key management personnel at our corporate and regional headquarters without being able to attract
personnel of equal ability could have a material adverse effect upon us. Further, Title 49 of the Transportation Code in the U.S.
and other statutes require our President and two-thirds of our board of directors and other managing officers be U.S. citizens. Our
failure to attract and retain qualified executive personnel or for such executive personnel to work well together or as effective
leaders in their respective areas of responsibility could have a material adverse effect on our current business and future growth.

Our ability to attract and retain qualified pilots, mechanics and other highly-trained personnel is an important factor in
determining our future success. For example, many of our clients require pilots with very high levels of flight experience. The
market for these experienced and highly-trained personnel is competitive and may become more competitive. Accordingly, we
cannot assure you that we will be successful in our efforts to attract and retain such personnel. Some of our pilots, mechanics and
other personnel, as well as those of our competitors, are members of military reserves who have been, or could be, called to active
duty. If significant numbers of such personnel are called to active duty, it could reduce the supply of such workers and likely
increase our labor costs. Additionally, the addition of new aircraft types to our fleet or a sudden change in demand for a specific
aircraft type, as happened with the Sikorsky S-92 aircraft type in response to the H225 grounding, may require us to retain additional
pilots, mechanics and other flight-related personnel.
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A number of personnel departed the company during the current oil and gas industry downturn, and we may be unable to
take advantage of current opportunities in the industry downturn with our reduced workforce. We also may be unable to timely
replace such personnel when the industry emerges from the current downturn. Our failure to attract and retain qualified personnel
could have a material adverse effect on our current business and future growth.

Labor problems could adversely affect us.

Certain of our employees in the U.K., Norway, Nigeria, the U.S. and Australia (collectively, about 51% of our employees)
are represented under collective bargaining or union agreements with 92% of these employees being represented by collective
bargaining agreements and/or unions that have expired or will expire in one year. Disputes over the terms of these agreements or
our potential inability to negotiate acceptable contracts with the unions that represent our employees under these agreements could
result in strikes, work stoppages or other slowdowns by the affected workers. Periodically, certain groups of our employees who
are not covered under a collective bargaining agreement consider entering into such an agreement. Further, if our unionized workers
engage in an extended strike, work stoppage or other slowdown, other employees elect to become unionized, existing labor
agreements are renegotiated, or future labor agreements contain terms that are unfavorable to us, we could experience a disruption
of our operations or higher ongoing labor costs, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

See Item 1. “Business — Employees” included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further discussion on the status of
collective bargaining or union agreements.

Our operations are subject to weather-related and seasonal fluctuations.

Our operations can be impaired by harsh weather conditions. Poor visibility, high wind, heavy precipitation, sand storms
and volcanic ash can affect the operation of helicopters and fixed wing aircraft and result in a reduced number of flight hours. A
significant portion of our operating revenue is dependent on actual flight hours, and a substantial portion of our direct cost is fixed.
Thus, prolonged periods of harsh weather can have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, severe weather patterns, including those resulting from climate change, could affect the operation of
helicopters and fixed wing aircraft and result in a reduced number of flight hours, which may have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The fall and winter months have fewer hours of daylight, particularly in the North Sea and Canada. While some of our
helicopters are equipped to fly at night, we generally do not do so. In addition, drilling activity in the North Sea and Canada is
lower during the winter months than the rest of the year. Anticipation of harsh weather during this period causes many oil and gas
companies to limit activity during the winter months. Consequently, flight hours are generally lower during these periods, typically
resulting in a reduction in operating revenue during those months. Accordingly, our reduced ability to operate in harsh weather
conditions and darkness may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Harmattan, a dry and dusty West African trade wind, blows in Nigeria between the end of November and the middle
of March. The heavy amount of dust in the air can severely limit visibility and block the sun for several days, comparable to a
heavy fog. We are unable to operate aircraft during these harsh conditions. Consequently, flight hours may be lower during these
periods resulting in reduced operating revenue, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, the months of December through March typically have more days of harsh weather conditions
than the other months of the year. Heavy fog during those months often limits visibility and flight activity. In addition, in the Gulf
of Mexico, June through November is tropical storm and hurricane season, and in Australia, November through April is cyclone
season. When a weather event is about to enter or begins developing in these regions, helicopter flight activity may increase
because of evacuations of offshore workers. However, during such an event, we are unable to operate in the area of the storm. In
addition, as a significant portion of our facilities are located along the coast of these regions, extreme weather may cause substantial
damage to our property in these locations, including possibly aircraft. Additionally, we incur costs in evacuating our aircraft,
personnel and equipment prior to tropical storms, hurricanes and cyclones.

Failure to develop or implement new technologies could affect our results of operations.

Many of the aircraft that we operate are characterized by changing technology, introductions and enhancements of models
of aircraft and services and shifting client demands, including technology preferences. Our future growth and financial performance
will depend in part upon our ability to develop, market and integrate new services such as Sky-Futures, which is the leading
provider of drone inspection data services for the oil and gas industry, and to accommodate the latest technological advances and
client preferences. In addition, the introduction of new technologies or services that compete with our services could result in our
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revenue decreasing over time. If we are unable to upgrade our operations or fleet with the latest technological advances in a timely
manner, or at all, our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer.

We are increasingly dependent on information technology, and if we are unable to protect against service interruptions, data
corruption, cyber attacks or network security breaches, our operations could be disrupted and our business could be negatively
impacted.

Our business is increasingly dependent upon information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and store
electronic and financial information, to capture knowledge of our business, and to communicate within our company and with
clients, suppliers, partners and other stakeholders. These information technology systems, some of which are managed by third
parties, may be susceptible to damage, disruptions or shutdowns due to failures during the process of upgrading or replacing
software, databases or components thereof, power outages, hardware failures, computer viruses, cyber attacks, telecommunication
failures, user errors or catastrophic events. Our information technology systems are becoming increasingly integrated on a global
basis, so damage, disruption or shutdown to the system could result in a more widespread impact. If our information technology
systems suffer severe damage, disruption or shutdown, and our business continuity plans do not effectively resolve the issues in
a timely manner, we could experience business disruptions and transaction errors causing a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, cyber attacks could lead to potential unauthorized access and disclosure of confidential information, including
the Personally Identifiable Information of our customers and employees. Cyber attacks could also lead to data loss, data corruption,
communication interruption or other operational disruptions within our business. There is no assurance that we will not experience
cyber attacks and suffer losses in the future. Further, as the methods of cyber attacks continue to evolve, we may be required to
expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any cyber
attacks.

Downgrades in our credit ratings could impact our ability to access capital and materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Credit rating agencies continually review their ratings for the companies that they follow, including us. Credit rating agencies
also evaluate the industries in which we and our affiliates operate as a whole and may change their credit rating for us based on
their overall view of such industries. Both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s downgraded our ratings as a result of the oil industry
downturn and its effects on our financial results. There can be no assurance that any rating assigned to our currently outstanding
public debt securities will remain in effect for any given period of time or that any such ratings will not be further lowered,
suspended or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in that rating agency’s judgment, circumstances so warrant.

A further downgrade of our credit ratings could, among other things:

+ limit our ability to access capital or otherwise adversely affect the availability of other new financing on favorable
terms, if at all;

+  resultin more restrictive covenants in agreements governing the terms of any future indebtedness that we may incur;

»  cause us to refinance indebtedness with less favorable terms and conditions, which debt may require collateral and
restrict, among other things, our ability to pay distributions or repurchase shares;

* increase our cost of borrowing;
» adversely affect the market price of our outstanding debt securities; and
*  impair our business, financial condition and results of operation.

We operate in many international areas through entities that we do not control and are subject to government regulation that
limits foreign ownership of aircraft companies in favor of domestic ownership.

We conduct many of our international operations through entities in which we have a noncontrolling investment or through
strategic alliances with foreign partners. For example, we have acquired interests in, or in some cases have lease and service
agreements with, entities that operate aircraft in Brazil, Canada and Egypt. We provide engineering and administrative support to
certain of these entities. We derive significant amounts of lease revenue, service revenue, equity earnings and dividend income
from these entities. In fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, we received approximately $71.5 million, $78.9 million and $87.7 million,
respectively, of revenue from the provision of aircraft and other services to unconsolidated affiliates. As a result of not owning a
majority interest or maintaining voting control of our unconsolidated affiliates, we do not have the ability to control their policies,
management or affairs. The interests of persons who control these entities or partners may differ from ours, and may cause such
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entities to take actions that are not in our best interest. If we are unable to maintain our relationships with our partners in these
entities, we could lose our ability to operate in these areas, potentially resulting in a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, an operational incident involving one of the entities over which we do
not have operational control may nevertheless cause us reputational harm.

We are subject to governmental regulation that limits foreign ownership of aircraft companies in favor of domestic ownership.
Based on regulations in various markets in which we operate, our aircraft may be subject to deregistration and we may lose our
ability to operate within these countries if certain levels of local ownership are not maintained. Deregistration of our aircraft for
any reason, including foreign ownership in excess of permitted levels, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to conduct
operations within these markets. We cannot assure you that there will be no changes in aviation laws, regulations or administrative
requirements or the interpretations or applications thereof that could restrict or prohibit our ability to operate in certain regions.
Any such restriction or prohibition on our ability to operate may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations. See further discussion in Item 1. “Business — Governmental Regulation” included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

We are subject to legal compliance risks.

As a global business, we are subject to complex laws and regulations in the U.S., the U.K. and other countries in which we
operate. These laws and regulations relate to a number of aspects of our business, including anti-bribery laws, interactions with
government officials and other third parties, import and export controls, the payment of taxes, employment and labor relations,
fair competition, data privacy protections, securities regulation, and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment.
The application of these laws and regulations to our business is often unclear and may sometimes conflict. Compliance with these
laws and regulations may involve significant costs or require changes in our business practices that could result in reduced revenue
and profitability. Non-compliance could also result in significant fines, damages, and other criminal sanctions against us, our
officers or our employees, prohibitions or additional requirements on the conduct of our business and damage our reputation.
Certain violations of law could also result in suspension or debarment from government contracts. We also incur additional legal
compliance costs associated with our global regulations. In many foreign countries, particularly those with developing economies,
it may be customary for others to engage in business practices that are prohibited by laws such as the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act
and the BCCA in Brazil, an anti-bribery law that is similar to the FCPA and U .K. Bribery Act. Although we implement policies
and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors,
agents, and business partners will not take action in violation with our internal policies. Any such violation of the law or even
internal policies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Actions taken by agencies empowered to enforce governmental regulations could increase our costs and reduce our ability to
operate successfully.

Our operations are regulated by governmental agencies in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. These agencies
have jurisdiction over many aspects of our business, including personnel, aircraft and ground facilities. Statutes and regulations
in these jurisdictions also subject us to various certification and reporting requirements and inspections regarding safety, training
and general regulatory compliance. Other statutes and regulations in these jurisdictions regulate the offshore operations of our
clients. The agencies empowered to enforce these statutes and regulations may suspend, curtail or require us to modify our
operations. In April 2016, the crash of a competitor's H225 in Norway in which eleven passengers and two crew members lost
their lives resulted in the grounding of such aircraft in the U.K. and Norway. At this time the investigation is still underway and
there have been no additional regulations issued by government authorities lifting the grounding in the U.K. and Norway. However,
additional directive requirements in the future could present North Sea operators, including us, with significant operational
challenges. A suspension or substantial curtailment of our operations for any prolonged period, and any substantial modification
of our current operations, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. See
further discussion in Item 1. “Business — Government Regulation” and “Business - Environmental” included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Adbverse results of legal proceedings could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are currently subject to and may in the future be subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise out of the ordinary
conduct of our business. Results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. Irrespective of merit, litigation may be
both lengthy and disruptive to our operations and could cause significant expenditure and diversion of management attention. We
may face significant monetary damages or injunctive relief against us that could materially adversely affect a portion of our business
operations or materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations should we not prevail in
certain matters.
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Negative publicity may adversely impact us.

Media coverage and public statements that insinuate improper actions by us, our unconsolidated affiliates, or other companies
in our industry, regardless of their factual accuracy or truthfulness, may result in negative publicity, litigation or governmental
investigations by regulators. Addressing negative publicity and any resulting litigation or investigations may distract management,
increase costs and divert resources. Negative publicity may have an adverse impact on our reputation, the morale of our employees
and the willingness of passengers to fly on our aircraft and those of our competitors, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental regulations and liabilities may increase our costs and adversely affect us.

Our operations are subject to U.S. federal, state and local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations that impose
limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the environment and establish standards for the treatment, storage, recycling and
disposal of toxic and hazardous wastes. The nature of the business of operating and maintaining aircraft requires that we use, store
and dispose of materials that are subject to environmental regulation. Environmental laws and regulations change frequently, which
makes it impossible for us to predict their cost or impact on our future operations. Liabilities associated with environmental matters
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We could be exposed to strict,
joint and several liability for cleanup costs, natural resource damages and other damages as a result of our conduct that was lawful
at the time it occurred or the conduct of, or conditions caused by, prior operators or other third parties. Additionally, any failure
by us to comply with applicable environmental laws and regulations may result in governmental authorities taking action against
us that could adversely impact our operations and financial condition, including the:

» issuance of administrative, civil and criminal penalties;

*  denial or revocation of permits or other authorizations;

* imposition of limitations on our operations; and

» performance of site investigatory, remedial or other corrective actions.

Changes in environmental laws or regulations, including laws relating to greenhouse emissions or other climate change
concerns, could require us to devote capital or other resources to comply with those laws and regulations. These changes could
also subject us to additional costs and restrictions, including increased fuel costs. For additional information see Item 1. “Business
— Environmental” and Item 3. “Legal Proceedings” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Regulations limit foreign ownership of our company, which could reduce the price of our Common Stock and cause owners
of our Common Stock who are not U.S. persons to lose their voting rights.

Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that persons or entities that are not “citizens of the U.S.” (as defined in the
Federal Aviation Act of 1958) shall not collectively own or control more than 25% of the voting power of our outstanding capital
stock (the “Permitted Foreign Ownership Percentage”) and that, if at any time persons that are not citizens of the U.S. nevertheless
collectively own or control more than the Permitted Foreign Ownership Percentage, the voting rights of shares owned by
stockholders who are not citizens of the U.S. shall automatically be suspended, in the reverse chronological order of the dates and
times of registry of such shares in our stock records, until the voting rights of a sufficient number thereof shall have been suspended
so that the number of shares owned by stockholders who are not citizens of the U.S. that continue to have voting rights equals the
greatest whole number that is less than or equal to the Permitted Foreign Ownership Percentage. Shares held by persons who are
not citizens of the U.S. may lose their associated voting rights and be redeemed as a result of these provisions. These restrictions
may have a material adverse impact on the liquidity or market value of our Common Stock because holders may be unable to
transfer our Common Stock to persons who are not citizens of the U.S.

If we do not restrict the amount of foreign ownership of our Common Stock, we might lose our status as a U.S. air carrier and
be prohibited from operating aircraft in the U.S., which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Since we hold the status of a U.S. air carrier under the regulations of both the U.S. Department of Transportation and the
FAA and we engage in the operating and dry-leasing of aircraft in the U.S., we are subject to regulations pursuant to Title 49 of
the Transportation Code (the “Transportation Code”) and other statutes (collectively, the “Aviation Acts”). The Transportation
Code requires that certificates to engage in air transportation be held only by citizens of the U.S. as that term is defined in the
relevant section of the Transportation Code. That section requires: (i) that our President and two-thirds of our board of directors
and other managing officers be U.S. citizens; (ii) that at least 75% of our outstanding voting stock be owned by U.S. citizens; and
(iii) that we must be under the actual control of U.S. citizens. Further, our aircraft operating in the U.S. must generally be registered
in the U.S. In order to register such aircraft under the Aviation Acts, we must be owned or controlled by U.S. citizens. Although
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our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws contain provisions intended to ensure compliance with
the provisions of the Aviation Acts, a failure to maintain compliance could result in the loss of our air carrier status prohibiting us
from both operating as an air carrier and operating aircraft in the U.S. during any period in which we did not comply with these
regulations, and thereby adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Our Level of Indebtedness

Our level of indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to obtain financing, impair our ability to fulfill our obligations
under our indebtedness and limit our ability to adjust to changing market conditions.

As of March 31, 2017, we had approximately $1.3 billion of outstanding indebtedness. In addition, we had $260.3 million
of availability for borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility as of March 31, 2017, subject to our maintenance of financial
covenants and other conditions. Although the agreements governing our Senior Credit Facilities, $200 million five-year secured
equipment term loan with Macquarie Bank Limited (the “Macquarie Debt”) and two seven-year British pound sterling denominated
secured equipment term loans for an aggregate $200 million U.S. dollar equivalent with Lombard North Central Plc, part of the
Royal Bank of Scotland (the “Lombard Debt”) and the indenture governing our 6 %% Senior Notes due 2022 (“6 %% Senior
Notes”) contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications
and exceptions, and we could incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future.

Our level of indebtedness may have important consequences to our business, including:

*  impairing our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions
or other general corporate purposes;

* requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow to the payment of principal and interest on our
indebtedness, which reduces the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions and other general corporate purposes or to repurchase our notes upon a change of control;

*  subjecting us to the risk of increased sensitivity to interest rate increases on our indebtedness with variable interest
rates, including borrowings under our Senior Credit Facilities;

* increasing the possibility of an event of default under the financial and other covenants contained in our debt
agreements; and

*  limiting our ability to adjust to rapidly changing market conditions, reducing our ability to withstand competitive
pressures and making us more vulnerable to a downturn in general economic conditions or our business than our
competitors with less debt.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future to service our debt, we may be required to
refinance all or a portion of our existing debt or obtain additional financing. There is no assurance that any such refinancing could
be possible or that any additional financing could be obtained. Our inability to obtain such refinancing or financing could have a
material adverse effect on us.

To service our indebtedness and lease obligations we will continue to require a significant amount of cash, and our ability to
generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of principal or interest with respect to our indebtedness and lease obligations will
depend on our ability to generate cash and on our financial results. Our ability to generate cash depends on the demand for our
services, which is subject to levels of activity in offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production, general economic
conditions, the ability of our affiliates to generate and distribute cash flows, and financial, competitive, regulatory and other factors
affecting our operations, many of which are beyond our control. We cannot assure you that our operations will generate sufficient
cash flow or that future borrowings will be available to us under our Revolving Credit Facility or otherwise in an amount sufficient
to enable us to pay our indebtedness or lease obligations or to fund our other liquidity needs.
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Covenants in our debt agreements may restrict the manner in which we can operate our business.

Our Senior Credit Facilities and the indenture governing our 6 %% Senior Notes limit, among other things, our ability and
the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to:

*  borrow money or issue guarantees;

+  pay dividends, redeem capital stock or make other restricted payments;
e incur liens to secure indebtedness;

e make certain investments;

e sell certain assets;

e enter into transactions with our affiliates; or

* merge with another person or sell substantially all of our assets.

If we fail to comply with these and other covenants, we would be in default under our Senior Credit Facilities and the
indenture governing the 6 4% Senior Notes, and the principal and accrued interest on our outstanding indebtedness may become
due and payable. In addition, our Senior Credit Facilities contain, and our future indebtedness agreements may contain, additional
affirmative and negative covenants. As a result, our ability to respond to changes in business and economic conditions and to
obtain additional financing, if needed, may be significantly restricted, and we may be prevented from engaging in transactions
that might otherwise be considered beneficial to us.

Our Senior Credit Facilities also require us, and our future credit facilities may require us, to maintain specified financial
covenants. Our ability to meet these financial covenants can be affected by events beyond our control, and we cannot assure you
that we will meet these tests in the future. The breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under our Senior Credit
Facilities. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under our existing or future credit facilities, the lenders could elect to declare
all amounts outstanding under such credit facilities, including accrued interest or other obligations, to be immediately due and
payable. There can be no assurance that our assets could be sufficient to repay all of our indebtedness in full.

The agreements governing certain of our indebtedness, including the indenture governing the 6 4% Senior Notes, the credit
agreements governing our Senior Credit Facilities, contain cross-default provisions. Under these provisions, a default under one
agreement governing our indebtedness may constitute a default under our other agreements of indebtedness.

Failure to comply with covenants contained in certain of our lease agreements could limit our ability to maintain our leased
aircraft fleet and could adversely affect our business.

We have a significant amount of fixed obligations related to operating leases, including aircraft leases. The terms of our
aircraft lease agreements contain covenants that impose certain limitations on us. Such lease agreements limit, among other things,
our ability to utilize aircraft in certain jurisdictions and/or to sublease aircraft, and may contain restrictions upon a change of
control. A breach of lease covenants could result in an obligation to repay amounts outstanding under the lease, including rent. A
breach of lease covenants with respect to the return of aircraft to our lessors could also result in an obligation to pay holdover rent
beyond the scheduled lease expiration date for such aircraft and/or increased maintenance and repair costs. If any such event
occurs, we may not be able to pay all amounts due under the leases or to refinance such leases on terms satisfactory to us or at all,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

The number and types of aircraft we operate are described in Item 1. “Business — Overview” above. In addition, we lease
various office and operating facilities worldwide, including facilities at the Acadiana Regional Airport in New Iberia, Louisiana,
the Redhill Aerodrome near London, England, the Aberdeen Airport, Scotland, along the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and in Bergen and
Stavanger, Norway, and numerous residential locations near our operating bases or the bases of our affiliates in the U.K., Norway,
Australia, Russia, Nigeria, Canada and Trinidad, which we use primarily for housing pilots and staff supporting those operations.
We have ten SAR bases as follows: Caernarfon, Humberside, Inverness, Lee-on-Solent, Lydd, Newquay, Prestwick, St. Athan,
Stornoway and Sumburgh. We also lease office space in a building in Houston, Texas, which we use as our corporate headquarters
and for other business purposes. Eastern Airways owns a majority controlling stake in the Humberside Airport in Kirmington,
United Kingdom. Additionally, we have multiple properties in Titusville, Florida, where the largest campus of Bristow Academy
is located. These facilities are generally suitable for our operations and can be replaced with other available facilities if necessary.

Additional information about our properties can be found in Note 7 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report (under the captions “Aircraft Purchase Contracts” and “Operating Leases”). A detail of
our long-lived assets by geographic area as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 can be found in Note 11 in the “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Nigerian Litigation

In November 2005, two of our consolidated foreign affiliates were named in a lawsuit filed with the High Court of Lagos
State, Nigeria by Mr. Benneth Osita Onwubalili and his affiliated company, Kensit Nigeria Limited, which allegedly acted as
agents of our affiliates in Nigeria. The claimants allege that an agreement between the parties was terminated without justification
and seek damages of $16.3 million. We responded to this claim in early 2006. There has been minimal activity on this claim since
then.

Environmental Contingencies

The EPA has in the past notified us that we are a potential responsible party, or PRP, at three former waste disposal facilities
that are on the National Priorities List of contaminated sites. Under the Superfund law, persons who are identified as PRPs may
be subject to strict, joint and several liability for the costs of cleaning up environmental contamination resulting from releases of
hazardous substances at National Priorities List sites. Although we have not yet obtained a formal release of liability from the EPA
with respect to any of the sites, we believe that our potential liability in connection with these sites is not likely to have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Other Matters

Although infrequent, aircraft accidents have occurred in the past, and the related losses and liability claims have been covered
by insurance subject to various risk retention factors. We also are a defendant in certain claims and litigation arising out of operations
in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, uninsured losses, if any, will not be material to our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “BRS”. The following table
shows the range of prices for our Common Stock during each quarter of our last two fiscal years.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016
High Low High Low
FArst QUATTET. ..ottt ettt e $23.62 $1080 $64.64 §52.22
SECONA QUATTET ...eeuvieiieeiieciie et eiee e et e et seesaeebeessaeereesraeesbeessaeeseenseeas 14.38 9.17 53.63 25.71
Third QUATTET ..ottt 21.88 9.46 37.19 21.93
Fourth QUATTET .......oouiieiiiieiee e 21.78 12.55 26.71 11.02

On May 19, 2017, the last reported sale price of our Common Stock on the NYSE was $14.18 per share. As of May 19,

2017, there were 363 holders of record of our Common Stock.

We paid quarterly dividends of $0.07 per share during each quarter of fiscal year 2017 and quarterly dividends of $0.34 per
share during the first, second and third quarters of fiscal year 2016 and $0.07 per share during the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2016. On May 18, 2017, our board of directors approved a dividend of $0.07 per share of our Common Stock, payable on June 22,
2017 to shareholders of record on June 7, 2017. During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we paid dividends totaling $9.8 million and
$38.1 million, respectively, to our shareholders. The declaration of future dividends is at the discretion of our board of directors
and subject to our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements and other factors and restrictions under applicable

law, and our debt agreements.

We did not repurchase any shares of our Common Stock during fiscal years 2017 and 2016. During fiscal year 2015, we
repurchased 1,160,940 shares of our Common Stock for $80.8 million. As of November 4, 2016, our $150.0 million of remaining
repurchase authority that was authorized by our board of directors had expired and was not renewed.
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The following graph compares the cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on our Common Stock relative to the cumulative
total returns of the S&P 500 index, the PHLX Oil Service Sector index and the Simmons Offshore Transportation Services Group.
We have included the Simmons Offshore Transportation Services Group as management reviews this data internally and believes
that this comparison is most representative to our peer group. The graph assumes that the value of the investment in our Common
Stock and in each of the indices (including reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on March 31, 2012 and tracks it through March 31,
2017.

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Bristow Group Inc., the S&P 500 Index, the PHLX Oil Service Sector Index,
and the Simmons Offshore Transportation Services Group

$250
$200
_ A
—
-
$150
$100
$50
<
$0 \ T \ \ \
03/12 03/13 03/14 03/15 03/16 03/17
Bristow Group Inc. —A— S&P 500 Index
PHLX Oil Service Sector Index —e— Simmons Offshore Transportation Services Group

*$100 invested on 3/31/12 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending March 31.

March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31,
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Bristow Group Inc. $ 100.00 § 14047 § 163.15 §$ 11981 § 4296 § 3523
S&P 500 Index $ 100.00 $ 11396 §$ 13887 § 15655 § 15934 §$ 186.71
PHLX Oil Service Sector Index $ 100.00 $ 10537 § 13299 § 100.77 $§ 83.59 § 96.03
Simmons Offshore Transportation Services Group § 100.00 § 10352 § 12032 § 70.65 § 4599 § 44.65
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table contains our selected historical consolidated financial data. You should read this table along with Item 7.

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial
Statements and the related notes thereto, all of which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017? 2016? 2015® 20149 2013®

(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Income Data: ©©)
GIOSS TEVENUE ...c.vevenveveeenieeeiesieseeneeneeseeseeseeseesenes $ 1,400,502 $ 1,715,513 $ 1,858,669 $ 1,669,582 § 1,508,473
Net income (loss) attributable to Bristow Group.... $ (170,536) $ (72,442) $ 84,300 $ 186,737 $ 130,102

Basic earnings (loss) per common share ................ $ 4.87) $ 2.12) $ 240 $ 515 § 3.61
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share ............. $ 4.87) $ 2.12) $ 237 $ 509 § 3.57
Cash dividends declared per share.......................... $ 028 $ 1.09 $ 1.28 $ 1.00 § 0.80
March 31,
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(In thousands)
Balance Sheet Data: ©
Total ASSELS.....coervirvirereriiieieecteeeees e $ 3,113,847 $ 3,262,945 §$ 3,230,720 $ 3,398,257 §$ 2,950,692
Long-term obligations 7 ..........cccocoovvevvieireennnne $ 1,293,364 $ 1,140,889 $ 864,422 $ 841,302 $ 787,269

(O]

)

3)

)

®)

(6)

(G

Results for fiscal year 2017 include goodwill impairment charges of $8.7 million ($7.1 million, net of tax and noncontrolling interest), $10.4 million
($6.8 million, net of tax) in additional depreciation due to fleet changes, $20.9 million ($15.0 million, net of tax) for organizational restructuring costs,
impairment of inventories of $7.6 million ($5.4 million, net of tax) and tax items of $59.5 million. Additional discussion of these items and other significant
items in fiscal year 2017 is included under Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Executive
Overview — Overview of Operating Results — Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Results for fiscal year 2016 include goodwill and intangible impairment charges of $49.7 million ($38.0 million, net of tax and noncontrolling interest),
$28.7 million ($20.6 million, net of tax) in additional depreciation due to fleet changes, $27.0 million ($19.1 million, net of tax) for organizational
restructuring costs, impairment of inventories of $5.4 million ($4.0 million, net of tax) and tax valuation allowances of $20. 1 million. Additional discussion
of these items and other significant items in fiscal year 2016 is included under Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Executive Overview — Overview of Operating Results — Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016 included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Results for fiscal year 2015 include a gain on the sale of HCA of $3.9 million ($2.5 million, net of tax), impairment of inventories of $7.2 million ($5.7
million, net of tax) and $10.4 million ($8.0 million, net of tax) in additional depreciation due to fleet changes. Additional discussion of these items and
other significant items in fiscal year 2015 is included under Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Executive Overview — Overview of Operating Results — Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015 included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Results for fiscal year 2014 include a gain on the sale of the FB Entities of $103.9 million ($67.9 million, net of tax), $12.7 million ($8.3 million net of
tax) in charges related to the cancellation of a potential financing, a $12.7 million ($10.1 million, net of tax) write-down of inventory spare parts to the
lower of cost or market value, $13.6 million ($8.8 million, net of tax) in lower earnings from Lider resulting primarily from a tax amnesty payment Lider
made to the Brazilian government, $8.6 million ($6.6 million, net of tax) related to losses from a hangar fire, $5.5 million ($6.5 million, net of tax) in
restructuring costs, $4.8 million ($3.1 million, net of tax) of CEO succession and officer separation costs and $0.6 million ($0.4 million, net of tax) of
goodwill impairment charges.

Results for fiscal year 2013 include a gain on disposal of assets of $8.1 million ($6.4 million, net of tax), the retirement of our 7 2% Senior Notes
(redemption premium and write-off of deferred financing costs) of $17.5 million ($11.4 million, net of tax), additional inventory allowances of $2.8
million ($2.2 million, net of tax), the correction of a calculation error related to foreign currency derivative transactions increasing our earnings from
Lider by $2.8 million ($1.8 million, net of tax), severance costs in the Southern North Sea of $2.2 million ($1.7 million, net of tax), the reversal of accrued
maintenance cost for the sale of AS332Ls that ultimately did not execute of $0.9 million ($0.7 million, net of tax) and the write-off of deferred financing
fees for the 364-Day Term Loan of $2.1 million ($1.3 million, net of tax).

Results of operations and financial position of companies that we have acquired have been included beginning on the respective dates of acquisition and
include Airnorth (January 2015) and Eastern Airways (February 2014). Amounts also include our investment in Cougar (October 2012). On July 14,
2013, we sold our 50% interest in the FB Entities and on November 21, 2014, we sold our 50% interest in HCA.

Includes long-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, or MD&A, should be read in
conjunction with “Forward-Looking Statements,” Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and our Consolidated Financial Statements for fiscal
years 2017, 2016 and 2015, and the related notes thereto, all of which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Executive Overview

This Executive Overview only includes what management considers to be the most important information and analysis for
evaluating our financial condition and operating performance. It provides the context for the discussion and analysis of the financial
information that follows and does not disclose every item impacting our financial condition and operating performance.

See discussion of our business and the operations within our Industrial Aviation Services Segment under Item 1. “Business —
Overview” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to strengthen our position as the leading industrial aviation services provider to the offshore energy industry and
a leading industrial aviation services provider for civilian SAR and to pursue additional business opportunities that leverage our
strengths in these markets. Our vision is to be a safe, financially strong, diversified global leader, succeeding no matter how
challenging market conditions may be. To achieve this goal and vision, we intend to employ our “STRIVE” strategy as follows:

*  Sustain Target Zero Safety Culture. Safety will always be our number one focus. The best approach to be Target Zero is
continuously improve our safety systems and processes to allow us to become even safer and to build confidence in our
industry and among our regulators with respect to the safety of helicopter transportation globally.

*  Train and Develop our People. We continue to invest in employee training to ensure that we have the best workforce in
the industry. We believe that the skills, talent and dedication of our employees are our most important assets, and we
plan to continue to invest in them, especially in entry level learning, the continued control and ownership of our training
assets, and creation of leadership programming.

*  Renew Commercial Strategy and Operational Excellence. We are in the process of renewing both our commercial strategy
to improve revenue productivity across our global markets and our operational strategy to serve our clients safely, reliably
and efficiently. We believe that we need to renew these strategies in order to thrive in an economy that is undergoing
long-term structural change.

*  Improve Balance Sheet and Return on Capital. We seek to continue to improve our balance sheet and liquidity and reduce
our capital costs, with a near term goal of debt reduction and profitability. To achieve this we have historically practiced
the principal of prudent balance sheet management and have proactively managed our liquidity position with cash flows
from operations, as well as external financings. These external financings have included the use of operating leases for
a target of approximately 35% of our LACE. The target recognizes that we will have variability above or below the target
of approximately 5% of our LACE due to timing of leases, purchases, disposals and lease terminations. As of March 31,
2017, commercial helicopters under operating leases accounted for 41% of our LACE. See “Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Financial Condition and Sources of Liquidity” included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further
discussion of our capital structure and liquidity. On May 18, 2017, our board of directors approved a dividend of $0.07
per share, our twenty-fifth consecutive quarterly dividend. Our board of directors has approved a dividend policy with a
goal of an annualized quarterly dividend payout ratio of approximately 20-30% of forward adjusted earnings per share;
however, actual dividend payments are at the discretion of the board of directors and may not meet or may exceed this
ratio.

*  Value Added Acquisitions and Divestitures. We intend to pursue value-added acquisitions that not just make us bigger
but better; that improve our competitive posture to thrive in an economy that is undergoing long-term structural change.
We may also divest portions of our business or assets to narrow our product lines and reduce our operational footprint to
reduce leverage and improve return on capital.

»  Execute on Bristow Transformation. We intend to sustain our strategy and the effective transformation of our business
by focusing on execution globally.
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Market Outlook

Our core business is providing industrial aviation services to the worldwide oil and gas industry. We also provide public and
private sector SAR services and fixed wing transportation services. Our global operations and critical mass of helicopters provide
us with geographic and client diversity which helps mitigate risks associated with a single market or client.

The oil and gas business environment experienced a significant downturn beginning during fiscal year 2015. Brent crude
oil prices declined from approximately $106 per barrel at July 1, 2014 to a low of approximately $26 per barrel in February 2016
with an increase to approximately $51 per barrel as of March 31, 2017. The decrease in oil prices was driven by increased global
supply and forecasts of reduced demand for crude oil resulting from weaker global economic growth in many regions of the world.
The oil price decline negatively impacted the cash flow of our clients and resulted in their implementation of measures to reduce
operational and capital costs in calendar years 2015 and 2016 compared to 2014 levels, negatively impacting activity during fiscal
years 2015, 2016 and 2017. These cost reductions have continued into calendar year 2017 and have impacted both the offshore
production and the offshore exploration activity of our clients, with offshore production activity being impacted to a lesser extent,
continuing to negatively impact activity during fiscal year 2017. Although the largest share of our revenue relates to oil and gas
production and our largest contract, the U.K. SAR contract, is not directly impacted by declining oil prices, the significant drop
in the price of crude oil resulted in the rescaling, delay or cancellation of planned offshore projects which has negatively impacted
our operations and could continue to negatively impact our operations in future periods. Although oil prices have recently increased
following the OPEC agreement in late 2016 to cut production and the oil price environment is beginning to show signs of stabilizing,
we are uncertain as to when a recovery in offshore spending will occur. An extended period of reduced crude oil prices and related
offshore spending may have a material impact on our financial position, cash flow and results of operations.

The SAR market is continuing to evolve and we believe further outsourcing of public SAR services to the private sector
will continue in the future, although the timing of these opportunities is uncertain. The clients for our SAR services include both
the oil and gas industry and governmental agencies. We are pursuing other public and oil and gas SAR opportunities for multiple
aircraft in various jurisdictions around the globe and other non-SAR government aircraft logistics opportunities.

As discussed above, we continue to seek ways to operate more efficiently and work with our clients to improve the efficiency
of their operations within our STRIVE strategy. We have achieved savings during fiscal years 2016 and 2017 by implementing
operating cost reduction initiatives. Further cost reductions and cash savings are anticipated across our business in fiscal year
2018.

Recent Events

Macquarie Debt — On February 1, 2017, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into a term loan credit agreement
for a $200 million five-year secured equipment term loan with Macquarie Bank Limited (the “Macquarie Debt”). The borrower's
obligations under the credit agreement are guaranteed by the Company and secured by 20 oil and gas aircraft. The financing funded
March 7, 2017. The proceeds from the financing were used to repay portions of our $200 million term loan credit facility (“Term
Loan Credit Facility””) and $350 million term loan (“Term Loan”). Borrowings under the financing bear interest at an interest rate
equal to the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited LIBOR (or the successor thereto) plus 5.35% per annum. In conjunction with
closing and funding this term loan, we entered into five separate lease agreements with Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A., acting
as owner trustee for Macquarie Aerospace Inc., an affiliate of Macquarie Bank Limited, for five helicopters with lease terms
ranging from 60 to 63 months.

GE Commitment Letter — On February 2,2017, we executed a commitment letter for an approximate six-year, $230 million
secured equipment financing with PK Transportation Finance Ireland Limited, a part of GE Capital Aviation Services (“GECAS”).
As part of this financing, which is subject to entering into definitive agreements, Milestone Aviation Group Limited (“Milestone™),
a GECAS company, will defer up to $25 million in lease rentals on certain H225 helicopters on lease to us. The financing is
intended to be secured by up to 20 oil and gas aircraft. Borrowings under the financing will bear interest at an interest rate equal
to the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited LIBOR (or the successor thereto) plus 5% per annum. We expect this financing to
close no later than June 30, 2017. The proceeds from the financing are expected to be used to repay amounts outstanding under
our existing bank indebtedness. As part of executing the commitment letter, we extended three Sikorsky S-92 leases by two years
each with Milestone.
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Aircraft incident — We became aware of an incident involving another operator of the Sikorsky S-92 in the North Sea in
December 2016. The preliminary review suggests a reduction in tail rotor control authority. Subsequent to the accident, Sikorsky
issued a number of Air Service Bulletins (“ASBs”) and the Federal Aviation Administration issued an Emergency Airworthiness
Directive (“Emergency AD”) to enhance inspections and ongoing operational monitoring on the tail rotor pitch change shaft
bearing assembly. We acted immediately in each case to ensure ongoing compliance with the ASBs and Emergency AD across
our global fleet. The other operator’s incident remains under investigation by the U.K. Air Accidents Investigation Branch. It is
too early to determine whether or not any further action may be required or the impact of this on our future business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Lombard Debt — On November 11, 2016, certain of our subsidiaries entered into two seven-year British pound sterling
denominated secured equipment term loans for an aggregate $200 million U.S. dollar equivalent with Lombard North Central Plc,
part of the Royal Bank of Scotland (the “Lombard Debt”). In December 2016, the first loan in the amount of $109.9 million (GBP
89.1 million) funded and we prepaid scheduled principal payments of $4.5 million (GBP 3.7 million). In January 2017, the second
loan amount of $90.1 million (GBP 72.4 million) funded.

Brexit — In a referendum held on June 23, 2016, voters in the U.K. approved the exit of the U.K. (“Brexit”) from the E.U.
On March 29, 2017, the U.K. government commenced the exit process under Article 50 of the Treaty of the European Union by
notifying the European Council of the U.K.’s intention to leave the E.U. This notification starts a two-year time period for the
U.K. and the remaining E.U. Member States to negotiate a withdrawal agreement.

For fiscal years 2017 and 2016, approximately 36% and 34%, respectively, of our revenue was derived from contracts with
customers in the U.K., and approximately 16% of our revenue in both periods was derived from contracts with customers in other
European markets.

The consequences of Brexit, together with what may be protracted negotiations around the terms of Brexit, could introduce
significant uncertainties into global financial markets and adversely impact the regions in which we and our clients operate. In
the long term, Brexit could also create uncertainty with respect to the legal and regulatory requirements to which we and our
customers in the U.K. are subject and lead to divergent national laws and regulations as the U.K. government determines which
E.U. laws to modify or replace. Brexit also exacerbates the potential for additional referendums within the U.K., such as in Scotland,
which could lead to a breakup of the U.K, creating further legal and regulatory uncertainty.

The Brexit vote has resulted in a significant decline in the value of British pound sterling and volatility in exchange rates is
expected to continue as the terms of Brexit are negotiated. If the British pound sterling remains weak or continues to weaken,
revenue under contracts denominated in British pound sterling will translate into fewer U.S. dollars. For fiscal year 2017, revenue
denominated in British pound sterling represented 34% of our revenue. The uncertainties surrounding Brexit and risks associated
with the commencement of Brexit could have a material adverse effect on our current business and future growth.

The decision by Nigeria's central bank to move to market-driven foreign currency trading — On June 20, 2016, Nigeria’s
central bank abandoned its 16-month peg to the U.S. dollar, which resulted in a 38% devaluation of the naira versus the U.S. dollar
from June 20 to June 30, 2016 and an additional 8% further devaluation of the naira versus the U.S. dollar from June 30, 2016 to
March 31, 2017. For discussion of the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, including the naira, on our results,
see “— Overview of Operating Results — Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016 included elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

Impact of fleet changes — The management of our global aircraft fleet involves a careful evaluation of the expected demand
for industrial aviation services across global energy markets, including the type of aircraft needed to meet this demand. As offshore
oil and gas drilling and production globally moves to deeper water, more medium and large aircraft and newer technology aircraft
may be required. As older aircraft models come off of current contracts and are replaced by new aircraft, our management evaluates
our future needs for these aircraft models and ultimately the ability to recover our remaining investments in these aircraft through
sales into the aftermarket. We depreciate our aircraft over their expected useful life to the expected salvage value to be received
for the aircraft at the end of that life. Depending on the market for aircraft or changes in the expected future use of aircraft within
our fleet, we may record gains or losses on aircraft sales, impairment charges for aircraft operating or held for sale, or accelerate
or increase depreciation on aircraft used in our operations. In certain instances where a cash return can be made on newer aircraft
in excess of the expected return available through the provision of industrial aviation services, we may sell newer aircraft. The
number of aircraft sales and the amount of gains and losses recorded on these sales is unpredictable. While aircraft sales are
common in our business and are reflected in our operating results, gains and losses on aircraft sales may result in our operating
results not reflecting the ordinary operating performance of our primary business, which is providing industrial aviation services
to our clients. The gains and losses on aircraft sales and any impairment charges are not included in the calculation of adjusted
EBITDA, adjusted net income (loss) or adjusted earnings (loss) per share.
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As part of an ongoing process to rationalize and simplify our global fleet of commercial helicopters, during fiscal year 2014
we implemented a plan to reduce the number of aircraft types in our fleet to eight model types in approximately five years and
six model types in approximately ten years. During fiscal year 2014, we completed our exit from five model types, in fiscal year
2015 we completed our exit from four model types while adding two model types and in fiscal year 2016 we completed our exit
from two model types. During fiscal year 2017, we added one model type resulting in 12 model types in our fleet as of March 31,
2017. As we modernize our fleet, the introduction of new technology aircraft types and other operating or market conditions may
temporarily slow fleet type reduction.

During fiscal year 2015, we recorded impairment charges of $36.1 million related to 27 held for sale aircraft, primarily
related to one large aircraft type we were in the process of removing from our fleet. Additionally, as we expected to complete the
disposal of the remaining aircraft of this type still operating as of March 31, 2015, we adjusted the salvage value and recorded
additional depreciation expense of $6.0 million during fiscal year 2015. Also during fiscal year 2015, we recorded accelerated
depreciation expense of $4.4 million for ten medium and one fixed wing aircraft. During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we saw
further deterioration in market sales for aircraft resulting mostly from an increase in idle aircraft and reduced demand across the
offshore energy market. While other markets exist for certain aircraft model types, including utility, firefighting, government, VIP
transportation and tourism, the market for certain model type aircraft slowed. As a result of these market changes, we recorded
impairment charges of $12.5 million related to 14 held for sale aircraft during fiscal year 2017 and $29.6 million related to 16
held for sale aircraft during fiscal year 2016. Additionally, due to changes in estimated salvage values for our fleet of operational
aircraft and other changes in the timing of exiting certain aircraft from our operations, we recorded an additional $10.4 million
and $28.7 million in depreciation expense during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Changes in our forecasted cash flows during the three months ended December 31, 2016 triggered a review of our oil and
gas related property and equipment and Eastern Airways property and equipment for potential impairment. In accordance with
Accounting Standard Codification 360-10-35, we estimate future undiscounted cash flows to test the recoverability of our property
and equipment, which largely consists of our held for use aircraft. The determination of estimated future undiscounted cash flows
required us to use significant unobservable inputs including assumptions related to projected demand for services and rates. We
determined that the estimated future undiscounted cash flows were above the carrying value for our oil and gas related property
and equipment and Eastern Airways’ property and equipment as of December 31, 2016 and no impairment was recorded on these
assets. Future declines in operating performance or anticipated business outlook may reduce our estimated future undiscounted
cash flows and result in impairment of our oil and gas related property and equipment or Eastern Airways property and equipment.
We did not have any triggering events to test property and equipment or intangibles for impairment for the three months ended
March 31, 2017.

Goodwill impairment — During the three months ended September 30, 2015, we experienced rapid and significant declines
in the market value of our Common Stock which resulted from the downturn in the oil and gas industry due to reduced crude oil
prices. We identified this decline in market value of our Common Stock and an overall reduction in expected operating results
resulting from the downturn as indicators that the fair value of our goodwill could have fallen below its carrying amount. As a
result, we performed an interim goodwill impairment test as of September 30, 2015 and determined that the goodwill associated
with our Bristow Norway reporting unit within our Europe Caspian region and the goodwill associated with our Bristow Academy
reporting unit within Corporate and other was impaired. We performed our annual goodwill impairment test as of March 31, 2016
and as a result of a further decline in forecasted operational results determined that all of the goodwill associated with our Africa
region and a portion of the goodwill associated with Eastern Airways was impaired. In fiscal year 2016, we recognized a loss of
$41.6 million associated with the impairment of goodwill.

During the three months ended December 31, 2016, we noted an overall reduction in expected operating results for Eastern
Airways within our Europe Caspian region from the continued downturn in the oil and gas market and performed an interim
impairment test of goodwill for Eastern Airways. Based on this factor, we concluded that the fair value of our goodwill could have
fallen below its carrying value and that an interim period analysis of goodwill was required. Therefore, we performed an interim
impairment test of goodwill for Eastern Airways as of December 31, 2016, noting that the estimated fair value of Eastern Airways
was below its carrying value, resulting in an impairment of all of the remaining goodwill related to Eastern Airways of $8.7 million.
The only remaining goodwill recorded as of March 31, 2017 related to Airnorth within our Asia Pacific region. We did not have
any triggering events requiring us to quantitatively test Airnorth for impairment during fiscal year 2017.
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Selected Regional Perspectives

Brazil represents a significant part of our long term helicopter growth outlook due to its concentration and size of its offshore
oil reserves. However, in the short term, Brazil and specifically Petrobras, continues to evidence uncertainty as the price of oil
and Petrobras’ restructuring efforts have impacted the helicopter industry. Petrobras did not release any new tenders for multiple
medium and large aircraft that were expected to commence in calendar year 2016. While this represents a contraction in short-
term demand, Brazil’s impact on long-term helicopter demand is expected to be material. Petrobras represented 62% of Lider’s
operating revenue in fiscal year 2017.

The Brazilian government has revisited the regulations on the oil and gas industry and made significant changes to the
Brazilian market, including removing the requirement that Petrobras have 30% participation on all exploratory blocks, removing
the requirement that Petrobras be the operator of all pre-salt blocks and approving the next round of licensing for new exploration
blocks (six years after the last successful round). In addition, the Brazilian government is currently reviewing local content
requirements, which has led other operators to request information and/or proposals. Petrobras’ new management has implemented
a five-year business and management plan focused on divestment, mostly of its non-core business. Overall, the Brazilian market
outlook has improved compared to the prior year for Lider with opportunities for growth.

Currency fluctuations continue to make it difficult to predict the earnings from our Lider investment. These currency
fluctuations, which primarily do not impact Lider’s cash flow from operations, had a significant negative impact on Lider’s results
in fiscal years 2015, 2016 and 2017, impacting our earnings from unconsolidated affiliates. Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates,
net of losses, on our consolidated statements of operations, is included in calculating adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income (loss)
and adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share.

We are subject to competition and the political environment in the countries where we operate. In Nigeria, we have seen an
increase in competitive pressure and the application of existing local content regulations that could impact our ability to win future
work at levels previously anticipated. In order to properly and fully embrace new regulations, we have made a number of key
changes to our operating model in Nigeria, while maintaining safety as our number one priority at all times. The objectives of
these changes being (a) enhancing the level of continued compliance by each of Bristow Helicopters Nigeria Ltd. (“BHNL”) and
Pan African Airlines Nigeria Ltd. (“PAAN”) with local content regulations, (b) providing technical aviation maintenance services
through a wholly-owned Bristow Group entity, BGI Aviation Technical Services Nigeria Limited (“BATS”), and (c) each of BHNL,
PAAN and BATS committing to continue to apply and use all key Bristow Group standards and policies, including without
limitation our Target Zero safety program, our Code of Business Integrity and our Operations Manuals. As a result of these changes,
our ability to continue to consolidate BHNL and PAAN under the current accounting requirements could change.

We conduct business in various foreign countries, and as such, our cash flows and earnings are subject to fluctuations and
related risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. During fiscal year 2017, our primary foreign currency exposure
was related to the British pound sterling, the euro, the Australian dollar, the Norwegian kroner and the Nigerian naira and our
unconsolidated affiliates foreign currency exposure is primarily related to the Brazilian real. The Brexit event discussed elsewhere
in this Annual Report is an example of this exposure and possible impact on our results of operations. For details on this exposure
and the related impact on our results of operations, see “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk”
and Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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Overview of Operating Results

The following table presents our operating results and other statement of operations information for the applicable periods:

Fiscal Years Ended

March 31,
Favorable
2017 2016 (Unfavorable)

(In thousands, except per share
amounts, percentages and flight hours)

Gross revenue:

OPErating FEVENUR ........coveeverrerrerererreeeseeeeeeseeeeeneeneeseenes $1,347,850 $1,629,547 $ (281,697) (17.3)%
Reimbursable revenue...........cocveeeeveeeeeeeeeeiieeeceeeeeee e 52,652 85,966 (33,314) (38.8)%
Total Gross rEVENUE.........ccveeeereieieeeeerieeeerie e seeeaens 1,400,502 1,715,513 (315,011) (18.4)%
Operating expense:
DITECE COSE.unvrrraniaiieiiriietieieeieeteste e see et e et eseeneeeeenas 1,103,984 1,227,541 123,557 10.1 %
Reimbursable eXpense .........cceeevereeieneeieneeieeeeee e, 50,313 81,824 31,511 38.5 %
Depreciation and amortization.............ceeceeeeveerveneeneenee. 118,748 136,812 18,064 13.2 %
General and administrative ..............ccceeeeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeene. 195,367 224,645 29,278 13.0 %
Total operating €Xpense........ccecveveereereereerereerennens 1,468,412 1,670,822 202,410 12.1 %
LoSS 0N iMpairment............cceceevereeeenieerieneeeeseeeeseeenees (16,278) (55,104) 38,826 70.5 %
Loss on disposal of assets .........cceeeereerieriereeriereeneseeenee. (14,499) (30,693) 16,194 52.8 %
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses..... 6,945 261 6,684 *
OPErating LOSS ...cc.eveeriieieeieieeiiee e (91,742) (40,845) (50,897) (124.6)%
Interest eXPense, Net........oecverueeiereereereeieneeee e eeseeenees (49,919) (34,128) (15,791) (46.3)%
Other income (€Xpense), Net ........cceeveereeereereereereereeneene (2,641) (4,258) 1,617 38.0 %
Loss before benefit (provision) for income taxes............ (144,302) (79,231) (65,071) (82.1)%
Benefit (provision) for income taxes ..........ccecervereereennee. (32,588) 2,082 (34,670) *
INEL L0SS ettt ettt enea (176,890) (77,149) (99,741) (129.3)%
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests .............. 6,354 4,707 1,647 35.0 %
Net loss attributable to Bristow Group ..........cceevveevevvvevennennn. (170,536) (72,442) (98,094) (135.4)%
Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests............ — (1,498) 1,498 *
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ........................ $ (170,536)  $ (73,940) S (96,596) (130.6)%
Diluted loss per common share.............cccevvieeieriecieneecienieenns $ “4.87) $ 2.12) $ (2.75) (129.7)%
Operating margin ) ............coooooiovieeeeeeeee e, (6.8)% (2.5)% 43)%  (172.00%
Flght Nours @ ..o, 165,252 191,850 (26,598) (13.9)%
Non-GAAP financial measures: )
Adjusted EBITDA........coooieieeeee e $§ 71,084 $ 205,523 $ (134,439) (65.4)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin " ........c.cooooviivireeeeeeean 53 % 12.6 % (7.3)% (57.9)%
Adjusted net income (108S)...c..eeververieniriienieenieenenee, $ (74,525) $§ 51,308 $ (125,833) (245.3)%
Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share........................ $ (2.13) % 1.45 $ (3.58) (246.9)%
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Fiscal Years Ended
March 31, Favorable

2016 2015 (Unfavorable)

(In thousands, except per share
amounts, percentages and flight hours)

Gross revenue:

OPErating FEVENUE ........c.eoveererieierirerirerereressesesseseeseseeseans $1,629,547 $ 1,726,987 $ (97,440) (5.6)%
Reimbursable reVenue...........covveeeveeeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeeee e 85,966 131,682 (45,716) (34.7%
Total Gross rEVENUE.........ecvieeeeeieieeeieiesreniesnesieeanens 1,715,513 1,858,669 (143,156) (7.71)%
Operating expense:
DITECE COST.vnvnrinieniietirieiirie ettt 1,227,541 1,174,991 (52,550) (4.5)%
Reimbursable eXpense .........cceecverveeeriierieneeieseeee e 81,824 124,566 42,742 34.3 %
Depreciation and amortization.............cceceeeeveerveneenenenne. 136,812 114,293 (22,519) (19.7%
General and adminiStrative ..............ccoeveeeveveeeeireeeeennee e 224,645 254,158 29,513 11.6 %
Total operating €Xpense.......c.oecververeereereerereuerennens 1,670,822 1,668,008 (2,814) (0.2)%
L 0SS 0N iMPAIrMENt..........eecvereeeieriieieiieieneeeeeeeeeeseeenees (55,104) (7,167) (47,937) *
Loss on disposal of asSets .........cceeveveerrerienierieneeneeseeenne. (30,693) (35,849) 5,156 14.4 %
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses..... 261 (1,771) 2,032 114.7 %
Operating inCOmMe (10SS) ..evveeervieriirieiieiee e (40,845) 145,874 (186,719) (128.0)%
Interest eXPense, NEt........ceecverveereereeieereeiereeeeeeeeeseeenees (34,128) (29,354) (4,774) (16.3)%
Other income (€Xpense), Net.......cccvecverevereereereereereeneeennes (4,258) (5,047) 789 15.6 %
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes............. (79,231) 111,473 (190,704) (171.1)%
Benefit (provision) for income taxes ..........ccoceevereereennen. 2,082 (22,766) 24,848 109.1 %
Net iNCOME (10SS) «..everueriirierieriiniinenienteteteteteteeeeeieee e (77,149) 88,707 (165,856) (187.0)%
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling
TNEETESES.....vocvoceeeeeeeeeeeeeee e neeneneen 4,707 (4,407) 9,114 206.8 %
Net income (loss) attributable to Bristow Group.................... (72,442) 84,300 (156,742) (185.9)%
Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests............ (1,498) — (1,498) *
Net loss (loss) attributable to common stockholders .............. $ (73940) 3§ 84,300 $ (158.240) (187.71)%
Diluted earnings per common Share..............cccooveveveerereerennnen. $ 2.12) % 237 S (4.49) (189.5)%
Operating margin " ............cco.coooooroieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, (2.5)% 8.4% (10.9Y%  (129.8)%
FHght Bours @ ........oooivioeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, 191,850 208,813 (16,963) (8.1)%
Non-GAAP financial measures:*’
Adjusted EBITDA........ccccoiiiiiiereee e $ 205,523 $ 309,057 $ (103,534) (33.5)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin...........coocooviiviioireieernne. 12.6 % 17.9% (5.3)% (29.6)%
Adjusted Nt INCOME ......ocvveeerereieriieieeiiee e $ 51,308 $ 133,963 $ (82,655) (61.7)%
Adjusted diluted earnings per share...........cccccoeveveevennnne. $ 1.45 $ 377 $ (2.32) (61.5)%

* percentage change too large to be meaningful or not applicable

" Operating margin is calculated as operating income divided by operating revenue. Adjusted EBITDA margin is calculated
as adjusted EBITDA divided by operating revenue.

@ Excludes flight hours from Bristow Academy and unconsolidated affiliates. Includes flight hours from Eastern Airways
and Airnorth fixed wing operations in the U.K., Nigeria and Australia for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 of 39,873,
41,473 and 29,663, respectively.
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3)

These financial measures have not been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
and have not been audited or reviewed by our independent registered public accounting firm. These financial measures
are therefore considered non-GAAP financial measures. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by taking our net income and
adjusting for interest expense, depreciation and amortization, benefit (provision) for income taxes, gain (loss) on disposal
of assets and any special items during the reported periods. See further discussion of our use of the adjusted EBITDA
metric below. Adjusted net income (loss) and adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share are each adjusted for gain (loss)
on disposal of assets and any special items during the reported periods. As discussed below, management believes these
non-GAAP financial measures provide meaningful supplemental information regarding our results of operations. A
description of the adjustments to and reconciliations of these non-GA AP financial measures to the most comparable GAAP
financial measures is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017 2016 2015

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net iNCOME (10SS) v.vvuvivivieiirieietiietiet ettt ettt ae s $(176,890) $ (77,149) § 88,707
Loss on disposal 0f @SSELS.......c.ecceerrieieriierieriieie et eie e 14,499 30,693 35,849
Special FemMS D ... 31,277 82,063 17,132
Depreciation and amortization...........cceveeeeereeriereereniee e 118,748 136,812 114,293
INEETESt EXPEINSE vttt 50,862 35,186 30,310
Provision (benefit) for inCOME taXes........ccerveervereerierieresieiesiee e 32,588 (2,082) 22,766

Adjusted EBITDAL.......couoiiiiriiieeietieeeese ettt $ 71,084 $ 205,523 § 309,057

Benefit (provision) fOr iNCOME taX .........c.ceveeevevereeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseenennas $ (32,588 $ 2,082 $ (22,766)
Tax benefit on loss on disposal of @SSet.........ceccereeriiieienieiiiieeeeee (6,476) (8,665) (7,321)
Tax provision (benefit) on special items..........cceveereriereriereniereeieeeee 49,342 (8,996) (7,706)

Adjusted benefit (provision) for iNCOME taX ........ceevverveverriereenieeereeeenne $ 10,278 $ (15,579 $ (37,793)

Effective tax 1ate ™ ........oo.oooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e (22.6)% 2.6% 20.4%

Adjusted effective tax rate ™ ... 11.7 % 25.1% 21.5%

Net income (loss) attributable to Bristow Group ..........ccoceeeveerereeneneneensn. $(170,536) $§ (72,442) $ 84,300
Loss on disposal of assets ) et es e eseeesees e sessesaseasease s e sesaseane 8,023 22,028 28,528
Special items DT e 87,988 101,722 21,135

Adjusted net income (10SS)......ociivieriiririiciiieieieieeee et $ (74,525) $ 51,308 $ 133,963

Diluted earnings (108s) per Share...........cevvveverieirieinieineeseeereeeeeeeeeenes $§ 487 $ 2.12) % 2.37
Loss on disposal of assets T ... 0.23 0.62 0.80
Special items D e 2.51 2.92 0.59

Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share ™ ..........coocooiioiroeereeree. (2.13) 1.45 3.77

@

(i)

(iii)

@)

See information about special items during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 under “Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal
Year 2016 and “Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015 below.

Effective tax rate is calculated by dividing benefit (provision) for income tax by pretax net income. Adjusted effective tax
rate is calculated by dividing adjusted benefit (provision) for income tax by adjusted pretax net income (loss). Tax expense
(benefit) on loss on disposal of asset and tax expense (benefit) on special items is calculated using the statutory rate of the
entity recording the loss on disposal of asset or special item.

These amounts are presented after applying the appropriate tax effect to each item and dividing by the weighted average
shares outstanding during the related period to calculate the earnings per share impact.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share is calculated using the diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding of
35,044,040, 34,893,844 and 35,528,605 for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Management believes that adjusted EBITDA, adjusted benefit (provision) for income taxes, adjusted net income (loss) and
adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share (collectively, the “Non-GAAP measures™) provide relevant and useful information, which
is widely used by analysts, investors and competitors in our industry as well as by our management in assessing both consolidated
and regional performance.

Adjusted EBITDA provides us with an understanding of one aspect of earnings before the impact of investing and financing
transactions and income taxes. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered a measure of discretionary cash available to us for
investing in the growth of our business. In prior periods, we presented adjusted EBITDAR, which was calculated by taking our
net income and adjusting for interest expense, depreciation and amortization, rent expense (included as a component of direct cost
and general and administrative expense), provision for income taxes, gain (loss) on disposal of assets and any special items during
the reported periods. We believed that adjusted EBITDAR provided us with a useful supplemental measure of our operational
performance by excluding the financing decisions we make regarding aircraft purchases or leasing. However, we have revised
our disclosures to present adjusted EBITDA rather than adjusted EBITDAR consistent with recent interpretations regarding Non-
GAAP measures issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Adjusted net income (loss) and adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share present our consolidated results excluding asset
dispositions and special items that do not reflect the ordinary earnings of our operations. Adjusted benefit (provision) for income
taxes excludes the tax impact of these items. We believe that these measures are useful supplemental measures because net income
and diluted earnings per share include asset disposition effects and special items and benefit (provision) for income taxes include
the tax impact of these items, and inclusion of these items does not reflect the ongoing operational earnings of our business.

The Non-GAAP measures are not calculated or presented in accordance with GAAP and other companies in our industry
may calculate these measures differently than we do. As a result, these financial measures have limitations as analytical and
comparative tools and you should not consider these measures in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported
under GAAP. In calculating these financial measures, we make certain adjustments that are based on assumptions and estimates
that may prove to be inaccurate. In addition, in evaluating these financial measures, you should be aware that in the future we may
incur expenses similar to those eliminated in this presentation. Our presentation of the Non-GA AP measures should not be construed
as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or special items.

Some of the additional limitations of adjusted EBITDA are:
*  Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our current or future cash requirements for capital expenditures;
*  Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

* Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service
interest or principal payments on our debts; and

«  Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often
have to be replaced in the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements.

The following tables present region adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin discussed in “— Region Operating
Results,” and consolidated adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017 2016 2015

(In thousands, except percentages)

Adjusted EBITDA:
Europe Caspian.........c.cccecveieririnenienieieieieseeseseeseesessessessessessesnas $ 45,163 $ 123,952  $ 157,402
ATTICA (.t e 51,553 60,371 109,783
ATNCTICAS ...ttt sttt ettt ettt st s 39,952 71,958 115,201
ASIA PACIIC ...uiiiiiiiiiiien e (5,026) 28,361 34,830
Corporate and Other ..........cocveiuieieriieieeeee e (60,558) (79,119)  (108,159)
Consolidated adjusted EBITDA........ccccccvveriniinenininenencene $ 71,084 $ 205,523 $ 309,057
Adjusted EBITDA margin:
Europe Caspian..........cecceereriininenenieieieieeeeeceese s 6.4 % 15.3% 19.9%
ATTICA (.t e 25.8 % 24.2% 32.7%
F N TS o Lo TSP 18.1 % 24.8% 32.8%
ASIA PACIIC ...uiiiiiiiiiiien e (2.3)% 10.4% 14.7%
Consolidated adjusted EBITDA margin.........c.ccocceevereneennenee 53 % 12.6% 17.9%



The following table presents region depreciation and amortization and rent expense for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017 2016 2015

(In thousands)
Depreciation and amortization:

Europe Caspian...........ccccveirieiiieiiieieieeeieeereeeesee et $ 39,511 $§ 41509 $ 37,830
AR oo 16,664 29,337 17,333
AITICTICAS 1o 32,727 36,371 34,617
ASIA PACHIC 1o 19,01 20,526 23,450
Corporate and Other .........ccoocvevieiierierieeeeeeeeee e 10,755 9,069 1,063

Total depreciation and amortization...............ccceeeeveeerereeennen. $118,748 $136,812 $114.293

Rent expense:

Europe Caspian...........ccccveirieiiieiiieieieeeieeereeeesee et $ 134,072 $ 136,377 $ 103,294
AR oo 8,101 7,456 6,974
AICTICAS .o oo eeeeeeeeeees e 23,015 21,016 20,734
ASIE PACKIC oo 39,759 37,053 25,151
Corporate and Other .........ccoocveverierieiiereeee e 7,661 9,938 8,614

Total TENE EXPENSEC...vrueeeereriieieieiiieeeieiee ettt $212,608 $211,840 $ 164,767

Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

As discussed under “Market Outlook™ above, the oil and gas industry has experienced a significant downturn beginning in
fiscal year 2015 primarily due to a decline in crude oil prices, which negatively impacted activity with our oil and gas clients.
While this decline started in fiscal year 2015, activity and pricing declined further in fiscal years 2016 and 2017, resulting in a
significant decrease in gross revenue for our oil and gas and fixed wing services year-over-year. This decline in revenue was
partially offset by the start-up of the U.K. SAR contract in April 2015 with seven bases coming online in fiscal year 2016 and an
eighth base coming online in fiscal year 2017.

Operating revenue from external clients by line of service was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, F
avorable
2017 2016 (Unfavorable)
(In thousands, except percentages)
Oil and gas SEIVICES .....covvveververrrererieeriarann $ 956,649 $1,222,501 $ (265,852) (21.7)%
Fixed wing Services.........ccevvvvverververrernennens 191,609 208,538 (16,929) (8.1)%
U.K. SAR SEIVICES ....vvvvveevvieeneeeeeieeeeireeenns 189,555 177,230 12,325 7.0 %
Corporate and other............cccceevieeverieenennen. 10,037 21,278 (11,241)  (52.8)%
Total operating revenue...............c.eovn... $1.347.850 $1.629.547 $§ (281.697) (17.3)%

In addition to operational decreases, changes in foreign currency exchange rates during fiscal year 2017 resulted in $80.3
million of the decrease year-over-year.

We reported a net loss of $170.5 million and $72.4 million and diluted loss per share of $4.87 and $2.12 for fiscal years 2017
and 2016, respectively. The year-over-year increase in net loss and diluted loss per share primarily resulted from the decline in oil
and gas revenue discussed above, higher interest expense as a result of additional borrowings and increased income tax charges,
partially offset by a lower loss on impairment, a lower loss from disposal of assets, lower depreciation and amortization expense
due to less accelerated depreciation and less of an unfavorable impact from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
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The net loss for fiscal year 2017 was significantly impacted by the following items:

* Organizational restructuring costs of $20.9 million ($15.0 million net of tax), which include severance expense of $16.9
million related to separation programs across our global organization designed to increase efficiency and reduce costs,
and other restructuring costs of $4.0 million; $7.6 million of the restructuring costs are included in direct costs and $13.3
million are included in general and administrative expense,

«  Loss on disposal of assets of $14.5 million ($8.0 million net of tax) and accelerated depreciation of $10.4 million ($6.8
million net of tax),

*  Impairment charges on goodwill of $8.7 million ($7.1 million net of tax) and on inventory of $7.6 million ($5.4 million
net of tax) included in loss on impairment,

»  Reversal of $5.9 million ($5.9 million net of tax) of contingent consideration related to the Airnorth acquisition, and

*  Tax items of $59.5 million that include a one-time non-cash tax effect from repositioning of certain aircraft from one tax
jurisdiction to another related to recent financing transactions resulting in additional income tax expense of $22.5 million
and non-cash adjustments related to the valuation of deferred tax assets of $37.0 million.

Excluding these items, adjusted net loss and adjusted diluted loss per share were $74.5 million and $2.13, respectively, for
fiscal year 2017. These adjusted results compare to adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share of $51.3 million
and $1.45, respectively, for fiscal year 2016. Adjusted EBITDA, which excludes these items with the exception of accelerated
depreciation and the tax items, also decreased year-over-year to $71.1 million in fiscal year 2017 from $205.5 million in fiscal
year 2016. The year-over-year decrease in each of these measures primarily resulted from the decline in oil and gas revenue across
all regions discussed above partially offset by less of an unfavorable impact from changes in foreign currency exchange rates year-
over-year. See further discussion of operating results by region under “— Region Operating Results — Fiscal Year 2017 Compared
to Fiscal Year 2016” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The table below presents the year-over-year impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Fiscal years ended March 31,

Favorable
2017 2016 (Unfavorable)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Transaction 10SSES ) ........o.ovuiveieieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ (2,948) $ (4,340) $ 1,392
Lider foreign exchange impact @ .........c.coooveieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseess (3,193) (22,447) 19,254
TOtALL e $ (6,141) $ (26,787) 20,646
REVENUE IMPACT......iiieiieeiiiieieeiieie ettt ees (80,251)
Operating eXpense IMPACE.......c..cvevuerveerreereerreerrereeieseereseeseeseesseenns 71,994
Year-over-year income statement translation impact................... (8,257)
Pre-tax income statement impact.............cceveeevereerieseerieneenneeeenneenns 12,389
Less: Foreign exchange impact on depreciation and amortization
aNd INEIESt EXPEIISE ..c.veuvinrirenieniiieteieeeeteiteieeteeie et st e e (821)
Adjusted EBITDA iMPACt........c.ceiirerereiiieiereeeeeeecieieeeeeese e $ 11,568

Net income impact (tax affected).........cccevereeririeniieeeeeeee
Earnings per share impact...........coccveveienienieieieeeenencncecse e

5 7346

> 0.21

Healles
)

" Included in other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of operations.

@ Included in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses on our consolidated statements of operations.

The most significant impacts were from larger losses in fiscal year 2016 from the revaluation of balance sheet assets and
liabilities into the functional currencies of legal entities through which we operate globally presented as transaction losses within
other income (expense), net, and a larger impact in fiscal year 2016 on our earnings from unconsolidated affiliates as results related
to Lider were impacted by a 8.4% devaluation of the Brazilian real versus the U.S. dollar in fiscal year 2016. This favorable year-
over-year change was partially offset by the unfavorable income statement translation impact from the depreciating British pound
sterling due to Brexit on the translation of our results in our Europe Caspian region, partially offset by a favorable impact on our
results of the devalued naira in our Africa region.
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Direct costs decreased 10.1%, or $123.6 million, year-over-year primarily due to the benefit of organizational restructuring
efforts reflected in a $63.4 million decrease in salaries and benefits resulting from lower headcount across all regions, a $7.0
million decrease in insurance expense, an $8.6 million decrease in inventory consignment fees and a $5.8 million decrease in
training, travel and meals expense. Also, during fiscal year 2017, we determined the contingent consideration related to the Airnorth
acquisition accrued in the purchase price was no longer probable of being paid out and we reversed $5.9 million of an accrued
liability to direct costs. Additionally, bad debt expense decreased by $5.8 million primarily related to bad debt expense recorded
in fiscal year 2016 related to two clients in our Africa region and a client in our Asia Pacific region.

Reimbursable expense decreased 38.5%, or $31.5 million, primarily due to a decline in activity and a contract amendment
in our Europe Caspian region.

Depreciation and amortization decreased 13.2%, or $18.1 million, to $118.7 million for fiscal year 2017 from $136.8 million
for fiscal year 2016. This decrease in depreciation and amortization expense is primarily due to a decrease in accelerated depreciation
of $18.3 million as a result of fleet changes for older aircraft in fiscal year 2016, partially offset by an increase in depreciation
expense due to additional aircraft and information technology costs being capitalized and depreciated in fiscal year 2017.

General and administrative expense decreased 13.0%, or $29.3 million, primarily due to a decrease of $8.8 million in salaries
and benefits, a decrease of $6.3 million in professional fees and a decrease of $14.2 million in other general and administrative
expenses, including information technology expenses, training, travel, recruitment and various other expenses from cost reduction
initiatives. The reduction in salaries and benefits is primarily due to lower salaries and benefits of $13.8 million due to lower
headcount in fiscal year 2017 from cost reduction initiatives, partially offset by higher management bonuses of $5.0 million in
fiscal year 2017 due to no management bonuses being awarded in fiscal year 2016.

Loss on impairment for fiscal year 2017 included $8.7 million of goodwill impairment related to Eastern Airways and $7.6
million of inventory impairments. Loss on impairment for fiscal year 2016 included $41.6 million of goodwill impairment related
to the Bristow Norway reporting unit and Eastern Airways within our Europe Caspian region ($25.2 million), Bristow Academy
reporting unit within Corporate and other ($10.2 million) and the Africa reporting unit ($6.2 million), $8.1 million impairment of
intangible assets of Eastern Airways and $5.4 million of inventory impairments. For further details, see “Executive Overview —
Market Outlook — Recent Events — Goodwill Impairment.”

Loss on disposal of assets decreased $16.2 million to a loss of $14.5 million for fiscal year 2017 from a loss of $30.7 million
for fiscal year 2016. The loss on disposal of assets in fiscal year 2017 included impairment charges of $12.5 million related to 14
held for sale aircraft and a loss of $2.0 million from the sale of 14 aircraft and other equipment. During fiscal year 2016, the loss
on disposal of assets included impairment charges of $29.6 million related to 16 held for sale aircraft and a loss of $1.1 million
from the sale of 35 aircraft and other equipment.

Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses, increased $6.7 million to earnings of $6.9 million for fiscal year 2017
from earnings of $0.3 million in fiscal year 2016. The increase primarily resulted from earnings from our investment in Lider in
Brazil of $8.1 million for fiscal year 2017 compared to $0.1 million in losses in fiscal year 2016 primarily due to less of an
unfavorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates, partially offset by a decline in activity. Our earnings from Lider in fiscal
years 2017 and 2016 were reduced by the unfavorable impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes of $3.2 million and $22.4
million, respectively.

Interest expense, net, increased 46.3%, or $15.8 million, year-over-year primarily due to an increase in interest expense
resulting from an increase in borrowings and an increase in amortization of debt fees.

Other income (expense), net decreased $1.6 million to other expense of $2.6 million for the fiscal year 2017 compared to
other expense of $4.3 million for the fiscal year 2016 primarily due to lower foreign currency transaction losses in fiscal year 2017
compared to fiscal year 2016. For further details on other income (expense), net, see “— Region Operating Results — Other
Income (Expense), Net” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

For further details on income tax expense, see “—Region Operating Results — Taxes” included elsewhere in this Annual
Report.
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As discussed above, our results for fiscal year 2017 were impacted by a number of special items. Recent financing transactions
have required repositioning of certain aircraft from one tax jurisdiction to another that resulted in an additional income tax expense
of $22.5 million. In fiscal year 2016, special items that impacted our results included organizational restructuring costs, additional
depreciation expense resulting from fleet changes, impairment of inventories, goodwill and intangible assets, tax items and accretion
of redeemable noncontrolling interests. For further details on the special items impacting fiscal year 2016, see “Fiscal Year 2016
Compared to Fiscal Year 2015 below. The items noted in fiscal years 2017 and 2016 have been identified as special items as they
are not considered by management to be part of ongoing operations when assessing and measuring the operational and financial
performance of the Company. The impact of these items on adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings
per share is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, 2017

Adjusted
Adjusted Adjusted Diluted Earnings

EBITDA Net Income Per Share

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Organizational reStruCturing COSES.........ovveririerirreirreriireiereeeree et e e $ 20,897 $ 14,998 $ 0.43
Additional depreciation expense resulting from fleet changes ........................ — 6,843 0.19
GOOAWIIL IMPAITTNENL ...evvevieeiierieiieeeeie ettt se et e re b ere b seesseeseeseees 8,706 7,138 0.20
Impairment Of INVENTOTIES .......ecvevieieriieienieeeesie et et ere e sre s e s eseeseees 7,572 5,428 0.15
Reversal of Airnorth contingent consideration..............ccocveevereevveeeenveeeennenne (5,898) (5,898) (0.17)
TAX TEEITIS ..ottt ee e et e e et e e e et e s eneeeeenaeeeeteeeennreeeennees — 59,479 1.70
Total SPECIAl TEEIMS. .....vevveeieeierietieiieii ettt ettt $ 31,277 $ 87,988 2.51
Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, 2016

Adjusted
Adjusted Adjusted Diluted Earnings

EBITDA Net Income Per Share

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Organizational TeStruCtUrING COSES.....eovrrvrriirierieieieieieeei ettt $ 26,959 $ 19,094 $ 0.54
Additional depreciation expense resulting from fleet changes ........................ — 20,577 0.58
Impairment Of INVENTOTIES ........eeueeriereierieeierie ettt 5,439 4,004 0.11
Goodwill and intangible iIMPAIrMENt..........ccceeeeereriereeierieeeeee e 49,665 37,979 1.08
TAX TEEITIS .ttt ettt e e e et eeeeeaaaeeeeeeentaeeeessennaaeeessennnnneeeesannnees — 20,068 0.57
Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests ...........cocceveereererieneeiennenne — — 0.04
Total SPECIAl TEEIMS. ...c.eeueeeieeieiieeieiieie ettt $ 82,063 § 101,722 2.92

Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

Gross revenue decreased 7.7%, or $143.2 million, year-over-year primarily due to the downturn in the oil and gas industry,
partially offset by the start of the U.K. SAR contract in April 2015 with seven bases coming online in fiscal year 2016.

Operating revenue from external clients by line of service was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, F
avorable
2016 2015 (Unfavorable)
(In thousands, except percentages)
Oil and gas SErviCes .........ccoevevvevveeereeenrennens $1,222,501 $1,498,510 $ (276,009) (18.4)%
Fixed wing Services.........ccovvveevereevvereennennnn 208,538 156,196 52,342 33.5%
U.K. SAR S€rviCes....cocovvevurrevrreereereesnreenne 177,230 48,917 128,313 2623 %
Corporate and other...........ccoecevvevvervenennen. 21,278 23,364 (2,086)  (8.9)%
Total operating revenue...............cceevnne. $1.629.547 $1.726987 $ (97.440) (5.6)%

In addition to operational decreases, changes in foreign currency exchange rates during fiscal year 2016 resulted in $98.6
million of the decrease year-over-year. In January 2015, Bristow Helicopters Australia acquired an 85% interest in Airnorth and
purchased the remaining 15% of the outstanding shares of Airnorth in November 2015. Airnorth contributed $75.4 million in
operating revenue for fiscal year 2016, which is an incremental $64.0 million in operating revenue compared to fiscal year 2015.
The contribution of fixed-wing revenue from Airnorth in fiscal year 2016 was partially offset by a decline in revenue for Eastern
Airways in the U.K. as their business was impacted by the oil and gas market and general economic conditions.
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For fiscal year 2016, we reported a net loss of $72.4 million and a diluted loss per share of $2.12 compared to net income
of $84.3 million and diluted earnings per share of $2.37 for fiscal year 2015.

The net loss for fiscal year 2016 was significantly impacted by the following items:

» Organizational restructuring costs of $27.0 million ($19.1 million net of tax), which includes severance expense of $22.5
million related to separation programs across our global organization designed to increase efficiency and reduce costs
and other restructuring costs of $4.5 million; $12.8 million of the restructuring costs are included in direct costs and $14.2
million are included in general and administrative expense,

*  Aloss on disposal of assets of $30.7 million ($22.0 million net of tax) (primarily consisting of impairment charges on
aircraft of $29.6 million), accelerated depreciation expense related to a softening aircraft sales aftermarket and changes
in the planned timing of exits from aircraft model types in our fleet of $28.7 million ($20.6 million net of tax),

»  Impairment charges on goodwill and intangibles of $49.7 million ($38.0 million net of tax) and on inventory of $5.4
million ($4.0 million net of tax) (included in loss on impairment), and

*  Non-cash adjustments related to the valuation of deferred tax assets of $20.1 million.

Additionally, diluted loss per share was unfavorably impacted by adjustments in the accretion amount of redeemable
noncontrolling interests in Eastern Airways and Airnorth.

Excluding these items, adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share were $51.3 million and $1.45, respectively,
for fiscal year 2016. These adjusted results compare to adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share of $134.0
million and $3.77, respectively, for fiscal year 2015. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin, which is adjusted for the
same items discussed above, was $205.5 million and 12.6%, respectively, in fiscal year 2016 compared to $309.1 million and
17.9% in fiscal year 2015, respectively.

The year-over-year decline in net income and diluted earnings per share (GAAP and adjusted), and in adjusted EBITDA
primarily resulted from the decline in oil and gas revenue discussed above. These declines were partially offset by a reduced impact
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates in fiscal year 2016 as the impact on revenue was more than offset by an impact
on costs and earnings from unconsolidated affiliates discussed below.

The table below presents the year-over-year impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Fiscal years ended March 31,

Favorable
2016 2015 (Unfavorable)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Transaction 10SSES 7 ......... vt $ (4,340) $ (6,548) $ 2,208
Lider foreign exchange impact ) et (22,447) (25,707) 3,260
TOtAL e e $ (26,787) $ (32,255) 5,468
REVENUE IMPACT......oeeieiieieiieeeieee e (98,639)
Operating exXpense IMPACE........cc.eerueriereriereeeereeee e 100,654
Year-over-year income statement translation impact................... 2,015
Pre-tax income statement impact.............ccoveeeeereereneeseniee e 7,483
Less: Foreign exchange impact on depreciation and amortization
ANA INLETEST EXPEIISE ..vevvvreenrieereeiienreereerreesseesteeeseeseeeseessnessseenes (4,017)
Adjusted EBITDA IMPACL.......c.civverirreriiieeiireeiereeeeteeeveeereee e $ 3.466

Net income impact (tax affected).........cccevvervievieienieieiceeeeee 3 6,616
q

Earnings per share impact..........c.cceeveeviieeerieeeereeieseereeeere e 3 0.19

" Included in other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of operations.

@ Included in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses on our consolidated statements of operations.

The most significant impact was from a loss in fiscal year 2015 related to the revaluation of balance sheet assets and liabilities
into the functional currencies of legal entities through which we operate globally presented as transaction gains (losses), and a
larger impact in fiscal year 2015 on our earnings from unconsolidated affiliates as results related to Lider were impacted by a
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30.5% devaluation of the Brazilian real versus the U.S. dollar compared to a 8.4% devaluation of the Brazilian real versus the
U.S. dollar in fiscal year 2016.

In response to the ongoing downturn, we implemented cost reduction measures as part of an organizational restructuring,
which partially offset the impact of certain higher costs within direct costs and general and administrative expense. See the further
discussion of changes in direct costs and general and administrative expense below.

Direct costs increased 4.5%, or $52.6 million, in fiscal year 2016 compared to the previous year primarily due to a $45.3
million increase in rent expense and a $13.3 million increase in contract expense primarily related to the establishment of new
U.K. SAR bases, a $12.8 million increase in severance expense related to organizational restructuring efforts and a $9.2 million
increase in bad debt expense. These increased costs were partially offset by the benefit of organizational restructuring efforts in
fiscal year 2016 reflected in a $26.8 million decline in salaries and benefits due to a decrease in headcount across all regions and
$4.9 million decrease in travel and meals expense.

Reimbursable expense decreased 34.3%, or $42.7 million, in fiscal year 2016 primarily due a decline in activity and a contract
amendment in our Europe Caspian region.

Depreciation and amortization increased 19.7%, or $22.5 million, to $136.8 million for fiscal year 2016 from $114.3 million
for fiscal year 2015. This increase in depreciation and amortization expense is primarily due to an increase in accelerated
depreciation of $18.3 million as a result of fleet changes for older aircraft, an increase of $7.1 million due to information technology
projects placed into service since the prior year and an increase of $3.8 million due to the addition of Airnorth.

General and administrative expense decreased 11.6%, or $29.5 million, in fiscal year 2016 primarily due to a decrease in
compensation expense of $11.1 million which resulted from management’s decision to not award short-term bonuses for fiscal
year 2016 and from reduced headcount due to organizational restructuring efforts, a decline in Common Stock price during fiscal
year 2016 resulting in a reduction of $13.0 million for the accrual for incentive compensation awards year-over-year, $5.5 million
in expense related to CEO succession recorded in fiscal year 2015 and a decrease in training and seminars of $4.1 million due to
systems implementation training costs incurred in fiscal year 2015. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of $9.7 million
in severance expense in fiscal year 2016 associated with the organizational restructuring efforts.

Loss on impairment for fiscal year 2016 includes $49.7 million of goodwill impairment related to our Bristow Norway
reporting unit and Eastern Airways within our Europe Caspian region ($25.2 million), Bristow Academy reporting unit within our
Corporate and other region ($10.2 million) and Africa region ($6.2 million), $8.1 million intangible asset impairment in Eastern
Airways and $5.4 million of inventory impairments. For further details, see “Executive Overview — Market Outlook — Recent
Events — Goodwill Impairment.” Loss on impairment for fiscal year 2015 includes $7.2 million of inventory impairments.

Loss on disposal of assets decreased $5.2 million to a loss of $30.7 million for fiscal year 2016 from a loss of $35.8 million
for fiscal year 2015. The loss on disposal of assets in fiscal year 2016 included impairment charges of $29.6 million related to 16
held for sale aircraft and a loss of $1.1 million from the sale of aircraft and other equipment. During fiscal year 2015, the loss on
disposal of assets included impairment charges of $36.1 million related to 27 held for sale aircraft partially offset by a gain of $0.2
million from the sale of 44 aircraft and other equipment.

Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses, increased $2.0 million to earnings of $0.3 million for fiscal year 2016
from a loss of $1.8 million in fiscal year 2015. The increase in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses, primarily
resulted from a decrease in losses from investment in Lider in Brazil to $0.1 million of losses in fiscal year 2016 from $4.2 million
in losses in fiscal year 2015 primarily due to less of an unfavorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates. Our earnings from
Lider in fiscal years 2016 and 2015 were reduced by the unfavorable impact of foreign currency exchange rates changes of $22.4
million and $25.7 million, respectively.

Interest expense, net, increased 16.3%, or $4.8 million, year-over-year primarily due to an increase in interest expense as a
result of more borrowings during fiscal year 2016, a decrease in capitalized interest resulting from a decrease in construction in
progress during fiscal year 2016, partially offset by lower amortization of debt discount in fiscal year 2016.

Other income (expense), net decreased $0.8 million to a loss of $4.3 million in fiscal year 2016 from a loss of $5.1 million
in fiscal year 2015 primarily due to lower foreign currency transaction losses in fiscal year 2016 compared to fiscal year 2015.
During fiscal year 2015, we recognized a gain of $3.9 million on the sale of unconsolidated affiliates, partially offset by $2.6
million incurred in premium and fees for the repurchase of a portion of our 6 %% Senior Notes, both of which are included in
other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of operations. For further details on other income (expense), net, see
“— Region Operating Results — Other Income (Expense), Net” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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For further details on income tax expense, see “Region Operating Results — Taxes” included elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

As discussed above, our results for fiscal year 2016 were impacted by a number of special items. These special items, on a
combined basis, decreased our net income by $101.7 million and diluted earnings per share by $2.92. In fiscal year 2015, special
items that impacted our results included a gain on the sale of an unconsolidated affiliate, organizational restructuring costs, CEO
succession costs, impairment of inventories, the repurchase of a portion of our 6 4% Senior Notes (the repurchase premium and
write-off of deferred financing fees), accrued maintenance cost reversal, an accounting correction, additional depreciation expense
resulting from fleet changes and Nigeria severance costs. The items noted in fiscal years 2016 and 2015 have been identified as
special items as they are not considered by management to be part of our ongoing operations when assessing and measuring the
operational and financial performance of the Company. The impact of these items on our adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income
and adjusted diluted earnings per share is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

March 31, 2015
. . Adjusted
Adjusted Adjusted Diluted Earnings
EBITDA Net Income Per Share

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Gain on sale of unconsolidated affiliate .............ccocoovvevvevieieieieieernen, $ (3,921) $ (2,549) $ (0.07)
Organizational reStructuring COStS.......c.evurruerierierrerieeierreeeenseeneseeennes 1,611 1,047 0.03
CEQO SUCCESSION ....covvvieieeieeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeteeeeeaseeeeaeeeenseeeenareeens 5,501 3,576 0.10
Impairment Of INVENTOTIES .......ccueeveruieieriieiesiieie et eee e 7,167 5,734 0.16
Repurchase of 6Y4% Senior NOteS.......cccvevvevierieiieieeieieeeese e 2,591 2,113 0.06
Accrued maintenance Cost TeVErsal .........coovvverieeveriiesieneeieeeeee e (813) (642) (0.02)
ACCOUNLING COTTECLION ....vvivreereieieieeereieeresteeeeesteessesteesesseensesseessesseennas 4,071 3,216 0.09
Additional depreciation expense resulting from fleet changes.............. — 7,992 0.22
NiIgETia SEVEIANCE COSES v.uvirvrerirrieririierieeeesreeeeesseessesseesesseesesseessesseesns 925 648 0.02
Total Special IEMS........ccveveeieriieriecteeeteee ettt $ 17,132 $ 21,135 0.59
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Region Operating Results

The following tables set forth certain operating information for the regions comprising our Industrial Aviation Services
segment. Intercompany lease revenue and expense are eliminated from our segment reporting, and depreciation expense of aircraft
is presented in the region that operates the aircraft.

Set forth below is a discussion of operations of our regions. Our consolidated results are discussed under “Results of
Operations” above.

Europe Caspian

Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015

(In thousands, except percentages)

Operating revenue ..........ccccoeevenee.. $710,581  $809,914  $792,293  § (99,333) (12.3)% $ 17,621 22 %
Earnings from unconsolidated

affiliates, net of 10SS€S.....o.......... $ 273§ 310§ 1,107 § (37) (11.9% $  (797) (72.0)%
Operating inCOME ...........coceeeruennene $ 13,840 § 50,406 $128,543 § (36,566) (72.5)% $(78,137) (60.8)%
Operating margin...........c.eceeeeuenen 1.9% 6.2% 16.2% 4.3)%  (69.4)% (10.0)% (61.7)%
Adjusted EBITDA .......cccccveinnenene § 45,163 §$123,952 §$157,402 § (78,789) (63.6)% $(33,450) (21.3)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin............. 6.4% 15.3% 19.9% (8.9%  (58.2)% (4.6)% (23.1)%
Rent expense.........ccceevevereereneenennn $134,072  $136,377 $103,294 § 2305 1.7 % $(33,083) (32.0)%

The Europe Caspian region comprises all of our operations and affiliates in Europe, including oil and gas operations in the
U.K. and Norway, Eastern Airways fixed wing operations and public sector SAR operations in the U.K. and our operations in
Turkmenistan.

Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

The year-over-year decrease in operating revenue primarily resulted from the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates which reduced operating revenue by $79.4 million, decreased activity levels with our oil and gas clients due to the downturn
in the industry which reduced operating revenue by $28.1 million, and the end of an oil and gas contract that began in late fiscal
year 2015 and ended in late fiscal year 2016 that contributed $51.3 million in additional operating revenue in fiscal year 2016.
Partially offsetting these decreases was an increase in operating revenue (on a foreign exchange neutral basis) from the start-up
of UK. SAR bases of $41.5 million. Eastern Airways contributed $110.4 million and $133.5 million in operating revenue and
negative $4.5 million and positive $13.6 million in adjusted EBITDA for fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively.

A substantial portion of our revenue in the Europe Caspian region is contracted in the British pound sterling, which weakened
significantly against the U.S. dollar in fiscal year 2017 as a result of Brexit. The movement of exchange rates decreased operating
revenue, operating income and adjusted EBITDA by $79.4 million, $26.7 million and $35.1 million, respectively, from translation
of results compared to fiscal year 2016. Additionally, we recorded foreign exchange losses of $18.5 million and $11.1 million as
ofMarch 31,2017 and 2016, respectively, from the revaluation of assets and liabilities on British pound sterling functional currency
entities which is recorded in other income (expense), net and included in adjusted EBITDA. Including both the translation and
revaluation impacts, adjusted EBITDA was reduced by $35.1 million and $9.0 million during fiscal year 2017 and 2016,
respectively, resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates.

Additionally, during fiscal year 2017, we recorded an impairment of $8.7 million for the remaining goodwill related to
Eastern Airways. During fiscal year 2016, we recorded impairments of goodwill and intangibles of $21.2 million relating to Eastern
Airways and impairment of goodwill for operations in Norway of $12.1 million. These impairment charges contributed to a portion
of the decline in operating income in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, but were adjusted for in our calculation of adjusted EBITDA.
For additional details on the impairment of goodwill and intangibles, see Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The decrease in operating margin and adjusted EBITDA margin is primarily a result of the impact from the downturn in the
offshore energy industry, which was only partially offset by the start-up of the U.K. SAR bases and cost reduction activities.
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Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

The year-over-year increase in operating revenue primarily resulted from the start-up of seven U.K. SAR bases during fiscal
year 2016, which contributed $128.3 million in additional operating revenue, and the addition of a new oil and gas contract that
commenced in late fiscal year 2015 and ended during the March 31, 2016 quarter which contributed $42.1 million in additional
operating revenue in fiscal year 2016. Partially offsetting these increases was a decrease in operating revenue for fiscal year 2016
reflecting the impact of the downturn in the oil and gas industry, which resulted in decreased activity levels with our oil and gas
clients and also impacted our revenue for Eastern Airways. Eastern Airways contributed $133.5 million and $144.8 million in
operating revenue and $13.6 million and $21.6 million in adjusted EBITDA for fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Additionally, a substantial portion of our operations in the Europe Caspian region are contracted in British pound sterling
and Norwegian kroner, both of which weakened significantly against the U.S. dollar in fiscal year 2016. Foreign currency exchange
rate changes resulted in a $65.8 million reduction in revenue for our Europe Caspian region year-over-year.

Operating income and operating margin for fiscal year 2016 were significantly impacted by impairments of goodwill and
intangibles of $21.2 million relating to Eastern Airways. Operating income and operating margin for the fiscal year 2016 also
were impacted by an impairment of goodwill for operations in Norway of $12.1 million. These impairment charges resulted from
lower forecasted results for future periods due to the ongoing oil and gas industry downturn. For additional details on the impairment
of goodwill and intangibles, see Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual
Report. The reduction in oil and gas and fixed wing revenue and the impairment charges were the primary drivers of the year-
over-year decrease in operating income and operating margin. Operating income, operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA margin were negatively impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which reduced operating income by
$3.6 million and adjusted EBITDA by $9.0 million compared to fiscal year 2015. The changes in foreign currency exchange rates
had minimal impact on operating margin. Adjusted EBITDA margin declined in fiscal year 2016 due to the impact of the downturn
in the offshore energy industry and foreign currency exchange rate changes only partially offset by the start-up of U.K. SAR bases
and cost reduction activities. The involuntary separation program initiated in July 2015, combined with a prior voluntary separation
program, resulted in $6.7 million in severance expense during fiscal year 2016, which is excluded from adjusted EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA margin.

Additionally, operating income, operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin in fiscal years 2016 and
2015 benefited from the recovery of $14.3 million and $7.5 million, respectively, in credits for maintenance expense from original
equipment manufacturers resulting from settlement for aircraft performance and transportation costs.

Africa
Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015
(In thousands, except percentages)

Operating revenue ....................... $200,104 $249,545  $336,005 $ (49,441)  (19.8)% $(86,460)  (25.1)%
Earnings from unconsolidated

affiliates, net of losses................ $§ 2,068 $§ 2,068 § 2,068 $ — —% $ — — %
Operating inCOME ..............oveveenn... $ 30,179 $ 19,702 $ 91,758 $ 10,477 532 % $(72,056)  (78.5)%
Operating Margin................ooo....... 15.1% 7.9% 27.3% 72% 9.1 % (194)% (71.1)%
Adjusted EBITDA ......oovvvererreenne.. $ 51,553 $ 60,371 $109,783 $ (8,818)  (14.6)% $(49,412)  (45.0)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin............. 25.8% 24.2% 32.7% 1.6% 6.6 % (8.5)%  (26.0)%
Rent eXpense..........ccerereeveveennnnas § 8101 $ 7456 $ 6974 §  (645) 87% § (482) (6.9)%

The Africa region comprises all of our operations and affiliates on the African continent, including Nigeria, Tanzania, and
Egypt.
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Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

Operating revenue for Africa decreased in fiscal year 2017 primarily due to an overall decrease in activity resulting from
the downturn of the oil and gas industry. The decreased activity levels reduced revenue by $59.7 million, which was only partially
offset by $7.5 million from new contracts and increased activity on a contract. Additionally, Eastern Airways began providing
fixed wing services in Africa in October 2015, which generated $4.2 million and $0.2 million of operating revenue for fiscal years
2017 and 2016, respectively. A majority of our revenue in our Africa region is contracted at fixed U.S. dollar rates, resulting in
minimal exposure to the devalued Nigerian naira upon translation into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes.

Operating income and operating margin for the Africa region were significantly impacted by an impairment of goodwill of
$6.2 million during fiscal year 2016, which resulted from lower forecasted results for future periods due to the ongoing oil and
gas industry downturn. For additional details on the impairment of goodwill, see Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Operating income, operating margin and adjusted EBITDA margin increased in fiscal year 2017 primarily due to a decline
in direct costs (including a $10.6 million decrease in salaries and benefits and an $8.6 million decrease in maintenance expense)
and a $7.5 million decrease in general and administrative expenses, partially offset by the decrease in revenue discussed above.
Operating expenses were $17.7 million lower in fiscal year 2017 due to the devaluation of the Nigerian naira which resulted in
naira-based expenses translating into fewer U.S. dollars. Also, during fiscal year 2016, we recorded $4.7 million in bad debt
expense related to two clients in this region. Operating income and operating margin in fiscal year 2017 also benefited from a
decrease in depreciation and amortization expense as a result of a lower amount of accelerated depreciation of $6.0 million versus
$16.8 million in fiscal year 2016. Adjusted EBITDA declined as the impact to decreased revenue was only partially offset by cost
reduction activities and the favorable exchange rate impact in fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016.

During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we recorded $4.5 million and $5.2 million, respectively, in severance expense resulting
from voluntary and involuntary separation programs as part of our restructuring efforts, which is excluded from adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA margin.

The increase of operating margin and adjusted EBITDA margin is primarily related to the reduction of operating expense
due to the devaluation of the Nigerian naira and cost reduction activities, partially offset by the reduction in revenue due to the
downturn of the oil and gas industry.

Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

Operating revenue for the Africa region in fiscal year 2016 decreased due to an overall decrease in activity which resulted
from the downturn in the oil and gas industry. Activity declined with some customers and certain contracts ended, reducing revenue
by $85.8 million, and the temporary operational suspension of our S-76 fleet reduced revenue in fiscal year 2016 by $6.8 million,
which was only partially offset by a $5.7 million increase due to new contracts.

As discussed above, operating income and operating margin for the Africa region were significantly impacted by an
impairment of goodwill of $6.2 million during fiscal year 2016. Operating income, operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA margin decreased in fiscal year 2016 primarily due to the decline in activity, $4.7 million of bad debt expense
recorded in fiscal year 2016 and an increase in depreciation and amortization expense of $16.8 million primarily as a result of
management’s decision to exit certain aircraft fleet types operating in this market sooner than originally anticipated. Offsetting
these declines were decreases in salaries and benefits expense of $21.1 million, maintenance expense of $7.2 million, training
expense of $3.3 million and travel and meals expense of $1.6 million due to cost reduction initiatives implemented in this region
as a part of organizational restructuring efforts. Additionally, during fiscal years 2016 and 2015, we recorded $5.2 million and
$0.9 million in severance expense resulting from voluntary and involuntary separation programs as part of these restructuring
efforts, which is excluded from adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin
decreased primarily due to the decline in activity in this region and $4.7 million of bad debt expense recorded in fiscal year 2016.
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Americas

Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015
(In thousands, except percentages)

Operating revenue ....................... $220,544  $290,299 $351,429  $(69,755)  (24.0)% $(61,130)  (17.4)%
Earnings from unconsolidated

affiliates, net of 10SS€S............... § 5207 § (2,117) § (4946) § 7,324 346.0 % $ 2,829 572 %
Operating iNCOME .......convveerrreenne.. $ 4224 S 34463 $ 79,176 $(30239)  (87.7)% $(44,713)  (56.5)%
Operating margin.......................... 1.9% 11.9% 22.5% (10.0)%  (84.0)% (10.6)%  (47.1)%
Adjusted EBITDA .......oooovoeeeenenne.. $ 39,952 $ 71,958 $115201  $(32,006)  (44.5)% $(43,243) (37.5)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin............. 18.1% 24.8% 32.8% ©.7% (27.0)% 8.00% (24.49)%
ReNt EXPENSE..vrrrvvererreerrereeeeereeree $ 23,015 $ 21,016 $ 20,734 $ (1,999) (9.5)% $  (282) (1.4)%

The Americas region comprises all our operations and affiliates in North America and South America, including Brazil,
Canada, Trinidad and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico.

Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

Operating revenue decreased in fiscal year 2017 primarily due to a decline in activity in our U.S. Gulf of Mexico operations
resulting from the oil and gas industry downturn that reduced operating revenue by $64.6 million, a decrease of $7.5 million in
Brazil due to fewer aircraft leased to Lider and a decrease in Suriname of $5.2 million due to the end of a contract. These decreases
were partially offset by a new contract in Guyana, which increased operating revenue by $6.5 million.

Operating income, operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin were negatively impacted by
unfavorable exchange rate changes in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, which reduced our earnings from our investment in Lider by
$3.2 million and $22.4 million in fiscal year 2017 and 2016, respectively. Excluding this impact, in fiscal year 2017 and 2016,
earnings from our investment in Lider would have been $11.3 million and $22.3 million, respectively, operating income for the
Americas region would have been $7.3 million (3.3% operating margin) and $56.9 million (19.6% operating margin), respectively,
and adjusted EBITDA for the Americas region would have been $43.1 million (19.6% adjusted EBITDA margin) and $94.4 million
(32.5% adjusted EBITDA margin), respectively. This year-over-year decrease in the Americas region’s operating income, operating
margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin primarily resulted from a decline in revenue due to the decline in activity
discussed above and reduced pre-foreign exchange earnings from our investment in Lider, partially offset by a decrease in direct
costs, including an $11.2 million decrease in maintenance expense and an $8.0 million decrease in salaries and benefits due to
cost reduction initiatives.

During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we recorded accelerated depreciation expense on aircraft exiting our fleet of $3.9 million
and $6.0 million, respectively, and we recorded severance expense related to organizational restructuring efforts of $1.2 million
and $2.1 million, respectively. Depreciation and amortization, including accelerated depreciation, and severance expense recorded
during fiscal years 2017 and 2016 were excluded from adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin.

Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

Operating revenue decreased in fiscal year 2016 primarily due to a decrease in the number of small and medium aircraft on
contract in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico resulting from the oil and gas industry downturn which reduced operating revenue by $58.7
million, a decrease of $8.4 million in Brazil due to fewer aircraft leased to Lider and a decrease of $3.7 million in Trinidad primarily
due to the end of a contract. These decreases were partially offset by new contracts in Suriname and Guyana which increased
operating revenue by $12.7 million.

Operating income, operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin were negatively impacted by
unfavorable exchange rate changes in fiscal years 2016 and 2015 which reduced our earnings from our investment in Lider by
$22.4 million and $25.7 million, respectively. Excluding this impact in fiscal years 2016 and 2015, our earnings from our investment
in Lider would have been $22.3 million and $21.5 million, respectively, and our adjusted EBITDA for the Americas region would
have been $94.4 million (32.5% adjusted EBITDA margin) and $140.9 million (40.1% adjusted EBITDA margin), respectively.
This year-over-year decrease in adjusted EBITDA primarily resulted from a decline in activity during fiscal year 2016.

In addition to the decrease from our investment in Lider, operating income, operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA margin were impacted by the reversal of $4.4 million of bad debt expense in fiscal year 2015 discussed below. These
decreases were partially offset by a $19.9 million decrease in salaries and benefits and a $9.1 million decrease in maintenance
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expense which resulted from cost reduction initiatives and reduced flight activity. During fiscal year 2016, we also recorded
accelerated depreciation expense on aircraft exiting our fleet of $6.0 million and severance expense related to organizational
restructuring efforts of $2.1 million. Depreciation and amortization, including accelerated depreciation, and the severance expense
recorded during fiscal year 2016, were excluded from adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin.

During fiscal year 2015, we reversed $4.4 million of bad debt expense in the Americas region related to a client that had
previously filed for bankruptcy for which we subsequently settled and collected funds, and we recorded $1.6 million in costs
associated with the restructuring of this region and planned closure of our Alaska operations which related primarily to employee
severance and retention costs. The $1.6 million in restructuring costs in fiscal year 2015 was excluded from adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA margin.

Asia Pacific
Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015
(In thousands, except percentages)

Operating revenue ......................... $217,772 $272,054  $237,597  $(54,282) (20.0)% $ 34,457 14.5 %
Operating income (10sS) ................ $(20,870) $ 4,073 $ 12,455 $(24,943) (612.4)% $ (8,382) (67.3)%
Operating margin............c..ceeceeeen. (9.6)% 1.5% 5.2% (11.1)% (740.0)% B ND% (71.2)%
Adjusted EBITDA .......ooovvoeernnenn... $ (5,026) $ 28361 S 34830 $(33,387) (117.7)% $ (6,469)  (18.6)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin.......... (2.3)% 10.4% 14.7% (12.7)% (122.1)% (43)% (29.3)%
RENt EXPENSE.rrrrrrerrreerrereerrereeee $ 39,759  $ 37,053 $ 25151 $ (2,706) (7.3)% $(11,902)  (47.3)%

The Asia Pacific region comprises all our operations and affiliates in Australia and Southeast Asia, including Malaysia,
Sakhalin, and our fixed wing operations through Airnorth in Australia.

Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

Operating revenue decreased in fiscal year 2017 by $72.3 million primarily due to the ending of short-term oil and gas
contracts in Australia and a $4.3 million decrease due to a short-term contract in South Korea in fiscal year 2016, partially offset
by additional operating revenue of $17.2 million earned upon cancellation of a contract in fiscal year 2017 (see discussion below)
and a $1.7 million increase for Airnorth. A significant portion of our revenue in the Asia Pacific region is contracted in the Australian
dollar, which strengthened against the U.S. dollar in fiscal year 2017, resulting in an increase in revenue of $3.4 million year-over-
year. Airnorth contributed $77.1 million and $75.4 million, respectively, in operating revenue and $7.1 million and $12.4 million,
respectively, in adjusted EBITDA for fiscal years 2017 and 2016.

During March 2017, we came to an agreement with a client for which we had incurred significant start-up costs on a project
in Australia that was cancelled prior to contract commencement. In connection with the cancellation, we agreed to a termination
fee with the client of $11.1 million, which is recorded in operating revenue in fiscal year 2017. Additionally, we had previously
deferred revenue and costs of $6.1 million each related to this contract, which is included in operating revenue and direct costs in
fiscal year 2017.

Operating income, operating margin, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin decreased primarily due to decreased
activity which was only partially offset by a decrease in direct costs, including a decrease of $7.7 million in salaries and benefits
and a decrease of $9.4 million in maintenance expense, and the contract cancellation billing in March 2017. During fiscal year
2016, werecorded additional depreciation expense of $5.3 million for four large aircraft operating in this region due to management’s
decision to exit these fleet types earlier than originally anticipated, and during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we recorded $2.9 million
and $2.3 million, respectively, in severance expense related to organizational restructuring activities. The severance expense is
not included in adjusted EBITDA or adjusted EBITDA margin for fiscal years 2017 and 2016. Also, during fiscal year 2017, we
determined the contingent consideration related to Airnorth acquisition accrued in the purchase price was no longer probable of
being paid out and we reversed $5.9 million of an accrued liability to direct costs. The reversal of this continent consideration is
not included in adjusted EBITDA for fiscal year 2017.
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Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

In January 2015, Bristow Helicopters Australia acquired an 85% interest in Airnorth and in November 2015, purchased the
remaining 15% of the outstanding shares of Airnorth. Airnorth contributed $75.4 million in operating revenue and $12.4 million
in adjusted EBITDA for fiscal year 2016, which is an incremental $64.0 million in operating revenue and $11.7 million of adjusted
EBITDA compared to fiscal year 2015. Operating revenue also increased by $50.1 million from new contracts in Australia, offset
by $49.3 million due to the ending of short-term contracts in Australia and a $7.7 million decrease in Russia. A substantial portion
of our operations in the Asia Pacific region are contracted in the Australian dollar, which has weakened significantly against the
U.S. dollar since fiscal year 2015. Foreign currency exchange rate changes resulted in a reduction in our revenue for our Asia
Pacific region of $23.6 million year-over-year.

Operating income and operating margin decreased primarily due to an increase in costs of helicopter operations in this
region, including depreciation and amortization expense of $2.9 million ($3.8 million from Airnorth), maintenance expense of
$12.8 million ($7.2 million from Airnorth) and rent expense of $11.9 million ($6.7 million from Airnorth). Adjusted EBITDA
improved primarily due to the addition of Airnorth, partially offset by the inclusion of $4.6 million in credits for maintenance
expense from our original equipment manufacturer recorded during fiscal year 2015 as settlements for aircraft performance and
transportation costs. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin exclude the impact of increased rent expense from the
additional aircraft on lease in fiscal year 2016.

During fiscal years 2016 and 2015, we recorded additional depreciation expense of $5.3 million and $6.0 million, respectively,
for four large aircraft operating in this region due to management’s decision to exit these fleet types earlier than originally anticipated,
and during fiscal year 2016 we recorded $2.3 million in severance expense related to organizational restructuring activities. The
$2.3 million in severance expense is not included in adjusted EBITDA or adjusted EBITDA margin for fiscal year 2016. The
decline in adjusted EBITDA margin relates to the inclusion of $4.6 million in credits for maintenance expense from our original
equipment manufacturer recorded during fiscal year 2015 as settlements for aircraft performance and transportation costs, partially
offset by addition of Airnorth in fiscal year 2016. Before the benefit of the maintenance credits utilized during fiscal year 2015,
adjusted EBITDA margin was 12.7%, representing a decrease due to additional rent expense in fiscal year 2016, partially offset
by the addition of Airnorth.

Corporate and Other

Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015
(In thousands, except percentages)

Operating revenue ....................... $ 10369 $ 23487 $ 26412 $ (13,118) (55.9)% $ (2,925 (11.1)%
Earnings from unconsolidated

affiliates, net of losses................ $ (603) §$ — 3 — 3 (603) * 8§ — *
Operating 10SS ..........ovvevvereeereres $ (104,616) $ (118,796) $ (130,209) $ 14,180  119% $ 11,413 8.8 %
Adjusted EBITDA .......oovvveoeerreen.... $ (60,558) $ (79,119) $ (108,159) $ 18,561  23.5% $ 29,040  26.8 %
Rent eXpense........coveveeeveeereeerennan. $§ 70661 $ 9938 $§ 8614 § 2277 229% $ (1,324) (15.4)%

* percentage change too large to be meaningful or not applicable

Corporate and other includes our Bristow Academy operations, supply chain management and corporate costs that have not
been allocated out to other regions.

Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

Operating revenue decreased in fiscal year 2017 primarily due to a decline in Bristow Academy revenue of $9.7 million due
to a decline in military training and a decrease in third-party part sales of $3.1 million.

Operating loss and adjusted EBITDA improved in fiscal year 2017 primarily due to cost reduction activities that lowered
general and administrative costs, including a reduction in salaries and benefits of $4.8 million, professional fees of $5.1 million
and other costs of $4.5 million, partially offset by a decline in revenue discussed above. Additionally, fiscal year 2016 operating
loss included the impairment of goodwill for Bristow Academy of $10.2 million. Also, in fiscal year 2017, adjusted EBITDA
benefited from the favorable impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on our Corporate results of $10.9 million
compared to fiscal year 2016.
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During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we recorded $10.9 million and $7.7 million, respectively, related to organizational
restructuring costs, and fiscal years 2017 and 2016 include $7.6 million and $5.4 million, respectively, of inventory impairments,
and fiscal year 2016 includes the impairment of $10.2 million of Bristow Academy's goodwill, all of which are included in operating
loss and excluded from adjusted EBITDA.

Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

Operating revenue decreased primarily due to a decline in Bristow Academy revenue of $8.8 million, partially offset by an
increase in third party part sales of $2.6 million and the correction of an error in fiscal year 2015 discussed below, which decreased
operating revenue by $4.1 million in fiscal year 2015.

Operating loss during fiscal year 2016 included the impairment of goodwill for Bristow Academy of $10.2 million, which
resulted from lower forecasted results for future periods, and impairment of inventories of $5.4 million. For additional details on
the impairment of goodwill, see Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual
Report. Operating loss for fiscal year 2015 also included impairment of inventories of $7.2 million. Adjusted EBITDA improved
primarily due to a favorable impact from changes in foreign currency exchange rates on our Corporate results of $6.7 million
during fiscal year 2016. We recognized a benefit in both operating loss and adjusted EBITDA from a decline in compensation
expense of $24.4 million primarily due to management’s decision not to award bonuses during fiscal year 2016 and for our
performance cash plan resulting from recent Common Stock price performance.

During fiscal year 2016 we recorded severance expense of $6.2 million related to voluntary and involuntary separation plans
and during fiscal year 2015 we recorded $5.5 million of expense related to CEO succession, both of which are excluded from
adjusted EBITDA.

During fiscal year 2015, we determined that we had been improperly capitalizing profit on intercompany technical services
billings related to aircraft modifications. To correct this error, we reduced property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation,
by $4.4 million and increased deferred gains on aircraft sold and leased back included within other long-term liabilities by $0.9
million as of December 31, 2014. The impact on our consolidated statements of operations for fiscal year 2015 was an increase
in direct costs of $4.1 million. The error was not material to our consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2015 or our
previously reported consolidated financial statements for any period.

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets

The loss on disposal of assets in fiscal year 2017 included impairment charges of $12.5 million related to 14 held for sale
aircraft and losses of $2.0 million from the sale or disposal of 14 aircraft and other equipment. The loss on disposal of assets in
fiscal year 2016 included impairment charges of $29.6 million related to 16 held for sale aircraft and losses of $1.1 million from
the sale or disposal of 35 aircraft and other equipment. The loss on disposal of assets in fiscal year 2015 includes impairment
charges of $36.1 million related to 27 held for sale aircraft, partially offset by gains of $0.2 million from the sale of 44 aircraft
and other equipment.

Interest Expense, Net

Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015
(In thousands, except percentages)
Interest inCOME ..........ccoeveveeveenenen. $ 943 § 1,058 $ 956 $ (115)  (10.9% $ 102 10.7 %
Interest eXPense ........ocveeverveeeeennne (53,666) (42,039) (37,834) 11,627)  (27.1)% (4,205) (11.1)%
Amortization of debt discount....... (1,606) (1,000) (4,323) (606)  (60.6)% 3,323 76.9 %
Amortization of debt fees............... (5,759) (2,722) (2,712) (3,037) (111.6)% (10) (0.4)%
Capitalized interest ............ccecuenenn. 10,169 10,575 14,559 (406) (3.8)% (3.984) (27.4)%
Interest expense, net ............... $ (49919 § (34.128) $ (29354) $ (15.791) (463)% § (4774 (16.3)%

Interest expense, net increased in fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016 primarily due to an increase in borrowings
and an increase in amortization of debt fees. Interest expense, net increased in fiscal year 2016 compared to fiscal year 2015
primarily due to an increase in interest expense due to an increase in borrowings and a decrease in capitalized interest resulting
from lower construction in progress, partially offset by lower amortization of debt discount.
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Other Income (Expense), Net

Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015

(In thousands, except percentages)

Foreign currency gains (losses) by

(Y410 ) 1 L

Europe Caspian...........cccoco.ve...... $ (18511) $ (11,127) $ (9,264) $ (7,384) (66.4)% $ (1,863) (20.1)%

ATICA o (148) (421) (529) 273 64.8 % 108 20.4 %

AMETICAS ..oeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 1,682 (1,050) (250) 2,732 260.2 % (800) (320.0)%

Asia Pacific .....ccoceevrveiniienne, (427) 1,307 (1,211) (1,734) (132.7% 2,518 2079 %

Corporate and other.................... 14,456 6,951 4,706 7,505 108.0 % 2,245 47.7 %
Foreign currency losses.......... (2,948) (4,340) (6,548) 1,392 32.1 % 2,208 33.7 %
(07713 307 82 1,501 225 2744 % (1,419)  (94.5)%

Other income (expense),

NEL .t $§ (2,641) § (4258) § (5047) § 1,617 38.0% $ 789 15.6 %

Other income (expense), net decreased in fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016 primarily due to less of an unfavorable
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The foreign currency gains (losses) within other income (expense), net are
reflected within adjusted EBITDA of the regions shown in the table above.

Other income (expense), net decreased in fiscal year 2016 compared to fiscal year 2015 primarily due to less of an unfavorable
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Additionally, during fiscal year 2015, we recognized a gain of $3.9 million
on the sale of unconsolidated affiliates, partially offset by $2.6 million incurred in premium and fees for the repurchase of a portion
of our 6 %% Senior Notes, both of which are included in other income (expense), net on our consolidated statements of operations.

Taxes
Fiscal Year Ended Favorable
March 31, (Unfavorable)
2017 2016 2015 2017 vs 2016 2016 vs 2015
(In thousands, except percentages)

Effective tax rate " .............cc..c....... (22.6)% 2.6% 20.4% (25.2)% (969.2)% (17.8)%  (87.3)%
Net foreign tax on non-U.S.

CANINGS .....oveveeeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeenes $ 5165 $ 5079 $30515 $  (86) (1.7)% $ 25,436 83.4 %

Expense (benefit) of foreign
earnings indefinitely reinvested

abroad.......ccccooeiriiiieeee $ 1,546 $(12,634) $(52,428) $(14,180) (112.2)% $ (39,794) (75.9)%
Valuation allowance.............cccooe... $37,043 $ 20,068 $ 4,510 $(16,975) (84.6)% $ (15,558) (345.0)%
Benefit of foreign tax deduction in

the U.S. oo, $(3,540)  §(2,092) § — 5 1448 69.2% § 2,092 144.5 %
Expense (benefit) from change in

tax contingency ........c.ceeeveeemenne. $ 238 $ 382§ (65) $ 144 377 % $ (447) (310.4)%
Foreign statutory rate reduction...... $ 240 $ (©01) $ — % (1,14 (126.6)% $ 901 79.0 %
Benefit from foreign tax credits...... $ — $ —  $(12,566) $ — *  $ (12,566) (100.0)%
Impact of goodwill impairment...... $ 1,467 $ 9333 $ — § 7,866 843 % § (9,333) (118.6)%

) The effective tax rate for fiscal year 2017 represents income tax expense rate on a pre-tax net loss for the fiscal year. Due to a pre-tax

loss for fiscal year 2016, the effective tax rate for fiscal year 2016 represents the income tax benefit rate recorded for the period.

* percentage change too large to be meaningful or not applicable

A portion of our aircraft fleet is owned directly or indirectly by our wholly owned Cayman Island subsidiaries. Our foreign
operations combined with our leasing structure provided a material benefit to the effective tax rates for fiscal years 2017, 2016
and 2015. In fiscal year 2017, our unfavorable permanent differences, such as valuation allowances and non-tax deductible goodwill
write-off had the effect of increasing our income tax expense and reducing our effective tax rate applied to pre-tax losses. Also,
our effective tax rates for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 benefited from the permanent investment outside the U.S. of foreign
earnings, upon which no U.S. tax has been provided.
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Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

Our effective income tax rate for fiscal year 2017 is (22.6)% representing the income tax expense rate on a pre-tax net loss
for the fiscal year, which includes $37.0 million of tax expense for an increase in valuation allowance, a one-time non-cash tax
effect from repositioning of certain aircraft from one tax jurisdiction to another related to recent financing transactions resulting
in additional income tax expense of $22.5 million, $0.2 million of tax expense due to the revaluation of our deferred taxes as a
result of the enactment of a tax rate reduction in the U.K. and Norway and $3.5 million tax benefit due to the deduction of foreign
tax in lieu of foreign tax credits.

Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

Our effective income tax rate for fiscal year 2016 is 2.6% representing the income tax benefit rate for the fiscal year, which
was reduced by $20.1 million of tax expense for an increase in valuation allowance and increased by $0.9 million of tax benefit
due to the revaluation of our deferred taxes as a result of the enactment of a tax rate reduction in the U.K. and a $2.1 million tax
benefit due to the deduction of foreign tax in lieu of foreign tax credits.

Noncontrolling Interest

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest was $6.4 million for fiscal year 2017 compared to a net loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest of $4.7 million for fiscal year 2016 primarily due to lower earnings from Eastern Airways during fiscal
year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016. Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased to net loss attributable
to noncontrolling interest of $4.7 million for fiscal year 2016 compared to net income attributable to noncontrolling interest of
$4.4 million for fiscal year 2015 due to lower earnings from Eastern Airways during fiscal year 2016 compared to fiscal year 2015,
partially offset by the addition of Airnorth in January 2015. See Note 2 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $10.7 million, $116.0 million and $253.2 million during fiscal years 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively. Changes in non-cash working capital generated $18.4 million, $23.0 million and $1.9 million in cash
flows during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. During fiscal year 2017, we received dividends less than recorded
earnings of $4.4 million and during fiscal years 2016 and 2015 we received dividends in excess of recorded earnings of $2.6
million and $9.4 million, respectively. Cash flow from operations decreased in fiscal year 2017 due to the decreased earnings
which resulted from the decline in oil and gas activity across all regions and includes $20.9 million in organizational restructuring
costs in fiscal year 2017. Cash flow from operations decreased in fiscal year 2016 due to lower earnings which resulted from the
decline in oil and gas activity across all regions, $47.1 million of higher rent expense due to additional leased aircraft and includes
$27.0 million in organizational restructuring costs in fiscal year 2016.

Investing Activities

Cash flows used in investing activities were $116.3 million, $316.8 million and $203.1 million for fiscal years 2017, 2016
and 2015, respectively. Cash was used primarily for capital expenditures as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Number of aircraft delivered:
IMEAIUM ...ttt ettt e e eeeveeeveeeaeeens 5 1 6
LaTZe ettt e — 3 10
SAR QIICTaft ....oooviiciiiiiiceecce e 4 4 5
Total aIrCrafl.........cooveeevieeiiiiieeie et 9 8 21
Capital expenditures (in thousands):
Aircraft and related equipment ..............coooveiiveiiviicieeeeieeeees $ 127,447 $ 285,530 $ 476,368
ORET ..ottt ettt 7,663 86,845 125,466
Total capital eXpenditures...........ccovevvvveeireiireieeeceeereeereas $ 135.110 $372.375 $601.834
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In addition to these capital expenditures, investing cash flows were impacted by the following items during the last three
fiscal years:

Fiscal Year 2017 — During fiscal year 2017, we received proceeds of $18.5 million primarily from the sale or disposal of
14 aircraft and certain other equipment.

Fiscal Year 2016 — During fiscal year 2016, we received $30.8 million in proceeds primarily from the sale or disposal of
32 aircraft and certain other equipment (including $13.4 million in insurance recoveries) and $29.2 million from the sale of three
aircraft, which we subsequently leased back.

Fiscal Year 2015 — During fiscal year 2015, we received $25.7 million in proceeds from the disposal of 30 aircraft and
certain other equipment. Also, we received $8.5 million in insurance recoveries and $380.7 million from the sale of 14 aircraft
which we subsequently leased back. Additionally, we sold our 50% interest in HCA for $4.2 million. Cash was used for the
acquisition of an 85% interest in Airnorth for $20.3 million, net of cash received.

For further details on Airnorth, see Note 2 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Financing Activities

We generated cash from financing activities of $107.5 million and $191.6 million during fiscal years 2017 and 2016,
respectively, and used cash in financing activities of $128.3 million during fiscal year 2015.

During fiscal year 2017, we received $300.6 million from borrowings on our Revolving Credit Facility, $200 million from
the Lombard debt and $200 million from the Macquarie debt. During fiscal year 2017, we used cash to repay debt of $570.3 million
and pay dividends of $9.8 million on our Common Stock.

During fiscal year 2016, we received $580.9 million from borrowings on our Revolving Credit Facility, $200 million from
borrowings on our $200 million Term Loan Credit Facility and $127.4 million from borrowings on our $350 million Term Loan.
During fiscal year 2016, we used cash to repay debt of $677.0 million, including $115 million of our 3% Convertible Senior Notes,
and pay dividends of $38.1 million on our Common Stock.

During fiscal year 2015, we received $453.0 million from borrowings on our Revolving Credit Facility and $5.2 million in
proceeds from the issuance of Common Stock upon exercise of stock options. During fiscal year 2015, we used cash to repay debt
of $460.3 million, pay dividends of $45.1 million on our Common Stock and repurchase $80.8 million of our Common Stock.

Future Cash Requirements
Debt Obligations

Total debt as of March 31, 2017 was $1.3 billion, of which $131.1 million was classified as current. Our significant debt
maturities relate to our Revolving Credit Facility, $200 million Lombard debt, $200 million Macquarie debt, $350 million Term
Loan and 6 ¥4% Senior Notes. The following table summarizes the maturity year for our significant debt as of March 31, 2017:

Debt Maturity

Revolving Credit Facility ..........c.ccocec.... April 29, 2019
Lombard Debt.........cccoooeiiiiiiiecene. December 29, 2023 and January 23, 2024
Macquarie Debt ........cccceveeiinieniiieenee, March 31, 2022
Term Loan .......ccoeeeeveeieiieiieceeeee, April 29, 2019
6 V4% Senior NOteS......ccoeeevueeeeiveeeeneeenn. October 15, 2022

See further discussion of outstanding debt as of March 31, 2017 and our debt issuances and our debt redemptions in Note
5 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Pension Obligations

AsofMarch 31,2017, we had recorded on our balance sheet a $61.6 million pension liability related to the Bristow Helicopters
Limited and Bristow International Aviation (Guernsey) Limited pension plans. The liability represents the excess of the present
value of the defined benefit pension plan liabilities over the fair value of plan assets that existed at that date. The minimum funding
rules of the U.K. require the employer to agree to a funding plan with the plans’ trustee (the “Trustee”) for securing that the pension
plan has sufficient and appropriate assets to meet its technical provisions liabilities. In addition, where there is a shortfall in assets
against this measure, we are required to make scheduled contributions in amounts sufficient to bring the plan up to 100% funded
as quickly as can be reasonably afforded. The employer contributions for the main U.K. pension plan for fiscal years 2017, 2016
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and 2015 were £12.4 million ($15.5 million), £12.4 million ($17.8 million), and £12.5 million ($18.6 million), respectively. See
further discussion of our pension plans in Note 9 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have various contractual obligations that are recorded as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. Other items, such
as certain purchase commitments, interest payments and other executory contracts are not recognized as liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheet but are included in the table below. For example, we are contractually committed to make certain
minimum lease payments for the use of property and equipment under operating lease agreements.

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and other commercial commitments on an
undiscounted basis as of March 31, 2017 and the future periods in which such obligations are expected to be settled in cash. In
addition, the table reflects the timing of principal and interest payments on outstanding borrowings as of March 31,2017. Additional
details regarding these obligations are provided in Note 5, 6, 7 and 9 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Payments Due by Period
Fiscal Year Ending March 31,
2019 - 2021 - 2023 and
Total 2018 2020 2022 beyond
(In thousands)
Contractual obligations:
Long-term debt and short-term borrowings:
Principal M ..o $ 1,293,557 $134,009 $ 428834 $186,223 $ 544,491
Interest @ ........oovorveeeeeeee e 262,217 59,027 96,030 76,536 30,624
Aircraft operating leases @ ...........coccoovivinann. 509,428 179,940 260,844 59,257 9,387
Other operating leases ... ) 76,817 11,319 18,740 14,390 32,368
Pension obligations ©..........c..ccocoovivrinnnnnn. 68,289 15,844 31,688 20,757 —
Aircraft purchase obligations @7 ... 408,268 61,238 159,498 140,860 46,672
Other purchase obligations ® ........................ 55,148 55,148 — — —
Total contractual cash obligations............... $ 2,673,724 $516,525 $§ 995,634 §498,023 $§ 663,542
Other commercial commitments: -
Letters Of CTedit.....oveveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen, $ 11,959 $ 11,959 $ — — $ —
Contingent consideration O e, 3,051 — 3,051 — —
Total commercial commitments.... $ 15,010 $ 11959 $ 3,051 $ — 3 —

M Excludes unamortized discount of $0.2 million on the Term Loan and unamortized debt issuance cost of $11.3 million.

@ Interest payments for variable rate interest debt are based on interest rates as of March 31, 2017.

® Represents separate operating leases for aircraft. During fiscal year 2017, we entered into 11 new aircraft operating leases. We have not taken delivery
of one of the aircraft for which we signed a lease. The related amounts for that lease are not included in the table above.

@ Represents minimum rental payments required under non-operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one
year.

©®  Represents expected funding for pension benefits in future periods. These amounts are undiscounted and are based on the expectation that the U.K.
pension plan will be fully funded in approximately five years. As of March 31,2017, we had recorded on our balance sheet $61.6 million pension liability
associated with these obligations. The timing of the funding is dependent on actuarial valuations and resulting negotiations with the plan trustees.

©®  Includes $2.9 million for final payments for aircraft delivered during fiscal year 2017 that is included in accounts payable as of March 31, 2017.

™ Includes $80.6 million for five aircraft orders that can be cancelled prior to delivery dates. During fiscal year 2017, we made non-refundable deposits
of $4.5 million related to these aircraft.

®  Other purchase obligations primarily represent unfilled purchase orders for aircraft parts, commitments associated with upgrading facilities at our bases
and non-cancelable power-by-the-hour maintenance commitments. For further details on the non-cancelable power-by-the-hour maintenance
commitments, see Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

@ Includes $3.1 million related to Airnorth as of March 31, 2017. The Airnorth purchase agreement includes a potential earn-out of A$17 million ($13
million) to be paid over four years. During fiscal year 2016, a portion of the first year earn-out payment of A$2 million ($1.5 million) was paid as Airnorth
achieved agreed performance targets. The remaining Airnorth earn-out, which is contingent upon both the achievement of agreed performance targets
and the continued employment of the selling shareholders, will be included as general and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of
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operations as earned. The earn-out for Airnorth is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date until the contingency is resolved and any changes in
estimated fair value are recorded as accretion expense included in interest expense on our consolidated statements of operations.

Financial Condition and Sources of Liquidity

The following table summarizes our capital structure and sources of liquidity as of March 31,2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

March 31,
2017 2016
Capital structure:
6 V4% Senior Notes due 2022 .......oveeeveiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 401,535 $ 401,535
TEIM LOAN .. e 261,907 335,665
Term Loan Credit Facility........occevvieieiieieiieieieciecieeeece e 45,900 200,000
Revolving Credit FaCility .......ccoooveiirieiiiiiieeeeeeceeee e 139,100 144,000
Lombard DEbt .........ooooueieiiieeeee e 196,832 —
MacqUAri€ DEbt ........c.eoieieiieiecieeeeee et 200,000 —
ATNOTTh DEbL ... 16,471 19,652
Eastern Airways Debt 15,326 15,643
Oher DEDL ..ottt 16,293 24,394
TOLAl AEDt (oo 1,293,364 1,140,889
Stockholders’ INVESTMENT ........vviiiiiiieiieieeieiieeee e e e e e e eaaees 1,294,232 1,509,892
Total CaPItal.....cc.eeieiieiieiee e et $ 2,587,596  $ 2,650,781
Liquidity:
CASH L.t .. $ 96,656 § 104,310
Undrawn borrowing capacity on Revolving Credit Facility 260,320 255,420
Total TQUIAIEY ..ottt $ 356976 $ 359.730
Adjusted debt to equity TAtIo P.......ccvuecruemcreireieircneiseceiereeeiecee e 145.8% 119.3%

M Total debt excludes unamortized debt issuance costs.

@ As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, adjusted debt includes balance sheet debt of $1.3 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively, excluding unamortized debt

issuance costs, the net present value of operating leases of $520.0 million and $578.3 million, respectively, letters of credit, bank guarantees and financial
guarantees of $12.0 million and $11.7 million, respectively, and the unfunded pension liability of $61.6 million and $70.1 million, respectively. Adjusted
debt to equity ratio is a non-GAAP financial measure that management believes provides meaningful supplemental information regarding our financial
position.

We manage our liquidity through generation of cash from operations while assessing our funding needs on an ongoing basis.
Historically, while we have generated cash from operations, financing cash flows also have been a significant source of liquidity
over the past several years. The significant factors that affect our overall liquidity include cash from or used to fund operations,
capital expenditure commitments, debt service, pension funding, dividends, adequacy of bank lines of credit and our ability to
attract capital on satisfactory terms.

Substantially all of our cash balances are held outside the U.S. and are generally used to meet the liquidity needs of our non-
U.S. operations. Most of our cash held outside the U.S. could be repatriated to the U.S., but under current law, any such repatriation
would be subject to U.S. federal income tax, as adjusted for applicable foreign tax credits. We have provided for U.S. federal
income taxes on undistributed foreign earnings where we have determined that such earnings are not indefinitely reinvested. We
expect to meet the continuing funding requirements of our U.S. operations with cash generated by such U.S. operations, cash from
earnings generated by non-U.S. operations that are not indefinitely reinvested and our existing Revolving Credit Facility. If cash
held by non-U.S. operations is required for funding operations in the U.S., and if U.S. tax has not previously been provided on
the earnings of such operations, we would make a provision for additional U.S. tax in connection with repatriating this cash, which
may be material to our cash flows and results of operations.

We expect that our cash on depositas of May 19,2017 of approximately $111.0 million, proceeds from aircraft sales, available
borrowing capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility ($218.2 million as of May 19, 2017) and proceeds from the $230 million
secured equipment financing described under “Executive Overview — Recent Events — GE Commitment Letter”, as well as any
future financings (which may include additional equipment financings and capital market transactions), will be sufficient to satisfy
our operating needs, existing capital commitments and other contractual cash obligations, including our debt obligations.
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Exposure to Currency Fluctuations

See our discussion of the impact of market risk, including our exposure to currency fluctuations, on our financial position
and results of operations discussed under Item 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the U.S. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by generally accepted accounting
principles, whereas, in other circumstances, generally accepted accounting principles require us to make estimates, judgments and
assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon information available. We base our estimates and judgments on historical
experience, professional advice and various other sources that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that of our significant accounting policies,
as discussed in Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report, the following
involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity. Our management has discussed the development and selection of critical
accounting policies and estimates with the Audit Committee of our board of directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed our
disclosure.

Taxes

Our annual tax provision is based on expected taxable income, statutory rates and tax planning opportunities available to
us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. The determination and evaluation of our annual tax provision and tax positions
involves the interpretation of the tax laws in the various jurisdictions in which we operate and requires significant judgment and
the use of estimates and assumptions regarding significant future events such as the amount, timing and character of income,
deductions and tax credits. Changes in tax laws, regulations, agreements, tax treaties and foreign currency exchange restrictions
or our level of operations or profitability in each jurisdiction would impact our tax liability in any given year. We also operate in
many jurisdictions where the tax laws relating to the offshore oil service industry are open to interpretation which could potentially
result in tax authorities asserting additional tax liabilities. While our annual tax provision is based on the best information available
at the time, a number of years may elapse before the ultimate tax liabilities in the various jurisdictions are determined.

We recognize foreign tax credits available to us to offset the U.S. income taxes due on income earned from foreign sources.
These credits are limited by the total income tax on the U.S. income tax return as well as by the ratio of foreign source income in
each statutory category to total income. In estimating the amount of foreign tax credits that are realizable, we estimate future
taxable income in each statutory category. These estimates are subject to change based on changes in the market conditions in
each statutory category and the timing of certain deductions available to us in each statutory category. We periodically reassess
these estimates and record changes to the amount of realizable foreign tax credits based on these revised estimates. Changes to
the amount of realizable foreign tax credits can be significant given any material change to our estimates on which the realizability
of foreign tax credits is based.

We maintain reserves for estimated income tax exposures in jurisdictions of operation. The expenses reported for these taxes,
including our annual tax provision, include the effect of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that we consider appropriate,
as well as related interest. Tax exposure items primarily include potential challenges to intercompany pricing, disposition
transactions and the applicability or rate of various withholding taxes. These exposures are resolved primarily through the settlement
of audits within these tax jurisdictions or by judicial means, but can also be affected by changes in applicable tax law or other
factors, which could cause us to conclude that a revision of past estimates is appropriate. We believe that an appropriate liability
has been established for estimated exposures. However, actual results may differ materially from these estimates. We review these
liabilities quarterly. During fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015, we had accruals and releases of reserves for estimated tax exposures
of $0.2 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively. We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized
tax benefits as a component of our provision for income taxes. As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, we had $1.3 million and $1.1
million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits, all of which would have an impact on our effective tax rate, if recognized.

We do not believe it is possible to reasonably estimate the potential effect of changes to the assumptions and estimates
identified because the resulting change to our tax liability, if any, is dependent on numerous factors which cannot be reasonably
estimated. These include, among others, the amount and nature of additional taxes potentially asserted by local tax authorities;
the willingness of local tax authorities to negotiate a fair settlement through an administrative process; the impartiality of the local
courts; and the potential for changes in the tax paid to one country to either produce, or fail to produce, an offsetting tax change
in other countries. Our experience has been that the estimates and assumptions we have used to provide for future tax assessments
have proven to be appropriate. However, past experience is only a guide and the potential exists that the tax resulting from the
resolution of current and potential future tax controversies may differ materially from the amounts accrued.
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Judgment is required in determining whether deferred tax assets will be realized in full or in part. When it is estimated to
be more-likely-than-not that all or some portion of specific deferred tax assets, such as foreign tax credit carryovers or net operating
loss carry forwards, will not be realized, a valuation allowance must be established for the amount of the deferred tax assets that
are estimated to not be realizable. As of March 31, 2017, we have established deferred tax assets for foreign taxes we expect to
be realizable. Our ability to realize the benefit of our deferred tax assets requires that we achieve certain future earnings levels
prior to the expiration of our foreign tax credit carryforwards. In the event that our earnings performance projections or future
financial conditions do not indicate that we will be able to benefit from our deferred tax assets, valuation allowances would be
established following the “more-likely-than-not” criteria. We periodically evaluate our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets
and, in accordance with accounting guidance related to accounting for income taxes, will record any resulting adjustments that
may be required to deferred income tax expense in the period for which an existing estimate changes. If our facts or financial
results were to change, thereby impacting the likelihood of establishing and then realizing the deferred tax assets, judgment would
have to be applied to determine changes to the amount of the valuation allowance in any given period. Such changes could result
in either a decrease or an increase in our provision for income taxes, depending on whether the change in judgment resulted in an
increase or a decrease to the valuation allowance. We continually evaluate strategies that could allow for the future utilization of
our deferred tax assets.

We consider the earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely invested outside the U.S. on the basis of estimates
that future cash generation will be sufficient to meet future U.S. cash needs and specific plans for foreign reinvestment of those
earnings. As such, as of March 31, 2017, we have not provided for U.S. deferred taxes on the unremitted earnings of certain
foreign subsidiaries that are indefinitely invested abroad of $717.1 million. Should we decide to make distributions from the
unremitted earnings of these subsidiaries in the future, additional tax liabilities would arise, offset by any available foreign tax
credits. At the current time, a determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability is not practical.

We have not provided for deferred taxes in circumstances where we expect that, due to the structure of operations and
applicable law, the operations in such jurisdictions will not give rise to future tax consequences. Should our expectations change
regarding the expected future tax consequences, we may be required to record additional deferred taxes that could have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

On June 23, 2016, the U.K. voted to leave the European Union (EU). The exact nature, process and timing of the U.K.’s
exit from the EU are unknown. This has to date created business uncertainty: The U.K.’s future approach to EU freedom of
movement; market volatility; fluctuations in foreign exchange rates; changes to commodity prices; interest rates; and potential
changes to existing double tax treaties, all of which may impact us. Although it is too early to quantify the precise impact of the
U.K.’s exit from the EU, we will continue to monitor the economic consequences of the referendum.

Property and Equipment

Our net property and equipment represents 72% of our total assets as of March 31, 2017. We determine the carrying value
of these assets based on our property and equipment accounting policies, which incorporate our estimates, assumptions, and
judgments relative to capitalized costs, useful lives and salvage values of our assets.

Our property and equipment accounting policies are also designed to depreciate our assets over their estimated useful lives.
The assumptions and judgments we use in determining the estimated useful lives and residual values of our aircraft reflect both
historical experience and expectations regarding future operations, utilization and performance of our assets. The use of different
estimates, assumptions and judgments in the establishment of property and equipment accounting policies, especially those
involving the useful lives and residual values of our aircraft, would likely result in materially different net book values of our
assets and results of operations.

Useful lives and residual values of aircraft are difficult to estimate due to a variety of factors, including changes in operating
conditions or environment, the introduction of technological advances in aviation equipment, changes in market or economic
conditions, including changes in demand for certain types of aircraft, and changes in laws or regulations affecting the aviation or
offshore oil and gas industry. We evaluate the remaining useful lives of our aircraft when certain events occur that directly impact
our assessment of their remaining useful lives. Our consideration of ultimate residual value takes into account current expectations
of fair market value and the expected time to ultimate disposal. The determination of the ultimate value to be received upon sale
depends largely upon the condition of the aircraft and the flight time left on the aircraft and major components until the next major
maintenance check is required. The future value also depends on the aftermarket that exists as of that date, which can differ
substantially over time.

We review our property and equipment for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of assets or asset groups may be impaired or when reclassifications are made between property and equipment and assets
held for sale.
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Asset impairment evaluations for held for use asset groups are based on estimated undiscounted cash flows for the asset
group being evaluated. If the sum of the expected future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset group, we would
be required to recognize an impairment loss. When determining fair value, we utilize various assumptions, including projections
of future cash flows. A change in these underlying assumptions will cause a change in the results of the tests and, as such, could
cause fair value to be less than the carrying amounts. In such event, we would then be required to record a corresponding charge,
which would reduce our earnings. We continue to evaluate our estimates and assumptions and believe that our assumptions, which
include an estimate of future cash flows based upon the anticipated performance of the underlying contracts, are appropriate.
Impairment evaluations for assets held for sale are based on estimates derived from historical experience with sales, recent
transactions involving similar assets, quoted market prices for similar assets and condition and location of aircraft to be sold.

Supply and demand are the key drivers of aircraft idle time and our ability to contract our aircraft at economical rates. During
periods of oversupply, it is not uncommon for us to have aircraft idled for extended periods of time, which could be an indication
that an asset group may be impaired. In most instances our aircraft could be used interchangeably. In addition, our aircraft are
generally equipped to operate throughout the world. Because our aircraft are mobile, we may move aircraft from a weak geographic
market to a stronger geographic market if an adequate opportunity arises to do so. As such, our aircraft are considered to be
interchangeable within classes or asset groups and accordingly, our impairment evaluation is made by asset group. Additionally,
our management periodically makes strategic decisions related to our fleet that involve the possible removal of all or a substantial
portion of specific aircraft types from our fleet, at which time these aircraft are reclassified to held for sale and subsequently sold
or otherwise disposed of.

For aircraft types that are still operating where management has made the decision to sell or abandon the aircraft type at a
fixed date, an analysis is completed to determine whether depreciation needs to be accelerated or additional depreciation recorded
for an expected reduction in residual value at the planned disposal date.

Where a determination has been made to exit an entire asset group, the asset group is reviewed for potential impairment.
An impairment loss is recorded in the period in which it is determined that the aggregate carrying amount of assets within an asset
group is not recoverable. This requires us to make judgments regarding long-term forecasts of future revenue and cost related to
the assets subject to review. In turn, these forecasts are uncertain in that they require assumptions about demand for our services,
future market conditions and technological developments. Significant and unanticipated changes to these assumptions could require
a provision for impairment in a future period. Given the nature of these evaluations and their application to specific asset groups
and specific times, it is not possible to reasonably quantify the impact of changes in these assumptions.

Pension Benefits

Pension obligations are actuarially determined and are affected by assumptions including discount rates, compensation
increases and employee turnover rates. The recognition of these obligations through the statement of income is also affected by
assumptions about expected returns on plan assets. We evaluate our assumptions periodically and make adjustments to these
assumptions and the recorded liabilities as necessary.

Three of the most critical assumptions are the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the assumed discount rate
and the mortality rate. We evaluate our assumptions regarding the estimated long-term rate of return on plan assets based on
historical experience and future expectations on investment returns, which are calculated by our third-party investment advisor
utilizing the asset allocation classes held by the plans’ portfolios. We utilize a British pound sterling denominated AA corporate
bond index as a basis for determining the discount rate for our U.K. plans. We base mortality rates utilized on actuarial research
on these rates, which are adjusted to allow for expected mortality within our industry segment and, where available, individual
plan experience data. Changes in these and other assumptions used in the actuarial computations could impact our projected benefit
obligations, pension liabilities, pension expense and other comprehensive income. We base our determination of pension expense
on a fair value valuation of assets and an amortization approach for assessed gains and losses that reduces year-to-year volatility.
This approach recognizes investment and other actuarial gains or losses over the average remaining lifetime of the plan members.
Investment gains or losses for this purpose are the difference between the expected return calculated using the market-related
value of assets and the actual return based on the market-related value of assets.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We establish allowances for doubtful accounts on a case-by-case basis when we believe the payment of amounts owed to
us is unlikely to occur. In establishing these allowances, we consider a number of factors, including our historical experience,
changes in our client’s financial position and restrictions placed on the conversion of local currency to U.S. dollars, as well as
disputes with clients regarding the application of contract provisions to our services.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from services to major integrated oil and gas companies and government-
owned or government-controlled oil and gas companies. Our receivables are concentrated in certain oil-producing countries. We
generally do not require collateral or other security to support client receivables. If the financial condition of our clients was to
deteriorate or their access to freely-convertible currency was restricted, resulting in impairment of their ability to make the required
payments, additional allowances may be required.

Inventory Allowance

We maintain inventory that primarily consists of spare parts to service our aircraft. We establish an allowance to distribute
the cost of spare parts expected to be on hand at the end of an aircraft type’s life over the service lives of the related equipment,
taking into account the estimated salvage value of the parts. Also, we periodically review the condition and continuing usefulness
of the parts to determine whether the realizable value of this inventory is lower than its book value. Parts related to aircraft types
that our management has determined will no longer be included in our fleet or will be substantially reduced in our fleet in future
periods are specifically reviewed. If our valuation of these parts is significantly lower than the book value of the parts, an additional
provision may be required.

Contingent Liabilities

We establish reserves for estimated loss contingencies when we believe a loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. Our contingent liability reserves relate primarily to potential tax assessments, litigation, personal injury
claims and environmental liabilities. Income for each reporting period includes revisions to contingent liability reserves resulting
from different facts or information which becomes known or circumstances which change and affect our previous assumptions
with respect to the likelihood or amount of loss. Such revisions are based on information which becomes known or circumstances
that change after the reporting date for the previous period through the reporting date of the current period. Reserves for contingent
liabilities are based upon our assumptions and estimates regarding the probable outcome of the matter. Should the outcome differ
from our assumptions and estimates or other events result in a material adjustment to the accrued estimated reserves, revisions to
the estimated reserves for contingent liabilities would be required to be recognized.

Goodwill Impairment

We perform a test for impairment of our goodwill annually as of March 31 and whenever events or circumstances indicate
impairment may have occurred. We first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of
a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount and if a quantitative assessment should be performed. An entity may also bypass
the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit in any period and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test. The
qualitative factors considered during our assessment include the capital markets environment, global economic conditions, the
demand for helicopter services, changes in our results of operations, the magnitude of the excess of fair value over the carrying
amount of each reporting unit as determined in prior years’ quantitative testing and other factors.

We estimate the implied fair value of the reporting units using a variety of valuation methods, including the income and
market approaches. The determination of estimated fair value require us to use significant unobservable inputs, representative of
a Level 3 fair value measurement, including assumptions related to the future performance of the reporting units, such as projected
demand for our services and rates.

The income approach is based on a discounted cash flow model, which utilizes present values of cash flows to estimate fair
value. The future cash flows are projected based on our estimates of future rates for our services, utilization, operating costs,
capital requirements, growth rates and terminal values. Forecasted rates and utilization take into account current market conditions
and our anticipated business outlook. Operating costs are forecasted using a combination of our historical average operating costs
and expected future costs, including ongoing cost reduction initiatives. Capital requirements in the discounted cash flow model
are based on management’s estimates of future capital costs resulting from expected market demand in future periods. The estimated
capital requirements include cash outflows for new aircraft, infrastructure and improvements. A terminal period is used to reflect
our estimate of stable, perpetual growth. The future cash flows are discounted using a market-participant risk-adjusted weighted
average cost of capital (“WACC?”) for each of the reporting units and in total. These assumptions are derived from unobservable
inputs and reflect management’s judgments and assumptions.
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The market approach is based upon the application of price-to-earnings multiples to management’s estimates of future
earnings adjusted for a control premium. Management’s earnings estimates are derived from unobservable inputs that require
significant estimates, judgments and assumptions as described in the income approach.

For purposes of the goodwill impairment test, we calculate the reporting units’ estimated fair values as the average of the
values calculated under the income approach and the market approach. As of March 31, 2017, we had goodwill related to Airnorth.
We performed a qualitative analysis and concluded it is more likely than not that the fair value of Airnorth is not less than the
carrying value and, therefore, did not perform a quantitative analysis for Airnorth. Changes in assumptions used in the fair value
calculation could result in an estimated reporting unit fair value that is below the carrying value, which may give rise to an
impairment of goodwill.

We evaluate the estimated fair value of our reporting units compared to our market capitalization. The estimates used to
determine the fair value of the reporting units discussed above reflect management’s best estimates. Changes in the assumption
used in the fair value calculation could result in an estimated reporting unit fair value that is below the carrying value, which may
give rise to an impairment of goodwill.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report for discussion of
recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are subject to certain market risks arising from the use of financial instruments in the ordinary course of business. This
risk arises primarily as a result of potential changes in the fair market value of financial instruments that would result from adverse
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, credit risk and interest rates as discussed below. The sensitivity analyses presented
do not consider the effects that such adverse changes may have on overall economic activity, nor do they consider additional
actions we may take to mitigate our exposure to such changes. Actual results may differ. See the notes to our consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report for a description of our accounting policies and other information related to
these financial instruments.

Foreign Currency Risk

Through our foreign operations, we are exposed to currency fluctuations and exchange rate risks. The majority of our revenue
and expense from our North Sea operations are in British pound sterling. Approximately 34% of our gross revenue for fiscal year
2017 was translated for financial reporting purposes from British pound sterling into U.S. dollars. In addition, some of our contracts
to provide services internationally provide for payment in foreign currencies. Our foreign exchange rate risk is even greater when
our revenue is denominated in a currency different from the associated costs. We attempt to minimize our foreign exchange rate
exposure by contracting the majority of our services other than our North Sea operations in U.S. dollars. During fiscal years 2017,
2016 and 2015, we did not enter into hedging transactions to protect against foreign exchange risks related to our revenue.
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Throughout fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, our primary foreign currency exposure has been to the British pound sterling,
the euro, the Australian dollar, the Norwegian kroner, and the Nigerian naira. The value of these currencies has fluctuated relative
to the U.S. dollar as indicated in the following table:

Fiscal Years Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
One British pound sterling into U.S. dollars
HIZN et 1.48 1.59 1.72
AVETAZEC. ..ttt ettt ettt ettt b e st aee e 1.31 1.51 1.60
LOW ettt ettt e 1.21 1.39 1.47
AL PEriOd-€Nd....c..iiiiiiiiii e 1.25 1.44 1.48
One euro into U.S. dollars
HIZN et 1.15 1.16 1.39
AVETAZEC. ..ttt ettt ettt ettt b e st aee e 1.10 1.10 1.25
LOW ettt bttt 1.04 1.06 1.05
AL PEriOd-€Nd....c..iiiiiiiiii e 1.07 1.14 1.07
One Australian dollar into U.S. dollars
HIZN et 0.78 0.81 0.95
AVETAZEC. ..ttt ettt ettt ettt e b e st saee e 0.75 0.74 0.87
LOW ettt bttt 0.72 0.68 0.76
AL PEriOd-€Nd.......ieiiiiieie e 0.76 0.77 0.76
One Norwegian kroner into U.S. dollars
HIZH ot 0.1253  0.1367 0.1698
AVEIAZE. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt st sae 0.1198 0.1210  0.1507
LOW ettt bttt 0.1145 0.1114 0.1203
AL PETIO-ENd......cviiiiiiiieicicieccer ettt 0.1164 0.1209 0.1251
One Nigerian naira into U.S. dollars
HIZH ot 0.0050  0.0050 0.0063
AVEIAZE. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt eae e nae 0.0036  0.0050  0.0059
LOW ettt 0.0029  0.0050  0.0049
AL PETIO-ENd......cviiiiiiiieicicieccer ettt 0.0033  0.0050 0.0051

Source: FactSet and Oanda.com

Our earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses, are also affected by the impact of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates on the reported results of our unconsolidated affiliates. Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses,
decreased by $3.2 million, $22.4 million and $25.7 million during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, as a result of
the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on the earnings of our unconsolidated affiliates, primarily the impact of
changes in the Brazilian real to U.S. dollar exchange rate on earnings for our affiliate in Brazil. The value of the Brazilian real has
fluctuated relative to the U.S. dollar as indicated in the following table:

Fiscal Years Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
One Brazilian real into U.S. dollars
= 1 o SRR RRRR 0.3267 0.3437 0.4572
AVETAZE. ....eeneteneeeeieteeieeie et et ete bt e et en et e enseeseensesaeenseeneesseensessesnsenseensenneens 0.3036 0.2816 0.4096
L OW e e aaee s 0.2702 0.2378 0.3052
AL PEriOd-€Nd....c.eieiiiiieieciee et 0.3150 0.2822 0.3080

Source: FactSet and Oanda.com
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A hypothetical 10% change in the average U.S. dollar exchange rate relative to other currencies would have affected our

revenue, operating expense and operating income for fiscal year 2017 as follows:

British

pound Australian Norwegian Nigerian

sterling Euro dollar kroner Naira
REVENUE......coiiiiiiiieieee e 34 % 0.1% 1.2% 0.8 % 0.1%
OPperating EXPENSE.......ccveueeueruerererererreneenrenseneensensensens 24 % 0.2% 1.2% 0.7 % 0.3%
Operating INCOME ........cceeeueeererenerenieniesieneseenaeneeneens (13.7)% 0.9% 0.7% (1.1)% 3.5%

The effect of the hypothetical change in exchange rates ignores the effect this movement may have on other variables,
including competitive risk. If it were possible to quantify the impact of competitive risk, the results could be different from the
sensitivity effects shown above. In addition, all currencies may not uniformly strengthen or weaken relative to the U.S. dollar. In

reality, some currencies may weaken while others may strengthen.

In the past three fiscal years, our stockholders’ investment has decreased by $124.0 million as a result of translation
adjustments. Changes in exchange rates could cause significant changes in our financial position and results of operations in the

future.

As a result of the changes in exchange rates, we recorded foreign currency transaction losses of $2.9 million, $4.3 million

and $6.5 million during fiscal years 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

We estimate that the fluctuation of these currencies for fiscal year 2017 versus the prior fiscal year had the following effect

on our financial condition and results of operations (in thousands):

REVEINUE ...ttt et
OPETAtING EXPEIISE -..veuvevirvenirrineetenieseteseteneetenesseneeseneeseseseseesessesessenens
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses ...........c.cccoc......
NON-0PETAtING EXPEIISE ....vvevrerreererierierrereeriereereeseeseesessessessessessessessessens
Income before provision for inCOMe taXes ........ccocvveeverreecuerreereeneennenns
Provision from inCome taXes ..........cceeveruereesierieneeiesieeieseeeeeneeenens
NEL INCOMIEC. ... .eeuvieeieieeeierieetesteeiesteeteeteebeeseesseesaesseesesseensesseensessnensens
Cumulative translation adjustment..............ccocceeevereeeiereeceneeeneeiens
Total stockholders’ INVEStMENt............cevvrciererciereeiereeieeeeee e

$  (80,251)
71,994

(26,947)
59600

A hypothetical 10% decrease in the value of the foreign currencies in which our business is denominated relative to the U.S.
dollar as of March 31, 2017 would result in a $39.2 million decrease in the fair value of our net monetary liabilities denominated

in currencies other than U.S. dollars.
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Credit Risk

The market for our services and products is primarily the offshore oil and gas industry, and our clients consist primarily of
major integrated, national and independent oil and gas producers. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our clients and have
not historically required collateral. We maintain allowances for potential credit losses.

Cash equivalents, which consist of funds invested in highly-liquid debt instruments with original maturities of 90 days or
less, are held by major banks or investment firms, and we believe that credit risk in these instruments is minimal. We also manage
our credit risk by not entering into complex financial transactions or those with a perceived high level of credit risk.

For more information on the impact of the global market conditions see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Executive Overview — Market Outlook” and Item 7. “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Financial
Condition and Sources of Liquidity” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Interest Rate Risk

As of March 31, 2017, we had $1.3 billion of debt outstanding, of which $875.5 million carried a variable rate of interest.
The market value of our fixed rate debt fluctuates with changes in interest rates. The fair value of our debt has been estimated in
accordance with the accounting standard regarding fair value. The fair value of our fixed rate long-term debt is estimated based
on quoted market prices. The carrying and fair value of our long-term debt, including the current portion and excluding unamortized
debt issuance costs, are as follows (in thousands):

March 31,
2017 2016
Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
6 4% Senior NOLES ....cccveeeeeeeiieiieeieerie e e eiee e eiee e $ 401,535 $ 323,236 $ 401,535 § 277,059
Term LOan.........oocuieriiiiieeieeieecte e 261,907 261,907 335,665 335,665
Term Loan Credit Facility.........cccocoevveviievienieeieieceeienen, 45,900 45,900 200,000 200,000
Revolving Credit Facility..........cccoevvvveeniieceeniieiecieeiene 139,100 139,100 144,000 144,000
Lombard Debt.........c.cccveviiieiieieiiceecceee e 196,832 196,832 — —
Macquarie Debt...........cceevviiieriiiieiecieeeeeeeee e 200,000 200,000 — —
AIrnorth Debt.......coooviiiiviiiieiicieeceeeeeee e 16,471 16,471 19,652 19,652
Eastern Airways Debt .......c.ccccvvviievieniiiieeieciecieeiees 15,326 15,326 15,643 15,643
Other debt.......oooviiieiiieiicceeee e 16,293 16,293 24,394 24,394

$1.293364 $1.215.065 $1.140.889 $1.016.413

If prevailing market interest rates had been 1% higher as of March 31,2017, and all other factors affecting our debt remained
the same, the fair value of the 6 4% Senior Notes would have decreased by $13.9 million or 4.3%, respectively. Under comparable
sensitivity analysis as of March 31, 2016, the fair value of the 6 4% Senior Notes would have decreased by $13.1 million or 4.7%,
respectively.
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Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Bristow Group Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bristow Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017 and
2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, cash flows, and stockholders’ investment and
redeemable noncontrolling interests for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2017. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Bristow Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31,2017, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Bristow Group Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31,2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control
— Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO),
and our report dated May 23, 2017 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
May 23,2017
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017 2016 2015

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Gross revenue:

Operating revenue from non-affiliates............ocoeiririiieiiriereeieeereeeeeeee e, $ 1,276,374 $ 1,550,638 $ 1,639,263
Operating revenue from affiliates ..........coooevieiiiiiiiieeeee e, 71,476 78,909 87,724
Reimbursable revenue from non-affiliates .........ccccevvivveiieiiiiiiiiiiieieeceeee e 52,652 85,966 131,682

1,400,502 1,715,513 1,858,669

Operating expense:

DIIECE COS .ttt ettt e e e et e e e e et ae e e e e seaaeeeeeseenaaaeeeeessnnaeeeeeean 1,103,984 1,227,541 1,174,991
Reimbursable EXPEeNSE .......cc.veiuieierieierie ettt 50,313 81,824 124,566
Depreciation and amortiZation..........ecceveeiereerieieere e 118,748 136,812 114,293
General and admINISTIALIVE ........ooevveiieiiiiieiiee et e et e e e e e e e e e seaaeeeeeean 195,367 224,645 254,158
1,468,412 1,670,822 1,668,008
L 0SS ON IMPAITTIIENL . ...ttt ettt sttt st saeesae e saeennens (16,278) (55,104) (7,167)
Loss 0n diSposal Of @SSELS ......ce.eeruirierieiiiiiee ettt (14,499) (30,693) (35,849)
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of [0SS€S.........eeoverieririieniiereieeeee 6,945 261 (1,771)
Operating iNCOME (10SS) -.euveeuviruieiieieriete ettt st sae e sae e (91,742) (40,845) 145,874
INLETESt EXPENSE, NEL....ueeeeiieiieeiieiieeieentte et e streebeestreebeesseesbeessaesnseesssesnseessseenseenseeans (49,919) (34,128) (29,354)
Other iNCOME (EXPENSE), TEL ....vveviereerieriiiiieieieesteeeesreeesesteesesreesseereeseereesseernessessnens (2,641) (4,258) (5,047)
Income (loss) before provision for iINCOME tAXES ......cccvevveerreerieerreerieenieeieeneee e (144,302) (79,231) 111,473
Benefit (provision) for iINCOME tAXES ....c..eecvierieeeiierieeiiienieeteeseteereesreeveesveesseessneens (32,588) 2,082 (22,766)
NEt INCOME (10SS) .viuvieriierieiieietieteete ettt ettt et et e b e e s e steessesreessesreesaeernesseesnans (176,890) (77,149) 88,707
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests...........cocerereereeeeeeeenenne. 6,354 4,707 (4,407)
Net income (loss) attributable to Bristow Group..........ccccceeeveeeeviineeniieeenieeeenieeenens (170,536) (72,442) 84,300
Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling INterests...........oovvevveeeerreeeereereeseereeereennn. — (1,498)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders ............ccocceeviivieniiieninnnnns $ (170,536) $ (73.940) $ 84,300
Earnings (loss) per common share:
BaSIC ettt b bttt b e bttt ettt aeeneeae e $ (4.87) $ (2.12) § 2.40
DHIUIEA e $ (48NS (212 3 237
Cash dividends declared per common Share .............ccccoeveevveieeeieeieeeceecee e, $ 0.28 § 1.09 $ 1.28

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)

NEL INCOME (10SS) c.vevvieeteeeeeeeteee et et et et et e e et se et ese et e e et e s esesete et eseesessesessesensesensesensereneens $(176,890) $(77,149) $ 88,707
Other comprehensive loss:

Currency translation adjuStmMeEnts ..........ccceveeiereerierieeet ettt (21,636) (21,604) (71,617)

Pension liability adjustment, net of tax provision of $4.0 million, $4.4 million and

$10.6 MIlHON, TESPECLIVELY ...vvovivieeieiieeieticiecieet ettt ettt ettt e (11,511) 705 (36,978)

Total COMPIENENSIVE LOSS.....icuviiieiieiieiierie ettt ete sttt ettt e e e sse e e e sbeesaesaeesaesseensessnas (210,037)  (98,048)  (19,888)

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests ...........oeeverveevvereevieneerreeeennenne 6,354 4,707 (4,407)

Currency translation adjustments attributable to noncontrolling interests........................ (5,311) 1,409 (5,228)

Total comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests .................... 1,043 6,116 (9,635)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to Bristow Group...........cceeveeceerieciereerieneereeseeaeennes (208,994)  (91,932)  (29,523)

Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling iNterests ...........cceverveereecierieeieneereeeeee e — (1,498) —
Total comprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders............cccvevveieiiiiieinnennn. $(208,994) $(93.430) $ (29,523)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2017 2016
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash eQUIVALENLS.........cccertiiierieieieee ettt sae e s e sae e seesbesseessenseensenseenns $ 96,656 $§ 104,310
Accounts receivable from non-affiliates ...........ccceeeiiiiieiiiiiieeccc e 198,129 243,425
Accounts receivable from affiliates. ...........oooueiiieiiiiiie e 8,786 5,892
) FIN 1 110) & (=L PR RRPRRPRRRRO 124,911 142,503
ASSEES NEIA FOT SALE......eeiiiiiiiiieeie ettt ettt et e et e e et s e e e s eaaeesenaeeesnnes 38,246 43,783
Prepaid expenses and Other CUITENt ASSELS.........cveruirieriieieriieierieete st eeeseeeseeseesseeeeesbeessesseessesseenns 41,143 53,183
TOtAl CUITENE ASSELS.....veiiieeeieiteieeeeeieeetee e ettt e eete e eeeeeeeaeeeeeteeeeetaeeeeaaeeeesaeeeeaeeeeaseeennneesenseseanneeeenees 507,871 593,096
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates ...........ccc.oeiviiiiiiiiiiiiie e 210,162 194,952
Property and equipment — at cost:
Land and DUILAINES .....ooveeiiieee ettt ettt st et be et beenee e 231,448 253,098
ATrCraft and CQUIPIMENL.......c.eoiviiuiiitieiiitieiece ettt ettt ste et e steeaeseeesaesraebeesseseesseseessesseenns 2,622,701 2,570,577
2,854,149 2,823,675
Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortiZation.............c.veeververiereereneenieseeseeeesieeseseeseeseenns (599.785) (540.423)
2,254,364 2,283,252
GOOAWILL ...ttt ettt ettt et ettt e ettt e ete e beeaseebeetseeteeaseebeenseeseensesrsensessseseessans 19,798 29,990
(0 11T g 11T TSSO PPR 121,652 161,655
TOtAL @SSELS....eveeureitieetietteteete et et et e et e bt et este et e eteesbesteessesssesbeessesseessesseessesseessesseessesseensesssensessaesseasnans $ 3,113,847 §$ 3,262,945

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS AND STOCKHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT

Current liabilities:

ACCOUNES PAYADIE ...ttt ettt e st e st e seese s eebesse s ensessensenseseeseaneesensenns $§ 98215 $ 96,966
Accrued wages, benefits and related taXeS........oeouirieiirieiie e 59,077 59,431
INCOME tAXES PAYADIE ...vecvvivieiiicieeit ettt ettt et sbe et ste e b e s reesaesra e beeesebeessebeenseereenns 15,145 27,400
(01115 g ToTw gD 1T IR ¥ D= RS 9,611 7,995
DETEITEA TEVEIUE ... et e e et e et e e et eeeaeeeeaaeeeeaseeeenaeeeenes 19,911 24,206
Accrued maintenance and TEPAILS ........ccverveeieriieriieieieeeeteeeeteeeesteseessesaesseessessesssesseessenseesesseenes 22,914 22,196
ACCTUCA INTCTESE......eviiieeie et et e e et e e e e e e e e eeaeeeeeaeeeeeseeeeseeeeeneeeeeseeeenseeeenns 12,909 11,985
Other aCCrUEd HADIIITIES .....vviiiiiiiieiiie ittt e e e et e e e e eeaaae e e e s eeaaaeeeeseesnsaeeeeeesnnes 46,679 48,392
DETEITEA TAXES ..ot e e ettt e e e ettt e e e eeaaae e e e e eeaaaeeeesseaareeeseesraeeeeeesnnees 830 1,881
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt ...........ccoeevivieiieviiniecenieieeen, 131,063 60,394
Contingent CONSIACTALION. ......c.ieeerrieierrieierteeteetteteetteteesteseessesseessesseessesseessesseessesssensenssensesssensennes — 29,522
Total cuIrent HADIIITIES .....ccueeiviieiieeie ettt et s e e st e e eteesabe e teeeabeeteessbeensaesereas 416,354 390,368
Long-term debt, 1ess CUITENt MATUITEIES ... .eoveeeereieieeiieieetieie ettt ee st ee e aesseeeeeneens 1,150,956 1,071,578
Accrued pension HADIIITIES ........coouiiiiiiiieieee ettt ettt 61,647 70,107
Other liabilities and deferred CreditS.........ooouviiiuiiiiiiieieie et aaee s 28,899 33,273
DIETEITEA TAXES c.vveeieeeie ettt et e et e e e e e eate e e et e e e saeeesaneeeeenteeesnaeeessaeesaneeesenseeesnaeeean 154,873 172,254
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Redeemable noncontrolling iNTEIESt .........c.ecvereerierierierieeieie ettt e ee st eae e enaessaeseeneens 6,886 15,473
Stockholders’ investment:
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 90,000,000; outstanding: 35,213,991 and 34,976,743
shares (exclusive of 1,291,441 treasury Shares).........cccceevevverieriereerieieesieseesreesesreesesseesesseenns 379 377
Additional paid-in CAPItAL........c.ccviieiiriiiiiriieiereet ettt ettt b e sbesre b e reenseereenes 809,995 801,173
REtAINEA CAMMINGS ......eevieiiieiieiieieit ettt ettt e et e e eseesteestesseesaesseensesseesesssensenssenseessenseenes 991,906 1,172,273
Accumulated other cOMPrehensive 10SS .......veiiieiiirieiieiee e (328,277) (289,819)
Treasury shares, at cost (2,756,419 Shares)........cceevieieieeierieere e (184.,796) (184,796)
Total Bristow Group stockholders’” inVEeSIMENT ...........eeruiiieriirieiieiiesieeie e 1,289,207 1,499,208
INONCONLIOIIING INEEIESES. .. cuvievietietieiieteiteeie ittt et et e et e be e e e e seesesreessesreessesssesseesseseesseseessenseenns 5,025 10,684
Total Stockholders’ INVEStMENT.........cc.ivviiriiiieieieete et ettt ettt e steeseesreesaesreesaesreessesaeessessaessenseans 1,294,232 1,509,892
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and stockholders’ investment.............c..c..c..... $ 3,113,847 § 3,262,945

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEt INCOME (LOSS) ..vevivivirireetitetet ettt ettt ete oot e te et et e et e e te et et esse st essessereereersereans $(176,890) $ (77,149) § 88,707
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortiZation ............eeceeierieeierieiene et see e enens 118,748 136,812 114,293
Deferred INCOME tAXES ....cviiiieeiiieiieeieeeieeeeete et steete et e esteeeabe e baeeaeesseessseesseessseas 15,720 (51,643) (7,457)
Write-off of deferred financing fees.........occvevvieiiiiiiiiieiccceceee e 923 — 660
Discount amortization on long-term debt ...........ccceevveviieieriieienieiereee e 1,606 1,000 4,323
L0Ss 0N diSPoSal Of @SSELS .....eeevieiiiieiiiieiieeie ettt ettt ee e sreeae e esesenens 14,499 30,693 35,849
Gain on sale of unconsolidated affiliates ..........ccceceeveverinienenenincnccccccec — — (3,921)
L 0SS ON IMPAITTIIENL . ....ecueitieiiieiieie ettt ettt see st eeseeeeesreeeesseesesnnens 16,278 55,104 7,167
Extinguishment of debt .........oocoiiiiiiiii e — — 2,591
Stock-based COMPENSALION ........ccveeueeriieeieiieeieteeie et et et ete et eeeeste s e beessesseessesseenes 12,352 21,181 16,353
e o oo oD v amn 269 o
Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation............ccecuveeeriereereeneseene e — — (1,550)
Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in:
ACCOUNTS TECEIVADIE ...ttt et e et 23,759 46,608 24,112
INIVEITOTICS ... vevietieeietieiieeteet ettt e ste et e st e et esbe et e s te e b e eteesseesaeseeseesseessesseessesseessansnans (1,958) (3,380) (21,478)
Prepaid expenses and Other aSSELS.........cvverierierierieniieieeieie ettt ae e esaesenens 1,267 493 (25,485)
ACCOUNLS PAYADLC .....ooveiiieieciieie ettt sttt ae e neennens 15,052 13,316 (4,665)
ACCTUEd HADIIEIES ....vievieeiieiieeie ettt ettt ettt e be e e veereesebeeseeseneas (19,713) (34,035) 29,461
Other liabilities and deferred credits........oooviiiiiieiieiiieee e (6,503) (25,593) (15,152)
Net cash provided by Operating aCtiVities .........ccueeveeeirierireresieee e 10,702 116,026 253,226
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital EXPENAITUIES ... .c.veevieiieeieie et ete e ete sttt e et et etaesseeseesseesaesseessessaesensnens (135,110)  (372,375) (601,834)
Acquisitions, net of cash reCeiVed.........oivvieriiiirieiereeeeee e — — (20,303)
Proceeds from sale of unconsolidated affiliates..............ccoceeeeeiiieiiiiiciieieeeeeee e — — 4,185
Proceeds from asset diSPOSItIONS. ......cc.eeiuirieriieienieiereeie ettt 18,471 60,035 414,859
Investment in unconsolidated affiliate ............ccoeeveiieiiieiienieiececcceee e, — (4,410) —
Deposit received on aircraft held for sale ..........ccevieiieieriieceicecee e, 290 — —
Net cash used in INVESHNG ACIVITIES ....cverviereriieieriieieeieseestesieseesieete e esesseesaesseesseneeenns (116,349) (316,750)  (203,093)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from DOITOWINGS .......c.cceeierieriieieieeiete ettt st eeeens 708,267 928,802 454,393
Payment of contingent consideration...............cccueeeeiereerenieneseene e (10,000) (9,453) —
DEDE ISSUANCE COSES ..eeuvrerrieiieeiieeiieiieesteeeteesteessteeteesseeseesseesseessseesssesssessseeassessseenns (8,010) (5,139) —
Repayment of debt and debt redemption premiums ............occeeevveveereeriereeniereenienenens (570,328) (677,003) (460,274)
Partial prepayment of put/call obligation............ccceevevuirieriiecienieieseee e (49) (55) (59)
Acquisition of noncontrolling iNtEreStS...........eecvereerieriierieriere et see e — (7,309) (3,170)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest...........cevevvereereriereriere e (2,533) (153) —
Repurchase of common STOCK ........cceiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeee e — — (80,831)
Common stock dividends Paid..........cceecvevieiiiiiiiiiieieeeceeese e (9,831) (38,076) (45,078)
Issuance Of COMMON STOCK .......cuviiiiiiiieii et eaaee s — — 5,172
Tax benefit related to stock-based cOMPENSAtION...........ccvervieeerirerierieriesierie e — — 1,550
Net cash provided by (used in) financing aCIVILIES ........ceevveererireierieriereerieseeseeseeee e 107,516 191,614  (128,297)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents.............ccocevvrvenincennnen. (9,523) 9,274 (22,031)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..........c.ccocceeeerirreniieni e, (7,654) 164 (100,195)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ............cccooerereieneneneeeeeeeeee 104,310 104,146 204,341
Cash and cash equivalents at end of Period..........cccoevieiiieriiiiiiniicieieeeeee e $ 96,656 % 104310 $ 104,146
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities:
Deferred sale leaseback adVAnCe. .........c.c.eveeeeeueereeeeetieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ — $ 18,285 $ 69,680
Completion of deferred sale 1easeback ..........ccecvevieiriririiniiiirieeeeceeeeee e $ — $ (74,480) $(183,688)
Aircraft sold for future spare parts and MainteNanCe............ecceveereereenercenerceniennnans $ — $ 1,228 $ 13417
Aircraft purchased with short-term bOrroWings...........ceeveeeevueeeeriiiveenieceese e $ — § 24394 3§ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT AND REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

March 31, 2014 ..c.oooviiieieeeeeeeeeeee e
Issuance of common stock...........cceciiiiiinnne.
Correction of historical shares outstanding..........
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest .................
Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests......
Repurchases of common stock.........cccccevvueeennnene.
Common stock dividends ($1.28 per share) ........
Currency translation adjustments.............c.coeee...
Net iNCOME......ocviiiiicicicicicccicce e
Other comprehensive 10SS .........c.coveererirccninnene.

March 31, 2015..................

Issuance of common StocK...........ccvevvererieverennene.

Acquisition of noncontrolling interests................
Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests......
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest............
Common stock dividends ($1.09 per share) ........
Currency translation adjustments..............c.coe.e...
Net loss

Accretion of noncontrolling interests...................
Other comprehensive 10SS .........c.coveeerrccninnene.
March 31, 2016 ....c.ceviieicicniccienecereceeienene

Issuance of common stock .

Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests......
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest............
Common stock dividends ($0.28 per share) ........
Currency translation adjustments.............c.coeee...
Nt 10SS.viiiciiciicicceec e
Other comprehensive 10SS .........c.coveeerrccninnene.
March 31, 2017

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Total Bristow Group Stockholders’ Investment

Accumulated
Redeemable Common Additional Other Total
Noncontrolling Common Stock Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Noncontrolling Stockholders’
Interests Stock (Shares) Capital Earnings Loss Stock Interests Investment

$ 22,283 $ 373 35,708,469 $§ 762,813 $§ 1245220 $ (156,506) $ (103,965) $ 8,651 $ 1,756,586
— 3 290,754 22,194 — — — — 22,197

_ _ 91 _ _ _ _ _ _
3,427 — — (3,170) — — — — (3,170)
— — — — — — — (59) (59)
— — (1,160,940) — — — (80,831) — (80,831)
— — — — (45,078) — — — (45,078)
(2,837) — — — — — — (2,392) (2,392)

3,350 — — — 84,300 — — 1,056 85,356
— — — — — (113,823) — — (113,823)

26,223 376 34,838,374 781,837 1,284,442 (270,329) (184,796) 7,256 1,618,786

— 1 138,369 18,784 — — — — 18,785

(5,467) — — 552 — — — — 552
— — — — — — — (55) (55)
— — — — (153) — — — (153)
— — — — (38,076) — — — (38,076)

(1,070) — — — — — — 2,479 2,479
(5,711) — — — (72,442) — — 1,004 (71,438)
1,498 — — — (1,498) — — — (1,498)
— — — — — (19,490) — — (19,490)

15,473 371 34,976,743 801,173 1,172,273 (289,819) (184,796) 10,684 1,509,892

— 2 237,248 8,822 — — — — 8,824
— — — — — — — (49) (49)
— — — — — — — (2,533) (2,533)

— — — — (9,831) — — — (9,831)

(1,739) — — — — — — (3,572) (3,572)
(6,848) — — — (170,536) — — 495 (170,041)

— — — — — (38,458) — — (38,458)

$ 6,886 $ 379 35,213,991 $§ 809,995 $ 991,906 $ (328,277) $ (184,796) $ 5,025 $ 1,294,232

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BRISTOW GROUP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — OPERATIONS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Operations

Bristow Group Inc., a Delaware corporation (together with its consolidated entities, unless the context requires otherwise,
“Bristow Group”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”), is the leading provider of industrial aviation services to the worldwide
offshore energy industry based on the number of aircraft operated. With a fleet of 459 aircraft as of March 31, 2017, including 111
held by unconsolidated affiliates, we and our affiliates conduct major transportation operations in the North Sea, Nigeria and the
U.S. Gulf of Mexico, and in most of the other major offshore energy producing regions of the world, including Australia, Brazil,
Canada, Russia and Trinidad. We and our affiliates also provide private sector search and rescue (“SAR”) services in Australia,
Canada, Nigeria, Norway, Russia, Trinidad and the United States, and public sector SAR services in the U.K. on behalf of the
Maritime & Coastguard Agency. Certain of our affiliates also provide regional fixed wing scheduled and charter services in the

U.K., Nigeria and Australia, helicopter military training and helicopter flight training.
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Bristow Group Inc. and its consolidated entities after elimination
of all significant intercompany accounts and transactions. Investments in affiliates in which we have a majority voting interest and
entities that meet the criteria of Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”) of which we are the primary beneficiary are consolidated. See
discussion of VIEs in Note 3. We apply the equity method of accounting for investments in entities if we have the ability to exercise
significant influence over an entity that (a) does not meet the variable interest entity criteria or (b) meets the variable interest entity
criteria, but for which we are not deemed to be the primary beneficiary. We apply the cost method of accounting for investments
in other entities if we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the unconsolidated affiliate. These investments
in private companies are carried at cost and are adjusted only for capital distributions and other-than-temporary declines in value.
Dividends from cost method investments are recognized in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses, when paid.

Our fiscal year ends March 31, and we refer to fiscal years based on the end of such period. Therefore, the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2017 is referred to as fiscal year 2017.

Certain reclassifications of prior period information have been made to conform to the presentation of the current period
information as a result of an adoption of a required accounting standard. In the prior period financial statements, we had included
unamortized debt issuance costs in other assets. Current period presentation has reclassified certain of these unamortized debt
issuance costs as direct deductions of our debt balances on our consolidated balance sheets. These reclassifications had no effect
on net income (loss) or cash flows provided by operating activities as previously reported.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Areas where accounting estimates are made by management
include:

e Allowances for doubtful accounts;

* Inventory allowances;

*  Property and equipment;

*  Goodwill, intangible and other long-lived assets;
e Pension benefits;

+  Contingent liabilities; and

¢ Taxes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Our cash equivalents include funds invested in highly-liquid debt instruments with original
maturities of 90 days or less.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Accounts Receivable — Trade and other receivables are stated at net realizable value. We grant short-term credit to our
clients, primarily major integrated, national and independent oil and gas companies. We establish allowances for doubtful accounts
on a case-by-case basis when a determination is made that the required payment is unlikely to occur. In establishing these allowances,
we consider a number of factors, including our historical experience, change in our clients’ financial position and restrictions
placed on the conversion of local currency into U.S. dollars, as well as disputes with clients regarding the application of contract
provisions to our services.

The following table is a rollforward of the allowance for doubtful accounts from non-affiliates (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Balance — beginning of fiscal year...........cccooevvevieveviieieieieeeeeeeeeeve, § 5562 § 89 § 5,074
Additional allOWaANCES..........evviiiiiuieiiiiiieeiee et 575 6,638 1,050
Write-offs and cOllECtiONS.........ccvieriieeieeiiecieeeecee e (1,639) (1,935) (5,265)
Balance — end of fiscal Year...........ccoeuviririerieiiricrecieeeceeee e $ 4498 § 5562 § 839

During fiscal year 2016, the allowance for doubtful accounts for non-affiliates was increased primarily for amounts due from
two clients in Nigeria and one client in Australia for which we no longer believed collection was probable.

During fiscal year 2015, an allowance previously recorded for a client that filed for bankruptcy was reversed as we settled
outstanding matters related to ongoing bankruptcy proceedings, which resulted in a $4.4 million reduction in bad debt expense,
included within direct cost on our consolidated statements of operations. The remaining amount of $0.5 million related to this
client was written off as no further settlement is expected.

As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, there were no allowances for doubtful accounts related to accounts receivable due from
affiliates.

Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value and consist primarily of spare parts.
The following table is a rollforward of the allowance related to dormant, obsolete and excess inventory (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Balance — beginning of fiscal year..............cccoooevviviivieviirieieiceeeeeeee, $ 27,763 $ 45414 $ 47,298
Impairment Of INVENTOTICS ........ccvevereerierieieeiesie et ete e re e sreeeees 7,572 5,439 7,167
Additional AllOWANCES..........covviiieeeeiiiieeeeeeee et 1,617 192 4,867
Inventory disposed and SCrapped.........ccoocvevveeieriieierieienieeeeeee e (14,635) (22,428) (10,125)
Foreign currency effects .......cccovieviiiieriiiieeciecceeeee e (803) (854) (3,793)
Balance — end of fiScal YEar.........c.cocvevivveieieieeeicieeceeeceeeee e $ 21514 § 27763 § 45414

During fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, we increased our inventory allowance by $1.6 million, $0.2 million and $4.9
million, respectively, as a result of our periodic assessment of inventory that was dormant, obsolete or excess within our operational
fleet of aircraft.

During fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, we recorded impairment charges of $7.6 million, $5.4 million and $7.2 million,
respectively, to write-down certain spare parts within inventories to market value. These impairment charges resulted from the
identification of $56.4 million, $19.4 million and $19.1 million, respectively, of inventory that was dormant, obsolete or excess
based on a review of our future inventory needs related to changes to our fleet strategy and plans. The impairment charges in fiscal
year 2017 were recorded primarily due to a change in estimate of consumption of inventory and the continued decline in the
secondary market for inventory resulting from our decision to cease operation of certain older model aircraft within our fleet in
fiscal year 2018. The impairment charges in fiscal years 2016 and 2015 related primarily to spare parts held for a large aircraft
model where we decided to accelerate removal from our fleet by the end of fiscal year 2016. As we had intended to operate these
model types longer in certain markets, we identified excess inventory that would not be used on our aircraft and therefore needed
to be sold or otherwise disposed of. These impairment charges are included in loss on impairment on the consolidated statements
of operations.
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Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets — As of March 31, 2017 prepaid expenses and other current assets included
the short-term portion of contract acquisition and pre-operating costs totaling $9.7 million related to SAR contracts in the U.K.
and two client contracts in Norway. As of March 31, 2016, prepaid expenses and other current assets included the short-term
portion of contract acquisition and pre-operating costs totaling $12.1 million related to SAR contracts in the U.K. and Australia
and a client contract in Norway. These contract acquisition and pre-operating costs are recoverable under the contracts and will
be expensed over the terms of the contracts. During fiscal year 2017 and 2016, we expensed $16.9 million and $10.0 million,
respectively, due to the start-up of some of these contracts and cancellation of the contract in Australia.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are stated at cost. Property and equipment includes construction in
progress, primarily consisting of progress payments on aircraft purchases and facility construction, of $199.3 million and $307.4
million as of March 31,2017 and 2016, respectively. Interest costs applicable to the construction of qualifying assets are capitalized
as a component of the cost of such assets.

Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
estimated useful lives of aircraft generally range from 5 to 15 years, and the residual value used in calculating depreciation of
aircraft generally ranges from 30% to 50% of cost. The estimated useful lives for buildings on owned properties range from 15 to
30 years. Other depreciable assets are depreciated over estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 15 years, except for leasehold
improvements which are depreciated over the lesser of the useful life of the improvement or the lease term (including any period
where we have options to renew if it is probable that we will renew the lease). The cost and related accumulated depreciation of
assets sold or otherwise disposed of are removed from the accounts and the resulting gains or losses are included in gain (loss) on
disposal of assets.

We capitalize betterments and improvements to our aircraft and depreciate such costs over the remaining useful lives of the
aircraft. Betterments and improvements increase the life or utility of an aircraft.

For discussion of impairment of long-lived assets, including property and equipment, see Loss on Impairment below. For
further details on property and equipment, see Note 4.

Goodwill — Goodwill is recorded when the cost of acquired businesses exceeds the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired. Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized, but is assessed for impairment annually or when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that a potential impairment exists.

Goodwill of $19.8 million and $30.0 million as of March 31,2017 and 2016, respectively, related to our reporting units were
as follows (in thousands):

Europe Asia Corporate
Caspian Pacific Africa and other Total
March 31, 2015 .t $ 35,701 $ 23,791 § 5,946 $ 10,190 $75,628
Purchase price adjustments to previously acquired goodwill ....... (170) (3,991) — — (4,161)
Foreign currency translation ............ccoceeceeieienieneniiene e, (328) 164 233 33 102
IMPAITNENTS ...ttt (25,177) — (6,179) (10,223) (41,579)
March 31, 2016, ...ttt 10,026 19,964 — — 29,990
Foreign currency translation ...........ccoccvecveeieeienienieeieneeiene e (1,320) (166) — — (1,486)
IMPAITINENLS ..ottt ettt s eeae e besseenseeneens (8,706) — — — (8,706)
March 31, 2017 ettt $ — $19.798 $ — 3 — $19,798

(" Relates to the correction of an immaterial error related to the acquisitions of Airnorth and Eastern. We determined that the accounting

treatment for the supplemental rent for leased aircraft at Airnorth and Eastern was incorrectly being expensed in advance of a maintenance
event occurring. To correct this error, we reduced goodwill by $4.2 million, increased prepaid expenses and other current assets by
$2.7 million, increased deferred tax liabilities by $3.1 million, decreased accrued maintenance and repairs by $3.6 million and increased
direct costs $1.0 million. This error is not material to our consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2016 or our previously
reported consolidated financial statements for any period.
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Accumulated goodwill impairment of $50.9 million and $42.2 million as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively,
related to our reporting units were as follows (in thousands):

Europe Corporate
Caspian Africa and other Americas Total
MAECh 31, 2015 oo $ — 5 — 3 — 3 (576) $ (576)
TMPAIIMENLS ... (25,177) (6,179) (10,223) — (41,579)
MAECh 31, 2016 oo (25,177) (6,179) (10,223) (576) (42,155)
IMPAITMENTS ..o (8,706) — — — (8,706)
March 31, 2017 ceeeeeeieeceeeee e $ (33.883) % (6.179) § (10.223) § (576) $ (50.861)

For further discussion of impairment of goodwill, see Loss on Impairment below.

Other Intangible Assets — Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives
to their estimated residual values. Intangible assets by type were as follows (in thousands):

Trade name Internally
Client Client and developed
contracts relationships trademarks software Licenses Total

Gross Carrying Amount

March 31, 2015 oo $ 8,165 § 13,056 $ 5,148 § 1,179 $ 758 $§ 28,306
Foreign currency translation............... 5 (277) (140) (30) (6) (448)

March 31, 2016 .c..ooeeeieieeieeeeeeen 8,170 12,779 5,008 1,149 752 27,858
Foreign currency translation............... (1) 27) (525) (87) (6) (646)

March 31, 2017 wooveeieieeeeeee e $ 8169 § 12752 § 4483 $§ 1,062 $ 746§ 27212

Accumulated Amortization

March 31, 2015 oo § (739) § (1,583) § (323) § (244) $ (542) $ (10,091)
Impairments.........ccccecevevenencrencnnenn. — (8,086) — — — (8,086)
Amortization eXpense.............ceeeune.. (663) (931) (313) (236) (59) (2,202)

March 31, 2016 .c..ooeeeieieeieeeeeeen (8,062) (10,600) (636) (480) (601) (20,379)
Amortization eXpense.............ceeeune.. (93) (471) (272) (205) (56) (1,097)

March 31, 2017 wooveeeeieeeeeee e $§ (8155 8 (11.071) § (908) $ (685 $§ (657) $ (21.476)

Weighted average remaining contractual
life, in Years ........coooveveeereerereeerenen. 0.2 4.6 13.1 1.8 1.6 5.8

Future amortization expense of intangible assets for each of the years ending March 31 are as follows (in thousands):

2018 ettt $ 837
2009 it 715
2020 .t 442
20271 et 442
2022 .ottt 442
Thereafter .......ovviivieiieiiiieeiee e 2,858

$ 5,736

The Bristow Norway and Eastern Airways acquisitions, completed in October 2008 and February 2014, respectively, included
in our Europe Caspian region, resulted in intangible assets for client contracts, client relationships, trade names and trademarks,
internally developed software and licenses. The Airnorth acquisition completed in January 2015, included in our Asia Pacific
region, resulted in intangible assets for client contracts, client relationships and trade name and trademarks. During fiscal year
2017, we tested the remaining intangible assets for Eastern Airways for trade name and trademarks and internally developed
software. We determined that the fair value was above carrying value and therefore no impairment was required. For further details
on the Airnorth acquisition, see Note 2. For discussion of impairment of long-lived assets, including purchased intangibles subject
to amortization, see Loss on Impairment below.
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Other Assets — In addition to the intangible assets discussed above, other assets primarily include deferred tax assets of
$34.8 million as of March 31, 2017 and the long-term portion of contract acquisition and pre-operating costs totaling $51.1 million
as of March 31, 2017 related to SAR contracts in the U.K. and two client contracts in Norway, which are recoverable under the
contracts and will be expensed over the life of the contracts. As of March 31, 2016, other assets primarily include deferred tax
assets of $68.0 million and the long-term portion of contract acquisition and pre-operating costs totaling $55.1 million related to
SAR contracts in the U.K. and a client contract in Norway, which are recoverable under the contracts and will be expensed over
the life of the contracts.

Contingent Liabilities — We establish reserves for estimated loss contingencies when we believe a loss is probable and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Our contingent liability reserves relate primarily to potential tax assessments,
litigation, personal injury claims and environmental liabilities. Results for each reporting period include revisions to contingent
liability reserves resulting from different facts or information which become known or circumstances which change and affect our
previous assumptions with respect to the likelihood or amount of loss. Such revisions are based on information which becomes
known or circumstances that change after the reporting date for the previous period through the reporting date of the current period.
Reserves for contingent liabilities are based upon our assumptions and estimates regarding the probable outcome of the matter.
Should the outcome differ from our assumptions and estimates or other events result in a material adjustment to the accrued
estimated reserves, revisions to the estimated reserves for contingent liabilities would be required to be recognized. Legal costs
are expensed as incurred.

Proceeds from casualty insurance settlements in excess of the carrying value of damaged assets are recognized in gain (loss)
on disposal of assets when we have received proof of loss documentation or are otherwise assured of collection of these amounts.

Some of our acquisitions include a provision that provides for additional consideration to be paid to the sellers of the acquired
company based on the achievement of specified performance thresholds. In such cases, we record the obligations to pay those
amounts at fair value at the acquisition date and include such obligations in the consideration transferred. This contingent
consideration obligation is included in contingent consideration for the current portion and other liabilities and deferred credits
for the long-term portion on our consolidated balance sheets. We assess the estimated fair value of the contractual obligation to
pay the contingent consideration on a quarterly basis and any changes in estimated fair value are recorded as accretion expense
included in depreciation and amortization on our consolidated statements of operations. In other cases, additional consideration
is based on the achievement of performance thresholds and continued employment with the Company. In these cases, we record
such amounts in general and administrative expense when such additional consideration is earned. See Note 2 for a discussion on
our acquisitions, Note 3 for a discussion on contingent consideration obligations related to our investments in unconsolidated
affiliates and Note 6 for details on the fair value of the contingent consideration obligation.

Loss on Impairment

Loss on impairment includes goodwill impairment charges of $8.7 million and $41.6 million for fiscal years 2017 and 2016,
respectively, and intangible asset impairment charges of $8.1 million for fiscal year 2016, and inventory impairment charges of
$7.6 million, $5.4 million and $7.2 million for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. For details on our analysis of
impairment of goodwill, other long-lived assets and investments in unconsolidated affiliates, see discussion below. For further
details on inventory impairments, see Inventories discussed above.

Goodwill — As discussed above, we test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that a potential impairment exists. For the purposes of performing an analysis of goodwill, we evaluate
whether there are reporting units below the reporting segment we disclose for segment reporting purposes by assessing whether
our regional management typically reviews results and whether discrete financial information exists at a lower level.

During the three months ended December 31, 2016, we noted an overall reduction in expected operating results for Eastern
Airways within our Europe Caspian region from the continued downturn in the oil and gas market and performed an interim
impairment test of goodwill for Eastern Airways. Based on this factor, we concluded that the fair value of our goodwill could have
fallen below its carrying value and that an interim period analysis of goodwill was required.

We performed the interim impairment test of goodwill for Eastern Airways as of December 31, 2016, noting that the estimated
fair value of Eastern Airways was below its carrying value, resulting in an impairment of all of the remaining goodwill related to
Eastern Airways and a loss of $8.7 million reflected in loss on impairment in our statement of operations for the three and nine
months ended December 31, 2016. The only remaining goodwill recorded as of March 31, 2017 relates to Airnorth within our Asia
Pacific region. We did not have any triggering events to test Airnorth for impairment during fiscal year 2017.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2015, we noted rapid and significant declines in the market value of our
Common Stock and an overall reduction in expected operating results which resulted from the downturn in the oil and gas industry
due to reduced crude oil prices. The impact on our results was reflected in an increase in the number of idle aircraft and reduction
in forecasted results across our global oil and gas helicopter operations, and was reflected in reduced operating revenue for our
business for the three months ended September 30, 2015, when excluding growth from the U.K. SAR contract and the addition
of Airnorth. The reduction in demand for aircraft in the offshore energy market led to further impairment of older model aircraft.
Based on these factors, we concluded that the fair value of our goodwill could have fallen below its carrying value and that an
interim period analysis of goodwill was required.

We performed our analysis of goodwill for the following reporting units as of September 30, 2015, with goodwill as reflected
below prior to any impairment recorded:

* Bristow Norway, within our Europe Caspian region, which included $12.1 million of goodwill;
» Eastern Airways, within our Europe Caspian region, which included $24.6 million of goodwill;
 Airnorth, within our Asia Pacific region, which included $21.9 million of goodwill.

*  Our Africa region, which included $5.9 million of goodwill; and

* Bristow Academy, within Corporate and other, which included $10.2 million of goodwill.

We performed the interim impairment test of goodwill across the reporting units discussed above, noting that the estimated
fair values of the Africa region, Eastern Airways and Airnorth exceeded the carrying values. The estimated fair values of Bristow
Academy and Bristow Norway were below their carrying values, resulting in an impairment of all of the goodwill for those reporting
units of $22.3 million reflected in loss on impairment in our statement of operations for the three months ended September 30,
2015. We updated the impairment analysis as of March 31, 2016 for the Africa region, Eastern Airways and Airnorth. The estimated
fair value of Airnorth exceeded the carrying value. The estimated fair value of the Africa region and Eastern Airways was below
the carrying value, resulting in an impairment of all of the goodwill for Africa of $6.2 million and a portion of the goodwill for
Eastern Airways of $13.1 million reflected in our loss on impairment in our statement of operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2016.

We estimated the implied fair value of the reporting units using a variety of valuation methods, including the income and
market approaches. The determination of estimated fair value required us to use significant unobservable inputs, representative
of a Level 3 fair value measurement, including assumptions related to the future performance of the reporting units, such as
projected demand for our services and rates.

The income approach was based on a discounted cash flow model, which utilized present values of cash flows to estimate
fair value. The future cash flows were projected based on our estimates of future rates for our services, utilization, operating costs,
capital requirements, growth rates and terminal values. Forecasted rates and utilization take into account current market conditions
and our anticipated business outlook, both of which have been impacted by the adverse changes in the offshore energy business
environment from the current downturn. Operating costs were forecasted using a combination of our historical average operating
costs and expected future costs, including ongoing cost reduction initiatives. Capital requirements in the discounted cash flow
model were based on management’s estimates of future capital costs resulting from expected market demand in future periods.
The estimated capital requirements included cash outflows for new aircraft, infrastructure and improvements. A terminal period
was used to reflect our estimate of stable, perpetual growth. The future cash flows were discounted using a market-participant
risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital for each of the reporting units individually and in the aggregate. These assumptions
were derived from unobservable inputs and reflect management’s judgments and assumptions.

The market approach was based upon the application of price-to-earnings multiples to management’s estimates of future
earnings adjusted for a control premium. Management’s earnings estimates were derived from unobservable inputs that require
significant estimates, judgments and assumptions as described in the income approach.

For purposes of the goodwill impairment test, we calculated the reporting units’ estimated fair value as the average of the
values calculated under the income approach and the market approach.

During fiscal year 2016, we evaluated the estimated fair value of our reporting units compared to our market capitalization.
The aggregate fair values of our reporting units exceeded our market capitalization, and we believe the resulting implied control
premium was reasonable based on recent market transactions within our industry or other relevant benchmark data. During fiscal
year 2017, this calculation was not performed because the reporting unit with goodwill did not represent a significant portion of
our business.
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The estimates used to determine the fair value of the reporting units discussed above reflect management’s best estimates,
and we believe they are reasonable. Future declines in the reporting units’ operating performance or our anticipated business
outlook may reduce the estimated fair value of these reporting units and result in additional impairments. Factors that could have
a negative impact on the fair value include, but are not limited to:

» decreases in estimated rates and utilization due to greater-than-expected market pressures, downtime and other risks
associated with offshore energy operations;

» sustained declines in our Common Stock price;
» decreases in revenue due to our inability to attract and retain skilled personnel;
» changes in worldwide offshore energy transportation supply and demand, competition or technology;

» changes in future levels of drilling activity and expenditures, whether as a result of global capital markets and liquidity,
prices of oil and natural gas or otherwise, which may cause our clients to further reduce offshore production and drilling
activities;

» possible cancellation or suspension of contracts as a result of mechanical difficulties, performance or other reasons;
* inability to manage costs during the current downturn and in future periods;

* increases in the market-participant risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital; and

* declines in anticipated growth rates.

Adverse changes in one or more of these factors could result in additional goodwill impairments in future periods.

Property and Equipment, and Purchased Intangibles Subject to Amortization — Long-lived assets, such as property and
equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying amount of an asset group to
be held and used exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset group exceeds the fair value of the asset group. Assets held for sale are classified as current assets on our
consolidated balance sheets and recorded at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer
depreciated. We recorded impairment charges of $12.5 million, $29.6 million and $36.1 million included in loss on disposal of
assets to reduce the carrying value of aircraft held for sale in fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Additionally, we
recorded impairment of our purchased intangibles for Eastern Airways of $8.1 million included in loss on impairment related to
our client relationships in fiscal year 2016.

Changes in our forecasted cash flows during the three months ended December 31, 2016 triggered a review of our oil and
gas related property and equipment and Eastern Airways property and equipment for potential impairment. In accordance with
Accounting Standard Codification 360-10-35, we estimate future undiscounted cash flows to test the recoverability of our property
and equipment, which largely consists of our held for use aircraft. The determination of estimated future undiscounted cash flows
required us to use significant unobservable inputs including assumptions related to projected demand for services and rates. We
determined that the estimated future undiscounted cash flows were above the carrying value for our oil and gas related property
and equipment and Eastern Airways’ property and equipment as of December 31, 2016 and no impairment was recorded on these
assets. Future declines in operating performance or anticipated business outlook may reduce our estimated future undiscounted
cash flows and result in impairment of our oil and gas related property and equipment or Eastern Airways property and equipment.
We did not have any triggering events to test property and equipment or intangibles for impairment for the three months ended
March 31, 2017.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates — We perform regular reviews of each investee’s financial condition, the business
outlook for its products and services, and its present and projected results and cash flows. When an investee has experienced
consistent declines in financial performance or difficulties raising capital to continue operations, and when we expect the decline
to be other-than-temporary, the investment is written down to fair value. Actual results may vary from estimates due to the
uncertainty regarding the projected financial performance of investees, the severity and expected duration of declines in value,
and the available liquidity in the capital markets to support the continuing operations of the investees in which we have investments.
We did not recognize any impairment charges related to our investments in unconsolidated affiliates in fiscal years 2017, 2016
and 2015.
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Deferred Sale Leaseback Advance — During fiscal year 2014, we received payment of approximately $106.1 million for
progress payments we had made on seven aircraft under construction, and we assigned any future payments due on these construction
agreements to the purchaser. As we had the obligation and intent to lease the aircraft back from the purchaser upon completion,
we recorded a liability equal to the cash received and additional payments made by the purchaser totaling $147.4 million, with a
corresponding increase to construction in progress. During fiscal year 2015, we took delivery and entered into leases for five of
the aircraft and removed a total of $183.7 million and $182.6 million from construction in progress and deferred sale leaseback
advance, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheet. During fiscal year 2016, we took delivery and entered into leases for the
remaining two aircraft and removed a total of $75.8 million and $74.3 million from construction in progress and deferred sale
leaseback advance, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheet. As of March 31, 2016, the construction in progress and deferred
sale leaseback advance liability related to these deferred sale leaseback transactions were removed from our consolidated balance
sheet.

Revenue Recognition — In general, we recognize revenue when it is both realized or realizable and earned. We consider
revenue to be realized or realizable and earned when the following conditions exist: there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement
(generally a client contract exists); the services or products have been performed or delivered to the client; the sales price is fixed
or determinable; and collection has occurred or is probable.

Revenue from helicopter services, including SAR services, is recognized based on contractual rates as the related services
are performed. The charges under these contracts are generally based on a two-tier rate structure consisting of a daily or monthly
fixed fee plus additional fees for each hour flown. These contracts are for varying periods and generally permit the client to cancel
the contract before the end of the term. We also provide services to clients on an “ad hoc” basis, which usually entails a shorter
contract notice period and duration. The charges for ad hoc services are based on an hourly rate or a daily or monthly fixed fee
plus additional fees for each hour flown. In order to offset potential increases in operating costs, our long-term contracts may
provide for periodic increases in the contractual rates charged for our services. We recognize the impact of these rate increases
when the criteria outlined above have been met. This generally includes written recognition from the clients that they are in
agreement with the amount of the rate escalation. Cost reimbursements from clients are recorded as reimbursable revenue with
the related reimbursed costs recorded as reimbursable expense on our consolidated statements of operations.

Eastern Airways and Airnorth primarily earn revenue through charter and scheduled airline services and provision of airport
services (Eastern Airways only). Both chartered and scheduled airline service revenue is recognized net of passenger taxes and
discounts. Revenue is recognized at the earlier of the period in which the service is provided or the period in which the right to
travel expires, which is determined by the terms and conditions of the ticket. Ticket sales are recorded within deferred revenue
in accordance with the above policy. Airport services revenue is recognized when earned.

Bristow Academy, our helicopter training unit, primarily earns revenue from military training, flight training provided to
individual students and ground school courses. We recognize revenue from these sources using the same revenue recognition
principles described above as services are provided. We consider revenue to be realized or realizable and earned when the following
conditions exist: there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement (generally a contract exists); the services have been performed
or delivered to the client or student; the sales price is fixed and determinable; and collection has occurred or is probable.

Pension Benefits — See Note 9 for a discussion of our accounting for pension benefits.

Maintenance and Repairs — We generally charge maintenance and repair costs, including major aircraft component overhaul
costs, to earnings as the costs are incurred. However, certain major aircraft components, such as engines and transmissions, are
maintained by third-party vendors under contractual agreements also referred to as power-by-the hour maintenance agreements.
Under these agreements, we are charged an agreed amount per hour of flying time related to maintenance, repair and overhaul of
the parts and components covered. The costs charged under these contractual agreements are recognized in the period in which
the flight hours occur. To the extent that we have not yet been billed for costs incurred under these arrangements, these costs are
included in accrued maintenance and repairs on our consolidated balance sheets. From time to time, we receive credits from our
original equipment manufacturers as settlement for additional labor and maintenance expense costs incurred for aircraft performance
issues. We record these credits as a reduction in maintenance expense when the credits are utilized in lieu of cash payments for
purchases or services. The cost of certain major overhauls on owned fixed-wing aircraft operated by Eastern Airways and Airnorth
are capitalized when incurred and depreciated over the period until the next expected major overhaul. The cost of major overhauls
on leased fixed-wing aircraft operated by Eastern Airways and Airnorth are charged to maintenance and repair costs when incurred.

Taxes — We follow the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are determined based upon temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax basis of our assets and liabilities
and measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on
deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in the tax rates is recognized in income in the period in which the change
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occurs. We record a valuation reserve when we believe that it is more likely than not that any deferred income tax asset created
will not be realized.

In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, management considers whether it is more-likely-than-not that
some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which such temporary differences become deductible.

We recognize tax benefits attributable to uncertain tax positions when it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be
sustained upon examination by the authorities. The benefit from a position that has surpassed the more-likely-than-not threshold
is the largest amount of benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon settlement. We recognize interest and penalties
accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of benefit (provision) for income taxes in our statement of operations.

Foreign Currency — In preparing our financial statements, we must convert all non-U.S. dollar currencies to U.S. dollars.
Balance sheet information is presented based on the exchange rate as of the balance sheet date, and statement of operations
information is presented based on the average exchange rate for the period. The various components of stockholders’ investment
are presented at their historical average exchange rates. The resulting difference after applying the different exchange rates is the
currency translation adjustment, which is reported in stockholders’ investment as accumulated other comprehensive gains or losses.
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in other income (expense), net in our statement of operations and result
from the effect of changes in exchange rates on transactions denominated in currencies other than a company’s functional currency,
including transactions between consolidated companies. An exception is made where an intercompany loan or advance is deemed
to be of a long-term investment nature, in which instance foreign currency transaction gains or losses are included as currency
translation adjustments and are reported in stockholders’ investment as accumulated other comprehensive gains or losses. Changes
in exchange rates could cause significant changes in our financial position and results of operations in the future.

As a result of changes in exchange rates, we recorded foreign currency transaction losses of approximately $2.9 million,
$4.3 million and $6.5 million during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Our earnings from unconsolidated affiliates,
net of losses, are also affected by the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on the reported results of our
unconsolidated affiliates. During fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses, decreased
by $3.2 million, $22.4 million and $25.7 million, respectively, as a result of the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates on the earnings of our unconsolidated affiliates, primarily the impact of changes in the Brazilian real to U.S. dollar exchange
rate on earnings for our affiliate in Brazil. See further discussion of foreign exchange risks and controls under Item 7A. “Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Incentive Compensation — See Note 9 for a discussion of our accounting for incentive compensation arrangements.

Interest Income (Expense), Net — During fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 interest expense, net consisted of the following
(in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended
2017 2016 2015
Interest INCOME ......vveevvvvveeiieeieeeeeee e $ 943 § 1,058 $ 956
Interest eXpense .......cccceeeeevveerienieniesieenenn (50,862) (35,186) (30,310)
Interest expense, Net .......c.cveveevevenennen. $ (49.919) $ (34,128) $ (29.354)

Other Income (Expense), Net — The amounts for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 include the foreign currency transaction
gains and losses described under “Foreign Currency” above. Other income (expense), net in fiscal year 2015 also includes a pre-
tax gain on the sale of an unconsolidated affiliate of $3.9 million. Additionally, other income (expense), net for fiscal year 2015
includes $2.6 million related to premium paid for the repurchase of a portion of the 6%4% Senior Notes due 2022 (the “6%% Senior
Notes™). See further discussion in Note 5. Other income (expense), net in fiscal years 2017 and 2016 did not include any other
significant items.

Accretion of Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests — Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests of $1.5 million for
fiscal year 2016 related to put arrangements whereby the noncontrolling interest holders may require us to redeem the remaining
shares of Airnorth (prior to repurchasing the remaining 15% of the outstanding shares in November 2015 discussed below) and
Eastern Airways at a formula-based amount that is not considered fair value (the “redemption amount”). No accretion of redeemable
noncontrolling interests was recorded in fiscal years 2017 and 2015. Redeemable noncontrolling interest is adjusted each period
for comprehensive income, dividends attributable to the noncontrolling interest and changes in ownership interest, if any, such
that the noncontrolling interest represents the proportionate share of Airnorth’s and Eastern Airways’ equity (the “carrying value”).
Additionally, at each period end we are required to compare the redemption amount to the carrying value of the redeemable
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noncontrolling interest and record the redeemable noncontrolling interest at the higher of the two amounts, with a corresponding
charge or credit directly to retained earnings. While this charge or credit does not impact net income (loss), it does result in a
reduction or increase of income (loss) available to common shareholders in the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share (see
Note 10). In November 2015, we purchased the remaining 15% of the outstanding shares of Airnorth for A$7.3 million ($5.3
million) resulting in a reduction of $5.5 million to redeemable noncontrolling interests and an increase of $2.6 million to additional
paid-in capital on our consolidated balance sheet.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We consider the applicability and impact of all accounting standard updates (“ASUs”). ASUs not listed below were assessed
and determined to be either not applicable or are expected to have minimal impact on our consolidated financial position or results
of operations.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued accounting guidance on revenue recognition
for revenue from contracts with customers. This guidance requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects
to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers and will replace most existing revenue recognition
guidance when it becomes effective. This new standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2016. However, in July 2015, the FASB approved the deferral of the effective date of the revenue recognition standard permitting
public entities to apply the new revenue standard to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application
is permitted, but not before the original effective date of December 15, 2016. The standard is required to be adopted using either
the full retrospective approach, with all prior periods presented adjusted, or the modified retrospective approach, with a cumulative
adjustment to retained earnings on the balance sheet. We have not adopted this standard yet but expect to adopt the new revenue
standard using the modified retrospective transition method. We are continuing to evaluate the effect this accounting guidance will
have on our related disclosures and are still assessing the differences between the new revenue standard and current accounting
practices.

In August 2014, the FASB issued accounting guidance on determining when and how to disclose going-concern uncertainties
in the financial statements. The new standard requires management to perform interim and annual assessments of an entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern within a year of the date the financial statements are issued. The standard applies to all entities and
is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted. We adopted this
accounting guidance effective March 31, 2017 and performed an annual assessment of our ability to continue as a going concern
within a year of the date these financial statements were issued.

In February 2015, the FASB issued accounting guidance which changes the analysis that a reporting entity must perform to
determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. The guidance amends the criteria for determining which
entities are considered VIEs and amends the criteria for determining if a service provider possesses a variable interest in a VIE.
This accounting guidance is effective for annual and interim periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. A reporting
entity may apply the amendments using a modified retrospective approach or a full retrospective application. We adopted this
accounting guidance effective April 1, 2016 and there is no material effect on our consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.

In April 2015, the FASB issued accounting guidance relating to the presentation of debt issuance costs. The intent is to
simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs by requiring entities to record debt issuance costs on the balance sheet as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability, similar to debt discounts or premiums. In August 2015, the FASB
issued additional guidance to allow issuers to continue to recognize debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements as
an asset and amortize that asset over the term of the credit agreement regardless of whether a balance is outstanding. These
pronouncements are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. We
adopted this accounting guidance effective April 1, 2016. As a result of the adoption, we presented $8.9 million of unamortized
debt issuance costs that were previously included in other assets in our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2016 as direct
deductions from the carrying amount of the related debt.

In November 2015, the FASB issued accounting guidance that changed how deferred taxes are classified on an entity’s
balance sheet. The guidance requires that all deferred tax assets and liabilities, along with any related valuation allowance, be
classified as noncurrent on the balance sheet. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2016 and early adoption is permitted. The guidance may be applied either prospectively, for all
deferred tax assets and liabilities, or retrospectively. If applied prospectively, entities are required to include a statement that prior
periods were not retrospectively adjusted. If applied retrospectively, entities are also required to include quantitative information
about the effects of the change on prior periods. We have not yet adopted this accounting guidance or determined the method of
adoption but the adoption of this guidance would reduce current assets and current liabilities and increase long-term assets and

86



BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

long-term liabilities by such amounts. As of March 31, 2017, we had $0.1 million in current deferred taxes and $0.8 million in
current deferred liabilities that would be reclassified to long-term upon adoption of this accounting guidance.

InFebruary 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance which amends the existing accounting standards for lease accounting,
including requiring lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets and making targeted changes to lessor accounting.
This accounting guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018,
with early adoption permitted. Additionally, this accounting guidance requires a modified retrospective transition approach for all
leases existing at, or entered into after the date of initial application, with an option to use certain transition relief. We have not
yet adopted this standard and are currently evaluating the effect this standard will have on our financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance related to accounting for employee share-based payments. The
accounting guidance is intended to simplify several aspects of accounting for share-based payment award transactions including
income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities and classification on the statements of cash flows.
This accounting guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2016
and early adoption is permitted. We have not yet adopted this standard and are currently evaluating the effect this standard will
have on our financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance to reduce the diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts and
cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is permitted. We completed our evaluation of
this standard and concluded the adoption will not have a material impact on our financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance related to current and deferred income taxes for intra-entity transfer
of assets other than inventory. This accounting guidance requires an entity to recognize the income tax consequences of an intra-
entity transfer of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs and eliminates the exception for an intra-entity transfer of
an asset other than inventory. This accounting guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning
after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is permitted. We have not yet adopted this accounting guidance and are currently
evaluating the effect this accounting guidance will have on our financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance related to interest held through related parties that are under common
control. This accounting guidance affects reporting entities that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate a variable
interest entity in certain situations involving entities under common control. Specifically, the guidance changes the evaluation of
whether a reporting entity is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity by changing how a reporting entity that is a single
decision maker of a variable interest entity treats indirect interests in the entity held through related parties that are under common
control with the reporting entity. The accounting guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and
interim periods within those years, and early adoption is permitted. We have not yet adopted this standard and are currently
evaluating the effect this standard will have on our financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued accounting guidance to simplify the subsequent measure of goodwill. The amendments
in this guidance eliminate the second step of the two-step goodwill impairment test. An entity will no longer be required to calculate
the implied fair value of goodwill by assigning the fair value of a reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if the reporting
unit had been acquired in a business combination to determine the impairment of goodwill. The amendments in this guidance will
now require goodwill impairment to be measured by the amount by which the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The accounting
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Upon
adoption, an entity shall apply the guidance prospectively with early adoption permitted for interim or annual goodwill tests
performed after January 1, 2017. We have adopted this standard effective January 1, 2017 and there is no material effect on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In January 2017, the FASB issued accounting guidance which clarifies the definition of a business with the objective of
adding guidance to assist in evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions of assets or businesses. The
amendment provides a screen for determining when a transaction involves the acquisition of a business. If substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets, then
the transaction does not involve the acquisition of a business. If the screen is not met, then the amendment requires that to be
considered a business, the operation must include at a minimum an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create an output. The guidance may reduce the number of transactions accounted for as business
acquisitions. This accounting guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December
15,2017, and early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied prospectively, and no disclosures are required at the
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effective date. We have not yet adopted this accounting guidance and are currently evaluating the effect this accounting guidance
will have on our financial statements.

In March 2017, the FASB issued accounting guidance related to the presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost. The guidance requires employers to disaggregate the service cost component from the other components
of net benefit cost and disclose the amount of net benefit cost that is included in the statement of operations or capitalized in assets,
by line item. The accounting guidance requires employers to report the service cost component in the same line item(s) as other
compensation costs and to report other pension-related costs (which include interest costs, amortization of pension-related costs
from prior periods, and the gains or losses on plan assets) separately and exclude them from the subtotal of operating income. The
accounting guidance also allows only the service cost component to be eligible for capitalization when applicable. This guidance
is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is
permitted as of the first interim period of an annual period for which interim or annual financial statements have not been issued.
The guidance requires application on a retrospective basis for the presentation of the service cost component and the other
components of net periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost in the statement of operations and on a
prospective basis for the capitalization of the service cost component of net periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement
benefit in assets. We have not yet adopted this accounting guidance and are currently evaluating the effect this accounting guidance
will have on our financial statements.

Note 2 — ACQUISITIONS

We apply the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”), in the accounting
for our business acquisitions. ASC 805 requires companies to separately recognize goodwill from the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, which are at their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill as of the acquisition date represents the excess of the purchase
price over the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

We use significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates, to determine fair value of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed and, when applicable, the related useful lives of the acquired assets as of the business combination date. The
fair value measurements are primarily based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market, other than certain financial
assets and liabilities that are acquired or assumed in the acquisitions. The market approach, which indicates value for a subject
asset based on available market pricing for comparable assets, is utilized to estimate the fair value for land and buildings, aircraft
and spare parts inventory. The market approach includes prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions
involving comparable assets, as well as pricing guides and other sources. We consider the current market for assets, the maintenance
condition of assets and the expected proceeds from the sale of assets, among other factors. As a result we classify these assets in
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. For those financial assets and liabilities which utilize observable inputs we classify these
amounts in Level 2.

The income approach is primarily used to value intangible assets, including client relationships, certain internally used
software, and trade names, as well as noncontrolling interest. The income approach indicates value for a subject asset based on
the present value of cash flows projected to be generated by the asset. Projected cash flows are discounted at a required market
rate of return that reflects the relative risk of achieving the cash flows and the time value of money. The fair values associated with
these assets and liabilities are classified in Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy:.

The cost approach, which estimates value by determining the current cost of replacing an asset with another of equivalent
economic utility, is used, as appropriate, for certain assets for which the market and income approaches cannot be applied due to
the nature of the asset. The cost to replace a given asset reflects the estimated reproduction or replacement cost for the asset, less
an allowance for loss in value due to depreciation. Assets valued using the cost approach are classified in Level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy.

See Note 6 for additional description of the fair value measurement.
Airnorth Acquisition

On January 29, 2015, Bristow Helicopters Australia Pty Ltd. (“Bristow Helicopters Australia”) acquired an 85% interest in
Capiteq Limited, operating under the name Airnorth, for cash of A$30.3 million ($24.0 million) with possible earn out consideration
ofupto A$17.0 million ($13.0 million) to be paid over four years based in part on the achievement of specified financial performance
thresholds and continued employment by the selling shareholders. A portion of the first year earn-out payment of $1.5 million was
paid during fiscal year 2016 as Airnorth achieved agreed performance targets. Airnorth did not achieve the performance targets
for the second year earn-out payment. In addition, we entered into an agreement with the other shareholders of Capiteq Limited
that granted us the right after six months to buy all of their shares (and granted them the right after three years to require us to buy
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all of their shares) and included transfer restrictions and other customary provisions. We recognized $24.3 million of goodwill as
a result of the Airnorth acquisition. The goodwill recorded as part of this acquisition primarily reflects the value of offering a
complete suite of point to point transportation services for our clients and synergies expected to arise from the combined entities,
as well as any intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition.

In November 2015, we purchased the remaining 15% of the outstanding shares of Airnorth for A$7.3 million ($5.3 million)
resulting in a reduction of $5.5 million to redeemable noncontrolling interests and an increase of $2.6 million to additional paid-
in capital on our consolidated balance sheet.

We believe this investment strengthens our ability to provide point to point transportation services for existing Australian
based passengers, expands industrial aviation services in certain areas in Southeast Asian markets and creates a more integrated
logistics solution for global clients. Airnorth is Northern Australia’s largest regional fixed wing operator based in Darwin, Northern
Territory, Australia with both scheduled and charter services that focus primarily on the energy and mining industries in northern
and western Australia as well as international service to Dili, Timor-Leste. Airnorth’s fleet consists of 14 aircraft and its customer
base includes many energy companies to which Bristow Group provides helicopter transportation services.

The following table summarizes the consolidated assets and liabilities of Airnorth as of January 29, 2015 (in thousands):

CUITENT ASSEES ..evvieeviiieeeetee ettt e ettt e et et e e e e et e e e e et e e eteeeaeeeaeseraeesaseeanes $ 15,188
Property and eqUIPMENt ...........ccccvvieiiieieniieieie et 39,822
GOOAWIIL ) oot 24,252
Prepaid expenses and other assets 7 ..............o.coooooiiieieeeeee e, 4,403
0] P 1 BTt TSR 83,665
Current liabilities, including debt ! .........cooovirriirirriinereeerenees (20,104)
Long-term debt, less current maturities .........cceeeverveecveriiecieneerieneeieeeeeeees (20,6006)
Other long-term Habilities.........ccoocveviircierieieieeeeeeee e (9,441)
TOtal HADILIEICS ...eevveevieeieiieieeiteie ettt ees (50,151)
TEMPOTATY CQUILY ...euvieeietieeieriieteeieeieetestesteteete e esaesseesaesseessesseensesseensenes (3.427)
I ASSELS 1eeveuvrireririenerieitrteit ettt et e et ebe st e be st e be st e st st e st stesesae st te st ebeneebenene $ 30,087

(" For details on the correction of an immaterial error related to the acquisition of Airnorth, see Note 1.
Airnorth contributed $77.1 million, $75.4 million and $11.4 million of operating revenue during fiscal years 2017,2016 and
2015, respectively, and is included in our Asia Pacific region.

Prior to the acquisition of the remaining 15% of outstanding shares of Airnorth in November 2015, redeemable noncontrolling
interests included the third-party noncontrolling interests in Airnorth. The third-party noncontrolling interest holders held a written
put option, which allowed them to sell their noncontrolling interest to Bristow Helicopters Australia at any time after the end of
the third year after acquisition. In addition to the written put option, Bristow Helicopters Australia held a perpetual call option to
acquire the noncontrolling interest after six months. Under each of these alternatives, the exercise price would be based on a
contractually defined multiple of cash flows formula (the “Airnorth Redemption Value”), which is not a fair value measurement,
and was payable in cash. As the written put option was redeemable at the option of the noncontrolling interest holders, and not
solely within Bristow Helicopters Australia’s control, the noncontrolling interest in Airnorth was classified in redeemable
noncontrolling interests between the stockholders’ investment and liabilities sections of the consolidated balance sheets. The initial
carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest was the fair value of the noncontrolling interest as of the acquisition date.

The noncontrolling interest was adjusted each period for comprehensive income and dividends attributable to the
noncontrolling interest and any changes in Bristow Helicopters Australia’s ownership interest in Airnorth, if any. An additional
adjustment to the carrying value of the noncontrolling interest was required if the Airnorth Redemption Value exceeded the current
carrying value. Changes in the carrying value of the noncontrolling interest related to a change in the Airnorth Redemption Value
would be recorded against permanent equity and would not affect net income. While there was no impact on net income, the
redeemable noncontrolling interest impacted our calculation of earnings per share. Utilizing the two-class method, we adjusted
the numerator of the earnings per share calculation to reflect the changes in the excess, if any, of the Airnorth Redemption Value
over the greater of (1) the noncontrolling interest carrying amount or (2) the fair value of the noncontrolling interest on a quarterly
basis.
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Changes in the balance for the redeemable noncontrolling interest related to Airnorth are as follows (in thousands):

Acquisition of Airnorth on January 29, 2015.........cceccevvererierenierieeieeens $ 3,427
Noncontrolling iNtErest EXPENSE .......cvververreerierieererieeeeeerreeeesseessesseessensens (39)
Currency translation...........c.eeveeverierieeeenie ettt 49)
Balance as of March 31, 2015.......ccooiiiiiiiee e 3,339
Noncontrolling iNtErest EXPENSE .......evververreereerieeireriieeeeeerreeeesseessesseessensens 788
Accretion of noncontrolling iNterest ............cerveevereeriereeriesiereeeeseeeeneens 1,498
Currency translation...........c.eeveeverierieeeenie ettt (158)
Acquisition of remaining 15% of Airnorth.........c.cceeevieriiienenieecies (5,467)
Balance as of March 31, 2016.........ccoooviiviiiiieiiieieeeeeee e $ —

The summary pro forma condensed consolidated financial information presented below for fiscal year 2015 gives effect to
the acquisition of Airnorth as if it had occurred as of April 1,2013. The pro forma adjustments are based upon available information
and certain assumptions that we believe are reasonable. The pro forma net income has been adjusted to reflect depreciation and
amortization expense as if those adjustments had been applied on April 1, 2013. The summary pro forma condensed consolidated
financial information is for informational purposes only and does not purport to represent what our consolidated results of operations
actually would have been if the acquisition of Airnorth had occurred at any date, and such data does not purport to project our
results of operations for any future period.

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, 2015

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
GIOSS TEVEIUE. ...t ettt et et e e st e s e e et e e aesaeesaaeeaaeas $ 1,927,680
NEEINCOME ...ttt e et e e e e e steeesneeeenns 87,902

Note 3 — VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS IN SIGNIFICANT AFFILIATES
VIEs

A VIE is an entity that either (i) has insufficient equity to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support or (ii) has equity investors who lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest. A VIE is
consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly
impact the entity’s economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the entity that
could potentially be significant to the VIE. If we determine that we have operating power and the obligation to absorb losses or
receive benefits, we consolidate the VIE as the primary beneficiary, and if not, we do not consolidate.

As of March 31, 2017, we had interests in four VIEs of which we are the primary beneficiary, which are described below,
and had no interests in VIEs of which we are not the primary beneficiary.

Bristow Aviation Holdings Limited — We own 49% of Bristow Aviation Holdings Limited’s (“Bristow Aviation””) common
stock and a significant amount of its subordinated debt. Bristow Aviation is incorporated in England and holds all of the outstanding
shares in Bristow Helicopters Limited (“Bristow Helicopters™). Bristow Aviation’s subsidiaries provide industrial aviation services
to clients primarily in the U.K, Norway, Australia, Nigeria and Trinidad and fixed wing services primarily in the U.K and Australia.
Bristow Aviation is organized with three different classes of ordinary shares having disproportionate voting rights. The Company,
Caledonia Investments plc (“Caledonia”) and a European Union investor (the “E.U. Investor”) own 49%, 46% and 5%, respectively,
of Bristow Aviation’s total outstanding ordinary shares, although Caledonia has voting control over the E.U. Investor’s shares.

In addition to our ownership of 49% of Bristow Aviation’s outstanding ordinary shares, in May 2004, we acquired eight
million shares of deferred stock, essentially a subordinated class of stock with no voting rights, from Bristow Aviation for £1 per
share ($14.4 million in total). We also have £91.0 million ($113.8 million) principal amount of subordinated unsecured loan stock
(debt) of Bristow Aviation bearing interest at an annual rate of 13.5% and payable semi-annually. Payment of interest on such debt
has been deferred since its incurrence in 1996. Deferred interest accrues at an annual rate of 13.5% and aggregated $1.9 billion as
of March 31, 2017.
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The Company, Caledonia, the E.U. Investor and Bristow Aviation have entered into a shareholder agreement respecting,
among other things, the composition of the board of directors of Bristow Aviation. On matters coming before Bristow Aviation’s
board, Caledonia’s representatives have a total of three votes and the two other directors have one vote each. In addition, Caledonia
has the right to nominate two persons to our board of directors and to replace any such directors so nominated.

Caledonia, the Company and the E.U. Investor also have entered into a put/call agreement under which, upon giving specified
prior notice, we have the right to buy all the Bristow Aviation shares held by Caledonia and the E.U. Investor, who, in turn, each
have the right to require us to purchase such shares. Under current English law, we would be required, in order for Bristow Aviation
to retain its operating license, to find a qualified E.U. investor to own any Bristow Aviation shares we have the right to acquire
under the put/call agreement. The only restriction under the put/call agreement limiting our ability to exercise the put/call option
is a requirement to consult with the Civil Aviation Authority (the “CAA”) in the U.K. regarding the suitability of the new holder
of the Bristow Aviation shares. The put/call agreement does not contain any provisions should the CAA not approve the new E.U.
investor. However, we would work diligently to find an E.U. investor suitable to the CAA. The amount by which we could purchase
the shares of the other investors holding 51% of the equity of Bristow Aviation is fixed under the terms of the call option, and we
have reflected this amount on our consolidated balance sheets as noncontrolling interest.

Furthermore, the call option provides a mechanism whereby the economic risk for the other investors is limited should the
financial condition of Bristow Aviation deteriorate. The call option price is the nominal value of the ordinary shares held by the
noncontrolling shareholders (£1.0 million as of March 31, 2017) plus an annual guaranteed rate of return less any prepayments of
such call option price and any dividends paid on the shares concerned. We can elect to pre-pay the guaranteed return element of
the call option price wholly or in part without exercising the call option. No dividends have been paid by Bristow Aviation. We
have accrued the annual return due to the other shareholders at a rate of sterling LIBOR plus 3% (prior to May 2004, the rate was
fixed at 12%) by recognizing noncontrolling interest expense on our consolidated statements of operations, with a corresponding
increase in noncontrolling interest on our consolidated balance sheets. Prepayments of the guaranteed return element of the call
option are reflected as a reduction in noncontrolling interest on our consolidated balance sheets. The other investors have an option
to put their shares in Bristow Aviation to us. The put option price is calculated in the same way as the call option price except that
the guaranteed rate for the period to April 2004 was 10% per annum. If the put option is exercised, any pre-payments of the call
option price are set off against the put option price.

Changes in the balance for the noncontrolling interest associated with Bristow Aviation are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Balance — beginning of fiSCal YEar ..........ccccciiviiriiieiriiicieiieeeeeeee et $ 1,410 $ 1,457 $ 1,645
Payments to noncontrolling interest shareholders...........ccooceeveiiiriniiiiinieiiceeeee 49) (55) (59)
Noncontrolling iNtEreSt EXPENSE ......ccverureruirieriieienteeienieeteet et etee et seee e seeseeseeenaeas 50 55 58
Currency transSIation ...........coooiiereiieie et (185) (47) (187)
Balance — end of fISCAl YEAT.........c.ceviiriiieiieiiciciececetetce ettt $1226 $1.410 $1.457

91



BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Bristow Aviation and its subsidiaries are exposed to similar operational risks and are therefore monitored and evaluated on
a similar basis by management. Accordingly, the financial information reflected on our consolidated balance sheets and statements
of operations for Bristow Aviation and subsidiaries is presented in the aggregate, including intercompany amounts with other
consolidated entities, as follows (in thousands):

March 31,
2017 2016
Assets
Cash and cash equIValents ............cceeverieriiiieieeieeeee e $ 92,409 $ 62,773
ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE .......eeiivvieeie e 222,560 565,223
L IAYS 11101 (<t RS 90,190 102,738
Prepaid expenses and other current assets...........ccevveveereerverieesienvesieneeeens 50,016 53,776
TOtal CUITENE ASSELS ...vveeieeveeeeieie et et eee et e e e e eeaeeeeaeeeens 455,175 784,510
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates ............cccoevvveveieiiiciieicieeeeeeee, 3,513 4,676
Property and equipmMent, NEt..........ccvevvieieriieiienieeiereeie e seeeeens 306,831 251,494
GOOAWILL ...ttt ettt b s e ae e aneeeveesaneenns 19,798 29,990
(1113 g 1< £SO 203,228 82,443
TOLAL @SSELS.....eeviierereeeeeete et ettt et e ettt et e et eeteeaeeeaeeaeeeaeereeereenaeeaean $ 988,545 $ 1,153,113
Liabilities
ACCOUNES PAYADIE .....c.vovirieirieieiieictieetcetet ettt $ 146,841 $ 521,563
ACCTUE HHADIIIIES ... e 122,130 141,977
ACCTUEA INLETEST ...ttt et ere e eaeeeeneeas 1,891,305 1,698,360
D eITed tAXES ....vviivieeieeceie ettt ettt ettt e eve et eve e etae e — —
Current maturities of long-term debt...........ccoovveiviiiiienieciieeeeee e, 18,578 10,322
Total current Habilities. ........cccveeeviverieeeeecieeeeeee e 2,178,854 2,372,222
Long-term debt, less current maturities ........cceevveeverueeriereeireseeieseeieeeeeens 501,782 155,222
Accrued pension Habilities .........ccoecveviieieriicienieeiene e 61,647 70,107
Other liabilities and deferred credits.........cc.ooovvvveeveieeeeeieiceeeeeeeeeee e 8,138 7,928
DETEITEA TAXES ..vveeeeviieeeeee et enaeas 20,264 20,330
TeMPOTATY @QUILY....veveerestieieniieieeteeieeteteeeesteeaesseeaesseessesseensesseensesseensenns 6,886 15,473
Total liabilities and teMpPOrary €qUILY.........cceeveeveerreeeererceeriesresrennennens $ 2777571 $ 2,641,282
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017 2016 2015
REVEIUC......ooiviiiiii ettt ettt e e et eaa e et saaeeeaeesaaeens $ 1,209,019 $ 1,441,834 $1,512,312
Operating iNCOME (10SS) ..c.vievviriieiiirieiieiieie ettt seeeeenns (80,542) (57,780) 40,524
N LOSS vttt ettt ettt e ae ettt et e e re e e eaeeenns (279,159) (279,309) (179,757)

Bristow Helicopters Nigeria Ltd. — Bristow Helicopters Nigeria Ltd. (“BHNL”) is ajoint venture in Nigeria in which Bristow
Helicopters owned a 48% interest, a Nigerian company owned 100% by Nigerian employees owned a 50% interest and an employee
trust fund owned the remaining 2% interest as of March 31, 2017. BHNL provides industrial aviation services to clients in Nigeria.

In order to be able to bid competitively for our services in the Nigerian market, we were required to identify local citizens
to participate in the ownership of entities domiciled in the region. However, these owners do not have extensive knowledge of the
aviation industry and have historically deferred to our expertise in the overall management and day-to-day operation of BHNL
(including the establishment of operating and capital budgets and strategic decisions regarding the potential expansion of BHNL’s
operations). We have also historically provided subordinated financial support to BHNL and will need to continue to do so unless
and until BHNL acquires sufficient equity to permit itself to finance its activities without that additional support from us. As we
have the power to direct the most significant activities affecting the economic performance and ongoing success of BHNL and
hold a variable interest in the entity in the form of our equity investment and working capital infusions, we consolidate BHNL as
the primary beneficiary. The employee-owned Nigerian entity referenced above purchased its 19% interest in BHNL in December
2013 with proceeds from a loan received from BGI Aviation Technical Services Nigeria Limited (“BATS”). In July 2014, the
employee-owned Nigerian entity purchased an additional 29% interest with proceeds from a loan received from Bristow Helicopters
(International) Limited (“BHIL”). In April 2015, Bristow Helicopters purchased an additional 8% interest in BHNL and the
employee-owned Nigerian entity purchased an additional 2% interest with proceeds from a loan received from BHIL. Both BATS
and BHIL are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Bristow Aviation. The employee-owned Nigerian entity is also a VIE that we consolidate
as the primary beneficiary and we eliminate the loans discussed above in consolidation.
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BHNL is an indirect subsidiary of Bristow Aviation; therefore, financial information for this entity is included within the
amounts for Bristow Aviation and its subsidiaries presented above.

Pan African Airlines Nigeria Ltd. — Pan African Airlines Nigeria Ltd. (“PAAN”) is a joint venture in Nigeria with local
partners in which we own an interest of 50.17%. PAAN provides industrial aviation services to clients in Nigeria.

The activities that most significantly impact PAAN’s economic performance relate to the day-to-day operation of PAAN,
setting of operating and capital budgets and strategic decisions regarding the potential expansion of PAAN’s operations. Throughout
the history of PAAN, our representation on the board and our secondment to PAAN of its managing director has enabled us to
direct the key operational decisions of PAAN (without objection from the other board members). We have also historically provided
subordinated financial support to PAAN. As we have the power to direct the most significant activities affecting the economic
performance and ongoing success of PAAN and hold a variable interest in the form of our equity investment and working capital
infusions, we consolidate PAAN as the primary beneficiary. However, as long as we own a majority interest in PAAN, the separate
presentation of financial information in a tabular format for PAAN is not required.

Other Significant Affiliates — Consolidated
In addition to the VIEs discussed above, we consolidate the less than 100% owned entities described below.

Eastern Airways — Bristow Helicopters has a 60% interest in Eastern Airways, a regional fixed wing operator based at
Humberside Airport located in North Lincolnshire, England with both charter and scheduled services targeting U.K oil and gas
industry transportation. Eastern Airways operates 31 fixed wing aircraft and provides technical support for three fixed wing aircraft.
The terms of the purchase agreement for Eastern Airways included potential earn-out consideration of up to £6 million ($7.5
million) to be paid over a three-year period based on the achievement of specified financial performance thresholds through March
31, 2017. None of the earn-out targets were achieved. In addition, Bristow Helicopters entered into agreements with the other
shareholders of Eastern Airways that grant Bristow Helicopters the right to buy all of the Eastern Airways shares (and grant them
the right after seven years to require Bristow Helicopters to buy all of their shares) and include transfer restrictions and other
customary provisions.

The third-party noncontrolling interest holders hold a written put option, which will allow them to sell their noncontrolling
interest to Bristow Helicopters at any time after the end of the seventh year after acquisition. In addition to the written put option,
Bristow Helicopters holds a perpetual call option to acquire the noncontrolling interest at any time. Under each of these alternatives,
the exercise price will be based on a contractually defined multiple of cash flows formula (the “Eastern Redemption Value”), which
is not a fair value measurement, and is payable in cash. As the written put option is redeemable at the option of the noncontrolling
interest holders, and not solely within Bristow Helicopters control, the noncontrolling interest in Eastern Airways is classified in
redeemable noncontrolling interests between the stockholders’ investment and liabilities sections of the consolidated balance
sheets. The initial carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest was the fair value of the noncontrolling interest as of the acquisition
date.

The noncontrolling interest is adjusted each period for comprehensive income and dividends attributable to the noncontrolling
interest and changes in Bristow Helicopters’ ownership interest in Eastern Airways, if any. An additional adjustment to the carrying
value of the noncontrolling interest may be required if the Eastern Redemption Value exceeds the current carrying value. Changes
in the carrying value of the noncontrolling interest related to a change in the Eastern Redemption Value will be recorded against
permanent equity and will not affect net income. While there is no impact on net income, the redeemable noncontrolling interest
will impact our calculation of earnings per share. Utilizing the two-class method, we will adjust the numerator of the earnings per
share calculation to reflect the changes in the excess, if any, of the Eastern Redemption Value over the greater of (1) the noncontrolling
interest carrying amount or (2) the fair value of the noncontrolling interest on a quarterly basis.
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Changes in the balance for the redeemable noncontrolling interest related to Eastern Airways are as follows (in thousands):

Balance as of March 31, 2014 ........ccooviiiiiiieieeeeee e $ 22,283
Noncontrolling iNtErest EXPENSE .......evververreerierieeierrieteeeerreeeesseessesseessensens 3,389
Currency translation...........c.eeveeverierieeeenie ettt (2,787)
Balance as of March 31, 2015, ..o 22,885
Noncontrolling iNtErest EXPENSE .......evververreereerieeireriieeeeeerreeeesseessesseessensens (6,499)
Currency translation...........c.eeveeverierieeeenie ettt (913)
Balance as of March 31, 2016..........ooooviiioieieiieeeeeeeeeeee e 15,473
Noncontrolling iNtErest EXPENSE .......evververreereerieeireriieeeeeerreeeesseessesseessensens (6,848)
Currency translation...........c.eeveeverierieeeenie ettt (1,739)
Balance as of March 31, 2017........ccvioiiioiiiiieeeeie e $ 6,886

Eastern Airways is consolidated based on the rights to manage the day-to-day operations of the company which were granted
under a shareholders’ agreement and our ability to buy all of their Eastern Airways shares under a put/call agreement.

Aviashelf Aviation Co. — Bristow Aviation has a 48.5% interest in Aviashelf Aviation Co. (“Aviashelf”), a Russian helicopter
company. Additionally, we own 51% of two U.K. joint venture companies, Bristow Helicopters Leasing Ltd. and Sakhalin Bristow
Air Services Ltd. These two U.K. companies lease aircraft to Aviashelf which holds the client contracts for our Russian operations.
Aviashelf is consolidated based on the ability of certain consolidated subsidiaries of Bristow Aviation to control the vote on a
majority of the shares of Aviashelf, rights to manage the day to day operations of the company which were granted under a
shareholders’ agreement, and our ability to acquire an additional 8.5% interest in Aviashelf under a put/call option agreement.

Other Significant Affiliates — Unconsolidated
We have investments in other significant unconsolidated affiliates as described below.

Cougar — We own a 25% voting interest and a 40% economic interest in Cougar Helicopters Inc. (“Cougar”), the largest
offshore energy and SAR helicopter service provider in Canada. Cougar’s operations are primarily focused on serving the offshore
oil and gas industry off Canada’s Atlantic coast and in the Arctic. Cougar operates eight helicopters leased from us on a long-term
basis. We also lease maintenance and SAR facilities located in St. John’s, Newfoundland and Labrador and Halifax, Nova Scotia
to Cougar on a long-term basis. The terms of the purchase agreement for Cougar include a potential earn-out of $40 million payable
over three years based on Cougar achieving certain agreed performance targets. The first year and second year earn-out payments
of $6.0 million and $8.0 million were paid in March 2014 and April 2015, respectively, as Cougar achieved agreed performance
targets. The third year earn-out was achieved as Cougar achieved agreed performance targets of which $10 million was paid in
April 2016 and $16 million was paid in April 2017. The fair value of the earn-out was $16.0 million as of March 31, 2017 and is
included in short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheet and $26.0 million
as of March 31, 2016 and is included in contingent consideration on our consolidated balance sheet. The investment in Cougar is
accounted for under the equity method. As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, the investment in Cougar was $56.9 million and $59.7
million, respectively, and is included on our consolidated balance sheets in investment in unconsolidated affiliates. Due to timing
differences in our financial reporting requirements, we record our share of Cougar’s financial results in earnings from unconsolidated
affiliates on a three-month delay. Additionally, we lease six S-92 model aircraft and one AW 139 model aircraft from VIH Aviation
Group, which is a related party due to common owners of Cougar, and paid lease fees of $12.5 million, $6.5 million and $6.4
million in fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Additionally, we have paid $0.5 million, $2.6 million and $7.3 million
in fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, to VIH Aerospace Inc., another related party with common owners of Cougar,
for SAR and other equipment. In July 2016 we began leasing a facility in Galliano, Louisiana from VIH Helicopters USA, Inc.,
another related party with common owners of Cougar, and paid $0.1 million in lease fees during fiscal year 2017.

HCA— As of March 31,2014, we owned a 50% interest in HCA, a U.K. company that provides inspection and certification
services for offshore helidecks. On November 21, 2014, we sold our 50% interest in HCA for £2.7 million, or approximately $4.2
million. We recorded a pre-tax gain on sale of unconsolidated affiliate of $3.9 million during fiscal year 2015 on our consolidated
statements of operations. HCA was accounted for under the equity method prior to November 21, 2014.
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Lider — We own an approximate 20% voting interest and a 41.9% economic interest in Lider Taxi Aéreo S.A. (“Lider”),
the largest provider of helicopter and executive aviation services in Brazil. Lider’s fleet has 43 helicopters and 22 fixed wing
aircraft (including owned and managed aircraft). Effective May 28, 2014, our ownership interest in Lider in Brazil was reduced
from 42.5% to 41.9% as aresult of Lider’s issuance of additional shares to improve tax and cost-saving efficiencies. This transaction
resulted in no material impact to our consolidated financial statements. The investment in Lider is accounted for under the equity
method. As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, the investment in Lider was $143.5 million and $124.2 million, respectively, and is
included in our consolidated balance sheets in investment in unconsolidated affiliates.

PAS — We have a 25% interest in Petroleum Air Services (“PAS”), an Egyptian corporation that provides helicopter and
fixed wing transportation to the offshore energy industry in Egypt. Additionally, spare fixed wing capacity is chartered to tourism
operators. PAS owns 46 aircraft. PAS is accounted for under the cost method as we are unable to exert significant influence over
its operations.

Other — Historically, in addition to the expansion of our business through purchases of new and used aircraft, we have also
established new joint ventures with local partners or purchased significant ownership interests in companies with ongoing helicopter
operations, particularly in countries where we have no operations or our operations are limited in scope, and we continue to evaluate
similar opportunities which could enhance our operations. Where we believe that it is probable that an equity method investment
will result, the costs associated with such investment evaluations are deferred and included in investment in unconsolidated affiliates
on the consolidated balance sheets. For each investment evaluated, an impairment of deferred costs is recognized in the period in
which we determine that it is no longer probable an equity method investment will result. As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, we had
no amounts in investment in unconsolidated affiliates in the process of being evaluated.

Our percentage of economic ownership and investment balances for the unconsolidated affiliates are as follows:

March 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016

(In thousands)

Cost Method:
PAS et 25% 25% $ 6286 $ 6,286
Equity Method:
CouGAr 1) .o 40% 40% 56,885 59,742
LAAET 1) e 41.9%  41.9% 143,477 124,248
OBRET e e oo 3,514 4,676
TORAL .o e e eee e s e $210,162 $ 194,952

" We had a 25% voting interest in Cougar and an approximate 20% voting interest in Lider as of March 31, 2017 and 2016.

Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Dividends from entities accounted for under the cost method:
P A S ettt ettt $ 2,068 § 2,068 $§ 2,068
Earnings, net of losses, from entities accounted for under the equity method:
COUZAT ...ttt ettt ettt b ettt b et b et b et b et eb e e eb et ebe st besbebenbeneas (2,857)  (2,001) (710)
AT ettt ettt sttt sttt 8,064 (116)  (4,236)
ORET 1) et s s e eee e (330) 310 1,107
4,877 (1,807)  (3,839)
TOTAL .ttt bbb b et b et bttt b et ene $ 6945 § 261 § (1.771)

M We sold our 50% interest in HCA in November 2014.

We received $0.4 million, $0.8 million and $5.6 million of dividends from our investments accounted for under the equity
method during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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A summary of combined financial information of our unconsolidated affiliates accounted for under the equity method is set
forth below (in thousands):

March 31,
2017 2016
(Unaudited)
CUITEIE ASSELS ..ottt et ettt e et e st e e et e e e eaeeeseaeeeseaeeeseaeesseaeeesseeeesaaneas $ 248,998 $ 269,619
INON-CUITENT ASSEES...ceiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeiectte et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s eee s asasasseaseneneeeeees 310,975 295,416
TOLAL ASSELS....veeieviereeeeee e et eetee ettt e e ete e e et e e e eeteeenreeeteeereeereeenreenes $ 559,973 $ 565,035
CUITENE HADIIIEIES .ottt ee e e e e e e aeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeaee $ 127,292 $ 146,938
NON-CUITENT HADIIITIES ...eeeiiieiiiiii ittt eaaeeeeeeaes 244,978 266,545
EiQUILY 1ottt ettt a et ettt neeae et e teere s ese e 187,703 151,552
Total liabilities and EqUILY ......ccecvereeeiirieeeeee e $ 559973 § 565.035

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
(Unaudited)
REVETIUC ...t s et e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeee s $ 327,351 $ 368,586 $ 499,692
GIOSS PIOfIt..vviviuiierieieiieteteetetet ettt ettt ettt b et bbbt s s sess e senas $ 50371 $ 60,873 $ 99,127
NEETTICOMIE ...t e e eee e e et e seeeeee st eeaeseeeaeseneeneenens $ 14581 $ 21,871 § 559

Note 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

During fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, we made capital expenditures as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Number of aircraft delivered:
IMEAIUIM ...ttt ettt enes 5 1 6
LATZE .eoviitiieieiieteete ettt sttt sttt ettt — 3 10
SAR QIICTATT ..oovviiiiiiiiiie e 4 4 5
Total aircraft ... 9 8 21
Capital expenditures (in thousands):
Aircraft and related equipment @ ..., $ 127,447 $ 285,530 $ 476,368
OFRET ..ttt 7,663 86,845 125,466
Total capital eXpenditures...........ccecevvereerererenieneeenerieseenenes $ 135,110 $ 372,375 $ 601,834

" During fiscal year 2016, we took delivery of two aircraft that were purchased using short-term debt borrowings for the final payments
of the aircraft. As of March 31, 2017, the short-term borrowings for these aircraft have been paid.

@ During fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015, we spent $71.4 million, $202.7 million and $440.9 million, respectively, on progress payments
for aircraft to be delivered in future periods.
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The following table presents details on the aircraft sold or disposed of and impairments on assets held for sale during fiscal
years 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2017 2016 2015

(In thousands, except for
number of aircraft)

Number of aircraft sold or disposed of " ..........cccoovvviiiireeie, 14 35 44
Proceeds from sale or disposal of assets O U $ 18471 $ 60,035 $ 414,859
Gain (loss) from sale or disposal of assets ..........ccceeevverierverirencnne. $ (2,049 § (1,122) $ 208
Number of aircraft impaired...........cccceeververerieriieiereeese e 14 16 27

Impairment charges on aircraft held for sale and construction in
PTOZIESS ...vvuvivierereressessessessessesseseeseeseeseeseesessessasessessessessessassasenses $ 12,450 $ 29,571 $ 36,057

M During fiscal years 2016 and 2015, three and 14 of these aircraft, respectively, were sold and leased back and we received $29.2 million

and $380.7 million, respectively, in proceeds for the aircraft. We did not enter into any sale leasebacks during fiscal year 2017.

In addition to capital expenditures and sale or disposal of assets, the following items impacted property and equipment during
fiscal year 2017:

*  We recorded accelerated depreciation of $10.4 million on 11 medium aircraft operating in our Europe Caspian,
Americas and Africa regions as our management decided to exit these model types earlier than originally anticipated.
In certain instances the salvage values of some aircraft were also adjusted to reflect our expectation of sales values
in the current market.

»  We transferred 12 aircraft to held for sale and reduced property and equipment by $19.7 million.

In addition to capital expenditures and sale or disposal of assets, the following items impacted property and equipment during
fiscal year 2016:

*  Werecorded accelerated depreciation of $28.7 million on 18 medium, four large and one fixed wing aircraft operating
in our Europe Caspian, Americas, Africa and Asia Pacific regions as our management decided to exit these model
types earlier than originally anticipated. In certain instances the salvage values of some aircraft were also adjusted
to reflect our expectation of sales values in the current market.

*  We took delivery and entered into leases for the remaining two aircraft related to the deferred sale leaseback and
removed a total of $75.8 million and $74.3 million, respectively, from construction in progress and deferred sale
leaseback advance on our consolidated balance sheet. See Note 1 for further details on the deferred sale leaseback
advance.

*  We took delivery of two large aircraft which we purchased using short-term debt borrowings for the final payments
of the aircraft of $24.4 million.

»  We transferred 35 aircraft to held for sale and reduced property and equipment by $83.6 million.
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In addition to capital expenditures and sale or disposal of assets, the following items impacted property and equipment during
fiscal year 2015:

*  Werecorded accelerated depreciation of $10.4 million for 10 medium, four large and one fixed wing aircraft operating
in our Africa, Americas and Asia Pacific regions as our management decided to exit these model types earlier than
originally anticipated.

*  We increased the liabilities associated with deferred sale leaseback advance for additional payments made by the
purchaser during fiscal year 2015 by $69.7 million, with a corresponding increase to construction in progress.
Additionally, we took delivery and entered into leases for five aircraft related to the deferred sale leaseback and
removed $183.7 million and $182.6 million, respectively, from construction in progress and deferred sale leaseback
advance, current from our consolidated balance sheet. See Note 1 for further details on the deferred sale leaseback.

*  We determined that since fiscal year 2010 we had been improperly capitalizing profit on intercompany technical
services billings related to aircraft modifications. To correct this error, we reduced property and equipment, net of
accumulated depreciation, by $4.4 million and increased deferred gains on aircraft sold and leased back included
within other long-term liabilities by $0.9 million. The offsetting impact on our consolidated statements of operations
was a reduction in revenue of $3.5 million, an increase in direct cost of $2.0 million and a reduction in depreciation
and amortization of $0.2 million. The error was not material to our consolidated financial statements for fiscal year
2015 or our previously reported consolidated financial statements for any period.

*  Wereceived proceeds of $16.0 million from insurance recoveries for inventory destroyed in a fire in our Port Harcourt,
Nigeria hangar. Additionally, we recorded a gain of $4.9 million in gain (loss) on disposal of assets on our consolidated
statement of operations and included in the table above.

*  We transferred 15 aircraft to held for sale and reduced property and equipment by $91.5 million.

During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we saw a deterioration in market sales for aircraft resulting mostly from an increase in
idle aircraft and reduced demand across the offshore energy market. While other markets exist for certain aircraft model types,
including utility, firefighting, government, VIP transportation and tourism, the market for certain model type aircraft slowed. As
a result of these market changes, changes in estimated salvage values of our fleet of operational aircraft and other changes in the
timing of exiting certain aircraft from our operations, we recorded impairments and additional depreciation expense discussed
above. For further details, see Note 1 for a discussion on impairments of property and equipment.

Assets Held for Sale

As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, we had 20 and 22 aircraft, for $38.2 million and $43.8 million, classified as held for sale,
respectively. We intend to sell or otherwise dispose of these assets during the next fiscal year. We recorded impairment charges of
$12.5 million, $29.6 million and $36.1 million to reduce the carrying value of 14, 16 and 27 aircraft held for sale during fiscal
years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These impairment charges were included in loss on disposal of assets in the consolidated
statements of operations.

The impairment charges recorded on held for sale aircraft during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 related primarily to older
model aircraft types our management decided to dispose of earlier than originally anticipated in addition to the impact of changes
in expected sales prices in the aircraft aftermarket resulting from the ongoing oil and gas market downturn. The impairment charges
recorded in fiscal year 2017 related primarily to the downturn in the oil and gas industry which resulted from reduced crude oil
prices and which caused a reduction in demand for aircraft in the offshore energy market and the impairment of older model aircraft
classified as held for sale. The impairment charges recorded in fiscal year 2016 related primarily to a medium aircraft model type
we made the decision to accelerate our exit from during the current downturn. The impairment charges recorded in fiscal year
2015 related to a large aircraft model type our management decided to sell as part of a single transaction, which reduced the overall
sales price for these aircraft. Also during fiscal year 2015, impairment charges included $4.3 million related to three medium
prototype aircraft as we entered into an agreement in April 2015 to sell these three aircraft and purchase fully developed/non-
prototype aircraft.
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Note 5 — DEBT

Debt as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31,
2017 2016

6 V4% Senior NOtes dUE 2022 .......coeueeeeeeeeeeereeeeetecte ettt eneseens $ 401,535 $ 401,535
TN LOAN ...ttt st 261,907 335,665
Term Loan Credit FACIlity ........ccoieiierieiirieie e e 45,900 200,000
Revolving Credit FACIIILY ....c.occveviieiiieeceee e e 139,100 144,000
Lombard DEbDrt........ocuviiieie et 196,832 —
Y TTa LD 1 (TN B <)o TP 200,000 —
ATINOTEE DEDL ..ottt ettt seene 16,471 19,652
Eastern Airways DEDt..........ccuveiiriieiiieieceee e 15,326 15,643
OFNET DIEDE ...ttt sttt 16,293 24,394
Unamortized debt issuance costs (11,345) (8,917)

TOTAL AEDE ...ttt 1,282,019 1,131,972

Less short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt.................. (131,063) (60,394)

Total 10nZ-1erm debt .....c.ceviieiiieiiieiirieire et $ 1.150956 $ 1,071,578

6 %% Senior Notes due 2022 — On October 12, 2012, we completed an offering of $450 million of the 6 4% Senior Notes.
The 6 ¥4% Senior Notes are our unsecured senior obligations and are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis
by certain of our U.S. subsidiaries (the “Guarantor Subsidiaries”). The indenture for our 6 %% Senior Notes includes restrictive
covenants which limit, among other things, our ability to incur additional debt, issue disqualified stock, pay dividends, repurchase
stock, invest in other entities, sell assets, incur additional liens or security, merge or consolidate the Company and enter into
transactions with affiliates. Interest on the 6 4% Senior Notes is payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year and the 6 ¥4%
Senior Notes mature on October 15,2022. We may redeem any of the 6 ¥4% Senior Notes at any time on or after October 15, 2017,
in whole or part, in cash, at certain redemption prices plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption. At any
time prior to October 15, 2017, we may redeem all, but not less than all, of the 6 %% Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to
the principal amount plus an applicable premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date. We incurred
financing fees of $7.4 million, that are included as deferred financing fees in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets which
we will amortize as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations over the life of the 6 ¥4% Senior Notes.

In fiscal year 2015, we repurchased $48.5 million principal amount of the 6 /4% Senior Notes in the open market at 103.75%
to 107.75%, plus accrued interest, for a total of $52.0 million. In connection with these repurchases, we incurred $2.6 million in
premium and fees which are included in extinguishment of debt on our consolidated statement of operations, and wrote-off $0.7
million of unamortized deferred financing fees, which is included in interest expense, net on our consolidated statement of
operations.

Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan — As of March 31, 2017, our amended and restated revolving credit and term loan
agreement (the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”), included a $400 million revolving credit facility with a subfacility
of $30 million for letters of credit (the “Revolving Credit Facility”, and a five-year, $350 million term loan (the “Term Loan”)
(together with the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan Credit Facility described below, collectively the “Senior Credit
Facilities”, and the Senior Credit Facilities, together with the Lombard Debt and the Macquarie Debt described below, the “Credit
Facilities”)). AsofMarch 31,2017, we had $139.1 million in borrowings outstanding and $0.6 million in letters of credit outstanding
under the Revolving Credit Facility and $262.1 million outstanding under the Term Loan excluding $0.2 million of unamortized
discount. The Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan mature in April 2019.

As of March 31, 2017, borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement bear interest at an interest rate equal
to, at our option, either the Base Rate or LIBOR (or EURIBO, in the case of Euro-denominated borrowings) plus the applicable
margin. “Base Rate” means the higher of (1) the prime rate and (2) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50% per annum. The applicable
margin for borrowings ranged from 0.00% to 2.50% prior to entering into the Eighth Amendment discussed below, and thereafter,
ranges from 0.50% to 3.50%, depending on whether the Base Rate or LIBOR was used and based on our leverage ratio pricing
grid. In addition, we are required to pay fees on the daily unused amount of the Revolving Credit Facility in an amount per annum
equal to an applicable percentage, which ranges from 0.25% to 0.625% and based on our leverage ratio pricing grid. Fees owed
on the letters of credit issued under the Revolving Credit Facility are equal to the applicable margin for LIBOR borrowings. The
interest rate was 3.79% and 2.69% as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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As of March 31, 2017, obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement were guaranteed by the Guarantor
Subsidiaries and secured by the U.S. cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, inventories, non-aircraft equipment, prepaid
expenses and other current assets, intangible assets and intercompany promissory notes held by Bristow Group Inc. and the
Guarantor Subsidiaries, and 100% and 65% of the capital stock of certain of our principal domestic and foreign subsidiaries,
respectively, as well as the aircraft pledged in connection with the Eighth Amendment described below. In addition, the Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement included customary covenants, including certain financial covenants and restrictions on our ability
to enter into certain transactions, including those that could result in the incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens; the making
of loans, guarantees or investments; sale of assets; payments of dividends or repurchases of our capital stock; and entering into
transactions with affiliates.

On November 5, 2015, simultaneously with the closing of a senior secured term loan credit agreement (the “Term Loan
Credit Agreement”) which provides for $200 million of term loan commitments (the “Term Loan Credit Facility”) described below,
we entered into the seventh amendment to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement (“Seventh
Amendment”) which permitted, among other things: (i) entry into the Term Loan Credit Facility and the incurrence of indebtedness
thereunder and (ii) the granting of liens by the Company and the Guarantor Subsidiaries in favor of the lenders under the Term
Loan Credit Facility on a pari passu secured basis with the liens granted in favor of the lenders under the Amended and Restated
Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement.

On May 23, 2016, we entered into an eighth amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Eighth
Amendment”) that, among other things, (a) replaced the maximum leverage ratio requirement with a maximum senior secured
leverage ratio, defined as the ratio of the sum of senior secured debt and the present value of obligations under operating leases
to consolidated EBITDA for the most recent four consecutive fiscal quarters, which ratio may not be not greater than 4.25:1.00
for each fiscal quarter ending during the period from March 31, 2016 through September 30, 2017 and 4.00:1.00 for each fiscal
quarter ending thereafter, (b) replaced the interest coverage ratio requirement with a minimum current ratio, defined as the ratio
of the sum of consolidated current assets minus the book value of aircraft held for sale plus the unused amount of aggregate
revolving commitments less $25 million to consolidated current liabilities, which may not be not less than 1.00:1.00 as of the last
day of each fiscal quarter, (c) allowed for the issuance of certain additional indebtedness when the leverage ratio exceeds 4.75:1.00,
including (i) unsecured, subordinated or convertible indebtedness to refinance outstanding term loans under the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement and the Term Loan Credit Agreement, (ii) additional unsecured, subordinated or convertible
indebtedness of up to $100 million in principal amount, (iii) equipment financings, including, without limitation, aircraft sale and
leaseback transactions, and (iv) financings of U.K. bases with respect to helicopter SAR services and (d) limited cash dividends
on our Common Stock to $0.07 per share per quarter. In addition, in connection with the Eighth Amendment and the first amendment
to the Term Loan Credit Agreement described below, certain of our U.S. subsidiaries have granted liens on certain of their aircraft
to secure our obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and the Term Loan Credit Agreement on a pari passu
secured basis in favor of the lenders under each such agreement. Also as part of the Eight Amendment, the applicable margin for
borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement ranges from 0.50% to 3.50%, depending on whether the Base Rate
or LIBOR was used and based on our leverage ratio pricing grid.

During fiscal year 2017, we had borrowings of $300.6 million and made payments of $305.5 million under the Revolving
Credit Facility. Additionally, during fiscal year 2017 we paid $73.9 million to reduce our borrowings under the Term Loan.

Term Loan Credit Facility — On November 5, 2015, we entered into the Term Loan Credit Agreement as discussed above.
Proceeds from the Term Loan Credit Facility were initially used to repay loans outstanding under our $400 million Revolving
Credit Facility. The additional liquidity was used for capital expenditures, working capital needs and general corporate purposes.
The interest rate at closing was LIBOR plus a borrowing margin of 2.0%. The Term Loan Credit Facility is guaranteed by certain
of our Guarantor Subsidiaries and secured by the U.S. cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, inventories, non-aircraft
equipment, prepaid expenses and other current assets, intangible assets and intercompany promissory notes held by the Company
and the Guarantor Subsidiaries, and 100% and 65% of'the capital stock of certain of our principal domestic and foreign subsidiaries,
respectively, as well as certain aircraft as discussed above under “Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan.” In addition, the Term
Loan Credit Facility includes customary covenants, including certain financial covenants and restrictions on our ability to enter
into certain transactions, including those that could result in the incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens; the making of
loans, guarantees or investments; sale of assets; payments of dividends or repurchases of our capital stock; and entering into
transactions with affiliates. The Term Loan Credit Facility matures in November 2017.

On May 23, 2016, we entered into the first amendment to the Term Loan Credit Agreement that, among other things,
incorporates, as applicable, the provisions of the Eighth Amendment described above.

During fiscal year 2017, we paid $154.1 million to reduce the borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Facility.
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Lombard Debt — On November 11, 2016, certain of our subsidiaries entered into two, seven-year British pound sterling
denominated secured equipment term loans for an aggregate $200 million U.S. dollar equivalent with Lombard North Central Plc,
a part of the Royal Bank of Scotland (the “Lombard Debt”). In December 2016, the first loan amount of $109.9 million (GBP 89.1
million) funded and the borrower prepaid scheduled principal payments of $4.5 million (GBP 3.7 million). The proceeds from this
financing were used to finance the purchase by the borrower thereunder of three SAR aircraft utilized for our U.K. SAR contract
from a subsidiary. In January 2017, the second loan amount of $90.1 million (GBP 72.4 million) funded. The proceeds from this
financing were used to finance the purchase by the borrower thereunder of five SAR aircraft utilized for our U.K. SAR contract
from a subsidiary. The borrowers’ respective obligations under the financings are guaranteed by the Company, and each financing
is secured by the aircraft purchased by the applicable borrower with the proceeds of its loan. The credit agreements governing the
Lombard Debt includes covenants, including requirements to maintain, register and insure the respective SAR aircraft secured
thereunder, and restrictions on the respective borrower thereunder to incur additional liens on or sell the respective SAR aircraft
secured thereunder (except to the Company and its subsidiaries). Borrowings under the financings bear interest at an interest rate
equal to the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited LIBOR (or the successor thereto) plus 2.25% per annum. The financing which
funded in December 2016 matures in December 2023 and the financing which funded in January 2017 matures in January 2024.

Macquarie Debt — On February 1, 2017, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into a term loan credit agreement
for a $200 million five-year secured equipment term loan with Macquarie Bank Limited (the “Macquarie Debt”). In conjunction
with closing and funding under such term loan, we have agreed to lease five helicopters for lease terms ranging from 60 to 63
months from Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A., acting as owner trustee for Macquarie Aerospace Inc., an affiliate of Macquarie
Bank Limited. The borrower's obligations under the credit agreement are guaranteed by the Company and secured by 20 oil and
gas aircraft. The financing funded on March 7, 2017. Borrowings under the financing bear interest at an interest rate equal to the
ICE Benchmark Administration Limited LIBOR (or the successor thereto) plus 5.35% per annum. The proceeds from the financing
were used to repay $154.1 million of our Term Loan Credit Facility and $45.9 million of our Term Loan.

The credit agreement governing the Macquarie Debt includes covenants, including requirements to maintain, register and
insure the respective aircraft secured thereunder, and restrictions on the respective borrower thereunder to incur additional liens
on or sell the respective aircraft secured thereunder (except to the Company and its subsidiaries). The Macquarie Debt matures in
March 2022.

Airnorth Debt— Airnorth’s outstanding debt includes interest bearing term loans of $16.5 million as of March 31, 2017.
The term loans primarily relate to the purchase of aircraft, have a remaining term of approximately three to seven years, and consist
of a term loan with interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 2.85% and two term loans each with a fixed rate of 3.1% plus the Reserve
Bank of Australia cash rate of 2.0%. The term loans have customary covenants, including certain financial covenants, and varying
principal payments.

Eastern Airways Debt — Eastern Airways’ outstanding debt includes interest bearing term loans and borrowings under a
revolving credit facility totaling $15.3 million as of March 31, 2017. The term loans were used to refinance other Eastern
indebtedness in October 2015 and bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 1.75%. The interest rate on the term loans was 1.971%
as of March 31, 2017. These term loans have quarterly principal payments and mature on August 31, 2018. Borrowings under the
revolving credit facility are used for general corporate, working capital and capital expenditure purposes, and bear interest at
LIBOR plus a margin of 1.75%. All outstanding obligations under the revolving credit facility will mature on August 31, 2018.

Other Debt — Other debt primarily includes amounts payable relating to the third year earn-out payment for our investment
in Cougar totaling $16.0 million that was subsequently paid in April 2017.

Other Matters — Aggregate annual maturities (which excludes unamortized discount of $0.2 million and unamortized debt
issuance costs of $11.3 million) for all debt for the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal year ending March 31

0 S USRS $ 134,009
2000 e ettt e et e te et e eteeetreete e et teeteeetesereeeaeeerean 77,397
2020 ettt et e e te et e e et e ete et e eteeeareeteeateeenteeeteeereeeaeeenrean 351,437
202 ettt e et e et e et e et e eaeeeaaeeteeeteeetaeateeeeteeeaeeereeereeenrean 28,559
2022 ettt e e —e et e et et e ete e et e ateeetreeeteeataeenteeeteseteeeaeeenrean 157,664
TREIEATIET ...ttt e e et e e e e et e e s s e aar e e e e s et e e e e e e aataeeeeeannaes 544,491

$ 1,293,557
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Interest paid in fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015 was $51.4 million, $41.8 million and $38.0 million, respectively. Capitalized
interest was $10.2 million, $10.6 million and $14.6 million in fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

GE Commitment Letter — On February 2, 2017, we executed a commitment letter for an approximate six-year, $230 million
secured equipment financing with PK Transportation Finance Ireland Limited, a part of GE Capital Aviation Services (“GECAS”).
As part of this financing, which is subject to entering into definitive agreements, Milestone Aviation Group Limited (“Milestone™),
a GECAS company, will defer up to $25 million in lease rentals on certain Airbus Helicopters EC225LP (also known as a H225)
model helicopters on lease to us. The financing is intended to be secured by up to 20 oil and gas aircraft. Borrowings under the
financing will bear interest at an interest rate equal to the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited LIBOR (or the successor thereto)
plus 5% per annum. We expect this financing to close no later than June 30, 2017. The proceeds from the financing are expected
to be used to repay amounts outstanding under our existing bank indebtedness. As part of executing the commitment letter, we
extended three Sikorsky S-92 leases by two years each with Milestone.

Note 6 — FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurement are categorized into one of three different levels depending on the
observability of the inputs employed in the measurement, as follows:

* Level 1 — observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

*  Level 2 — inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets which are not active; quoted prices
for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability;
or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

*  Level 3 — unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’s own assumptions incorporated in valuation techniques used to
determine fair value. These assumptions are required to be consistent with market participant assumptions that are
reasonably available.

Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements

The majority of our non-financial assets, which include inventories, property and equipment, assets held for sale, goodwill
and other intangible assets, are not required to be carried at fair value on a recurring basis. However, if certain triggering events
occur such that a non-financial asset is required to be evaluated for impairment and deemed to be impaired, the impaired non-
financial asset is recorded as its fair value.

The following table summarizes the assets as of March 31, 2017, valued at fair value on a non-recurring basis (in thousands):

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable Total Loss for
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance as of Fiscal Year

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) March 31, 2017 2017
INVENTOTIES. ...t $ — 3 46,568 $ — 3 46,568 $ (7,572)
Assets held forsale .........oocovvvveviieiiieiiinieen, — 38,246 — 38,246 (12,450)
GOOAWIIL ..o — — 19,798 19,798 (8,706)

Total aSSEtS......ovevveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ — 3 84814 § 19,798 $ 104,612 $ (28.728)

The following table summarizes the assets as of March 31, 2016, valued at fair value on a non-recurring basis (in thousands):

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable Total Loss for
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance as of Fiscal Year

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) March 31, 2016 2016
INVENTOTIES. ... $ — $ 6,261 $ — $ 6,261 $ (5,439)
Assets held forsale ..........ccoeveveivivieieeineeen, — 43,783 — 43,783 (29,571)
GOOAWIIL ..o — — 29,990 29,990 (41,579)
Other intangible assets.........ccceeveeeereeevennne. — — — — (8,086)

Total aSsetsS......ccoueevreevirecrieeieereeeieeneeae $ — 3 50,044 § 29,990 $ 80,034 § (84.675)
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The fair value of inventories using Level 2 inputs is determined by evaluating the current economic conditions for sale and
disposal of spare parts, which includes estimates as to the recoverability of the carrying value of the parts based on historical
experience with sales and disposal of similar spare parts, the expected timeframe of sales or disposals, the location of the spare
parts to be sold and the condition of the spare parts to be sold or otherwise disposed of. See Note 1 for further discussion of the
impairment of inventories and other intangible assets.

The fair value of assets held for sale using Level 2 inputs is determined through evaluation of expected sales proceeds for
aircraft. This analysis includes estimates based on historical experience with sales, recent transactions involving similar assets,
quoted market prices for similar assets and condition and location of aircraft to be sold or otherwise disposed of. See Note 4 for
details on assets held for sale.

The fair value of goodwill is estimated using a variety of valuation methods, including the income and market approaches.
These estimates of fair value include unobservable inputs, representative of Level 3 fair value measurement, including assumptions

related to future performance, such as projected demand for our services and rates. For further details on our goodwill, see Note
1.

See Note 2 for details on the fair values related to the Airnorth acquisition.
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes the financial instruments we had as of March 31, 2017, valued at fair value on a recurring
basis (in thousands):

Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance as of Balance Sheet
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) March 31, 2017 Classification
Rabbi Trust investments ............cccceveeverneeen. $ 3,075 $ — 3 — 3 3,075 Other assets
Total aSSEtS......ooveveveeeeerereeceereieeeeeeenena $ 3,075 S — — 3,075

The following table summarizes the financial instruments we had as of March 31, 2016, valued at fair value on a recurring

basis (in thousands):

Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at Balance Sheet
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) March 31, 2016 Classification
Rabbi Trust investments.............cccoeveeveenene.. $ 2,990 $ $ — 2,990 Other assets
TOtAl ASSELS.c.veeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenene $ 2,990 $ $ — $ 2,990
Contingent consideration ":
Contingent
CULTENL ... $ — $ — $ 29,522 $ 29,522 consideration
Other liabilities and
Long-term — — 3,069 3,069  deferred credits
Total Habilities ....eeveevereeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennn. $ — $ $ 32,591 § 32,591

(O]

Relates to our investments in Cougar totaling $26.0 million and our acquisition of Airnorth totaling $6.6 million (see Notes 2 and 3).

The rabbi trust investments consist of cash and mutual funds whose fair value are based on quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets, and are designated as Level 1 within the valuation hierarchy. The rabbi trust holds investments related to our
non-qualified deferred compensation plan for our senior executives as discussed in Note 9.
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The following table provides a rollforward of the contingent consideration liability Level 3 fair value measurements during
fiscal year 2017 (in thousands):

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs (Level 3)
Contingent consideration:

Balance as of March 31, 2016 ..........oooommiiieieeeee e $ 32,591
Change in fair value of contingent consideration .............cceeeeeeeeereerieneereseenenens (6,591)
Payment of Cougar third year €arn-out..........c.ccereriereroienieiesieeecee e (10,000)
Reclass of remaining Cougar third year earn-out to short-term borrowings and

ACCTUEA LIADIITIES . .vevvenciiicierctr et (16,000)

Balance as of March 31, 2017 .....oouviiiiiiieeeee ettt $ —

We assess the estimated fair value of the contractual obligation to pay the contingent consideration on a quarterly basis and
any changes in estimated fair value are recorded as accretion expense included in depreciation and amortization on our consolidated
statements of operations. Fluctuations in the fair value of contingent consideration are impacted by two unobservable inputs,
management’s estimate of the probability of Cougar or Airnorth achieving certain agreed performance targets and the estimated
discount rate. As of March 31, 2016, the discount rate approximated 4% for the contingent consideration related to Cougar. As of
March 31, 2016, the discount rate approximated 2% for the contingent consideration related to Airnorth. For details on the earn-
out payments for Airnorth and Cougar, see Notes 2 and 3, respectively.

Fair Value of Debt

The fair value of our debt has been estimated in accordance with the accounting standard regarding fair value. The fair value
of our fixed rate long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market prices. The carrying and fair value of our long-term debt,
including the current portion and excluding unamortized debt issuance costs, are as follows (in thousands):

March 31,
2017 2016
Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
6 V4% SENIOT INOLES ...o.vveniieeieiieeieie et eee et te st ete sttt e enee e eneenes $ 401,535 $§ 323,236 $ 401,535 $§ 277,059
Term LOaN....coouiiiiiiiiiiieee e 261,907 261,907 335,665 335,665
Term Loan Credit Facility.........cccocveeirierierieieiieieceeeeeee e 45,900 45,900 200,000 200,000
Revolving Credit Facility.........ccccevieeierieiieieeeeee e 139,100 139,100 144,000 144,000
Lombard Debt........ccoeieiieieiieieeeee e 196,832 196,832 — —
Macquarie Debt.......c..coevieriiiiiiirrneeeeee e 200,000 200,000 — —
AIrnOrth DEbt ..o 16,471 16,471 19,652 19,652
Eastern Airways Debt ........c.ccveiirieiiirieeeeee e 15,326 15,326 15,643 15,643
Other DEbL......couiiieiecieeeee e et 16,293 16,293 24,394 24,394

$ 1293364 §$ 1215065 §$ 1.140.889 §$ 1.016.413

Other

The fair values of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their carrying value
due to the short-term nature of these items.
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Note 7— COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Aircraft Purchase Contracts — As shown in the table below, we expect to make additional capital expenditures over the
next six fiscal years to purchase additional aircraft. As of March 31, 2017, we had 32 aircraft on order and options to acquire an
additional four aircraft. Although a similar number of our existing aircraft may be sold during the same period, the additional
aircraft on order will provide incremental fleet capacity in terms of revenue and operating income.

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,

2021 and
2018 2019 2020 thereafter Total
Commitments as of March 31, 2017: ®
Number of aircraft:
Medium.........cooveeiieirieeieereecre e 5 — — — 5
Large...ccoceveeerieeeieeieceeeeseeee e — 5 4 14 23
UK. SAR ..ot 4 — — — 4
9 5 4 14 32
Related commitment expenditures (in
thousands)
Medium and large..........cocevveernnennee. $ 2,263 $ 89,994 $ 69,504 $ 187,532 § 349,293
UK. SAR ..ot 58,975 — — — 58,975

$ 61,238 § 89,994 § 69,504 S 187,532 § 408,268

Options as of March 31, 2017:
Number of aircraft:

Related option expenditures (in
thousands) @ ..., $ — 3 44,181 $ 31,536 $ — $ 75717

M Includes $80.6 million for five aircraft orders that can be cancelled prior to the delivery dates. During fiscal year 2017, we made non-refundable deposits
of $4.5 million related to these aircraft.

@ Signed client contracts are currently in place that will utilize four of these aircraft.

@ Includes progress payments on aircraft scheduled to be delivered in future periods only if options are exercised.

The following chart presents an analysis of our aircraft orders and options during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Orders  Options  Orders  Options Orders  Options

Beginning of fiscal year..........ocoviiiiiiiiinieee e 36 14 45 30 43 55

Adrcraft delivered.......ocuveiveeciiiiiiecieeec et O] — () — (18)

Aircraft ordered .......oooevieiiiie e 5 — — — 8

INEW OPTIONS ..ttt — — — 4

EXercised OPHIONS ....coueiuieiieeieieeiierie e — — (1) — 12 (12)

EXPIred OPtions. ......cccueeuieiiieieiieiere e — (10) — (20) (13)
End of fiscal Year.........oooieieiiieiee e 32 4 36 14 45 30

We periodically purchase aircraft for which we have no orders. During both fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we purchased one
aircraft for which we did not have an order. During fiscal year 2015, we purchased three aircraft for which we did not have orders.
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Operating Leases — We have non-cancelable operating leases in connection with the lease of certain equipment, land and
facilities, including leases for aircraft. Rental expense incurred under all operating leases was $212.6 million, $211.8 million and
$164.8 million in fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Rental expense incurred under operating leases for aircraft was
$188.2 million, $184.0 million and $138.3 million in fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of March 31, 2017,
aggregate future payments under all non-cancelable operating leases that have initial or remaining terms in excess of one year,
including leases for 95 aircraft, are as follows (in thousands):

Aircraft Other Total
Fiscal year ending March 31,
2018 et e b e et b e e aa e et e e ta e e b e eteeeabeenreeaens $179,940 $ 11,319 $ 191,259
2009 e e b e et e aa e b e e re e et e eteeeabeeraeaens 154,331 10,218 164,549
2020 ettt et et e e ta e e b e eteeebe e raeetb e e taeeabeebeeeebeenreeaens 106,513 8,522 115,035
202 ettt ettt e h e et e b e e ba e e be e aaeetb e e teeeabeebeeeabeenreeeens 39,327 7,448 46,775
2022 et et e e b e eba e e be e aaeeab e e teeebeeteeeebeenreeaens 19,930 6,942 26,872
TREICATIET ...t 9,387 32,368 41,755

$ 509428 $ 76,817 $ 586,245

In fiscal years 2016 and 2015, we sold three and 14 aircraft for $29.2 million and $380.7 million, respectively, and entered
into separate agreements to lease these aircraft back. We did not enter into any sale leasebacks during fiscal year 2017. See Note
1 for further details.

The aircraft leases range from base terms of up to 180 months with renewal options of up to 240 months in some cases,
include purchase options upon expiration and some include early purchase options. The leases contain terms customary in
transactions of this type, including provisions that allow the lessor to repossess the aircraft and require us to pay a stipulated amount
if we default on our obligations under the agreements. These leases are included in the amounts disclosed above. The following
is a summary of the terms related to aircraft leased under operating leases with original or remaining terms in excess of one year
as of March 31, 2017:

Number
End of Lease Term of Aircraft
Fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2019 .......cceovevieiieiiininiiineneneeeee 33
Fiscal year 2020 to fiscal year 2022 .......cccccuevvevieieeineneneneneneneseneene 48
Fiscal year 2023 to fiscal year 2025 .......cccoovevierierierieiecieieeeee e 14
95

Employee Agreements — Approximately 51% of our employees are represented by collective bargaining agreements and/
or unions with 92% of these employees being represented by collective bargaining agreements and/or unions that have expired or
will expire in one year. These agreements generally include annual escalations of up to 4.5%. Periodically, certain groups of our
employees who are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement consider entering into such an agreement. We also have
employment agreements with members of senior management. For discussion on separation programs between the Company and
its employees, see Note 9.

Nigerian Litigation — In November 2005, two of our consolidated foreign affiliates were named in a lawsuit filed with the
High Court of Lagos State, Nigeria by Mr. Benneth Osita Onwubalili and his affiliated company, Kensit Nigeria Limited, which
allegedly acted as agents of our affiliates in Nigeria. The claimants allege that an agreement between the parties was terminated
without justification and seek damages of $16.3 million. We responded to this claim in early 2006. There has been minimal activity
on this claim since then.

Environmental Contingencies — The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”), has in the past notified us that we
are a potential responsible party, or PRP, at three former waste disposal facilities that are on the National Priorities List of
contaminated sites. Under the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, also known as
the Superfund law, persons who are identified as PRPs may be subject to strict, joint and several liability for the costs of cleaning
up environmental contamination resulting from releases of hazardous substances at National Priorities List sites. Although we
have not yet obtained a formal release of liability from the EPA with respect to any of the sites, we believe that our potential liability
in connection with the sites is not likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Other Purchase Obligations — As of March 31, 2017, we had $55.1 million of other purchase obligations representing
unfilled purchase orders for aircraft parts, commitments associated with upgrading facilities at our bases and non-cancelable power-
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by-the-hour maintenance commitments. For further details on the non-cancelable power-by-the-hour maintenance commitments,
see Note 1.

Other Matters — Although infrequent, aircraft accidents have occurred in the past, and the related losses and liability claims
have been covered by insurance subject to deductible, self-insured retention and loss sensitive factors.

Additionally, we became aware of an incident involving another operator of the Sikorsky S-92 A in the North Sea in December
2016. The preliminary review suggests a reduction in tail rotor control authority. Subsequent to the accident, Sikorsky issued a
number of Air Service Bulletins (ASBs) and the Federal Aviation Administration issued an Emergency Airworthiness Directive
(Emergency AD) to enhance inspections and ongoing operational monitoring on the tail rotor pitch change shaft bearing assembly.
We acted immediately in each case to ensure ongoing compliance with the ASBs and Emergency AD across our global fleet. The
other operator’s incident remains under investigation by the U.K. Air Accidents Investigation Branch. It is too early to determine
whether or not any further action may be required or the impact of this on our future business, financial condition and results of
operations.

As previously reported, on April 29, 2016, another helicopter company’s H225 helicopter crashed near Turey outside of
Bergen, Norway. The aircraft was carrying eleven passengers and two crew members at the time of the accident. Thirteen fatalities
were reported. The cause of the accident is not yet known and is under investigation by authorities in Norway.

Prior to the accident, we operated a total of 27 H225 model aircraft (including 16 owned and 11 leased) worldwide as follows:
» Five H225 model aircraft registered in Norway;
* Thirteen H225 model aircraft registered in the United Kingdom; and
* Nine H225 model aircraft registered in Australia.

On June 2, 2016, the European Aviation Safety Agency (“EASA”) issued an emergency airworthiness directive, which was
subsequently amended on June 3, 2016 and June 9, 2016 (collectively, the “June EASA Airworthiness Directive”), prohibiting
flight of H225 and AS332L2 model aircraft. The June EASA Airworthiness Directive by its terms did not apply to military, customs,
police, search and rescue, firefighting, coastguard or similar activities or services as those types of services are governed by the
member states of EASA directly.

On October 7, 2016, EASA issued a new airworthiness directive effective October 13, 2016 (the “October EASA
Airworthiness Directive”) that expressly supersedes the June EASA Airworthiness Directive and details the mandatory actions
necessary to permit a return to service of the H225 and AS332L2 model aircraft. In response to the October EASA Airworthiness
Directive, the U.K. Civil Aviation Authority (“UK CAA”) immediately issued a statement (the “UK CAA Statement”) confirming
that its existing restriction that was evidenced through its safety directive issued in June 2016, prohibiting all commercial flying
of these model aircraft remains in effect until further notice. The safety directive issued in June 2016 by the Norway Civil Aviation
Agency (“NCAA”) prohibiting commercial operation of the H225 and AS332L2 model aircraft in Norway remains in effect as
well. The UK CAA Statement also stated that the UK CAA and NCAA are awaiting further information from the accident
investigation before considering any future action.

In light of the October EASA Airworthiness Directive and UK CAA Statement, we are working with local regulators, Airbus,
HeliOffshore and our clients to carefully evaluate our next steps for the H225 model aircraft in both our oil and gas and SAR
operations in Norway, the United Kingdom and Australia. We do not currently have any AS332L.2 model aircraft in our fleet. Until
we are confident that the H225 model aircraft can be operated safely, we will continue to suspend all operation of its H225 model
aircraft, including for SAR and training.

Specifically, we will continue to not operate for commercial purposes our sole H225 model aircraft in Norway, our 13 H225
model aircraft in the United Kingdom or our six H225 model aircraft in Australia, or for search and rescue purposes, including
training and missions, any of our other four H225 model aircraft in Norway or our other three H225 model aircraft in Australia.

Our other aircraft, including SAR, continue to operate globally. It is too early to determine whether the H225 accident that
occurred in Norway in April 2016 will have a material impact on us as we are in the process of quantifying the impact and
investigating potential claims against Airbus.

We operate in jurisdictions internationally where we are subject to risks that include government action to obtain additional
tax revenue. In a number of these jurisdictions, political unrest, the lack of well-developed legal systems and legislation that is
not clear enough in its wording to determine the ultimate application, can make it difficult to determine whether legislation may
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impact our earnings until such time as a clear court or other ruling exists. We operate in jurisdictions currently where amounts
may be due to governmental bodies that we are not currently recording liabilities for as it is unclear how broad or narrow legislation
may ultimately be interpreted. We believe that payment of amounts in these instances is not probable at this time, but is reasonably
possible.

A loss contingency is reasonably possible if the contingency has a more than remote but less than probable chance of
occurring. Although management believes that there is no clear requirement to pay amounts at this time and that positions exist
suggesting that no further amounts are currently due, it is reasonably possible that a loss could occur for which we have estimated
a maximum loss at March 31, 2017 to be approximately $5 million to $8 million.

We are a defendant in certain claims and litigation arising out of operations in the normal course of business. In the opinion
of management, uninsured losses, if any, will not be material to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 8 — TAXES

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

March 31,
2017 2016
Deferred tax assets:
FOreign taX CreditS.......ocviuiviericieriierieieeeeteeeeteseetee ettt $ 39,554 § 41,140
State net OPErating lOSSES ......evvieveruieieriieieeieriesterreetesreeae e eeeseeesseeseeseeens 8,432 —
Net OPErating lOSSES .....cevvieieriieieriieieeieiestee et ete e e sseeeesseeaesseenseseees 97,878 28,695
Accrued pension Hability .........ccccveevirieciinieieeieie e 10,445 13,266
Accrued equity COMPENSAtION .......ccvervrererriereeierteeeeeeseensesaessesssesseessenseens 17,162 17,092
DEeferred TEVENUE........coceveiiieiee e 1,446 1,749
Employee award Programs.............cceeeeevereenienienieseesseseessessessessessesssenseens 4,343 5,098
Employee payroll acCrualsS.........ccveveeieciinieniieieie e 5,328 5,099
LTS 11706 (<t SRR 3,111 3,305
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates............ccccoeeevvvieevieiiiveieieeeeeee e 17,099 10,863
OBNET ...ttt ettt ettt n et enn 5,865 4,903
Valuation allowance - foreign tax Credits..........covvrveerercienercieneniereeieneens (31,974) —
Valuation allowance - StAte..........cceceriecierierienierieseere sttt neens (8,432) —
Valuation allOWanCE...........cccveeiuiiiiieciieeiieeiee ettt eve et eve e (34,321) (29,373)
Total deferred tax ASSELS........ccuveveeuviieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ 135936 $ 101,837
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and eqUIPMENT ...........cocvevieverirreiireiereietee et erese e se e $ (220,305) $ (202,388)
INVENEOTICS .. vieueeieieie ettt ettt ettt et et e s eeeae e e sessaesseessesenssenseens (1,967) (799)
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates...........c.cceevreverercieneicieneeeeeee (28,631) (38)
EMPIOYEE PIOGIAMS ....oovvieeieniieiieiieeieiieteeteee et eteseeeaesaesaeseaessessaesessnenseens (1,033) (1,360)
Deferred SaiN.......oooviiieiieieieeeeee e (3,208) —
OBNET ...ttt ettt ettt en et ens (5,371) (3,390)
Total deferred tax lHabilities..........ccceevviieiiieiiierieeie e $ (260,515) $ (207,975)
Net deferred tax Habilities .........eeeverierierieiieieiceeee et es $ (124.579) $ (106.138)

Companies may use foreign tax credits to offset the U.S. income taxes due on income earned from foreign sources. However,
the credit that may be claimed for a particular taxable year is limited by the total income tax on the U.S. income tax return as well
as by the ratio of foreign source net income in each statutory category to total net income. The amount of creditable foreign taxes
available for the taxable year that exceeds the limitation (i.e., “excess foreign tax credits”) may be carried back one year and
forward ten years. We have $39.6 million of excess foreign tax credits as of March 31, 2017, of which $6.6 million will expire in
2021, $4.0 million will expire in fiscal year 2022, $0.2 million will expire in fiscal year 2023, $15.6 million will expire in fiscal
year 2024 and $13.2 million will expire in fiscal year 2025. In fiscal year 2016, we generated $123.2 million of net operating loss
in the U.S. which we carried back to fiscal years 2014 and 2015 and received a cash refund of $27.7 million. The unused losses
of $1.6 million after the carryback will expire in 2036. In fiscal year 2017, we generated $124.7 million of net operating loss in
the U.S. which we will carryforward to future years; any unused losses will expire in 2037.
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We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets depends on the ability to generate sufficient taxable income of
the appropriate character in the future and in the appropriate taxing jurisdictions. As of March 31, 2017, valuation allowances
were $34.3 million for foreign operating loss carryforwards, $8.4 million for state operating loss carryforwards and $32.0 million
for foreign tax credits.

The components of income before provision for income taxes for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
DIOMESTIC. ..veeveveveve et ettt tee et te et e ettt e et te et ae et seete e et eseeae e eaene s $(147,988) $(115,277) $ (40,602)
FOT@IGN ...t 3,686 36,046 152,075
011 OSSO $(144.302) $§ (79.231) $ 111473

The provision for income taxes for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015

Current:
DOMESTIC ...ttt ettt ettt ee e et eseeseteeseneeaeneas $ 2,797 § (29,907) $ 4
FOTIZN 1.ttt 17,153 27,317 34,822
$ 19950 $ (2,590) $§ 34,826

Deferred:
DOMESTIC ...ttt ettt et eteae et e ee et eseesereeseaeeaeneas $ 24651 $ (4,483) $ (11,358)
FOTIZN 1.ttt ettt eens (12,013) 4,991 (702)
$ 12,638 $ 508 $ (12,060)
0] 72 SRS $ 32588 $ (2,082) $ 22.766

The reconciliation of the U.S. Federal statutory tax rate to the effective income tax rate for the provision for income taxes
is shown below:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015

StAtULOTY TALE.....c.eiouieiiiiieiiiieieeree ettt 35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 %
Net foreign tax on non-U.S. €arnings ........c.ccccecevvererenenereneneneneennene (0.5)% (8.4)% 26.3 %
Benefit of foreign tax deduction in the U.S.........cccccvirinininininininnens 2.5 % 2.6 % — %
Foreign earnings indefinitely reinvested abroad.............ccocvvcvevivneennnnne. (1.D% 159 % (47.0)%
Change in valuation alloWance..............ccevereerierienieeieneeeeeeee e 25. 7% (25.3)% 4.0 %
Foreign earnings that are currently taxed in the U.S. ........c..ccccoenininns (28.3)% (7.9)% 8.7 %
Effect of reduction in corporate income tax rate ...........cceeeveevereereenenne (0.2)% 1.1 % — %
GOoOdWIll IMPAITMENL......ccvieeieiieieriieie ettt eees (1.0)% (11.8)% — %
Benefit of current year foreign tax credits........c.ceoeeveverenenencninenennens — % — % (11.3)%
TaX T1€SEIVE TICASE. ... eevieeieeieiieieeie ettt 0.6 % 0.2 % 0.1)%
(1513 o T A TSP (3.9% 1.2 % 4.8 %

Effective tax rate.......cccuecvieieriieiei et (22.6)% 2.6 % 20.4 %

Our effective income tax rate for fiscal year 2017 is (22.6)% representing the income tax expense rate on a pre-tax net loss
for the fiscal year, which was reduced by $37.0 million of tax expense for an increase in valuation allowance.

A portion of our aircraft fleet is owned directly or indirectly by our wholly owned Cayman Island subsidiaries. Our foreign
operations combined with our leasing structure provided a material benefit to the effective tax rates for fiscal years 2017, 2016
and 2015. In fiscal year 2017, our unfavorable permanent differences, such as valuation allowances and non-tax deductible goodwill
write-off had the effect of increasing our income tax expense and reducing our effective tax rate applied to pre-tax losses. Also,
our effective tax rates for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 benefited from the permanent investment outside the U.S. of foreign
earnings, upon which no U.S. tax has been provided.
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In fiscal year 2017, our effective tax rate was impacted by valuation allowances of $37.0 million and a change in the mix
of geographic earnings in which we experienced U.S. losses offset by taxes in jurisdictions taxed on a deemed profit basis. The
current effective tax rate was impacted by the tax effect of the $8.7 million goodwill impairment discussed in Note 1.

In August 2008, certain of our existing and newly created subsidiaries completed intercompany leasing transactions involving
eleven aircraft. The tax benefit of this transaction is being recognized over the remaining useful life of the assets, which is
approximately 13 years. During each of the fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, this transaction resulted in a $2.4 million, $2.8
million and $2.9 million reduction in our consolidated provision for income taxes, respectively.

Our operations are subject to the jurisdiction of multiple tax authorities, which impose various types of taxes on us, including
income, value added, sales and payroll taxes. Determination of taxes owed in any jurisdiction requires the interpretation of related
tax laws, regulations, judicial decisions and administrative interpretations of the local tax authority. As a result, we are subject to
tax assessments in such jurisdictions including the re-determination of taxable amounts by tax authorities that may not agree with
our interpretations and positions taken. The following table summarizes the years open by jurisdiction as of March 31, 2017:

Jurisdiction Years Open

L TSRS Fiscal year 2014 to present
UK ettt sttt nenens Fiscal year 2016 to present
INIZEITA L ..veevenveeeietiete et et et e et e saesee st e et e se e b e eseesseeseeseessesseennas Fiscal year 2009 to present
TriNIdad ...ooveeieiiceeeee e Fiscal year 2005 to present
AUSETALIA ..ottt eenens Fiscal year 2013 to present
INOTWAY ..ottt ettt st e stestesteesaesseensesseesseeseeseesnesseennes Fiscal year 2014 to present

The effects of a tax position are recognized in the period in which we determine that it is more-likely-than-not (defined as
a more than 50% likelihood) that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold is measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being recognized upon ultimate
settlement.

We have analyzed filing positions in the federal, state and foreign jurisdictions where we are required to file income tax
returns for all open tax years. We believe that the settlement of any tax contingencies would not have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity. In fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, we had a net (benefit)
provision of $0.2 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of reserves for tax contingencies primarily related to non-
U.S. income tax on foreign leasing operations. Our policy is to accrue interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions
in our provision for income taxes. In fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively,
in interest and penalties were accrued in connection with uncertain tax positions.

As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, we had $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits, all of
which would have an impact on our effective tax rate, if recognized.

The activity associated with our unrecognized tax benefit during fiscal years 2017 and 2016 is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,

2017 2016
Unrecognized tax benefits — beginning of fiscal year...........cocevevieiiniiinienene $ 1,093 $ 4,904
Eastern pre-acquisition tax liability.........cccooieiiiiiiinieieee e — (4,193)
Increases for tax positions taken in Prior YEars .........ceeveveerereererienieeieeeeeseeeeeene 1,059 898
Decreases for tax positions taken in prior Years.........ceeeeeerereeresiereeseeneeeeeneeeneens (818) (188)
Decrease related to statute of limitation eXpirations ............cceeeeevereerereeneneeneeeeenn (2) (328)
Unrecognized tax benefits — end of fiscal year ..........ccoceevvviririneniinereeeee $ 1332 $ 1,093

Unremitted foreign earnings reinvested abroad upon which U.S. income taxes have not been provided aggregated
approximately $717.1 million and $832.1 million as of March 31,2017 and 2016, respectively. No accrual of income tax has been
made for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 related to these indefinitely reinvested earnings as there was no plan in place to repatriate
any of these foreign earnings to the U.S. as of the end of the fiscal year. Withholding taxes, if any, upon repatriation would not be
significant. We do not currently provide for U.S. deferred taxes on unremitted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as such earnings
are deemed to be permanently reinvested. If such earnings were to be distributed, we could be subject to U.S. taxes, which may
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have a material impact on our results of operations. We cannot practicably estimate the amount of additional taxes that might be
payable on unremitted earnings

We receive a tax benefit that is generated by certain employee stock benefit plan transactions. This benefit is recorded directly
to additional paid-in-capital on our consolidated balance sheets and does not reduce our effective income tax rate. The tax benefit
for fiscal years 2015 totaled approximately $1.6 million, respectively. We did not receive any tax benefits in fiscal years 2017 and
2016 relating to employee stock benefit plan transactions.

Income taxes paid during fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015 were $28.1 million, $28.0 million and $34.8 million, respectively.
Note 9 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Contribution Plans

The Bristow Group Inc. Employee Savings and Retirement Plan (the “Bristow Plan”) covers Bristow Group Inc., Bristow
U.S. LLC, Bristow Panama Inc. and Bristow Alaska Inc. employees. Under the Bristow Plan, we match each participant’s
contributions up to 3% of the employee’s compensation. In addition, under the Bristow Plan, we contribute an additional 3% of
the employee’s compensation at the end of each calendar year.

Bristow Helicopters and Bristow International Aviation (Guernsey) Limited (“BIAGL”) have a defined contribution plan.
This defined contribution plan replaced the defined benefit pension plans described below for future accrual.

On March 1, 2016, the defined benefit pension plan in Norway discussed below was closed and replaced with a defined
contribution plan.

Our contributions to our defined contribution plans were $12.3 million, $14.4 million and $15.2 million for fiscal years
2017,2016 and 2015, respectively.

Defined Benefit Plans

The defined benefit pension plans of Bristow Helicopters and BIAGL replaced by the defined contribution plans described
above covered all full-time employees of Bristow Aviation and BIAGL employed on or before December 31, 1997. Both plans
were closed to future accrual as of February 1, 2004. The defined benefits for employee members were based on the employee’s
annualized average last three years’ pensionable salaries up to February 1, 2004, increasing thereafter in line with retail price
inflation (prior to 2011) and consumer price inflation (from 2011 onwards), and subject to maximum increases of 5% per year
over the period to retirement. Any valuation deficits are funded by contributions by Bristow Helicopters and BIAGL. Plan assets
are held in separate funds administered by the plans’ trustee (the “Trustee”), which are primarily invested in equities and debt
securities. For members of the two closed defined benefit pension plans, since January 2005, Bristow Helicopters contributes a
maximum of 7% of a participant’s non-variable salary, and since April 2006, the maximum employer contribution into the plan
has been 7.35% for pilots. Each member is required to contribute a minimum of 5% of non-variable salary for Bristow Helicopters
to match the contribution. In addition, there are three defined contribution plans for staff who were not members of the original
defined benefit plans, two of which are closed to new members.

Bristow Norway had a final salary defined benefit pension plan, which was closed on March 1, 2016 as discussed above.
Under this plan, pilots could have retired from age 58 and other employees from age 62 (after meeting certain criteria). Bristow
Norway also participates in the standard Norwegian Avtalefestet pension (contractual pension or “AFP”), which is accounted for
as a defined contribution plan. The pension benefit was a percentage of final salary in excess of a deductible. The maximum pension
was available to those with 30 or more years of service as of the date of retirement. Additionally, there were associated death and
disability benefits. Plan assets were held in an insurance policy with an insurance company and contributions followed Norwegian
rules, which were based on an individual actuarial calculation for each plan member.

The closure of the Bristow Norway final salary plan on March 1, 2016 led to a curtailment and settlement of the projected
benefit obligations. All active members of the plan were transferred to the new defined contribution for future service and the
accrued individual insurance reserves for the beneficiaries was transferred to individual insurance policies.
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The following tables provide a rollforward of the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets, set forth the
defined benefit retirement plans’ funded status and provide detail of the components of net periodic pension cost calculated for
the U.K. and Norway pension plans. The measurement date adopted is March 31. For the purposes of amortizing gains and losses,
the 10% corridor approach has been adopted and assets are taken at fair market value. Any such gains or losses are amortized over
the average remaining life expectancy of the plan members.

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,

2017 2016

(In thousands)
Change in benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation (PBO) at beginning of period..................... $525,053 $ 639,299
SEIVICE COSLiinnriiiiieie et et et e et e e et e e eeaaeeeetaeeeenaeeeeaeeean 627 8,243
TNEETEST COST ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e aaaaaaaaaeees 15,330 20,108
Actuarial 10SS (ZAIN) ...c.eevverieiieieriieieeiete ettt eae e e sesenens 73,622 (17,096)
Benefit payments and €XPenses.........cocveveereerieriienienieneeiee e (26,456)  (29,836)
CUTAIIMENLS ....ovevieiieeiieiieieie ettt ettt se et e e e sa e seesaeseeneenseenes — (12,960)
SEHICINENLS ...eevvivieiieeieie ettt ettt ettt ereesseeseessesseenseennas — (65,799)
Effect of exchange rate changes...........ccccoevveveiienincienecieeeeeee e (70,990)  (16,906)
Projected benefit obligation (PBO) at end of period..........ccccvervverennenne. $517.186 $ 525.053
Change in plan assets:
Market value of assets at beginning of period..........ccccceeeverivecierreeennnnne. $454,946 § 539,723
Actual TETUIN ON ASSELS...c.veiveveeeieiieieetieieeeteteeeesaeeeesseeeesseesesseesesseens 71,873 (6,271)
Employer CONtribUtionsS ..........cccvevieeierieieeieie et 16,530 32,128
Benefit payments and €XPenses.......c.cocvevverierierienienieneeree e (26,456)  (29,836)
SEHICIMENLS ...eevvivieiieeieie ettt essesseessesneesaeennes — (65,799)
Effect of exchange rate changes...........ccccoeveeviiienincieneceeeeee e (61,354)  (14,999)
Market value of assets at end of period..........cccocvevvevievievieiecieieieieinns $455.539 § 454,946
Reconciliation of funded status:
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) ........cccoeceviecienierieriee e $517.186 § 524,540
Projected benefit obligation (PBO) ........ccccceeviiienieiieecieeeeeee $517,186  § 525,053
Fair value 0f @SSEtS ......c.eevuiiiiiiiiecieeciee ettt e (455,539)  (454,946)
Net recognized pension Hability...........ccccceivveivieiiieiiieiceeeeeereeeveaa, $ 61647 § 70,107

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss............. $220.396  § 235.720

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)
Components of net periodic pension cost:

Service cost for benefits earned during the period ................... $§ 627 § 8,243 § 7,878
Interest cost on PBO ........cccviiiiiiiiieee e 15,330 20,108 26,000
Expected return on assets..........coeververrerienieeeineneneneneneennene (21,697) (27,208) (31,020)
Amortization of unrecognized lOSSeSs........cccevververireierreeenenne. 7,266 8,246 6,653

Net periodic pension COSt .........cceververieceereeeriererenenennens $ 1526 $ 9389 $§ 9,511

The amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of March 31, 2017 expected to be recognized as a component of
net periodic pension cost in fiscal year 2018 is $6.5 million, net of tax, and represents amortization of the net actuarial losses.
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Actuarial assumptions used to develop the components of the U.K. plans were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
DiSCOUNE TALE......eevieiieieeiecieeieeieeie ettt see e sre e sseensenneas 3.30% 3.30% 4.40%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets .........c..cecceevereneennes 530%  5.40%  6.29%
Pension INCIease Iate ........cccveverveerieneerieeiieieeeereeeee e enesseenseseeas 2.80%  2.80% 3.10%

Actuarial assumptions used to develop the components of the Norway plan were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2016 2015
DISCOUNE TALE.....ceevieeietieteite ettt ebe e 2.50% 4.25%
Rate of compensation INCreaSse .........cccervereeieereeenereneesesieseeneas 3.50% 4.00%
Social Security inCrease amount...........cceecveeveerreeeerreeeerseseenneenes 3.25% 3.75%
Expected return on plan assets .........ccceoeeeeeeeeeeenenenesese e 1.50% 2.75%
Pension INCTEASE TALE ......ccueruirveriereeieieieieieceeete et —% 1.75%

We utilize a British pound sterling denominated AA corporate bond index as a basis for determining the discount rate for
our UK. plans and NOK-denominated corporate bonds that are credit-rated AA or AAA as a basis for determining the discount
rate for our Norway plan. The expected rate of return assumptions have been determined following consultation with our actuarial
advisors. In the case of bond investments, the rates assumed have been directly based on market redemption yields at the
measurement date, and those on other asset classes represent forward-looking rates that have typically been based on other
independent research by investment specialists.

Under U.K. and Guernsey legislation, it is the Trustee who is responsible for the investment strategy of the plans, although
day-to-day management of the assets is delegated to a team of regulated investment fund managers. The Trustee of the Bristow
Staff Pension Scheme (the “Scheme”) has the following three stated primary objectives when determining investment strategy:

(i) “funding objective” - to ensure that the Scheme is fully funded using assumptions that contain a modest margin for
prudence. Where an actuarial valuation reveals a deficit, a recovery plan will be put in place which will take into
account the financial covenant to the employer;

(i) “stability objective” - to have due regard to the likely level and volatility of required contributions when setting the
Scheme’s investment strategy; and

(iii) “security objective” - to ensure that the solvency position of the Scheme (as assessed on a gilt basis) is expected to
improve. The Trustee will take into account the strength of the employer’s covenant when determining the expected
improvement in the solvency position of the Scheme.

The types of investments are held, and the relative allocation of assets to investments is selected, in light of the liability
profile of the Scheme, its cash flow requirements, the funding level and the Trustee’s stated objectives. In addition, in order to
avoid an undue concentration of risk, assets are diversified within and across asset classes.

In determining the overall investment strategy for the plans, the Trustee undertakes regular asset and liability modeling
(“ALM”) with the assistance of their U.K. actuary. The ALM looks at a number of different investment scenarios and projects
both a range and a best estimate of likely return from each one. Based on these analyses, and following consultation with us, the
Trustee determines the benchmark allocation for the plans’ assets.
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The market value of the plan's assets as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 was allocated between asset classes as follows. Details

of target allocation percentages under the Trustee’s investment strategies as of the same dates are also included.

Target Allocation Actual Allocation
as of March 31, as of March 31,

Asset Category 2017 2016 2017 2016
EqQUItY SECUITLIES ...eevvivieiiieeietieeieere et 64.8%  583% 51.1%  60.7%
Dbt SECUIILICS ...ouveeurivieiieeieieeeteere et eee e ee e eenns 348% 31.1% 334%  359%
PrOPEILY ..ovviieeeieciietecteete ettt —% —% —% 0.1%
OthEr @SSELS ..vvevviivieiecrieiieieteee et sre e e eenens 0.4%  10.6% 15.5% 3.3%
TOtAL ettt 100.0% _100.0% _100.0% _ 100.0%

The following table summarizes, by level within the fair value hierarchy, the plan assets we had as of March 31,2017, which

are valued at fair value (in thousands):

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance as of
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) March 31, 2017
Cash and cash equivalents ...........c.ccccooveerreernnens $ 70,650 $ — 3 — 3 70,650
Equity investments - UK. ......ccccevvievieniiniennne. — 47,392 — 47,392
Equity investments - Non-U.K. ..........ccccvvevennnnne. — 185,567 — 185,567
Government debt SECUTTtIES ......cuvvvevvveecnreeinnenn. — 80,654 — 80,654
Corporate debt SeCUTIties ......c.covveverveeeerrieeenneane. — 71,276 — 71,276
Total InVeStMENts...........ccoccveveeeeeeriereereenennn. $ 70,650 $ 384.889 $ — 3 455,539

The following table summarizes, by level within the fair value hierarchy, the plan assets we had as of March 31, 2016, which
are valued at fair value (in thousands):

Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance as of

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) March 31, 2016
Cash and cash equivalents ..............c.cccoevevevenennnn. $ 14229 $ — — 3 14,229
Equity investments - U.K..........coevrieiieniniennnn, — 61,085 — 61,085
Equity investments - Non-U.K. ...........ccocvrnennn. — 117,140 — 117,140
Diversified growth (absolute return) funds.......... — 98,024 — 98,024
Government debt securities..........c..cccevveeeenveeenneen. — 72,728 — 72,728
Corporate debt SeCurities.........ccovvrvverrereverreriuennenns — 89,256 — 89,256
INSUrance PoliCies........cevvereerrenierreniesiesieeveneeans — — 2,484 2,484

Total iINVEStMENTS.......ccveeereerreeireiieeeieieene $ 14229 $ 438233 $ 2484 $ 454,946

The investments’ fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is classified in its entirety based on the lowest
level of input that is significant to the measurement. The fair value of assets using Level 2 inputs is determined based on the fair
value of the underlying investment using quoted prices in active markets or other significant inputs that are deemed observable.
Our Norway pension plan is vested in an insurance policy which is designated as Level 3 within the valuation hierarchy and the
fair value is based on the estimated value provided by the insurer.
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Estimated future benefit payments over each of the next five fiscal years from March 31, 2017 and in aggregate for the
following five fiscal years after fiscal year 2022, including life assurance premiums, are as follows (in thousands):

Projected Benefit Payments by the Plans for Fiscal Years Ending March 31, Payments
208 ettt ettt h bt et enh bt bt et e e beesabesnbeesateebeenateen $ 19,882
2019 ettt ettt et hb e e bt et e e be e s abesteeshteebeenabeen 20,382
2020 1ttt ettt et et e e bt e s bt e e bt e sht e e bt e at e e beesabeenbeesateebeenaeeen 20,883
202 ettt ettt ettt e s bt e e bt e ht e e bt e e ate e beesabesabeesateebeenateen 21,508
2022 ettt ettt st e st e e s h b e e bt e s hb e e bt e e ate e beesabeenteesateebeenaaeen 22,008
AgEIegate 2023 = 2027 ....eiiieeiieeeeee ettt s e sttt ebe et en 117,417

We expect to fund these payments with our cash contributions to the plans, plan assets and earnings on plan assets. The
current estimates of our cash contributions for our pension plans required for fiscal year 2018 are expected to be $15.8 million.

Incentive Compensation

Incentive and Stock Option Plans — Stock—based awards are currently made under the Bristow Group Inc. 2007 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”). As of March 31,2017, a maximum of 10,646,729 shares of Common Stock are reserved, including
4,360,908 shares available for incentive awards under the 2007 Plan. Awards granted under the 2007 Plan may be in the form of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of restricted stock, other stock-based awards (payable in cash or our Common
Stock) or performance awards, or any combination thereof, and may be made to outside directors, employees or consultants.

In addition, we have the following incentive and stock plans which have awards outstanding as of March 31,2017, but under
which we no longer make grants:

»  The 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), which provided for awards to officers and key employees in the form
of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, other stock-based awards or any combination thereof. Options
become exercisable at such time or times as determined at the date of grant and expire no more than 10 years after the
date of grant.

*  The 2003 Non-qualified Stock Option Plan for Non-employee Directors (the “2003 Director Plan”), which provided for
a maximum of 250,000 shares of our Common Stock to be issued pursuant to such plan. As of the date of each annual
meeting, each non-employee director who met certain attendance criteria was automatically granted an option to purchase
5,000 shares of our Common Stock. The exercise price of the options granted was equal to the fair market value of our
Common Stock on the date of grant, and the options were exercisable not earlier than six months after the date of grant
and expire no more than ten years after the date of grant.

In June 2016, June 2015 and June 2014, the Compensation Committee of our board of directors authorized the grant of stock
options, time vested restricted stock and long-term performance cash awards to participating employees. Each of the stock options
has a ten-year term and has an exercise price equal to the fair market value (as defined in the 2007 Plan) of our Common Stock
on the grant date. The options will vest in annual installments of one-third each, beginning on the first anniversary of the grant
date. Restricted stock grants vest at the end of three years. Performance cash awards allow the recipient to receive from 0 to 200%
of the target amount at the end of three years depending on how our total shareholder return ranks among a peer group over the
performance period. The value of the performance cash awards is calculated on a quarterly basis by comparing the performance
of our Common Stock, including any dividends paid since the award date, against the peer group and has a maximum potential
payout of $11.4 million, $10.7 million and $11.3 million for the June 2016, June 2015 and June 2014 awards, respectively. The
total value of the awards is recognized as compensation expense over a three-year vesting period with the recognition amount
being adjusted quarterly. Compensation expense related to the performance cash awards during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015
was $7.0 million, $1.4 million and $14.1 million, respectively. Performance cash compensation expense has been allocated to our
various regions.

Total share-based compensation expense, which includes stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units, was $12.4
million, $21.2 million and $16.4 million for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense
is included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations and has been allocated to our various
regions. As of March 31, 2017 and 2016, there were no non-vested restricted stock units.
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On May 23, 2016, our board of directors approved an amendment and restatement of the 2007 Plan, which was approved
by our stockholders on August 3, 2016, that effected each of the following changes: (i) reserved an additional 5,250,000 “shares” (or
2,625,000 full value shares) that, when combined with “shares” remaining available for issuance under the 2007 plan resulted in
atotal of approximately 6,400,000 “shares” (or approximately 3,200,000 full value shares) available for issuance under the amended
and restated 2007 plan, with each option and stock appreciation right granted under the amended and restated 2007 plan counting
as one “shares” against such total and with each incentive award that may be settled in common stock counting as two “shares” (or
one full value share) against such total; (ii) increased the maximum share-based employee award under the amended and restated
2007 plan from 500,000 full value shares to 1,000,000 full value shares; (iii) set the maximum aggregate compensation and incentive
awards that may be provided by the Company in any calendar year to any non-employee member of the board of directors at
$1,125,000; and (iv) made other administrative and updating changes.

A summary of our stock option activity for fiscal year 2017 is presented below:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Exercise Number of Remaining Aggregate
Prices Shares Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding at March 31, 2016............ $ 57.74 2,041,442
GIANEA ovooveeeeeeeeeeeeee e 1621 1,024,168
Expired or forfeited ............coeunenne 57.79 (222,002)
Outstanding at March 31, 2017............ 42.78 _2.843.608 6.66 $ —
Exercisable at March 31, 2017............. 55.95 1,431,992 440 $ —

Stock options granted to employees under the 2004 and 2007 Plans vest ratably over three years on each anniversary from
the date of grant and expire 10 years from the date of grant. Stock options granted to non-employee directors under the 2003
Director Plans vest after six months.

We use a Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of share-based awards. The Black-Scholes option
pricing model incorporates various assumptions, including the risk-free interest rate, volatility, dividend yield and the expected
term of the options.

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for a period equal to the
expected term of the option. Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of shares of our Common Stock, which has
not been adjusted for any expectation of future volatility given uncertainty related to the future performance of our Common Stock
at this time. We also use historical data to estimate the expected term of the options within the option pricing model and groups
of employees that have similar historical exercise behavior are considered separately for valuation purposes. The expected term
of the options represents the period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding. Additionally, we estimate pre-
vesting option forfeitures at the time of grant and periodically revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual pre-vesting
forfeitures differ from those estimates. We record stock-based compensation expense only for those awards expected to vest using
an estimated forfeiture rate based on our historical forfeiture data.

The following table shows the assumptions we used to compute the stock-based compensation expense for stock option
grants issued during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,
2017 2016 2015

Risk free Interest rate ..........oeeereriererieneeeee e 1.07% 1.62% 1.67%
Expected 1ife (YEarS) ..coviiiiriiierieeierieeieereeeeere et 5 5 5
VOLAtIIILY. ..ot e 46.8%  28.1%  30.1%
Dividend yield........cooooiiiiiiiiieee e 2.74%  3.14%  2.06%
Weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted........... $ 216 $1071 $17.17

Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to nonvested stock options was approximately $3.8 million as of
March 31, 2017, relating to a total of 1,411,616 unvested stock options. We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. We expect to recognize this stock-based compensation expense over
a weighted average period of approximately 1.5 years. The total fair value of options vested during fiscal years 2017, 2016 and
2015 was approximately $7.8 million, $7.4 million and $8.9 million, respectively.
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The total intrinsic value, determined as of the date of exercise, of options exercised during fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015
was zero, zero and $2.4 million, respectively. The total amount of cash we received from option exercises during fiscal years 2017,
2016 and 2015 was zero, zero and $5.2 million, respectively. The total tax benefit attributable to options exercised during fiscal
years 2017, 2016 and 2015 was zero, zero and $0.6 million, respectively.

The excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 of zero, zero and $1.6 million,
respectively, are reported on our consolidated statements of cash flows in financing activities. This represents the reduction in the
provision for income taxes otherwise payable during the period attributable to the actual gross tax benefits in excess of the expected
tax benefits for options exercised in current and prior periods.

We have restricted stock awards that cliff vest on the third anniversary from the date of grant provided the grantee is still
employed by the Company, subject to our retirement policy.

We record compensation expense for restricted stock awards based on an estimate of the service period related to the awards,
which is tied to the future performance of our stock over certain time periods under the terms of the award agreements. The
estimated service period is reassessed quarterly. Changes in this estimate may cause the timing of expense recognized in future
periods to accelerate. Compensation expense related to awards of restricted stock and restricted stock units for fiscal years 2017,
2016 and 2015 was $8.0 million, $12.9 million and $10.1 million, respectively.

The following is a summary of non-vested restricted stock as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 and changes during fiscal year
2017:

Weighted

Average
Grant Date Fair

Units Value per Unit

Non-vested as of March 31, 2016 .........cccoeevieeiieciieeieeeeereeeee. 440,856 $ 65.24
GIanted.......covevveriiriiiieriereeeee e 642,753 10.21
FOTERILEA ..o es e eee s eee s eee s eeeseeseeeees (45,535) 59.78
VESEEA. ...ttt (298,581) 42.39
Non-vested as of March 31, 2017 .....c.ooevviiioieieeeeeeee e 739.493 26.97

Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock was approximately $7.1 million as
of March 31, 2017, relating to a total of 739,493 unvested restricted stock. We expect to recognize this stock-based compensation
expense over a weighted average period of approximately 1.6 years.

The Annual Incentive Compensation Plan provides for an annual award of cash bonuses to key employees based primarily
on pre-established objective measures of performance. The bonuses related to this plan were $5.0 million and $19.9 million for
fiscal years 2017 and 2015, respectively. There were no bonuses awarded related to this plan during fiscal year 2016.

Additionally, we have a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for our senior executives. Under the terms of the plan,
participants can elect to defer a portion of their compensation for distribution at a later date. In addition, we have the discretion to
make annual tax deferred contributions to the plan on the participants’ behalf. We contributed $0.6 million, $1.3 million and $1.5
million to this plan in each of fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The assets of the plan are held in a rabbi trust and
are subject to our general creditors. As of March 31, 2017, the amount held in trust was $3.1 million.
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Retirement of President and Chief Executive Officer — On February 3, 2014, we announced that William E. Chiles would
resign as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective upon the conclusion of the 2014 annual meeting of the
stockholders of the Company that was held on July 31, 2014. On June 9, 2014, Jonathan E. Baliff began serving as President and
on July 31, 2014 he assumed the additional role of Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Baliff also became a member of
the Board of Directors of the Company effective July 31, 2014.

Mr. Chiles and the Company entered into a Retirement and Consulting Agreement, dated January 30, 2014 (the “Agreement”)
to specify the terms of his continued employment with the Company. We recorded additional compensation expense, included in
general and administrative expense, of $5.5 million during fiscal year 2015 related to the Agreement.

Separation Agreements — In March 2015 and May 2016, we offered voluntary separation programs (“VSPs”) to certain
employees as part of our ongoing efforts to improve efficiencies and reduce costs. Additionally, beginning in March 2015, we
initiated involuntary separation programs (“ISPs”) in certain regions. The expense related to the VSPs and ISPs for the fiscal years
2017, 2016 and 2015 is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
VSP:
DIIECt COST cuviniriieeiereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeer e $ 1,663 $ 7,664 $ —
General and administrative....................... 23 886 —
Total...oooeeeiieeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 1,686 $ 8,550 $ —
ISP:
DIIECt COSt i $ 5,938 $ 5,162 $ 233
General and administrative....................... 9,238 8,788 692
TOtal. .o $ 15,176 $ 13.950 $ 925

On April 18,2016, Mr. Jeremy Akel departed the Company as Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Akel
and the Company have entered into a Separation Agreement and Release in Full, dated June 7, 2016 to specify the terms of his
departure from the Company, pursuant to which he will receive benefits generally consistent with the termination without cause
terms set forth in the Bristow Group Inc. Management Severance Benefits Plan for U.S. Employees effective June 4, 2014 and
the Amended and Restated Severance Benefits Agreement between Mr. Akel and the Company dated April 20, 2012. Additionally,
onJuly 1, 2016, Ms. Hilary Ware departed the Company as Senior Vice President and Chief Administration Officer. Ms. Ware and
the Company have entered into a Separation Agreement and Release in Full, dated July 14, 2016 to specify the terms of her
departure from the Company, pursuant to which she will receive benefits generally consistent with the termination without cause
terms set forth in the Bristow Group Inc. Management Severance Benefits Plan for U.S. Employees effective June 4, 2014 and
the Amended and Restated Severance Benefits Agreement between Ms. Ware and the Company dated November 4, 2010. We
recognized compensation expense related to the departure of Mr. Akel and Ms. Ware during fiscal year 2017 included in the table
above.

During fiscal year 2015, we recognized $0.9 million in severance expense included in direct costs and general and
administrative expense in our Americas region, primarily as a result of our planned closure of our Alaska operations. Also, during
fiscal year 2015, we recognized approximately $5.5 million in compensation expense (including expenses recorded for the
acceleration of unvested stock options and restricted stock), included in general and administrative expense, related to the separation
between us and officers. These expenses are not included in the table above.
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Note 10 — STOCKHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT, EARNINGS PER SHARE AND ACCUMULATED OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Stockholders’ Investment

Common Stock— The total number of authorized shares of our Common Stock reserved as of March 31,2017 was 7,946,425.
These shares are reserved in connection with our stock-based compensation plans.

The following is a summary of changes in outstanding shares of Common Stock for the years ended March 31, 2017 and
2016:

Weighted Average
Shares Price Per Share
Outstanding as of March 31, 2015.......cccooviiiiiiiiieieeeeceeeteee e e e 34,838,374
Issuance Of TESIIICEd STOCK ......oovvuviiiiiiii ittt e e e eaae e 138,369 $ 45.69
Outstanding as of March 31, 2016.......cc.occuevvieiiiiieieieeieceeee et e 34,976,743
Issuance Of TESIIICEd STOCK ......oovvuviiiiiiii ittt e e e eaae e 237,248 §$ 17.41
Outstanding as of March 31, 2017 ......cccooviiiiiiiiiieieeceeseeete e e 35,213,991

Restrictions on Foreign Ownership of Common Stock — Under the Federal Aviation Act, it is unlawful to operate certain
aircraft for hire within the U.S. unless such aircraft are registered with the Federal Aviation Administration (the “FAA”) and the
FAA has issued an operating certificate to the operator. As a general rule, aircraft may be registered under the Federal Aviation
Act only if the aircraft are owned or controlled by one or more citizens of the U.S. and an operating certificate may be granted
only to a citizen of the U.S. For purposes of these requirements, a corporation is deemed to be a citizen of the U.S. only if, among
other things, at least 75% of its voting interests are owned or controlled by U.S. citizens. If persons other than U.S. citizens should
come to own or control more than 25% of our voting interest or if any other requirements are not met, we have been advised that
our aircraft may be subject to deregistration under the Federal Aviation Act, and we may lose our ability to operate within the U.S.
Deregistration of our aircraft for any reason, including foreign ownership in excess of permitted levels, would have a material
adverse effect on our ability to conduct operations within our North America and Bristow Academy business units. Therefore, our
organizational documents currently provide for the automatic suspension of voting rights of shares of our Common Stock owned
or controlled by non-U.S. citizens, and our right to redeem those shares, to the extent necessary to comply with these requirements.
As of March 31,2017, approximately 5,203,000 shares of our Common Stock were held by persons with foreign addresses. These
shares represented approximately 15% of our total outstanding common shares as of March 31, 2017. Our foreign ownership may
fluctuate on each trading day because our Common Stock is publicly traded.

Dividends — We paid quarterly dividends of $0.07 per share during each quarter of fiscal year 2017, quarterly dividends of
$0.34 per share during the first, second and third quarters of fiscal year 2016 and $0.07 per share during the fourth quarter of fiscal
year 2016 and quarterly dividends of $0.32 per share during each quarter of fiscal year 2015. On May 18, 2017, our board of
directors approved a dividend of $0.07 per share of Common Stock, payable on June 22, 2017 to shareholders of record on June
7,2017. For fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015, we paid dividends totaling $9.8 million, $38.1 million and $45.1 million, respectively,
to our stockholders. The declaration of future dividends is at the discretion of our board of directors and subject to our results of
operations, financial condition, cash requirements and other factors and restrictions under applicable law and our debt instruments.

Share Repurchases — We did not repurchase any shares of Common Stock during fiscal years 2017 and 2016. During fiscal
years 2015, we repurchased 1,160,940 shares of our Common Stock for $80.8 million. As of November 4, 2016, the $150.0 million
of remaining repurchase authority previously authorized by our board of directors expired and was not renewed. In addition,
covenants in our credit agreements restrict our ability to repurchase our Common Stock. Shares outstanding used to calculate
earnings per share during fiscal year 2015 reflect the repurchase of shares when they were delivered.
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Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share excludes options to purchase
shares and restricted stock awards, which were outstanding during the period but were anti-dilutive, as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Options:
OULSTANAING ..ot sreenneas 1,815,020 1,194,783 682,800
Weighted average eXercise price.......ooevvmevirevieririeinreisreeeneenen. $ 3198 $ 62.11 $ 69.04
Restricted stock awards:
OULSTANAING ..ot s ennens 541,014 286,804 —
Weighted aVETage PriCe.........cvevrvievevereeieeeereeeeeeeeiereeeeeerereesesenesenn $ 26.76 $ 3727 $ —

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Earnings (in thousands):
Income (loss) available to common stockholders .................. $ (170,536) $ (73,940) $ 84,300
Shares:
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding —
DASIC c1voveeeiitie et 35,044,040 34,893,844 35,193,480
Net effect of dilutive stock options, restricted stock units
and restricted stock awards based on the treasury stock
MELNOM ..o — — 335,125
o T s e 35,044,040 34,893,844 35.528.605
Basic earnings (loss) per common share...........ccccevvveverieienens $ 4.87) 3 (2.12) 3 2.40
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share...........c.cccecerveiennns $ (4.87) 3 (2.12) 3 2.37

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table sets forth the changes in the balances of each component of accumulated other comprehensive income:

Currency
Translation Pension Liability
Adjustments Adjustments Total
Outstanding as of March 31, 2014 .........ccoovveirieiiieiiieesieeereeeree e $ 57,812 $ (214,318) §  (156,506)
Other comprehensive income before reclassification.........c..c.ccecevevennnee. (76,845) (42,301) (119,146)
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income .................. — 5,323 5,323
Net current period other comprehensive income...........ccoeceeveeveeneencenncnne. (76,845) (36,978) (113,823)
Foreign exchange rate impact............cecevieierienieene e (20,033) 20,033 —
Outstanding as of March 31, 2015......ccooiiiiiieeeeeee e (39,066) (231,263) (270,329)
Other comprehensive income before reclassification............ccoecveviveiennen. (20,195) (5,583) (25,778)
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income .................. — 6,288 6,288
Net current period other comprehensive income...........ccoccveeveeeerveeneennnnne. (20,195) 705 (19,490)
Foreign exchange rate impact.........c..cecevierenieniinieniienceeneee e (8,104) 8,104 —
Outstanding as of March 31, 2016.........cccovireiireeeeeeeeeeee e (67,365) (222,454) (289,819)
Other comprehensive income before reclassification............cccecvevveeennene (26,947) (17,142) (44,089)
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income .................. — 5,631 5,631
Net current period other comprehensive iINCOMe.........ccceevererenerenienene (26,947) (11,511) (38,458)
Foreign exchange rate impact...........ccceevveviieeeriiiienieeeesieeiesreesesreeeesneens (55,409) 55,409 —
Outstanding as of March 31, 2017 ......cooveerieinieirieiieieeieeeeeeeeeveeees $ (149,721) § (178,556) $§  (328,277)

(M Reclassification of amounts related to pension liability adjustments were included as a component of net periodic pension cost.
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Note 11 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

We conduct our business in one segment: Industrial Aviation Services. The Industrial Aviation Services segment operations
are conducted primarily through four regions as follows: Europe Caspian, Africa, Americas and Asia Pacific. The Europe Caspian
region comprises all our operations and affiliates in Europe and Central Asia, including Norway, the U.K. and Turkmenistan. The
Africa region comprises all our operations and affiliates on the African continent, including Nigeria, Tanzania and Egypt. The
Americas region comprises all our operations and affiliates in North America and South America, including Brazil, Canada, Guyana,
Suriname, Trinidad and the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. The Asia Pacific region comprises all our operations and affiliates in Australia
and Southeast Asia, including Malaysia and Sakhalin. Additionally, we operate a training unit, Bristow Academy, which is included
in Corporate and other.

The following tables show region information for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015, and as of March 31, 2017 and 2016,
where applicable, reconciled to consolidated totals, and prepared on the same basis as our consolidated financial statements (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Region gross revenue from external clients:
Europe Caspian............coeeveeveveeereieeeeeeeeee e $ 734,344 § 858,144 $ 883,992
ATTICA o 204,522 255,254 347,272
P2 N T3 4 (o 1SRRI 217,500 283,565 346,085
AS1a PaCI{iC. .c.uiiiiiiiiii e 233,902 296,840 257,351
Corporate and Other ..........cccoeeevviiieriieieie e 10,234 21,710 23,969
Total region gross TEVENUE..........cvvveveerrerereererierereseresesnenes $ 1,400,502 § 1,715,513 § 1,858,669
Intra-region gross revenue:
Burope Caspian...........cccooveueeveeeieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeve e $ 6,722 $ 5,708 $ 7,444
ATTICA ot — 2 —
P2 N 1T 4 (o TSR 4,465 7,834 6,003
AS1a PaCI{iC. .c.uiiiiiiiiii e 1 2 254
Corporate and Other...........ccoovevuiiieriieieriecieceeeese e 332 2,209 3,048
Total intra-region gross reVENUE .........cccveververererverereereresnenes $ 11,520 § 15,755 8§ 16,749
Consolidated gross revenue reconciliation:
Europe Caspian............cceevevveeeeeieieeeeeeeeeeeeeve e $ 741,066 $ 863,852 $ 891,436
ATTICA ot 204,522 255,256 347,272
AINETICAS ...ttt sttt sttt ettt 221,965 291,399 352,088
AS1a PaCI{iC. .c.uiiiiiiiiiiic e 233,903 296,842 257,605
Corporate and Other ...........ccoeeevviiieriieierie e 10,566 23,919 27,017
Intra-region eliminations ...........cecevvrverieeeererieieeeeseseeeeee e (11,520) (15,755) (16,749)
Total consolidated gross revenue................eceveevrveveveernnnnen. $ 1,400,502 3 1,715513 3§ 1,858,669
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of losses — equity
method investments:
Europe Caspian ! .........o.ooviiiieeeeeee e, $ 273§ 310 3 1,107
AIMNCTICAS. ...cuveeeiivieeeeetieie et ste et e ste et e steeesesbeessesreessesseessesseessesseeneas 5,207 2,117) (4,946)
Corporate and Other...........ccveveriieieriieieieceee e (603) — —
Total earnings (loss) from unconsolidated affiliates, net of
losses — equity method investments............ccocevveerieeriennnnen. $ 4,877 $ (1,807) $ (3,839)
Consolidated operating income (loss) reconciliation:
Europe Caspian ..........cc.cceeveierierieeiierierieiecreeseeeseeesseeseseseeseenns $ 13,840 $ 50,406 $ 128,543
ASTICA. ot 30,179 19,702 91,758
AINETICAS....eveeeeeie ettt e et e e e e s saaeesenaeeenns 4224 34,463 79,176
ASIA PACIfIC .oviiiiiiieeeee e (20,870) 4,073 12,455
Corporate and Other...........ccveveriieieriieieie e (104,616) (118,796) (130,209)
Gain (loss) on disposal 0f @SSEts .........cceevveeveeriecierieieieeie e (14,499) (30,693) (35,849)
Total consolidated operating income (10SS).........ccceeveverueennnne $ (91,742) $ (40,845) $ 145,874
Capital expenditures:
Europe Caspian ........c.cccveeeveueeveuiereeeieecieeeeeeeesesese e $ 44,024 $ 127,072 $ 192,689
ASTICA. ottt 4,575 1,386 1,330
AINETICAS . ...eveeeeeie ettt e e e e e saaeesenaeeenns 8,275 92,418 124,854
ASIAPACITIC oo 15,086 23,745 23,077
Corporate and other @ ..o 63,150 127,754 259,884
Total capital eXpenditures...........ccoooeveveeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaenn $ 135,110 $ 372375 $ 601,834
Depreciation and amortization:
Europe Caspian ..........cc.cceeeeieuievieiiieiieeeieeeeeteeieeie e $ 39,511 $ 41,509 $ 37,830
ATTICA .ottt 16,664 29,337 17,333
AINETICAS . ...coovveiiee ettt eee e e e et e e e e e eeaaaeeeeesennes 32,727 36,371 34,617
AS1A PACIIC . 19,091 20,526 23,450
Corporate and Other..........ccceeeiierieeiieeiiecie e 10,755 9,069 1,063
Total depreciation and amortization ® ...............c..cccccovvuennen.. $ 118,748 § 136,812 § 114,293
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March 31,
2017 2016
Identifiable assets:
EUIOPE CaASPIAN.....c.eeviietiieiiietiiteiiiteetetet ettt ettt sse e s e ebessesesaesessesennas $ 1,091,536 $ 1,067,647
ATTICA .ottt ettt ettt ettt et et e et e b e aa e reenes 325,719 304,081
J 2N 1 113 4 (o TP 809,071 884,455
G NS b o 105 1§ [T 433,614 426,677
Corporate and other @ ..o 453,907 580,085
Total identiflable ASSELS..........coveivuiiiieeeiecee ettt $ 3,113,847 $ 3,262,945
March 31,
2017 2016
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates — equity method investments:
Europe Caspian $ 257§ 298
F 2N 113 6 (o 1RO 200,362 183,990
Corporate and OthET .........coeiiuiiieiieee et 3,257 4,378
Total investments in unconsolidated affiliates — equity method investments..... $ 203,876 $ 188,666

(O]

)

3)

)

On November 21, 2014, we sold our 50% interest in HCA. See Note 3 for details on the sale of HCA.

Includes $39.5 million, $84.8 million and $232.3 million of construction in progress payments that were not allocated to business units in fiscal years
2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Includes accelerated depreciation expense of $10.4 million during fiscal year 2017 related to aircraft where management made the decision to exit certain
model types earlier than originally anticipated in our Europe Caspian, Americas and Africa regions of $0.5 million, $3.9 million and $6.0 million,
respectively. We recorded accelerated depreciation expense of $28.7 million during fiscal year 2016 related to aircraft where management made the
decision to exit certain model types earlier than originally anticipated in our Europe Caspian, Americas, Africa and Asia Pacific regions of $0.6 million,
$6.0 million, $16.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively. We recorded accelerated depreciation expense of $10.4 million during fiscal year 2015 related
to aircraft where management made the decision to exit certain model types earlier than originally anticipated in our Americas, Africa and Asia Pacific
regions of $2.5 million, $1.9 million and $6.0 million. For further details, see Note 4.

Includes $199.3 million and $307.4 million of construction in progress within property and equipment on our consolidated balance sheets as of March 31,
2017 and 2016, respectively, which primarily represents progress payments on aircraft and facilities under construction to be delivered in future periods.

We attribute revenue to various countries based on the location where services are actually performed. Long-lived assets

consist primarily of helicopters and fixed wing aircraft and are attributed to various countries based on the physical location of
the asset at a given fiscal year-end. Information by geographic area is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2017 2016 2015
Gross revenue:
United Kingdom ... $ 510,796 $ 587,493 $ 616,191
D0 2 | S 218,848 225,807 266,186
Australia..........ccooeeeviiieiiieeeeeeee 216,562 272,407 228,774
Nigeria 204,521 246,449 327,164
United States 87,234 158,901 222,661
Canada .........oooveeeeeeeee e 61,877 61,257 61,713
Trinidad 57,531 55,423 59,073
Falkland Islands 1,935 44,724 9,172
Other COUNtries. ........coevveeeeereeeeeeeeeeee e 41,198 63,052 67,735

$ 1,400,502 $ 1,715,513 § 1,858,669
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March 31,
2017 2016
Long-lived assets:

United Kingdom...........cccoeveveurennnane. $ 600,948 $ 577,810
AUSLalia ..o 317,944 305,933
United States ........ccoeveeveeereeneennenes 298,804 292,324
NOTWAY ..ot 268,892 171,948
NIZETIA v 228,863 184,440
Canada.......cccoeeereinenineinecees 204,842 180,665
Trinidad.......coceoveeineiniiicee 118,058 113,768
Other Countri€s.......coovvveeeevvevveeeeeiennns 16,738 149,004
Construction in progress Primarily

attributable to aircraft " ............... 199,275 307,360

§ 2254364 § 2283252

(O]

These costs have been disclosed separately as the physical location where the aircraft will ultimately be operated is subject to change.

During fiscal year 2017, we conducted operations in over 10 countries. Due to the nature of our principal assets, aircraft are
regularly and routinely moved between operating areas (both domestic and foreign) to meet changes in market and operating
conditions. During fiscal years 2017,2016 and 2015, the aggregate activities of one major integrated oil and gas company accounted
for 9%, 11% and 12%, respectively, of our consolidated gross revenue. One other client accounted for 10% or more of our
consolidated gross revenue during fiscal years 2017 and 2016. During fiscal year 2017, our top ten clients accounted for 63% of

consolidated gross revenue.

Note 12 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

Fiscal Quarter Ended
June 30(1)(2) September 30 O December 31 )6 March 31 M®
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal year 2017
GTOSS TEVEIUE ... eee e eeeseeeeae s $ 369,398 §$ 357,467 $ 337,443 § 336,194
Operating loss ® (26,235) (26,882) (19,097) (19,528)
Net loss attributable to Bristow Group O e, (40,772) (29,797) (21,927) (78,040)
Loss per share:

BaSICu.uiiiieiieiiire e $ (1.17) $ (0.85) $ (0.62) $ (2.22)

DilUted.....eeveeeieiieiieiee e $ (1.17) $ (0.85) $ (0.62) $ (2.22)
Fiscal year 2016
GTOSS TEVEIIUE «...eeeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeesaeenes $ 466,996 $ 446,911 $ 419,887 $ 381,719
Operating income (1088) @ .........coooovverrrerrirreerennn. 4,834 (29,833) 22,077 (37,923)
Net income (loss) attributable to Bristow Group ... (3,257) (47,132) 3,202 (25,255)
Earnings (loss) per share:

BaSIC..eouiiiieiieiieie e $ (0.27) $ (1.21) $ 0.09 § (0.72)

Diluted.....cooviiieiiieee e $ (0.27) § (1.21) § 0.09 § (0.72)

(O]

Operating loss, net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016 included: (a) a negative impact of $6.6 million, $4.3 million,

and $0.12, respectively, from organizational restructuring costs to increase efficiency and reduced costs across the organization and (b) a negative impact
of $6.9 million, $4.5 million and $0.13, respectively, due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense. Net loss and diluted loss per
share for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016 included a negative impact of $13.2 million and $0.38, respectively, due to tax valuation allowances.

)

Operating income, net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2015 included: (a) a negative impact of $8.0 million, $5.6

million and $0.16, respectively, from severance expense related to separation programs designed to increase efficiency and reduce costs across the
organization, (b) a negative impact of $10.5 million, $7.9 million and $0.23 due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense and (c)
a negative impact of $5.4 million, $3.5 million and $0.10, respectively, due to impairment charges on inventory. Diluted loss per share for the fiscal

quarter ended June 30, 2015 was impacted by a negative impact of $0.18 due to the accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests.
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Operating loss, net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2016 included: (a) a negative impact of $10.7 million, $7.3
million, and $0.21, respectively, from organizational restructuring costs to increase efficiency and reduced costs across the organization, (b) a negative
impact of $1.3 million, $0.9 million and $0.02, respectively, due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense and (c) a negative impact
of $7.6 million, $5.3 million and $0.15, respectively, due to impairment charges on inventory. Net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2016 included a negative impact of $2.5 million and $0.07, respectively, due to tax valuation allowances.

Operating loss, net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2015 included: (a) a negative impact of $5.7 million, $4.2
million and $0.12, respectively, from severance expense related to separation programs designed to increase efficiency and reduce costs across the
organization, (b) a negative impact of $10.5 million, $7.9 million and $0.22 due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense and (c)
a negative impact of $22.3 million, $25.6 million and $0.73, respectively, due to impairment of goodwill related to our Bristow Norway and Bristow
Academy reporting units. Diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2015 was positively impacted by $0.14 due to the accretion
of redeemable noncontrolling interests.

Operating loss, net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2016 included: (a) a negative impact of $0.8 million, $0.6
million, and $0.02, respectively, from organizational restructuring costs to increase efficiency and reduced costs across the organization, (b) a negative
impact of $1.1 million, $0.8 million and $0.02, respectively, due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense and (c) a negative impact
of $8.7 million, $7.9 million and $0.22, respectively, due to impairment of goodwill related to Eastern Airways. Net loss and diluted loss per share for
the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2016 included a negative impact of $3.7 million and $0.10, respectively, due to tax valuation allowances.

Operating income, net income and diluted earnings per share for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2015 included: (a) a decrease of $7.3 million,
$5.4 million and $0.15, respectively, from severance expense related to separation programs designed to increase efficiency and reduce costs across the
organization and (b) a decrease of $5.0 million, $3.8 million and $0.11 due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense. Net income
and diluted earnings per share for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2015 included a decrease of $9.5 million and $0.27, respectively, due to tax
valuation allowance.

Operating loss, net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended March 31,2017 included: (a) a negative impact of $2.8 million, $2.1 million,
and $0.06, respectively, from organizational restructuring costs to increase efficiency and reduced costs across the organization, (b) a negative impact of
$1.1 million, $0.7 million and $0.02, respectively, due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense and (c) a positive impact of $5.9
million, $5.9 million and $0.17, respectively, from the reversal of Airnorth contingent consideration. Net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2017 included a negative impact of $40.0 million and $1.14, respectively, due to tax items that include a one-time non-cash tax
effect from repositioning of certain aircraft from one tax jurisdiction to another related to recent financing transactions and the valuation of deferred tax
assets.

Operating loss, net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2016 included: (a) a negative impact of $5.9 million, $2.3 million
and $0.07, respectively, from organizational restructuring costs to increase efficiency and reduced costs across the organization and (b) a negative impact
of $3.6 million, $3.2 million and $0.09 due to fleet changes that resulted in additional depreciation expense and (c) a negative impact of $27.4 million,
$15.7 million and $0.44, respectively, due to impairment of goodwill related to our Africa region and impairment of goodwill and intangibles for Eastern
Airways. Net loss and diluted loss per share for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2016 included a negative impact of $5.1 million and $0.14, respectively,
due to tax valuation allowances.

The fiscal quarters ended June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2016, and March 31, 2017 included $10.0 million, $2.2 million, $0.9 million and
$1.4 million, respectively, in loss on disposal of assets included in operating loss which also increased (decreased) net loss by $(6.8) million, $(1.5)
million, $1.1 million and $(0.8) million, respectively, and diluted loss per share by $(0.19), $(0.04), $0.03 and $(0.02), respectively. The fiscal quarters
ended June 30, September 30 and December 31,2015, and March 31,2016 included $7.7 million, $14.0 million, $2.2 million and $6.8 million, respectively
in loss on disposal of assets included in operating income (loss) which also decreased net income (loss) by $5.9 million, $10.8 million, $1.7 million and
$3.7 million, respectively, and diluted earnings (loss) per share by $0.17, $0.31, $0.05 and $0.10, respectively.
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Note 13 — SUPPLEMENTAL CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In connection with the issuance of the 6 %% Senior Notes and the 3% Convertible Senior Notes (which we repurchased
during fiscal year 2016), the Guarantor Subsidiaries fully, unconditionally, jointly and severally guaranteed the payment obligations
under these notes. As part of the Eighth Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, Bristow Academy, Inc.
became a Guarantor Subsidiary. Therefore, Bristow Academy, Inc. is presented as a Guarantor Subsidiary for fiscal year 2017 in
the following supplemental consolidating financial statements. Further, Bristow U.S. Leasing LLC, a new U.S. subsidiary of the
Company created in fiscal year 2017, also is presented as Guarantor Subsidiaries for fiscal year 2017 in the following supplemental
consolidating financial statements.

The following supplemental financial information sets forth, on a consolidating basis, the balance sheet, statement of
operations, comprehensive income and cash flow information for Bristow Group Inc. (“Parent Company Only”), for the Guarantor
Subsidiaries and for our other subsidiaries (the “Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries”). We have not presented separate financial statements
and other disclosures concerning the Guarantor Subsidiaries because management has determined that such information is not
material to investors.

The supplemental condensed consolidating financial information has been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations for
condensed financial information and does not include all disclosures included in annual financial statements, although we believe
that the disclosures made are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. The principal eliminating entries eliminate
investments in subsidiaries, intercompany balances and intercompany revenue and expense.

The allocation of the consolidated income tax provision was made using the with and without allocation method.
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2017

Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated

(In thousands)

Revenue:
GTOSS TEVEIUE ...ttt eeee st eeaeseeeeae e $ — $ 170,306 $1,230,196 $ —  $1,400,502
Intercompany reVenue ..........oceeveveereerieeneeneeereennnenn — 114,196 — (114,196) —

— 284,502 1,230,196 (114,196) 1,400,502

Operating expense:

Direct cost and reimbursable expense.............c.......... 77 202,974 951,246 — 1,154,297
Intercompany eXpenses .........ceevveerveerveeneeneeereeneens — — 114,196 (114,196) —
Depreciation and amortization .............cceeceevvervevenen. 9,513 51,784 57,451 — 118,748
General and administrative...........cccccoeeveeevveeeenerenen. 64,278 23,055 108,034 — 195,367
73,868 277,813 1,230,927 (114,196) 1,468,412

LoSS 0N iMpairment............cceecveeeeeeereereeneeneesnennenenes — (4,761) (11,517) — (16,278)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets .........cccoecvevverveeennen. — (15,576) 1,077 — (14,499)
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of

LOSSES..vvvoveseesrissssessses s (28,119) — 6,903 28,161 6,945
Operating LoSS.......cvevirvererierieieieieieiee et (101,987) (13,648) (4,268) 28,161 (91,742)
Interest €XPense, Net........ceeveeerereriereereerieeeseeeseennees (43,581) (3,480) (2,858) — (49,919)
Other income (eXpense), Net........eceveereereeneereeneennns 1,257 3,883 (7,781) — (2,641)
Loss before (provision) benefit for income taxes....... (144,311) (13,245) (14,907) 28,161 (144,302)
Allocation of consolidated income taxes ................... (26,175) (10,862) 4,449 — (32,588)
NEL10SS 1.ttt (170,486) (24,107) (10,458) 28,161 (176,890)
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling

INEETESES ..o (50) — 6,404 — 6,354
Net loss attributable to Bristow Group....................... $ (170,536) $ (24,107) $  (4.054) $ 28,161 $ (170.536)
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2017

Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated
(In thousands)
INEE LOSS .ot $ (170,486) $ (24,107) $ (10,458) $§ 28,161 $ (176,890)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Currency translation adjustments ...........c.cceceveeeennen. — 388 209,065 (231,089) (21,636)
Pension liability adjustment ...........ccccoeverierercenennnen. — — (11,511) — (11,511)
Total comprehensive income (10SS) .......ccevvrvererinnns (170,486) (23,719) 187,096 (202,928) (210,037)
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling
ANEETESES ..o eneeen (50) — 6,404 — 6,354
Currency translation adjustments attributable to
noncontrolling interests ................ccoovevevererennennn. — — (5,311) — (5,311)
Total comprehensive income attributable to
noncontrolling interests ...........cceccveveerereenereeennenne. (50) — 1,093 — 1,043
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
BIiSTOW GTOUP ...vevrieieieeeeeeie e $ (170,536) $ (23,719) $ 188,189 $ (202,928) $ (208,994)
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of March 31, 2017
Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents............ccccoeveveeereveereeenennen. $ 3382 $ 299 § 92975 § — $ 96,656
Accounts receivable ..........ccoeoeiiiiiiiieeeeee 76,383 288,235 212,900 (370,603) 206,915
INVENLOTIES ..o — 34,721 90,190 — 124,911
Assets held for sale..........ooovevevviieiiiieeeieceeeeeeeens — 30,716 7,530 — 38,246
Prepaid expenses and other current assets.................. 3,237 4,501 43,856 (10,451) 41,143
Total current assets..........cocveeeveerreeereeseeereeereeeeeene 83,002 358,472 447,451 (381,054) 507,871
Intercompany inVeStMent............c..oceevververiercvenencvennens 2,491,631 104,435 126,296  (2,722,362) —
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates ........................ — — 210,162 — 210,162
Intercompany notes receivable ..........ccocverircienieienienns 306,641 37,633 39,706 (383,980) —
Property and equipment - at cost:
Land and buildings .........cccoeveeveniiecienieeniee e 4,806 62,114 164,528 — 231,448
Aircraft and equipment............ccoooveeiieieninieneeeee 151,005 1,199,073 1,272,623 — 2,622,701
155,811 1,261,187 1,437,151 — 2,854,149
Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortization..... (29,099) (258,225) (312,461) — (599,785)
126,712 1,002,962 1,124,690 — 2,254,364
GOOAWIIL ...t — — 19,798 — 19,798
Other aSSEES...viiiuiiirieiieiieectee et e ettt eaeevee e 18,770 2,139 100,743 — 121,652

TOLAL @SSELS.....veieeieeiieieeiecee ettt $3.026.756_ $ 1,505,641

$2.068.846 $(3.487.396) §$3.113.847

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS AND STOCKHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable ..........cooceeieveieieinieeeeeeie e $ 231,841 $ 70,434 $ 151,382 § (355,442) $ 98,215
Accrued labilities .........cceeeveerierieieeieeeeeie e 61,791 17,379 132,704 (25,628) 186,246
Deferred taxes .....eovieveriieieiieiee e (1,272) 2,102 — — 830
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of
long-term debt.........oceeeiieieiirieiee e 79,053 17,432 34,578 - 131,063
Contingent consideration............coecevvereereenereeneennenn — — — — —
Total current liabilities..........ccccvevreeieereeieereeienene. 371,413 107,347 318,664 (381,070) 416,354
Long-term debt, less current maturities ............ccecueuee.. 763,325 284,710 102,921 — 1,150,956
Intercompany notes payable ...........ceocereererieneeiennens 70,689 226,091 87,200 (383,980) —
Accrued pension liabilities .........ccceccevereienieieninies — — 61,647 — 61,647
Other liabilities and deferred credits...........c...cccueee....... 11,597 6,229 11,073 — 28,899
Deferred taXes ....ouivvivrieieeiieieereere ettt 112,716 40,344 1,813 — 154,873
Redeemable noncontrolling interests............cceceeeennenne — — 6,886 — 6,886
Stockholders’ investment:
Common StOCK.........cvevuieieerieiiereerece e 379 20,028 115,317 (135,345) 379
Additional paid-in-capital ...........cccecveeirciniriirreennn 809,995 29,387 284,048 (313,435) 809,995
Retained earnings ...........coeevevevierieniecieeeieeeese e 991,906 791,117 819,987 (1,611,104) 991,906
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ..... 78,306 388 255,491 (662,462) (328,277)
Treasury shares..........coccoeeereeieniececeeeeee e (184,796) — — — (184,796)
Total Bristow Group stockholders’ investment............ 1,695,790 840,920 1,474,843  (2,722,346) 1,289,207
Noncontrolling iNterests.........c.ecververierverereenereeneennn 1,226 — 3,799 — 5,025
Total stockholders’ investment............cccc.coeveeeenerennne.. 1,697,016 840,920 1,478,642  (2,722,346) 1,294,232

Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests

and stockholders’ inVestment ..........cveveeeeeeveeeeeeenn. $ 3,026,756 $ 1,505,641

$2,068,846 $(3,487,396) § 3,113,847
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2017

Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated
(In thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities...... $ (101,676) $ 18,359 $ 94,019 § — $ 10,702
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures...........ccocvecverireceenieeieeneeeenneenns (16,544) (25,756) (92,810) — (135,110)
Proceeds from asset diSpositions ............cccevevennenne. — 16,346 2,125 — 18,471
Deposit received on asset held for sale.................... — 290 — — 290
Net cash used in investing activities...........cocereervernenns (16,544) (9,120) (90,685) — (116,349)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings...........ccceceevvveverivevennnnne. 300,600 309,889 97,778 — 708,267
Payment of contingent consideration....................... — — (10,000) — (10,000)
Debt iSSUANCE COSES ..vvvvrnrrrereieriieireereieereieeeeeeeenns (2,925) (4,199) (886) — (8,010)
Repayment of debt.......cccceveiiiiiiininiiiince (533,500) (5,016) (31,812) — (570,328)
Partial prepayment of put/call obligation................. (49) — — — (49)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest................ — — (2,533) — (2,533)
Dividends paid .......c.ccocevevenenieiieieenenneseeesene 13,780 (21,226) (2,385) — (9,831)
Increases (decreases) in cash related to
intercompany advances and debt..............cccenee. 308,455 (291,781) (16,674) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities...... 86,361 (12,333) 33,488 — 107,516
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
SQUIVALENLS ... — — (9,523) — (9,523)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents... (31,859) (3,094) 27,299 — (7,654)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period........ 35,241 3,393 65,676 — 104,310
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period.................. $ 3382 3 299 $§ 92975 § — $ 96,656
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2016

Revenue:
GIOSS TEVEINUE .......uvvvieeeeeiieeeeeeeetrreeeeeeirreeeeeesarereeeenns
Intercompany revenue ..........ccccceeeceereeceenienieneennenneen

Operating expense:

Direct cost and reimbursable expense........................
Intercompany eXpenses .........cccceueeceerueereeneenrerieenuennnes
Depreciation and amortization .........cc.ceccecceceeerenuennen
General and administrative..........cocccceeeecevcncncncnennen

LoSS 0N iMpairment .........co.ceeveeveeeeeenenereneneneenes
Loss on disposal of assets..........cceeervererienierveneennenn

Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of
LOSSES -ttt e

Operating income (10SS) ....cceevvererereerieieriere e

Interest eXpense, Net ........coceeveerieiveinienneenieeeeeen
Other income (eXpense), Net........eceveereereeneereeneennns

Income (loss) before (provision) benefit for income
EAXES 1vvververinrerererinseseeseseesessesesesessesesseseeseseesensesensens

Allocation of consolidated income taxes ...................
Net income (I0SS) vovvveerveecieeiiierieerie e sve e

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling
TNEETESES ..ottt

Net income (loss) attributable to Bristow Group .......
Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests .....

Net income (loss) attributable to common
StOCKNOIAETS ...

Parent Non-

Company Guarantor Guarantor

Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated
(In thousands)

$ — $ 229,499 §$1,486,014 $ — $1,715,513
— 87,673 — (87,673) —
— 317,172 1,486,014 (87,673) 1,715,513
320 192,500 1,116,545 — 1,309,365
— — 87,673 (87,673) —
7,137 60,312 69,363 — 136,812
68,787 27,440 128,418 — 224,645
76,244 280,252 1,401,999 (87,673) 1,670,822
— (7,264) (47,840) — (55,104)
— (21,579) 9,114) — (30,693)
1,271 — 220 (1,230) 261
(74,973) 8,077 27,281 (1,230) (40,845)
(30,167) (3,859) (102) — (34,128)
400 499 (5,157) — (4,258)
(104,740) 4,717 22,022 (1,230) (79,231)
32,355 (3,546) (26,727) — 2,082
(72,385) 1,171 (4,705) (1,230) (77,149)
(57) — 4,764 — 4,707
(72,442) 1,171 59 (1,230) (72,442)
— — (1,498) — (1,498)
$ (72,442) $  L171 S (1,439) $  (1,230) $ (73,940)
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2016

Net income (loss)...........

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Currency translation adjustments............ccccoceeverueneenne.
Pension liability adjustment ..........c.ccoevverveneervennennen.
Total comprehensive income (10SS).......cevvvreverrervennenns

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling

INtETEStS .o

Currency translation adjustment attributable to
noncontrolling interest............ccuevveeveerreeeenreeeennenne.

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
noncontrolling iNterests.........cecveevereeceereereeseernennnns

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to

Bristow Group............

Accretion of redeemable noncontrolling interests .....
Total comprehensive (income) loss attributable to

common stockholders

Parent Non-

Company Guarantor Guarantor

Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated
(In thousands)

$ (72385 $  L171 $  (4705) $  (1,230) $ (77,149)
2 —  (186,812) 165,206 (21,604)
— — 705 — 705
(72,383) 1,171~ (190,812) 163,976 (98,048)
57 — 4,764 — 4,707
_ — 1,409 — 1,409
(57) — 6,173 — 6,116
(72,440) LI71  (184,639) 163,976 (91,932)
— — (1,498) — (1,498)
$ (72,440) $ 1,171 $ (186,137) $ 163,976 $ (93.430)
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of March 31, 2016
Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents............cccceevevereeeenrenennn. $ 35241 $ 3393 § 65,676 $ — $ 104,310
Accounts receivable .......ccoocviiiieeiieiii e 768,641 353,729 373,963  (1,247,016) 249,317
INVENLOTIES ..ot — 37,185 105,318 — 142,503
Assets held for sale..........oooviviviiiieiiiiieceeeceeeens — 38,771 5,012 — 43,783
Prepaid expenses and other current assets.................. 5,048 (1,843) 49,978 — 53,183
Total current assets.......c..covveevveeeeeeveeneeereeereeeeeene 808,930 431,235 599,947  (1,247,016) 593,096
Intercompany INVEStMENLt...........ccvveevreerreeneeriieenveeneenns 2,207,516 104,435 145,168  (2,457,119) —
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates ........................ — — 194,952 — 194,952
Intercompany notes receivable ..........coccveeeueeiierieennenn. 153,078 13,787 3,600 (170,465) —
Property and equipment - at COSt: .......cccveeveerieerreenenne
Land and buildings ..........cccovvevviviieiiiieiiiieie e 4,776 63,976 184,346 — 253,098
Aircraft and equipment............c.ccceeevieieniieienieeiee 137,751 1,142,829 1,289,997 — 2,570,577
142,527 1,206,805 1,474,343 — 2,823,675
Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortization..... (23,556) (238,644) (278,223) — (540,423)
118,971 968,161 1,196,120 — 2,283,252
GOOAWIIL ...t — — 29,990 — 29,990
OthET ASSELS ....vvveeieiieieeee ettt 48,190 743 112,722 — 161,655
TOtal ASSELS....veeieiieieeiieeiieee ettt ere e ere e eae e $3.336,685 $1,518,361 $2,282499 $(3.874,600) $ 3,262,945

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST AND STOCKHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable ...........oceeivieirieinieiiee e $ 208230 $ 475,118 $ 296,860 $ (883,242) § 96,966
Accrued labilities ........ccceoveveerierieieeiee e 26,886 31,371 401,031 (257,683) 201,605
Deferred taXes .....coevererrerenenienieieeeieeeeeeee e 88 1,914 (121) — 1,881
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of
long-term debt.........coeveveveerereeeee e 25,678 — 34,716 — 60,394
Contingent consideration............ccecevvereereereereeneennenn — — 29,522 — 29,522
Total current liabilities..........ccccvevreeieerieieerecienene 260,882 508,403 762,008  (1,140,925) 390,368
Long-term debt, less current maturities ............ccecueuvee.. 1,047,150 — 24,428 — 1,071,578
Intercompany notes payable ..........ccceocerveririenininnnens — 108,952 81,422 (190,374) —
Accrued pension liabilities .........cceccevereenieienieies — — 70,107 — 70,107
Other liabilities and deferred credits...........c...cccuee........ 12,278 6,935 14,060 — 33,273
Deferred taXes ....cuvvuviirieiicrieieereere ettt 147,631 3,670 20,953 — 172,254
Redeemable noncontrolling interest .............cceeeeeennenne — — 15,473 — 15,473
Stockholders’ investment:
CommoOn StOCK.........cvevvieiierieiiireeeeere et 377 4,996 130,348 (135,344) 377
Additional paid-in-capital ...........ccccecvevrecinirinieennn 801,173 9,291 284,048 (293,339) 801,173
Retained earnings ...........coeevvevevienierieieceeieeeese e 1,172,273 876,114 807,131  (1,683,245) 1,172,273
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ..... 78,306 — 63,248 (431,373) (289,819)
Treasury shares..........coccoeeerieienieeceeesee e (184,796) — — — (184,796)
Total Bristow Group stockholders’ investment............ 1,867,333 890,401 1,284,775  (2,543,301) 1,499,208
Noncontrolling iNterests.........coecereeerereenereerereereenens 1,411 — 9,273 — 10,684
Total stockholders’ investment...........ccccuvveeeevineeeeeenn. 1,868,744 890,401 1,294,048  (2,543,301) 1,509,892
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest
and stockholders’ investment...............cccccovevevevennne. $3,336,685 $1,518,361 $2,282,499 $(3,874,600) $ 3,262,945
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2016

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities......

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures..........cceeeveeeeeeierieneniee e
Proceeds from asset diSpositions...........cccceeveereeeneennen.
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates...........c..........
Net cash used in investing activities...........cceevreeeennen.

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings ..........ccceeveveerveneerceneennen.
Payment of contingent consideration..........................
Debt iSSUANCE COSES....evirinriieieieieieiieieeeeeeeenee e
Repayment of debt and debt redemption premiums...
Partial prepayment of put/call obligation....................
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest........................
Dividends to noncontrolling interest...............cce......
Dividends paid.........cceoeeierieiiieeeee e
Increases (decreases) in cash related to
intercompany advances and debt............ccccceeuenneee.
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities......

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
EQUIVALENLS ..ot

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents...
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period........
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period..................

Parent Non-

Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated

(In thousands)
$ (96,497) $§ 104,989 $ 107,534 $ — § 116,026
(31,223)  (239,773)  (101,379) — (372,375
— 50,780 9,255 — 60,035
— — (4,410) — (4,410)
(31,223)  (188,993) (96,534) —  (316,750)
908,225 — 20,577 — 928,802
— — (9,453) — (9,453)
(5,139) — — — (5,139)
(649,650) — (27,353) —  (677,003)
(55) — — — (55)
— — (7,309) — (7,309)
— — (153) — (153)
(38,076) — — — (38,076)
(52,470) 86,513 (34,043) — —
162,835 86,513 (57,734) — 191,614
_ — 9,274 — 9,274
35,115 2,509 (37,460) — 164
126 884 103,136 — 104,146
§ 35241 3§ 3393 § 65,676 3 — $ 104310
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2015

Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated

(In thousands)

Revenue:
GTOSS TEVEIUE ...ttt eeee st eeaeseeeeae e $ — $ 300,171 $1,558,498 $ — $1,858,669
Intercompany reVenue ..........oceeveveereerieeneeneeereennnenn 767 91,476 — (92,243) —
767 391,647 1,558,498 (92,243) 1,858,669
Operating expense:
Direct cost and reimbursable expense.............c.......... — 212,216 1,087,341 — 1,299,557
Intercompany eXpenses .........ceevveerveerveeneeneeereeneens — — 92,243 (92,243) —
Depreciation and amortization .............cceeceevvervevenen. 1,834 46,098 66,361 — 114,293
General and administrative...........cccccoeeveeevveeeenerenen. 76,453 39,898 137,807 — 254,158
78,287 298,212 1,383,752 (92,243) 1,668,008
LoSS 0N iMpairment............cceecveeeeeeereereeneeneesnennenenes — — (7,167) — (7,167)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets .........cccoecvevverveeennen. — 269 (36,118) — (35,849)
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, net of
LOSSES..vvvoveseesrissssessses s 44,731 — (1,815) (44,687) (1,771)
Operating income (10SS) ....cceevvererereerieieriere e (32,789) 93,704 129,646 (44,687) 145,874
Interest €XPense, Net........ceeveeerereriereereerieeeseeeseennees 112,336 (4,581) (137,109) — (29,354)
Other income (eXpense), Net........eceveereereeneereeneennns (2,268) 483 (3,262) — (5,047)
Income (loss) before (provision) benefit for income
BAXES 1oovvoeveeeseesesssese st 77,279 89,606 (10,725) (44,687) 111,473
Allocation of consolidated income taxes ................... 7,080 (1,319) (28,527) — (22,766)
Net INCOME (L0SS) .vuveveeeieieieieieeeeeieeeee e 84,359 88,287 (39,252) (44,687) 88,707
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests ... (59) — (4,348) — (4,407)

Net income (loss) attributable to Bristow Group ....... $ 84300 $ 88287 $ (43.600) $§ (44.687) $  84.300
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BRISTOW GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2015

Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations = Consolidated

(In thousands)

Net income (10SS) ...vevrveeeireieriieriierirerierereerese e $ 84359 $ 88,287 $ (39,252) $§ (44,687) $ 88,707
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Currency translation adjustments ...........ccccecceverueneenne. (25,885) — 24,852 (70,584) (71,617)
Pension liability adjustment ..........c.cccoeeverveneereenennnen. — — (36,978) — (36,978)
Total comprehensive income (10SS) ......c.cccceverererennnn 58,474 88,287 (51,378) (115,271) (19,888)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests ... (59) — (4,348) — (4,407)
Currency translation adjustments attributable to
noncontrolling interests .............coccovevevvrverrerennnn. — — (5,228) — (5,228)
Total comprehensive income attributable to
noNcontrolling iNterests...............ocoevvveveeervereveiernnns (59) — (9,576) — (9,635)
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
BIiStOW GIOUP .....veeverierireereseeesesseeseeiseseseessseenenes $§ 58415 § 88287 § (60,954) § (115271) § (29,523)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2015

Parent Non-
Company Guarantor Guarantor
Only Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated
(In thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities...... $ (99,130) $ 245451 $ 106,459 $ 446 $ 253,226
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures...........coevveeeveereninenenenennens (46,217) (286,879) (268,738) — (601,834)
Acquisitions, net of cash received ...........ccoevevennene — — (20,303) — (20,303)
Proceeds from sale of unconsolidated affiliate........ — — 4,185 — 4,185
Proceeds from asset diSpositions ............ccceeevennenne. — 211,423 203,436 — 414,859
Net cash used in investing activities...........cocereervernenns (46,217) (75,456) (81,420) — (203,093)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings...........ccceceevvveverivevennnnne. 453,000 — 1,393 — 454,393
Repayment of debt and debt redemption
PIEMIUIMS ....vvoveeoeeee s (448,799) — (11,475) —  (460,274)
Partial prepayment of put/call obligation................. (59) — — — (59)
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest ..................... — — (3,170) — (3,170)
Repurchase of Common Stock.........cccccveeerieiennnne. (80,831) — — — (80,831)
Dividends paid ........ccccoeeieeieninieieieeeee e (45,078) — — — (45,078)
Increases (decreases) in cash related to
intercompany advances and debt............c.ccoccee.e. 255,878 (169,111) (86,767) — —
Issuance of Common Stock ........ccccceeveririninenennnne 5,172 — — — 5,172
Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation .... 1,550 — — — 1,550
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities...... 140,833 (169,111) (100,019) — (128,297)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
CQUIVAICHLS ..eevvieeieiieieeiieie et — — (22,031) — (22,031)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents... (4,514) 884 (97,011) 446 (100,195)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period........ 4,640 — 200,147 (446) 204,341
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period.................. $ 126 3 884 $ 103,136 3 — $ 104,146

137



Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including Jonathan
E. Baliff, our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and L. Don Miller, our Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of March 31,2017. Based
on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our periodic reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms and such information is accumulated and communicated
to our management as appropriate to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure under the Exchange Act.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions or because the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2017. The assessment was based
on criteria established in the framework Internal Control — Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013. Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2017.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2017 has been audited by
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report included herein.

MATERIAL CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2017 that
have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Bristow Group Inc.:

We have audited Bristow Group Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31,2017, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Bristow Group Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Bristow Group
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Bristow Group Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Bristow Group Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, cash flows, and stockholders’ investment and redeemable noncontrolling interests
for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2017, and our report dated May 23, 2017 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
May 23, 2017
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information called for by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be distributed in connection
with our fiscal year 2017 annual meeting of stockholders under the captions “Corporate Governance,” “Committees of the Board
of Directors,” and “Executive Officers of the Registrant” and is incorporated into this document by reference.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics applicable to our directors, officers (including our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer) and employees, known as the Code of Business Integrity. The
Code of Business Integrity is available on our website at http://www.bristowgroup.com under “About Us” and “Vision, Mission,
Values” caption. In the event that we amend or waive any of the provisions of the Code of Business Integrity with respect to our
senior officers, we intend to disclose the amendment or waiver on our website or, alternatively, through the filing of a Form 8-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information called for by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be distributed in connection
with our fiscal year 2017 annual meeting of stockholders under the caption “Director and Executive Officer Compensation” and,
except as specified in the following sentence, is incorporated into this document by reference. Information in our fiscal year 2017
proxy statement not deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC under its rules, including the Report of the
Compensation Committee on Executive Compensation and the Report of the Audit Committee is not and shall not be deemed to
be incorporated by reference into this report.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information called for by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be distributed in connection
with our fiscal year 2017 annual meeting of stockholders under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners
and Management” and is incorporated into this document by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by Item 13 appears in Items 11 and 12 of this report.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information called for by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be distributed in connection
with our fiscal year 2017 annual meeting of stockholders under the caption “Approval and Ratification of the Company’s
Independent Auditors” and is incorporated into this document by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements —

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 71
Consolidated Statements of Operations for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 72
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 73
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 74
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 75
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Investment and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests for

fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 76
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 77

(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because the information required is included in the financial statements or notes or have
been omitted because they are not applicable or not required.

(a) (3) Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference to
Registration .
. or File Form or Exhibit
Exhibits Number Report  Date Number

(2) Share and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 31, 001-31617 8-K October 4, 2012 2.1
2012, by and among Bristow Group Inc., Kenlor Investments
Ltd., VIH Aviation Group, Ltd., VIH Helicopters USA, Inc.,
CGSCH Enterprises Ltd., Cougar Aviation Ltd., Cougar
Helicopters Inc., BHNA Holdings Inc., Bristow Canada
Holdings Inc., Bristow Canadian Real Estate Company Inc.,
and Kenneth Norie.

(3) Articles of Incorporation and By-law.

(1) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Bristow Group 001-31617  10-Q August 2, 2007 3.1

Inc. dated August 2, 2007.

(2) Amended and Restated By-laws of Bristow Group Inc. 001-31617 8-K March 10, 2014 3.1
(4) Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including

indentures.

(1) Registration Rights Agreement dated December 19, 0-5232 10-Q February 14, 1997 4(3)

1996, between Bristow Group Inc. and Caledonia Industrial &

Services Limited.

(2) Indenture, dated as of June 17, 2008, among Bristow 001-31617 8-K June 17, 2008 4.1
Group Inc., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein, and U.S.

Bank National Association, as Trustee (the “2008 Base

Indenture™).

(3) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 17,2008, 001-31617  8-K June 17, 2008 4.2
to the 2008 Base Indenture.

(4) Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 17, 001-31617 8-K October 4, 2012 10.4

2008, to the 2008 Base Indenture.

(5) Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 17,2008, 001-31617  8-K October 12, 2012 10.6
to the 2008 Base Indenture.

(10) (1) Offshore Logistics, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan. *  001-31617  10-K  June 8, 2004 10(18)

(2) Form of Aircraft Lease agreement between CFS Air, LLC 001-31617  10-Q February 9, 2006 10(2)
and Air Logistics, L.L.C. (a Schedule I has been filed as part of

this exhibit setting forth certain terms omitted from the Form

of the Aircraft Lease Agreement).

(3) S-92 New Helicopter Sales Agreement dated as of May 001-31617 8-K August 8, 2006 10(1)
19, 2006 between Bristow Group Inc. and Sikorsky Aircraft

Corporation. +

(4) Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Award 001-31617 8K May 24, 2007 10.4
Letter under the Bristow Group Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive
Plan. *
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Exhibits

(5) Bristow Group Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Appendix A of the Company’s
Proxy Statement on Form DEF14A filed with the SEC on
June 21, 2013). *

(6) Common Stock Purchase Agreement.

(7) Form of Outside Director Restricted Stock Unit Award
Letter under the Bristow Group Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive
Plan. *

8) Amendment to Form of Aircraft Lease agreement between
CFS Air, LLC and Air Logistics, L.L.C.

(9) Lider Aviacao Holding S.A. Shareholders Agreement dated
May 26, 2009. +

(10) Amendment No. 1 to 2007 Bristow Group Inc. 2007 Long
Term Incentive Plan. *

(11) Form of 2010 Stock Option Award Letter. *

(12) Employment Agreement with Jonathan E. Baliff dated
September 12, 2010. *

(13) Indemnity Agreement with Stephen King.
(14) Form of Outside Director Restricted Cash Award Letter. *
(15) Indemnity Agreement with Mathew Masters.

(16) Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan
Agreement, dated November 22, 2010.

(17) First Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 22,
2011.

(18) Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2012.
(19) Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2013.
(20) Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 14, 2014.
(21) Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2015.
(22) Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September 29,
2015.

(23) Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 5,
2015.

(24) Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2016.

(25) Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September 16,
2016.

(26) Indemnity Agreement with Lori Gobillot.

(27) Form of 2012 Stock Option Award Letter. *

(28) Form of Unanimous Shareholder Agreement, by and
among Bristow Group Inc., Kenneth Norie, Cougar
Helicopters Inc., and the other parties signatory thereto.

(29) S-92 New Helicopter Sales Agreement dated as of
November 7, 2012, between Bristow Group Inc. and Sikorsky
Aircraft Corporation. +

(30) U.K. Search & Rescue Helicopter Service Contract dated
as of March 26, 2013, between Bristow Helicopters and U.K.
Department for Transport. +

(31) Letter regarding treatment of unvested long-term
incentive plan awards.
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Registration

or File Form or Exhibit
Number Report Date Number
001-31617 DEF June 21, 2013 A
14A
001-31617 8K June 17, 2008 10.1
001-31617 8K August 8, 2008 10.1
001-31617 10-Q November 5, 2008 10.2
001-31617 10-Q August 6, 2009 10.1
001-31617 10-K May 21, 2010 10(69)
001-31617 8-K June 15, 2010 10.1
001-31617  8-K September 12,2010 10.1
001-31617 8-K February 7, 2011 10.1
001-31617 8-K August 5, 2011 10.1
001-31617 8K November 1, 2011 10.1
001-31617  10-Q February 2, 2011 10.2
001-31617 8-K December 28,2011  10.1
001-31617 8K October 4, 2012 10.2
001-31617 8K May 2, 2013 10.1
001-31617 8K March 17,2014 10.1
001-31617 8-K April 20, 2015 10.1
001-31617 8-K October 2, 2015 10.1
001-31617 8K November 5, 2015 10.2
001-31617 8K May 25, 2016 10.1
001-31617  8-K September 19, 2016  10.1
001-31617 8-K May 1, 2012 10.1
001-31617 8K May 25, 2012 10.1
001-31617 8K October 4, 2012 10.7
001-31617 10-Q/  April §,2013 10.1
A
001-31617 10-K/  November 7, 2013 10.69
A
001-31617 10-Q November 7, 2013 10.1



Exhibits

(32) Retirement and Consulting Agreement, between Bristow
Group Inc. and William E. Chiles, dated January 30, 2014.

(33) Form of 2014 Restricted Stock Unit Retention Award
Letter. *

(34) Summary of Terms and Conditions of Nonqualified Stock
Options Award. *

(35) Summary of Terms and Conditions of Officer Restricted
Stock Unit Award. *

(36) Summary of Terms and Conditions of Officer
Performance Cash Award. *

(37) Indemnity Agreement with David Gompert.

(38) Bristow Group Inc. Management Severance Benefits Plan
for U.S. Employees. *

(39) Bristow Group Inc. Management Severance Benefits Plan
for Non-U.S. Employees. *

(40) Compensation Package for Mr. Miller dated as of August
14, 2015.

(41) Stock Option Retention Award Letter for Mr. Miller dated
August 14, 2015. *

(42) Separation Agreement and Release in Full between
Bristow Group Inc. and John H. Briscoe dated as of August 25,
2015.

(43) Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of November 5,
2015.

(44) First Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement dated
as of May 23, 2016.

(45) Second Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement,
dated as of September 16, 2016.

(46) Terms and Conditions of Nonqualified Stock Option
Award. *

(47) Summary of Terms and Conditions of Officer Restricted
Stock Unit Award. *

(48) Summary of Terms and Conditions of Officer
Performance Cash Award. *

(49) Bristow Group Inc. Fiscal Year 2017 Annual Incentive
Compensation Plan. *

(50) Supplement to Bristow Group Inc. Fiscal Year 2017
Annual Incentive Compensation Plan. *

(51) Separation Agreement and Release in Full between the
Company and K. Jeremy Akel, dated as of June 7, 2016.

(52) Indemnity Agreement with Stephen J. Cannon and
Michael A. Flick.

(53) Indemnity Agreement with A. William Higgins.

(54) Separation Agreement and Release in Full between
Bristow Group Inc. and Hilary S. Ware, dated as of July 14,
2016.

(55) Compensation Package for Mr. Akiri, dated as of August
4,2016. *

(56) Compensation Package for Mr. Collins, dated as of
October 5, 2016. *

(57) Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of November 11,
2016, among Bristow U.S. Leasing LLC, the lenders from time
to time party thereto and Lombard North Central Plc.

(58) Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of November 11,
2016, among Bristow Aircraft Leasing Limited, the lenders

from time to time party thereto and Lombard North Central
Plc.
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Incorporated by Reference to

Registration

or File Form or Exhibit
Number Report  Date Number
001-31617 8-K February 4, 2014 10.1
001-31617 8K February 4, 2014 10.2
001-31617 8K June 10,2014 10.1
001-31617 8K June 10,2014 10.2
001-31617  8-K June 10,2014 10.3
001-31617 8-K February 4, 2015 10.1
001-31617 10-K  May 20, 2015 10.70
001-31617 10-K  May 20, 2015 10.71
001-31617 8K August 17,2015 10.1
001-31617 8K August 17, 2015 10.2
001-31617 8K August 26, 2015 10.1
001-31617 8K November 5,2015  10.1
001-31617 8K May 25,2016 10.2
001-31617 8K September 19,2016  10.2
001-31617 8K June 9, 2016 10.1
001-31617  8-K June 9, 2016 10.2
001-31617 8-K June 9, 2016 10.3
001-31617 8K June 9, 2016 10.4
001-31617 8K June 9, 2016 10.5
001-31617 8K June 9, 2016 10.6
001-31617 8K June 16,2016 10.1
001-31617  8-K June 28,2016 10.1
001-31617 8K July 15,2016 10.1
001-31617 8K August 4, 2016 10.1
001-31617 8K October 5,2016 10.1
001-31617 8-K November 14,2016 10.1
001-31617 8K November 14,2016  10.2



Incorporated by Reference to

Registration -
or File Form or Exhibit
Exhibits Number Report  Date Number
(59) Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of February 1, 001-31617 8-K February 2, 2017 10.1

2017, among Bristow U.S. LLC, the several banks, other
financial institutions and other lenders from time to time party
thereto and Macquarie Bank Limited, as administrative agent
and as security agent.

2Dt Subsidiaries.

23)1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24t Powers of Attorney.

(31.1)T  Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

(31.2)T  Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

(32.1)1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Registrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(32.2)1  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Registrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.

101. PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

Compensatory Plan or Arrangement

T Furnished herewith
T Filed herewith
+ Confidential information has been omitted from this exhibit and filed separately with the SEC pursuant to a

confidential treatment request under Rule 24(b)-2.

Agreements with respect to certain of the registrant’s long-term debt are not filed as Exhibits hereto inasmuch as the debt
authorized under any such Agreement does not exceed 10% of the registrant’s total assets. The registrant agrees to furnish a
copy of each such Agreement to the SEC upon request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Houston, State of Texas on the
23" day of May, 2017.

BRISTOW GROUP INC.

By: /s/ L. Don Miller

L. Don Miller
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the listed capacities on the 23™ day of May, 2017.

/s/ Jonathan E. Baliff

Jonathan E. Baliff

/s/ L. Don Miller

L. Don Miller

/s/ Brian J. Allman

Brian J. Allman

*

Thomas N. Amonett

*

Lori A. Gobillot

*

Ian A. Godden

*

David C. Gompert

*

A. William Higgins

*

Stephen A. King

*

Thomas C. Knudson

*

Mathew Masters

*

Biggs C. Porter

*

Bruce H. Stover

/s/ E. Chipman Earle

* By: E. Chipman Earle (Attorney-in-Fact)

President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Vice President,

Chief Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Chairman of the Board and Director

Director

Director

Director
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United States Naval Academy
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Stephen A. King
Finance Director
Caledonia Investments plc

Thomas C. Knudson
Founder and President
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Caledonia Investments plc

Biggs C. Porter
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Fluor Corporation
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